

ADVANCES IN PARASITOLOGY





Edited by J.R. BAKER R. MULLER D. ROLLINSON

Editorial Board

- M. Coluzzi, Director, Istituto de Parassitologia, Università Degli Studi di Roma 'La Sapienza', P. le A. Moro 5, 00185 Roma, Italy
- **C. Combes**, Laboratoire de Biologie Animale, Université de Perpignan, Centre de Biologie et d'Ecologie Tropicale et Méditerranéenne, Avenue de Villeneuve, 66860 Perpignan Cedex, France
- **D.D. Despommier**, Division of Tropical Medicine and Environmental Sciences, Department of Microbiology, Columbia University, 630 West 168th Street, New York, NY 10032, USA
- **J.J. Shaw**, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade de São Paulo, av. Prof. Lineu Prestes 1374, 05508-900, Cidade Universitária, São Paulo, SP, Brazil
- **K. Tanabe**, Laboratory of Biology, Osaka Institute of Technology, 5-16-1 Ohmiya Asahi-Ku, Osaka 535, Japan

CONTRIBUTORS TO VOLUME 60

- V. ALI, Department of Parasitology, Gunma University Graduate School of Medicine, 3-39-22 Showa-machi, Maebashi, Gunma, 371–8511, Japan
- C. BANDI, DIPAV Sezione di Patologia Generale e Parassitologia, Università degli Studi di Milano, Via Celoria 10, 20133 Milano, Italy
- T.H. CRIBB, School of Molecular and Microbial Sciences and Centre for Marine Studies, Parasitology Section, The University of Queensland, St Lucia, Brisbane, QLD 4072, Australia
- A. HOERAUF, Institute of Medical Parasitology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Bonn, Sigmund Freud Str. 25, 53105 Bonn, Germany
- M.J. NOLAN, School of Molecular and Microbial Sciences and Centre for Marine Studies, Parasitology Section, The University of Queensland, St Lucia, Brisbane, QLD 4072, Australia
- T. NOZAKI, Department of Parasitology, Gunma University Graduate School of Medicine, 3-39-22 Showa-machi, Maebashi, Gunma, 371–8511, Japan
- P.D. OLSON, Department of Zoology, The Natural History Museum, Darwin Centre, 712 Cromwell Road, London SW7 5BD, UK
- M.J. TAYLOR, Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, Pembroke Place, Liverpool L3 5QA, UK
- V.V. TKACH, Department of Biology, University of North Dakota, 1 Campus Drive, 101 Starcher Hall, Grand Forks, ND 58202-9019, USA

M. TOKORO, Department of Parasitology, Graduate School of Medical Science, Kanazawa University, 13-1 Takaramachi, Kanazawa, 920-8640, Japan

Preface

The volume opens with a review by Tomoyoshi Nozaki, Vahab Ali and Masaharu Tokoro, of Gunma University, the Institute of Infectious Diseases, and Kanazawa University in Japan, of sulfurcontaining amino acids in parasitic protozoa. These compounds are involved in many metabolic processes, including the biosynthesis of proteins, polyamines and glutathione. Genome analysis of the relevant enzymes in a range of parasitic protozoa (species of *Cryptosporidium*, Entamoeba, Plasmodium, Trichomonas and Trypanosoma) has revealed wide differences between the parasites and, perhaps more importantly, between them and their mammalian hosts. Some of these enzymes and pathways are present in the parasites but absent from their hosts. This diversity should enable selected parasitic protozoa to serve as models in studies aimed at further elucidating the biological significance of the metabolism of these compounds. The sulfur-containing amino acids of the parasites also represent interesting potential targets for future chemotherapeutic interventions.

Mark Taylor of the Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, UK, Claudio Bandi of the University of Milan, Italy, and Achim Hoerauf of the University of Bonn, Germany, review the presence and importance of the symbiotic, intracellular, bacterium *Wolbachia* in filariae of medical importance. The bacterium is essential for parasite fertility and survival and this is leading to promising results with the use of antibiotics as chemotherapeutic agents against lymphatic filariasis and onchocerciasis. The authors also discuss the role of *Wolbachia* in inflammatory-mediated pathogenesis resulting from these filarial infections and in adverse reactions to classical microfilaricidal drugs.

The next two reviews are closely linked; both are concerned with recent developments in molecular systematics. The first is a

contribution from Matthew Nolan and Tom Cribb, The University of Oueensland, Brisbane, Australia who examine in detail the use of ribosomal DNA for the identification of species of Digenea. They pay particular attention to the internal transcribed spacer of ribosomal DNA (ITS rDNA) as this has been much used in recent taxonomic studies. Indeed they consider 63 studies that have reported partial or complete ITS rDNA sequences. The authors consider the wider implications of ITS sequencing and how best to assess and use the molecular information in association with morphological or biological traits. They conclude by highlighting what they believe to be the characteristics of an effective taxonomic study to explore trematode species boundaries. The second review takes a much broader look at the application of molecular systematics to the parasitic Platyhelminthes (Cestoda, Digenea and Monogenea). Peter Olson, The Natural History Museum, London, UK and Vasyl Tkach, University of North Dakota, USA review the many advances that have been made through molecular studies in the understanding of the systematics, evolution, taxonomy and species identification in these groups. It is interesting to see how different questions have been tackled in each of the three groups and the current state of play in unravelling the respective phylogenies. Future directions are considered, including the future value of mitochondrial and nuclear genomics in systematic studies.

The coccidian *Eimeria* is one of the most important parasites of poultry and in the final chapter Martin Shirley, Adrian Smith and Fiona Tomley of the Institute of Animal Health, Compton, UK, review the biology of avian species and particularly recent work on their control by vaccination. Sequencing of the nuclear genome of one species (*Eimeria tenella*) is providing new information on life cycles and on protective immune responses. While the use of live vaccines provides the most successful current vaccine strategy, recombinant expressed antigens, maternal immunization and DNA vaccines are promising new lines of research.

> John Baker Ralph Muller David Rollinson

Contents

Contributors to Volume 60	v
Preface	vii

Sulfur-Containing Amino Acid Metabolism in Parasitic Protozoa

Tomoyoshi Nozaki, Vahab Ali and Masaharu Tokoro

	Abbreviations	2
	Abstract	4
1.	Introduction	5
2.	Biological Importance of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids and	
	Their Metabolic Pathways	6
3.	Metabolisms of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids.	13
4.	Sulfur Assimilatory <i>de novo</i> Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway	36
5.	Degradative Pathways of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids	45
6.	Serine Metabolic Pathways.	51
7.	Developmental Stage Regulation of Metabolic Pathways of	
	Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids	66
8.	Remaining Questions and Future Perspectives	69
	Acknowledgments	70
	References	71

The Use and Implications of Ribosomal DNA Sequencing for the Discrimination of Digenean Species

Matthew J. Nolan and Thomas H. Cribb

	Abstract	102
1.	Introduction	103
2.	The Digenea	103
3.	Species Distinction: Traditional and Modern Approaches	104

4.	Genes and Spacers.	106
5.	Studies Using ITS rDNA to Distinguish Digenean Species	111
6.	The Interpretation of ITS rDNA Sequences	132
7.	Implications of ITS Sequencing for Digenean Taxonomy	146
8.	Conclusions	153
	References	156

Advances and Trends in the Molecular Systematics of the Parasitic Platyhelminthes

Peter D. Olson and Vasyl V. Tkach

	Abstract	166
1.	Introduction	166
2.	Molecular Systematics of the Cestoda	172
3.	Molecular Systematics of the Digenea	180
4.	Molecular Systematics of the Monogenea	194
5.	Beyond Systematics: Molecular Diagnostics	204
6.	Future Directions	209
	Acknowledgements	215
	References	215

Wolbachia Bacterial Endosymbionts of Filarial Nematodes

Mark J. Taylor, Claudio Bandi and Achim Hoerauf

	Abstract	246
1.	The Cellular Environment of <i>Wolbachia</i> in Nematodes	246
2.	Taxonomy and Diversity of the Genus Wolbachia	249
3.	Evidence for Dependence	258
4.	Wolbachia Mediated Activation of Inflammation	268
5.	Future Advances/Concluding Remarks	273
	References	274

х

The Biology of Avian *Eimeria* with an Emphasis on their Control by Vaccination

Martin W. Shirley, Adrian L. Smith and Fiona M. Tomley

	Abstract	286
1.	Introduction	287
2.	Immunity to <i>Eimeria</i> spp	292
3.	Vaccine Strategies	297
4.	Prospects for the Development of Novel Vaccines	311
5.	Conclusions	316
	References	318
	Index	331
	Contents of Volumes in This Series	353

Sulfur-Containing Amino Acid Metabolism in Parasitic Protozoa

Tomoyoshi Nozaki^{1,2,3}, Vahab Ali^{1,2} and Masaharu Tokoro⁴

¹Department of Parasitology, Gunma University Graduate School of

Medicine, 3-39-22 Showa-machi, Maebashi, Gunma, 371-8511, Japan

²Department of Parasitology, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, 1-23-1 Toyama, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo, 162-8640, Japan

³Precursory Research for Embryonic Science and Technology, Japan Science and Technology Agency, 2-20-5 Akebono-cho, Tachikawa, Tokyo, 190-0012, Japan

⁴Department of Parasitology, Graduate School of Medical Science, Kanazawa University, 13-1 Takara-machi, Kanazawa, 920-8640, Japan

	Abbreviations	2
	Abstract	4
1.	Introduction	5
2.	Biological Importance of Sulfur-containing Amino Acids and their	
	Metabolic Pathways	6
	2.1 General Features and Functions of Sulfur	6
	2.2 Functions of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids	ĕ
	2.3. Significance of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids in Parasitic	0
	2.0. Digrinicance of Sundi-Containing Annito Acids in Farasitic	10
0	Matabaliam of Cultur containing Amino Acido	10
3.	Metabolism of Sulur-Containing Amino Acids.	13
	3.1. An Overview of Metabolism of Sulfur-Containing Amino	
	Acids	13
	3.2. Methionine Metabolism	14
	3.3. Transsulfuration Reactions	31
4.	Sulfur Assimilatory <i>De Novo</i> Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway	36
	4.1. A General Scheme of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway.	36
	4.2. Presence of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway in a Lim-	
	ited Bange of Parasitic Protozoa	37
	4.3 Possible Functions of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway in	•
	Entamoeha and Trypanosoma	30
5	Dogradativo Bathwaye of Sulfur-containing Amino Acide	15
Э.	E 1 Degradative i aniways of Sulfur Containing Amine Acids in Mommele	45
	5.1. Degradation of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids in Mammais	40

	5.2. Peculiarities and Distribution of MGL among Parasitic	
	Protozoa.	46
	5.3. Functions of MGL in the Anaerobic Protozoan Parasites	
	Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis	48
	5.4. MGL as a Target for the Development of Novel Drugs	
	Against Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis	50
6.	Serine Metabolic Pathways	51
	6.1. Serine Metabolic Pathways in Eukaryotes	51
	6.2. A Spectrum of Serine Metabolic Pathways in Parasitic	
	Protozoa	56
	6.3. Unique Presence of Both Serine Metabolic Path-	
	ways in Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis	60
	6.4. Biological Significance of Serine Metabolic Pathways in	
_	Parasitic Protozoa.	64
7.	Developmental Stage Regulation of Metabolic Pathways of	
	Sulfur-containing Amino Acids	66
	7.1. Developmental Stage Regulation of Reverse Transsulfu-	
	ration and <i>De Novo</i> Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathways in	~ ~
		66
	7.2. Developmental Stage Regulation of Sulfur-Containing	
	Amino Acid Metabolism in <i>Plasmodium</i> and <i>Crypto-</i>	~-
~	sporidium	67
8.	Remaining Questions and Future Perspectives	69
		70
	References	71

ABBREVIATIONS

ACC	1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid
ACCS	1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid synthase
AdoHcy	S-adenosylhomocysteine
AdoMet	S-adenosylmethionine
AdoMetDC	S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase
AT	aminotransferases
CAT	cysteine aminotransferase
CBL	cystathionine β -lyase
CBS	cystathionine β -synthase
cdMS	cobalamin-dependent methionine synthase
CDO	cysteine dioxygenase
CGL	cystathionine γ -lyase

SULFUR-CONTAINING AMINO ACID METABOLISM

CGS	cystathionine γ-synthase
ciMS	cobalamin-independent methionine synthase
CoAS	coenzyme A synthetic pathway
CS	cysteine synthase
CSDC	cysteine-sulfinate decarboxylase
CTADO	cysteamine dioxygenase
DcAdoMet	decarboxylated S-adenosylmethionine
DFMO	DL-α-difluoromethylornithine
DHFR	dihydrofolate reductase
DS	direct sulfhydrylation
eIF-5A	eukaryotic translation initiation factor 5A
GDH	glycerate dehydrogenase
GGS	γ-glutamylcysteine synthase
GK	glycerate kinase
GS	glutathione synthase
HAT	human African trypanosomiasis
HD	hypotaurine dehydrogenase
HETA	5'-deoxy-5'-(hydroxyethyl)thioadenosine
HP	hydroxypyruvate
ISC	iron-sulfur cluster
KMTB	α-ketomethiobutyrate
MAOEA	5'-deoxy-5'-[(2-aminooxyethyl)methylamino] adenosine
MAT	methionine adenosyltransferase
MDL	[(Z)-4-amino-2-butenyl]methylamino)-5'-deoxyadeno-
73811	sine
MGBG	methylglyoxal-bis(guanylhydrazone)
MGL	methionine γ-lyase
MHZEA	5'-deoxy-5'-[(2-hydrazinoethyl)-methylamino] adenosine
MT	methyltransferases
MTA	methylthioadenosine
MTAN	5'-methylthioadenosine nucleosidase
MTAP	methylthioadenosine phosphorylase
MTR	5-methylthioribose
MTRK	5-methylthioribose kinase
NCBI	National Center of Biotechnology Information
NIF	nitrogen fixation
OAS	O-acetylserine

ODC	ornithine decarboxylase
PGDH	phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase
PHP	3-phosphoglycerate
Pi	inorganic phosphate
РК	pyruvate kinase
PLP	pyridoxal 5'-phosphate
PPi	inorganic pyrophosphate
PPPi	tripolyphosphate
PSAT	phosphoserine aminotransferase
PSP	phosphoserine phosphatase
SAHH	S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase
SAT	serine O-acetyltransferase
SD	serine dehydratase
SHMT	(GHMT) serine (glycine) hydroxymethyl transferase
SPAT	(AGAT) serine pyruvate (alanine glyoxylate) amino-
	transferase
SS	spermidine synthase or spermine synthase
TEAT	thioethanolamine S-acetyltransferase
THF	tetrahydrofolate
THP	tetrahydropteroyltriglutamate
TIGR	the Institute of Genomic Research
TS	thymidylate synthase

ABSTRACT

Sulfur-containing amino acids play indispensable roles in a wide variety of biological activities including protein synthesis, methylation, and biosynthesis of polyamines and glutathione. Biosynthesis and catabolism of these amino acids need to be carefully regulated to achieve the requirement of the above-mentioned activities and also to eliminate toxicity attributable to the amino acids. Genome-wide analyses of enzymes involved in the metabolic pathways of sulfurcontaining amino acids, including transsulfuration, sulfur assimilatory *de novo* cysteine biosynthesis, methionine cycle, and degradation, using genome databases available from a variety of parasitic protozoa, reveal remarkable diversity between protozoan parasites and their mammalian hosts. Thus, the sulfur-containing amino acid metabolic pathways are a rational target for the development of novel chemotherapeutic and prophylactic agents against diseases caused by protozoan parasites. These pathways also demonstrate notable heterogeneity among parasites, suggesting that the metabolism of sulfur-containing amino acids reflects the diversity of parasitism among parasite species, and probably influences their biology and pathophysiology such as virulence competence and stress defense.

1. INTRODUCTION

Two major sulfur-containing amino acids, methionine and cysteine, are metabolized by a variety of reactions involving at least two dozen intermediates and products. These sulfur-containing amino acids and some of the intermediates are essential for survival of virtually all living organisms from bacteria to higher eukaryotes. Despite the fact that these molecules are indispensable for all organisms, there are remarkable differences in both biosynthesis and catabolism of these sulfur-containing amino acids between parasitic protozoa and their mammalian hosts. Owing to rapid expansion of available genome databases of parasitic protozoa, genome-wide searches of genes involved in metabolism of sulfur-containing amino acids have become possible to comprehensively understand distribution of individual enzymes and whole metabolic pathways. Such comparative genomics should enable us to address important biological, biochemical, and evolutionary questions related to these essential metabolic pathways. In this review, we attempt to summarize current knowledge on heterogeneity in the metabolism of sulfur-containing amino acids among representative protozoan parasites, with emphasis on major differences between parasites and their mammalian hosts. Comprehensive understanding of differences in metabolism between parasites and mammalian hosts should help us to identify and exploit unique targets to develop novel chemotherapeutic and prophylactic agents.

2. BIOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE OF SULFUR-CONTAINING AMINO ACIDS AND THEIR METABOLIC PATHWAYS

2.1. General Features and Functions of Sulfur

Sulfur is the fourth most abundant element after oxygen, silicon, and hydrogen in the Earth's crust (Beinert, 2000). In all living organisms, sulfur is the third most abundant element after carbon and nitrogen. Sulfur constitutes only 0.1% of dry matter of plants while carbon and nitrogen are present at 45% and 1.5%, respectively (Leustek et al., 2000). Sulfur is often involved in catalytic and electrochemical reactions rather than constituting structural biomolecules. The sulfur atom is unique due to its extraordinary properties. Sulfur is light enough for its nuclear charge to be overcome and also to enable mobilization or immobilization of its electrons, compared to selenium and tellurium. In addition, the sulfur atom is large enough to populate orbital 3d, in contrast to the oxygen atom. Sulfur can occur in formal valencies from 2^{-} to 6^{+} ; thus it can donate or accept electrons to reach the neon or argon configurations, respectively. The fact that reduced sulfur in cysteine (thiol, -SH) is strongly nucleophilic, makes it react easily with electrophilic compounds. On the contrary, two cysteine thiol groups are oxidized to form a stable covalent disulfide bond in macromolecules, e.g. proteins. This disulfide bond can be reduced to restore two thiol moieties in cysteine. This reversibility serves a regulatory role that determines the structure and activity of proteins. These physical and chemical properties, unique to sulfur, led to the intriguing hypothesis that iron-sulfur proteins represent one of the first catalysts in nature (Beinert et al., 1997; Cody et al., 2000).

2.2. Functions of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids

2.2.1. General Functions of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids

Cysteine and methionine are incorporated into proteins. Cysteine plays an important role in stability, structure, catalytic activity, and

regulation of numerous proteins due to the unique properties of sulfur and thiol. These versatile functions exploit unique aspects of sulfur chemistry as described above. The high nucleophilicity of thiols

facilitates the role of cysteine as an active-site covalent catalyst. In addition, oxidized derivatives of cysteine, e.g. cystine, form disulfide bonds which stabilize the tertiary structure of proteins. Due to its high reactivity, cysteine is also involved in synthesis of glutathione, which plays an important role in protection from oxidative stress. Glutathione, an enzymatically synthesized tripeptide composed of glutamate, cysteine, and glycine, and its derivatives have a critical function as redox buffers detoxifying noxious oxygen species including hydrogen peroxide. The high nucleophilicity of the cysteine residue of glutathione allows this compound to scavenge and detoxify electrophiles. The easy formation and low reactivity of sulfur-free radicals permit glutathione to capture and detoxify the more reactive free radicals of oxygen and carbon (Meister and Anderson, 1983; Doelman and Bast, 1990). Glutathione also plays a role in detoxification of xenobiotics and herbicides (Rea et al., 1998) and functions as a stress signal and a trigger for development (Sanchez-Fernandez et al., 1997). Glutathione also serves as a store of cysteine and reduced sulfur, and as a signal for the regulation of sulfur assimilation (Noctor et al., 1998). Insufficient availability of glutathione leads to reduced cell survival in vitro and also hemolytic anemia and neurological abnormalities in vivo (Grimble and Grimble, 1998; Dringen et al., 1999; Wullner et al., 1999; Ceccon et al., 2000). Two molecules of glutathione are conjugated with one molecule of spermidine to form trypanothione $(N^1, N^8$ -bis(glutathionyl)spermidine), a glutathione derivative that was initially thought to be present only in kinetoplastids (Fairlamb et al., 1985). However, a related glutathionylspermidine was later demonstrated in other organisms including Escherichia coli (Bollinger et al., 1995; Smith et al., 1995). Trypanothione metabolism and its physiological functions such as the detoxification of peroxide and the maintenance of intracellular redox balance have been reviewed by Fairlamb and Cerami (1992), Walker, J. and Barrett (1997), Flohe et al. (1999), Rahlfs et al. (2002), Steenkamp (2002), Krauth-Siegel and Inhoff (2003), Muller, S. et al. (2003) and Turrens (2004). Polyamine metabolism, described below, is also a part of trypanothione biosynthesis. Details of polyamine synthesis in protozoan parasites are given in previous reviews (Yarlett and Bacchi, 1994; Marton and Pegg, 1995; Muller, S. *et al.*, 2001; Bacchi and Yarlett, 2002; Heby *et al.*, 2003; Kaiser *et al.*, 2003).

Cysteine also serves as a precursor of important biomolecules including coenzyme A, cysteamine, and taurine. Coenzyme A and acyl carrier protein, which contains 4-phosphopantothenic acid, mediate various acyl transfer reactions involving thioesters of the cysteamine residue of these molecules; the poor resonance stability of thioesters serves to maintain the high transfer potential of the acyl group (Stipanuk, 2004). Taurine has important physiological roles in detoxification, bile acid formation, membrane stabilization, and neurotransmission (Stipanuk, 2004). Cysteine is also further utilized for the production of ubiquitous iron–sulfur clusters, which play various important roles in electron transfer, redox regulation, nitrogen fixation, and sensing for regulatory processes (Beinert *et al.*, 1997), and are probably present in all living organisms.

Methionine is also an important constituent of proteins. Although methionine is not involved in interpeptide bond formation like cysteine, it is also vulnerable to oxidation (forming methionine sulfoxide). Thus, oxidation and reduction of methionine in a protein are involved in the regulation of enzymatic activities (Sun *et al.*, 1999). In addition, methionine plays various roles through its activated intermediate *S*-adenosylmethionine (AdoMet) (see Section 2.2.2.).

2.2.2. Functions of AdoMet

In all organisms, most of the intracellular methionine is converted into AdoMet (Figure 1), a sulfonium compound which serves in transfer reactions as donor of a methyl moiety to various molecules including bases of nucleic acids, arginine, histidine and lysine residues of proteins, and phosphatidylethanolamine (Stipanuk, 1986). In fact, AdoMet serves as the methyl donor in essentially all known biological methylation reactions, with the notable exception of those involved in methylation of homocysteine (Stipanuk, 2004). AdoMet is also utilized for the formation of polyamines including spermidine



Figure 1 A general scheme of methionine activation and methionine regeneration. The central portion of the scheme represents methionine activation. The left and right halves represents methionine recycling and the MTA cycle, respectively. The abbreviations of substrates and products are: ACC, 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid; AdoHcy, S-adenosyl-Lhomocysteine; AdoMet, S-adenosyl-L-methionine; DcAdoMet, decarboxylated AdoMet; MTA, 5'-methylthioadenosine; MTR, 5'-methylthioribose; Pi, inorganic phosphate; PPi, inorganic pyrophosphate; THF, tetrahydrofolate; and THP, tetrahydropteroyltriglutamate. The abbreviations of enzyme names are: ACCS, 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid synthase (S-adenosyl-L-methionine methylthioadenosine-lyase, EC 4.4.1.14); AdoMetDC, Sadenosyl-L-methionine decarboxylase (EC 4.1.1.50); AT, various aminotransferases (e.g. glutamine/tyrosine/aspartate transaminase, EC 2.6.1.X); CBL, cystathionine- β -lyase (β -cystathionase, EC 4.4.1.8); CBS, cystathionine β -synthase (EC 4.2.1.22); cdMS, cobalamin-dependent methionine synthase (5-methyltetrahydrofolate-homocysteine S-methyltransferase, EC 2.1.1.13, or betaine-homocysteine S-methyltransferase, EC 2.1.1.5); ciMS, cobalamin-independent methionine synthase (5-methyltetrahydropteroyltriglutamate-homocysteine S-methyltransferase, EC 2.1.1.14); MAT, methionine adenosyltransferase (S-adenosyl-L-methionine synthetase, EC 2.5.1.6); MT, various methyltransferases (EC 2.1.1.X); MTAN, 5'-methylthioadenosine/S-adenosylhomocysteine nucleosidase (EC 3.2.2.9); MTAP, 5'-methylthioadenosine phosphorylase (EC 2.4.2.28); MTRK, S-methyl-5-thioribose kinase (EC 2.7.1.100); SAHH, adenosylhomocysteinase (S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine hydrolase, EC 3.3.1.1); and SS, spermidine synthase (EC 2.5.1.16) or spermine synthase (EC 2.5.1.22).

and spermine via decarboxylated AdoMet (DcAdoMet), which is produced from AdoMet by AdoMet decarboxylase (AdoMetDC, EC 4.1.1.50; Figure 1). Polyamines are also involved in the control of various biological processes including regulation of transcription and translation of many genes, modulation of enzyme activities, regulation of ion channels, and the formation of hypusine, and an essential post-translational modification of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 5A (eIF-5A) (Pegg, 1988; Marton and Pegg, 1995; Bachrach et al., 2001; Casero and Woster, 2001; Hillary and Pegg, 2003). Elevated polyamine levels were demonstrated in rapidly growing cells (Tabor and Tabor, 1984; Pegg, 1988). It was also shown that biosynthesis of large quantities of polyamines from methionine, together with cysteine and phospholipids, is essential immediately before DNA replication (Marton and Pegg, 1995). Ethylene, a plant hormone, which plays an important role in shoot and root growth, leaf abscission, fruit ripening, flower senescence, healing and defense against wounding, pathogen attack, and environmental stress (Parsons, B.L. and Mattoo, 1991), is also synthesized from AdoMet via 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carbocylic acid (ACC). ACC is produced from Ado-Met by ACC synthase (EC 4.4.1.14) (Fu, P.C. et al., 1979; Yu et al., 1979). In prokaryotes, it was also shown that AdoMet is utilized for transfer of the aminocarboxyl moiety to the uridilyl residue (Nishimura et al., 1974).

2.3. Significance of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids in Parasitic Protozoa

2.3.1. Significance of Methionine in Parasitic Protozoa

As in other organisms, sulfur-containing amino acids and their metabolic intermediates play indispensable roles in all parasitic protozoa. The significance of methionine for cell proliferation has been appreciated in parasites by analogy with prokaryotic and other eukaryotic organisms. It was previously shown that *Plasmodium falciparum* apparently requires extracellular methionine in addition to that obtained by proteolysis of the hemoglobin of red blood cells to sustain growth (Sherman, 1979). It was also shown that extracellular methionine was required for the growth of *Trypanosoma brucei* procyclic (Brun and Schonenberger, 1979) and bloodstream (Duszenko *et al.*, 1992) forms and also for promastigotes of *Leishmania donovani* and *L. braziliensis* (Steiger and Steiger, 1977) in chemically semidefined media.

2.3.2. Requirement of Extracellular Cysteine for Anaerobic or Microaerophilic Protozoa

It has been demonstrated that extra cysteine in the culture milieu is required for growth, attachment, and survival against oxidative stress of Entamoeba histolvtica and Giardia duodenalis (Gillin and Diamond, 1980a, b, 1981a, b; also see Section 4.3). It should be noted that the requirement of L-cysteine and other reducing compounds, i.e. D-cysteine, L-cystine, ascorbic acid, dithiothreitol, and β -mercaptoethanol, for growth and antioxidative activity varies between these two parasitic species. For instance, L-cysteine, D-cysteine, or ascorbic acid, but neither dithiothreitol nor β -mercaptoethanol, supported the growth and defence against hydrogen peroxide of E. histolytica, while all of these compounds protected G. duodenalis from oxidative killing, but only L-cysteine supported growth of G. duodenalis trophozoites (Gillin and Diamond, 1981b). The observed differences in the requirement of extracellular reducing agents between these parasites suggest that cysteine is involved in distinct biological processes in these parasites, and retrospectively agreed well with current understanding of the presence or absence of the de novo cysteine biosynthetic pathway in E. histolytica and G. duodenalis, respectively (see Section 4.2).

2.3.3. Significance of Cysteine as an Antioxidant in Entamoeba histolytica, Giardia duodenalis and Trichomonas vaginalis

It has previously been shown that, when parasites were cultured in a glutathione-depleted medium, cysteine was the major thiol molecule

in Entamoeba histolytica (Fahey et al., 1984) and Giardia duodenalis (Gillin and Diamond, 1981a, b: Brown et al., 1993). Cysteine was present largely in a thiol form, i.e. reduced but not oxidized (Fahey et al., 1984). It has been assumed that cysteine plays a major role in maintaining redox balance of thiol compounds in microaerophiles. Although Entamoeba is known as an anaerobic or microaerophilic protozoon, it consumes oxygen (Takeuchi et al., 1979) and thus probably produces toxic oxygen derivatives, similar to aerophilic organisms. Although these protozoa possess superoxide dismutase (Bruchhaus and Tannich, 1994; Mehlotra, 1996) for detoxification of the reactive oxygen intermediates, they lack catalase, peroxidase, and enzymes for glutathione biosynthesis, reduction, and regeneration (Weinbach and Diamond, 1974; Fahev et al., 1984; Mehlotra, 1996). Instead, these microaerophilic protozoan parasites possess alternative mechanisms including cysteine (Mehlotra, 1996), NADPH:flavin oxidoreductase (Eh34) (Bruchhaus et al., 1998) and NAD(P)H peroxidase (only Giardia). Recent genome-wide survey also revealed that E. histolvtica possesses rubrethrin, an uncommon reductant distributed mainly in anaerobic prokaryotes (Loftus et al., 2005).

2.3.4. Physiological Importance of Cysteine in Trypanosoma and Leishmania

The significance of cysteine in *Trypanosoma* and *Leishmania* may be partially attributable to the production of trypanothione, which is involved in the detoxification of reactive oxygen species in these organisms (Muller, S. *et al.*, 2003). The amount of trypanothione, glutathione covalently linked to spermidine, varies among species, e.g. *Trypanosoma brucei*, *T. cruzi*, *Leishmania* spp., and *Crithidia fasciculata*, a monoxenous parasite of arthropods, and also among developmental stages (Fairlamb, 1989; Ariyanayagam and Fairlamb, 2001; Ariyanayagam *et al.*, 2003). Trypanothione and its metabolism were recently reported in *Entamoeba histolytica* by Ondarza *et al.* (1999), but this is still controversial (Ariyanayagam and Fairlamb, 1999; Tamayo *et al.*, 2005). The essentiality of cysteine for growth of blood-stream forms of *T. brucei* was demonstrated using a cysteine-free

minimum essential medium (Duszenko *et al.*, 1992). L-Cysteine alone or a mixture of L-cystine and reducing agents (monothioglycerol or 2-mercaptoethanol), but none of the reducing agents, or D-cysteine alone supported cell growth. Since cystine is not incorporated by bloodstream-form trypanosomes (Duszenko *et al.*, 1985), Lcysteine was proposed to be an essential growth factor (Duszenko *et al.*, 1992).

3. METABOLISM OF SULFUR-CONTAINING AMINO ACIDS

3.1. An Overview of Metabolism of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids

Animals including humans and other non-ruminants have a dietary requirement for methionine as they are incapable of *de novo* production of cysteine. They take methionine from the diet and ultimately oxidize its sulfur to inorganic sulfate. Plants, bacteria, and fungi play an indispensable role in nature in completing the sulfur cycle by reductive assimilation of inorganic sulfate to cysteine and methionine, and thus providing the source of methionine necessary for animals. Plants in particular are the most important producers of sulfur-containing amino acids, assimilating an estimated 4.6×10^{11} kg of inorganic sulfur per annum (Anderson, 1978).

Aspects of methionine metabolism discussed in this review include methionine activation, methionine recycling, and transsulfuration leading to cysteine production in fungi and mammals. Two major pathways are currently known for methionine recycling: a relatively common recycling pathway utilizing homocysteine methyltransferase (methionine synthase) as a final enzyme and the so-called methionine thioadenosine cycle. Cysteine metabolism discussed in this review includes sulfur assimilatory *de novo* cysteine synthesis, transsulfuration in the direction of cysteine to homocysteine found mainly in bacteria and plants, and cysteine degradation.

3.2. Methionine Metabolism

3.2.1. A General Scheme of Methionine Activation

Methionine is activated by the transfer of an adenosyl group of ATP to methionine in a reaction catalyzed by methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT, EC 2.5.1.6; Figure 1) to produce AdoMet. Two sequential enzymatic activities have been shown for all MAT enzymes described to date. The first activity catalyzes the formation of Ado-Met and tripolyphosphate (PPPi), while the second activity catalyzes hydrolysis of PPPi to give rise to pyro- and orthophosphate, in a reaction strongly induced by AdoMet (Chiang and Cantoni, 1977; Mato et al., 1990; Kotb and Geller, 1993). MAT genes often exist as multiple isoenzymes in many organisms including humans (Kotb and Kredich, 1985), Escherichia coli (Takusagawa et al., 1996) and rats (Mingorance et al., 1997). Two MAT isoenzymes showing different tissue distributions and subunit structures have been described in mammals. MAT I/MAT III (Alvarez et al., 1993) are expressed only in the liver, while MAT II is expressed in all tissues (De La Rosa et al., 1995). MAT I and MAT III are composed of two and four identical catalytic α_1 subunits, respectively (Alvarez *et al.*, 1993). MAT II is a heterotetrameric enzyme consisting of two catalytic subunits $(\alpha_1/$ α_2) and a β regulatory subunit (LeGros *et al.*, 2000).

AdoMet is involved primarily in the transfer of several possible acceptors of the S-methyl group including glycine (forming sarcosine), guanidoacetate (forming creatine), phosphatidylethanolamine (forming phosphatidylcholine), purine and pyrimidine bases of tRNA, and various xenobiotics bearing hydroxyl, amino, or sulfhydryl groups (Cantoni, 1975). It is estimated that about 95% of the AdoMet formed is consumed in the methyl transfer reactions (Mudd and Poole, 1975). AdoMet also serves as a substrate in the production of DcAdoMet, in a reaction catalyzed by AdoMetDC (Figure 1), which is further utilized for the formation of spermidine from putrescine and of spermine from spermidine. In these reactions, DcAdo-Met serves as a donor of aminopropyl groups with concomitant formation of methylthioadenosine (MTA) as a by-product. MTA is further recycled back to methionine in the so-called methionine thioadenosine cycle involving 9–10 steps (see Section 3.2.2(c), Schwartz and Shapiro, 1954; Trackman and Abeles, 1983; Furfine and Abeles, 1988; Myers *et al.*, 1993; Wray and Abeles, 1993). Ado-Met has also been indicated as a potential source of 5'-deoxyadenosyl radicals in a large number of reductive metabolic processes (Fontecave *et al.*, 2001). While AdoMet synthesis is present in a wide variety of cells, its transport has also been demonstrated in a few organisms including *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Murphy and Spence, 1972), *Pneumocystis carinii* (Merali *et al.*, 2000), *Rickettsia prowazekii* (Tucker *et al.*, 2003), and rats (liver mitochondria) (Horne *et al.*, 1997).

3.2.2. A General Scheme of Two Pathways for Methionine Recycling

(a) S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase (SAHH) is involved in both the salvaging of methionine and reverse transsulfuration. Methylation using AdoMet as a methyl donor yields S-adenosylhomocysteine (Ado-Hcy) as a by-product, which is further hydrolyzed to regenerate adenosine with concomitant production of homocysteine. Homocysteine then enters one of two pathways: regeneration of methionine by homocysteine methyltransferase (see Section 3.2.2(b)) or via the reverse transsulfuration (or transsulfuration) pathway (Section 3.3). In the reverse transsulfuration pathway, AdoMet is ultimately converted into cysteine via cystathionine. Transsulfuration was first described in mammalian liver (Vigneaud, 1952). In the 1960s transsulfuration in the opposite direction was found in bacteria (Kaplan and Flavin, 1966) and fungi (Nagai and Flavin, 1967), in the latter occurring in both directions. In this review, the terminology of 'forward' and 'reverse' transsulfuration indicates reactions leading from cysteine to methionine (via homocysteine) and from methionine to cysteine, respectively, according to Soda (1987) and Steegborn et al. (1999) (see also the detailed description in Section 3.3.1).

AdoMet is first demethylated by specific or non-specific methyltransferase to form AdoHcy. AdoHcy is reversibly hydrolyzed to adenosine and homocysteine in a reaction catalyzed by AdoHcy hydrolase (SAHH, EC 3.3.1.1; Figure 1), which plays a crucial role by removing AdoHcy to regulate the overall methylation capacity of the cell, often expressed as the methylation index (the ratio of AdoMet to AdoHcy). It is important to mention that the equilibrium constant of the reaction by SAHH favors AdoHcy synthesis, and AdoHcy is a strong competitive inhibitor of the AdoMet-dependent methylases (Hoffman *et al.*, 1981). Thus, further utilization or degradation of AdoHcy and homocysteine to maintain their low concentrations is critical for various methylation reactions to occur efficiently in the cell (Walker, R.D. and Duerre, 1975).

(b) Homocysteine methyltransferase (methionine synthase) is involved in the final step of the methionine production from homocysteine. Synthesis de novo of methionine from cysteine or homocysteine (also known as the forward transsulfuration pathway, Figure 2) has been reported in some bacteria, fungi and plants (reviewed by Thomas and Surdin-Kerjan, 1997; Ravanel et al., 1998; Sekowska et al., 2000; also see Section 3.2.2(a)). Although mammals do not possess a complete forward transsulfuration pathway, they utilize part of this methionine biosynthetic pathway for the recycling of methionine. Since the forward transsulfuration pathway, which forms methionine from cysteine, is energetically expensive, mammals dispense of most of the enzymes involved in this pathway except for vitamin B_{12} (cobalamin)-dependent homocysteine methyltransferase catalyzing the last step of methionine production (Figure 1). This final step is mainly catalyzed by 5'-methyltetrahydrofolate-homocysteine S-methyltransferase (EC 2.1.1.13, also called methionine synthase), which utilizes N^5 -methyltetrahydrofolate as the major methyl donor *in vivo* under normal nutritional conditions (Finkelstein et al., 1971; Finkelstein, 1974; Finkelstein and Martin, 1986). In mammals, this final step of methionine recycling is also catalyzed in part by betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase (EC 2.1.1.5) using betaine as a methyl donor. This enzyme is distributed in only a few organs including liver, where its expression is induced by high protein diet or high methionine intake, suggesting that it is involved in decomposition of sulfur-containing amino acids via homocysteine (Finkelstein and Martin, 1986). In bacteria (Whitfield et al., 1970), yeasts (Burton and Sakami, 1971), and fungi (Burton and Metzenberg, 1975), which are incapable of producing vitamin B_{12} , this reaction is also catalyzed by the vitamin



Figure 2 A general scheme of transsulfuration and sulfur assimilatory de novo cysteine biosynthetic, and sulfur-containing amino acid degradation pathways. The abbreviations used are: CAT, cysteine aminotransferase (EC 2.6.1.3); CBL, cystathionine β -lyase (β -cystathionase, EC 4.4.1.8); CBS, cystathionine β -synthase (serine sulfhydrase, EC 4.2.1.22); CDO, cysteine dioxygenase (EC 1.13.11.20); CGL, cystathionine γ -lyase (homoserine deaminase, EC 4.4.1.1); CGS, cystathionine γ -synthase (O-succinylhomoserine (thiol)-lyase, EC 2.5.1.48); CoAS, coenzyme A synthetic pathway; CS, cysteine synthase (O-acetyl-L-serine sulfhydrylase, EC 2.5.1.47); CSDC, cysteine-sulfinate decarboxylase (EC 4.1.1.29); CTADO, cysteamine dioxygenase (EC 1.13.11.19); DS, direct sulfhydrylation (O-acetyl-L-homoserine sulfhydrylase, methionine synthase, O-acetylhomoserine (thiol)lyase, EC 2.5.1.49); GGS, γ -glutamylcysteine synthase (EC 6.3.2.2); GS. glutathione synthase (EC 6.3.2.3); HD, hypotaurine dehydrogenase (EC 1.8.1.3); MGL, methionine y-lyase (L-methioninase, EC 4.4.1.11); SAT, serine O-acetyltransferase (EC 2.3.1.30); and TEAT, thioethanolamine S-acetvltransferase (EC 2.3.1.11).

 B_{12} -independent enzyme known as 5'-methyltetrahydropteroyltriglutamate-homocysteine S-methyltransferase (EC 2.1.1.14).

(c) MTA cycle is involved in the salvaging of methionine. There is a second route, referred as the MTA cycle or methionine salvage pathway, for methionine recycling. This pathway is present in many organisms including yeasts (Marchitto and Ferro, 1985), protozoa

(Ghoda et al., 1988; Riscoe et al., 1988), rats (Wray and Abeles, 1995) and plants (Van der Straeten et al., 1990). These organisms regenerate methionine from MTA in seven or eight reactions (Myers et al., 1993; Heilbronn et al., 1999; Figure 1). Although this pathway has been studied in a number of organisms, the complete pathway has been fully delineated only in Klebsiella pneumoniae by Wray and Abeles (1995), where a series of unusual enzymes involved in the formation of methionine from MTA through α -ketomethiobutyrate (KMTB), which is a final key intermediate leading to methionine, was discovered. The MTA cycle shares its first half with the polyamine biosynthetic pathway. AdoMet is produced through decarboxylation of AdoMet by AdoMetDC as described above. The aminopropyl moiety of methylthiopropylamine is subsequently transferred to putrescine to form spermidine (spermidine synthase, EC 2.5.1.16) or to spermidine to form spermine (spermine synthethase, EC 2.5.1.22). In plants the aminopropyl moiety is transferred from methylthiopropylamine to ACC to produce ethylene by ACC synthase. These reactions concomitantly form MTA. Subsequent paths of the MTA metabolism, leading to the production of methionine, differ among organisms (Figure 1). In mammals, MTA is hydrolyzed by MTA phosphorylase (MTAP, EC 2.4.2.28) (Pegg and Williams-Ashman, 1969) to form methylthioribose-1-phosphate and adenine. In contrast, in prokaryotes MTA is hydrolyzed to 5'-methylthioribose (MTR) and adenine by 5'-methylthioadenosine nucleosidase (MTAN, EC 3.2.2.9, also called AdoHcy nucleosidase) (Duerre, 1962; Ferro et al., 1976), followed by further phosphorylation of MTR by MTR kinase (MTRK, EC 2.7.1.100, Ferro et al., 1978) at the expense of ATP to produce MTR 1-phosphate. Subsequently, MTR 1-phosphate is converted into methionine via a diketo intermediate and KMTB to complete the methionine cycle. The final step of the MTA recycling pathway appears to be catalyzed by various aminotransferases (AT, EC 2.6.1.X). Although glutamine was initially implicated as an amino donor for this reaction (Cooper, J.L. and Meister, 1972), various amino acids including aspartate, tryptophan, phenylalanine, tyrosine, and glutamate have been reported as amino donors for this reaction (Hall et al., 1993; Berger et al., 1996, 1998; Heilbronn et al., 1999).

3.2.3. Ubiquity and Significance of Methionine Activation in Parasitic Protozoa

(a) Genome-wide survey of genes involved in sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms. In order to evaluate the distributions of enzymes involved in sulfur-containing amino acid metabolism among protozoan parasites and to understand how ubiquitous they are, we conducted a wide-scale search of all the known enzymes involved in methionine activation and regeneration (see Sections 3.2.3-4), transsulfuration (Section 3.3.4), sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthesis (Section 4.2), degradation of sulfur-containing amino acids (Section 5.2), and serine metabolism (Section 6.2) using public genome databases available at the Institute of Genomic Research (TIGR, http://www.tigr.org/tdb/e2k1/tca1/, http://www.tigr.org/tdb/ e2k1/pfa1/, http://www.tigr.org/tdb/e2k1/tvg/), the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute (http://www.sanger.ac.uk/projects/E histolytica/, http://www.sanger.ac.uk/projects/L major/, http://www.sanger.ac. uk/projects/T brucei/), National Center of Biotechnology Information (NCBI, http://www.ncbi.nih.gov/) and GiardiaDB (http:// gmod.mbl.edu/perl/site/giardia?page=intro). Only representative species were used for the survey to ensure maximal coverage of putative genes. We chose three anaerobic and amitochondrial protozoa (Entamoeba histolytica, Giardia duodenalis and Trichomonas vaginalis), two apicomplexan parasites (Plasmodium falciparum and Cryptosporidium parvum) and three trypanosomatids (Trypanosoma cruzi, T. brucei and Leishmania major). The genome drafts were complete and regularly updated for P. falciparum (Gardner et al., 2002), C. parvum (Abrahamsen et al., 2004), and E. histolytica (Loftus et al., 2005). The G. duodenalis database contains approximately 11-fold genome sequence data. The genome databases of T. brucei (complete or close to completion for 8 of 11 chromosomes (I-VIII) and 4-9fold coverage for chromosomes IX-XI; approximately 13 000 protein-coding genes were predicted in the \sim 25.5 Mb haploid genome), T. cruzi (19-fold coverage; http://www.genedb.org/genedb/tcruzi/ index.jsp) and L. major (approximately 8300 genes over 36 chromosomes were predicted in the \sim 33.6 Mb haploid genome; http:// www.genedb.org/genedb/leish/index.jsp) are close to the final stage and sufficient for gene-finding purposes. Owing to the unexpectedly large size of the *T. vaginalis* genome (160–180 Mb) (J. M. Carlton, personal communication), the coverage of the *T. vaginalis* database cannot be predicted.

We identified putative homologs by blastp and tblastn search against protein and nucleotide databases of the genome database of these parasites using protein sequences from Escherichia coli, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Arabidopsis thaliana and Homo sapiens. We designated homologs when proteins revealed >30% overall amino acid identity and the signature motifs, domains and residues were conserved. To differentiate pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (PLP)-dependent enzymes, protozoan sequences as well as homologs from other organisms were subjected to phylogenetic analyses by the neighbor joining method using Clustal W. If a sequence formed a statistically significant (supported by high i.e., >60%, bootstrap proportions) relationship with homologs possessing known enzymological characteristics, the protein was assumed to possess a homologous enzyme function. If no homolog was present in the organisms listed above (e.g. methionine γ -lyase), other prokaryotic organisms and protists (e.g. archaeal Methanosarcina species and E. histolytica) were used for both blast search and phylogenetic analyses.

(b) Ubiquity of methionine activation in parasitic protozoa. With one exception, all the protozoan parasites included in the review (*E. histolytica*, *T. vaginalis*, *P. falciparum*, *C. parvum*, *T. brucei*, *T. cruzi* and *L. major*) possess genes encoding MAT and SAHH; the exception, *G. duodenalis*, possesses MAT but lacks SAHH (Table 1). This conservation indicates that activation of methionine by MAT and regulation of methylation capacity through SAHH are widespread among parasitic protozoa as in other prokaryotic and eukaryotic organisms (Cantoni, 1975).

(c) MAT in parasitic protozoa. MAT activity has been previously demonstrated in many protozoan parasites. Two MAT isoenzymes in bloodstream forms of *Trypanosoma brucei* with different kinetic constants were shown to be insensitive to allosteric inhibition by AdoMet (Yarlett and Bacchi, 1988a; Yarlett *et al.*, 1993), in contrast to mammalian MAT (Lu, 2000). The insensitivity of trypanosomal MAT to AdoMet is responsible in part for the well-studied trypanocidal effects of $DL-\alpha$ -diffuoromethylornithine (DFMO) (Bacchi and Yarlett,

1993), which is used therapeutically in T. b. rhodesiense infections (Sjoerdsma and Schechter, 1984; Van Nieuwenhove et al., 1985; Bacchi et al., 1987). It is well accepted that DFMO is a specific inhibitor of ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), the first enzyme of polyamine biosynthesis (Figure 1), and causes accumulation of polyamine precursors including AdoMet and DcAdoMet in trypanosomes (Yarlett et al., 1993). Since these trypanosomes are capable of utilizing exogenous polyamines very poorly, and also lack the interconversion pathway between spermine and spermidine, they rely on de novo synthesis of polyamines (Fairlamb and LeQuesne, 1997), indicating that the trypanocidal effect of DFMO is attributable to the inhibition of polyamine and trypanothione biosynthesis (Fairlamb and Henderson, 1987; Fairlamb et al., 1987; Bitonti et al., 1988). In addition to perturbation of polyamine and trypanothione synthesis, the abnormally high transmethylation activity, which is caused by the unregulated synthesis of AdoMet due to AdoMet-insensitive MAT, has also been reported to be responsible for the trypanocidal effect of DFMO (Bacchi and Yarlett, 1993; Bacchi et al., 1993).

[(Z)-4-Amino-2-butenyl]methylamino-5'-deoxyadenosine (MDL 73811), an enzyme-activated irreversible inhibitor of AdoMetDC, was also found to be very effective against T. b. brucei infections in mice and rats. The fact that bloodstream trypanosomes disappeared before polyamine depletion was detected strongly suggested that the antitrypanosomal effect of the drug was mainly attributable to an increase in the level of AdoMet and not polyamine depletion (Byers et al., 1991). Cloning and characterization of a recombinant MAT from Leishmania infantum (Reguera et al., 1999, 2002) and L. donovani (Perez-Pertejo et al., 2003) suggested that Leishmania MAT was also partially insensitive to allosteric inhibition by AdoMet. MAT activity was also demonstrated in Trichomonas vaginalis and T. foetus (Thong et al., 1987a). Although it was shown that T. vaginalis ODC was sensitive to inhibition by DFMO (Yarlett et al., 1992), the methylation index was not changed by DFMO treatment in T. vaginalis (Yarlett and Bacchi, 1988b), probably due to the absence of polyamine biosynthesis from Trichomonas.

Recombinant *Cryptosporidium parvum* MAT was shown to be competitively inhibited by a methionine analog, cycloleucine;

Table 1 Enzymes involved in the methionine cycle, transsulfuration, sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthesis and degradation of sulfur-containing amino acids in parasitic protozoa^a

Organisms	Enzymes															
	Methionine cycle								Transsulfuration				Sulfur assimilation		Degradation	
	MAT	SAHH	Ado Met DC	MTAN	MTAP	Asp AT	cdMS	ciMS	Forward		Reverse		SAT	CS	MGL	CDO
									CGS	CBL	CBS	CGL				
E. histolytica	+	+	_	+	_	+ ^b	_	_	_	_	_	_	+	+	+	_
G. duodenalis	+	-	_	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-
T. vaginalis	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	-	-	_	-	-	+	+	-
P. falciparum	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	-	_	-	_	-	-	_	-	-
C. parvum	+	+	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-
T. brucei	+	+	+	_	+	+	+	+	_	_	+	$+^{c}$	-	_	-	_
T. cruzi	+	+	+	+	+	+	_	_	_	_	+	$+^{c}$	+	+	_	_
L. major	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	+ ^c	—	—	-	-

Accession numbers of putative homologs (either protein or nucleotide) are as follows: *E. histolytica*, MAT (2390555.c000316748), SAHH (2390555.c000227129), MTAN (2390555.c000506367), AspAT (2390555.c000505226), SAT (AB023954), CS1 (AB000266), CS2 (AB006900), MGL1 (AB094499), MGL2 (AB094500); *G. duodenalis*, MAT (AACB01000070), MTAP (AY132352), AspAT

(AF326991); *T. vaginalis*, MAT (38080.m00046, 39085.m00036, 56641.m00042,38383.m00037, 50773.m00002, 39081.m00025), SAHH (43465.m00075), MTAN (38081.m00042), MTAP (61898.m00072, 55953.m00025), AspAT (43456.m00085, 43271.m00035, 40895.m00018, 40895.m00017), ciMS (53871.m00008, 39399.m00130, 49217.m00002), CS (39878.m00035), MGL1 (AJ000486), MGL2 (AJ000487); *P. falciparum*, MAT (AL929357), SAHH (2272.m00210), AdoMetDC (AF094833), AspAT (1400.m02475); *C. parvum*, MAT (AB119646), SAHH (AAEE01000015); *T. brucei*, MAT (Tb06.30P15.650), SAHH (Tb11.01.1350), AdoMetDC (Tb06.26G9.750), MTAP (Tb07.21H15.360), AspAT (AF326988, AF326989, AF326990, AF326991), cdMS (AL929604), ciMS (Tb08.26A17.600), CBS (Tb11.02.5400), CGL (Tb09.211.3330); *T. cruzi*, MAT (5924.m00005), SAHH (8730.m00020, 6080.m00005), AdoMetDC (AAC26796, AAC33263), MTAN [1047053469207(4486-5142)], MTAP (AY144609), AspAT (AY762327, 6015.m0007), CBS (AF296842, AF296843, AF296845, AF296846, 7625.m00036, 5907.m00001, 7626.m00011, 7652.m00014), CGL (8458.m00025), SAT (AF296848, 4865.m00004), CS (7472.m00002, 5442.m00005); and *L. major*, MAT (LmjF30.3520), SAHH (LmjF36.3910), AdoMetDC (LmjF30.3110, LmjF30.3120), MTAP (AL157415), AspAT (AAG18601), CBS (LmjF17.0250), CGL [LMFP1295(87875-89392)].

^aSee the legend of Figure 3 for abbreviations used in this table; + and - symbols denote presence or absence of the gene. ^bThis putative *E. histolytica* AspAT is denoted AlaAT in the genome database.

^cThese putative CGL showed only marginal kinship with CGL from other organisms in a phylogenetic reconstruction using CGL, CGS, CBL and MGL belonging to α -type PLP-dependent enzymes and thus may be a functional homolog of other members of the family.

however, allosteric inhibition by AdoMet was not investigated (Slapeta et al., 2003). Putative MAT genes from other Cryptosporidium spp. (C. hominis, C. meleagiridis and C. parvum of a ferret genotype) (personal observation) and E. histolytica (Loftus et al., 2005) have also been identified. Interestingly, these MAT genes form a monophyletic clade with MAT from *P. falciparum*, while other protozoa, i.e. T. vaginalis, T. brucei, T. cruzi and L. infantum, form a statistically well separated monophyletic clade, together with plants. Therefore, protozoan MAT genes seem to be derived from at least two distinct ancestral organisms. Molecular modeling of MAT from P. falciparum based on the X-ray crystal structure of Escherichia coli MAT revealed that the subunit structure of *P. falciparum* MAT is probably a dimer, and differs from that of Escherichia coli MAT, which is a tetramer (Chiang et al., 1999). Since Plasmodium and human MAT showed comparable sensitivity toward cycloleucine (K_i values of 17 and 10 µм, respectively), cycloleucine or its closely related inhibitors could not be considered as lead compounds to selectively inhibit parasite MAT. A remarkable increase in the polyamine content of erythrocytes, which contain only a trace amount of polyamines and lack active polyamine biosynthesis, following infection with malaria parasites, together with the presence of ODC and AdoMetDC genes (see below) and their activities, indicate that active polyamine anabolism is present in proliferating malaria parasites (Assaraf et al., 1984). Thus, it is still worth investigating whether Plasmodium MAT is insensitive to allosteric feedback inhibition as is trypanosomal MAT, and to consider further methionine activation and polyamine metabolism as drug targets for malaria. A unique AdoMetDC-ODC bifunctional enzyme from *Plasmodium* is discussed in Section 3.2.5(a) Since polyamine and trypanothione biosynthesis and their functions as antioxidative stress mechanisms are beyond the scope of this review, the following excellent reviews should be consulted for details (Walker, J. and Barrett, 1997; Flohe et al., 1999; Rahlfs et al., 2002; Steenkamp, 2002; Krauth-Siegel et al., 2003; Muller, S. et al., 2003; Turrens, 2004).

(d) SAHH from parasitic protozoa as a drug target. Since SAHH is the sole enzyme responsible for the removal of AdoHcy from the cell, inhibition of SAHH causes substantial expansion of the intracellular pool of AdoHcy as well as significant diminution of the AdoMet/ AdoHcy ratio, leading to inhibition of transmethylation reactions (Whaun et al., 1986; Henderson et al., 1992). Various adenosine analogs have been used as potent inhibitors of SAHH. Some of these compounds have previously been tested as antimalaria and antileishmaniasis drugs. A carbocyclic analog of adenosine, Neoplanocin A, and its derivatives showed growth inhibitory effects against the intraerythrocytic stages of Plasmodium falciparum (Whaun et al., 1986; Nakanishi et al., 2001; Shuto et al., 2002). Since SAHH activity was detected in neither P. berghei nor P. falciparum isolated from infected erythrocytes, the growth inhibitory effects of Neoplanocin A have been attributed to inhibition of the host SAHH (Bitonti et al., 1990a). However, the SAHH gene and its transcript were demonstrated in *P. falciparum* by Creedon *et al.* (1994) (see also Section 7.2). Furthermore, a series of related adenosine derivatives also showed antimalarial effects, reinforcing the premise that *Plasmodium* SAHH provides a practical target for antimalarial drugs (Kitade et al., 2000; Nakanishi et al., 2001; Kojima et al., 2002; Kitade et al., 2003). However, further modifications that increase the chemotherapeutic index are required to enable these adenosine analogs to be considered as possible candidates for antimalarial and anticryptosporidiosis drugs.

The growth of *Leishmania donovani* promastigotes was also inhibited by micromolar concentrations of 3-deazaaristeromycine and 9-(*trans*-2'-, *trans*-3'-dihydroxycyclopentanyl) adenine, both of which are well-known inhibitors of mammalian SAHH (Henderson *et al.*, 1992). SAHH activity was also detected in crude homogenates of *Trichomonas vaginalis*, *T. foetus* and *Trichomitus batrachorum* (Thong *et al.*, 1985). Multicopy genes of *T. vaginalis* SAHH (Bagnara *et al.*, 1996) and characterization of the recombinant SAHH, which was inhibited by arabinosyl adenine (Minotto *et al.*, 1998), have also been reported. However, the effects of SAHH inhibition on the growth of *Trichomonas* spp. have not been studied.

(e) AdoMet transporter in Trypanosoma. AdoMet synthesis is energetically expensive as it consumes one molecule of ATP. Consequently, mammals often scavenge extracellular AdoMet by incorporation with specific AdoMet transporters. It has previously been demonstrated that uptake of AdoMet was three times faster than AdoMet synthesis (Goldberg *et al.*, 1998). The fact that the serum concentration of AdoMet (70 nm; Stramentinoli, 1987) is higher than that of methionine (26 nm; Blom *et al.*, 1989) also argues for the premise that cellular uptake of AdoMet, but not methionine, is biologically reasonable.

In *Trypanosoma*, the AdoMet level is not regulated by the product inhibition of MAT, but probably by transporter activities (Goldberg *et al.*, 1997, 1998). Putative transporters for AdoMet and an AdoMet analog, sinefungin, were demonstrated in *Leishmania mexicana*, *L. braziliensis* (Avila and Polegre, 1993), *L. donovani* (Phelouzat *et al.*, 1995; Lawrence *et al.*, 1998) and bloodstream forms of *T. brucei* and *T. rhodesiense* (Goldberg *et al.*, 1997, 1999). The molecular identity of the AdoMet transporters in protozoan parasites remains totally unclear as they belong to a large membrane transporter family including amino acid transporters.

3.2.4. Distribution and Significance of the Methionine Recycling Pathways in Protozoa

(a) Homocysteine methyltransferase (methionine synthase) in parasitic protozoa. Our gene survey revealed that only two of the protozoan parasites included in this review possess a putative gene involved in methionine regeneration (Table 1): Trichomonas vaginalis possesses cobalamine-independent methionine synthase with high similarity to 5'-methyltetrahydropteroyltriglutamate-homocysteine S-methyltransferase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Arabidopsis thaliana, while Trypanosoma brucei has both cobalamine-dependent and cobalamine-independent methionine synthases. The observed redundancy of methionine synthases in T. brucei is unique, and has no precedent except for some bacteria, e.g. Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium. Cobalamine-dependent and cobalamine-independent methionine synthases belong to totally distinct groups of proteins, suggesting that they have arisen by convergent evolution (Gonzalez et al., 1992).

Methyltetrahydrofolate-dependent (cobalamine-dependent) methionine synthase activity was previously demonstrated in erythrocytic stages of *Plasmodium falciparum* cultured *in vitro* (Krungkrai *et al.*, 1989). However, its biological role *in vivo* has been questioned based on the failure of metabolic labeling of methionine using [¹⁴C]serine in *P. falciparum* (Asawamahasakda and Yuthavong, 1993). This agrees well with the lack of a putative gene encoding either 5'-methyl-tetrahydrofolate-dependent or independent homocysteine transmethylase in the *P. falciparum* genome database.

(b) The presence of the MTA cycle in parasitic protozoa and the development of antiprotozoan compounds against the MTA cycle. The MTA cycle has been receiving attention because this pathway is viewed as a potential target for the development of new antitrypanosomal drugs (Wang, C.C., 1995). The following reviews on polyamine metabolism regarding the MTA cycle should also be consulted: Marton and Pegg (1995), Muller, S. et al. (2001), Bacchi and Yarlett (2002), Heby et al. (2003) and Kaiser et al. (2003). Most of the previous studies related to the MTA cycle focused mainly on the polyamine biosynthetic pathway, rather than the MTA cycle per se. These studies demonstrated activities of the key enzymes in the pathway and effects of specific inhibitors targeted at the pathway. At least half a dozen enzymes, including AdoMetDC, MTAP, MTAN, MTRK, and aminotransferase are involved in this pathway as mentioned above (Figure 1). AdoMetDC, the first enzyme of the MTA cycle which generates DcAdoMet from AdoMet, has previously been demonstrated in Trypanosoma cruzi by Kinch et al. (1999) and in Plasmodium falciparum by Krause et al. (2000) and Muller, S. et al. (2000). MTAN and MTRK activities have also been reported in Giardia duodenalis and Entamoeba invadens by Riscoe et al. (1988). It has previously been reported that P. falciparum contained a significant amount of MTAN and MTRK activity, but no detectable MTAP activity (Riscoe et al., 1988, 1989). Trichomonas vaginalis possesses MTAN, MTAP and aspartate aminotransferase as well as MAT, AdoMet:L-homocysteine methyltransferase, SAHH and ODC, but lacks AdoMetDC, spermidine synthase and spermine synthase (Yarlett and Bacchi, 1988b).

Trypanosoma b. brucei, G. duodenalis, P. falciparum and *Crithidia fasciculata*, a monoxenous parasite of arthropods, were also shown to possess activity of the final reaction of the MTA cycle: transaminative
conversion of KMTB into methionine using various amino acids as an amino donor (Berger *et al.*, 1996, 1998, 2001).

Our wide-ranging survey of AdoMetDC, MTAN, MTAP, and a putative aminotransferase involved in the MTA cycle revealed intriguing distributions of these enzymes among the parasitic protozoa (Table 1). AdoMetDC is present in P. falciparum, Trvp. brucei and Trvp. cruzi; MTAN is present in E. histolytica, Trich. vaginalis and Trvp. cruzi; and MTAP is present in G. duodenalis, Trich. vaginalis and three kinetoplastid organisms. This putative aminotransferase gene is probably present in all the species we investigated except C. parvum. However, unequivocal functional assignment of these putative AT is not possible since many related AT share significant homology. The limited distribution of the three major genes, i.e. AdoMetDC, MTAN and MTAP, indicates that the MTA cycle may not be operational in most of these parasites, except Tryp. cruzi. It is also worth noting that Trich. vaginalis and Tryp. cruzi probably possess both routes for the production of MTR-1-phosphate, one route involving a single step catalyzed by MTAP and the other route having two steps catalyzed by MTAN and MTRK. The absence of AdoMetDC, spermidine synthase and spermine synthase activities from Trich. vaginalis (Yarlett and Bacchi, 1988b) is consistent with the notion that the first step of the MTA cycle (AdoMetDC) and the subsequent polyamine synthesis are not functional, and other enzymes may be involved in the production of the aminopropyl donor and regeneration of methionine in this parasite.

Trypanosoma b. brucei MTAP showed enzymological properties that were quite different from those of mammalian MTAP (Ghoda *et al.*, 1988; Miller, R.L. and Toorchen, 1988). 5'-Deoxy-5'-(hydroxy-ethyl)thioadenosine (HETA) showed trypanocidal activity *in vivo* with no apparent toxicity to mammals (Bacchi *et al.*, 1991). Although significant MTAN and MTRK activity was demonstrated in *P. falciparum* by Riscoe *et al.* (1988, 1989) and HETA and other MTA analogs inhibited growth of malaria parasites (Sufrin *et al.*, 1995), the absence of the putative target enzymes from the database suggests that the actual target of these compounds may not be the MTA cycle. In addition, the MTA analogs 5'-deoxy-5'-S-isobutyladenosine and 5'-deoxy-5'-S-isobutyl-3-deazaadenosine showed no antimalarial

effect (Trager *et al.*, 1978, 1980), which agreed well with the absence of possible targets.

3.2.5. S-Adenosylmethionine Decarboxylase (AdoMetDC) from Protozoan Parasites

(a) Unique bifunctional AdoMetDC/ODC from Plasmodium. The molecular identity and enzymological uniqueness of Plasmodium AdoMetDC have recently been unveiled (Birkholtz et al., 2003, 2004). Plasmodium AdoMetDC has an unusual structure. All known prokaryotic and eukaryotic AdoMetDC and ODC are independently transcribed to produce separate polypeptides. However, P. falciparum AdoMetDC and ODC are encoded in a single open reading frame and translated as a single 166-kDa protein with the AdoMetDC domain in the N-terminal region that is connected to the C-terminal ODC domain by a hinge region. P. falciparum ODC/AdoMetDC is also unique in its subunit structure, i.e. the assembly of domains in a heterotetramer consisting of a homodimeric ODC and a heterotetrameric AdoMetDC, dissimilar to mammalian ODC (homodimer or monomer) or AdoMetDC (homodimer) (Birkholtz et al., 2003, 2004). It has previously been shown that AdoMetDC from P. falciparum showed a physiological $K_{\rm m}$ (33 µM) for AdoMet, and was inhibited by the known inhibitor of human AdoMetDC, methylglyoxal-bis(guanylhydrazone) (MGBG) with a K_i of 0.46 μ M (Rathaur and Walter, 1987). MGBG also showed inhibitory effects on parasite growth when combined with chloroquine (Das et al., 1997). MDL 73811, an enzyme-activated irreversible inhibitor of Ado-MetDC, inhibited growth of the erythrocytic stage of chloroquinesensitive and chloroquine-resistant strains of P. falciparum equally, with an IC₅₀ of 2–3 μ M. MDL 73811 at 1 μ M inhibited >90% of the AdoMet DC activity in the parasite lysate (Wright et al., 1991). Although P. falciparum has a bifunctional AdoMetDC-ODC enzyme, it lacks spermidine synthase as well as a pathway to synthesize trypanothione (Krause et al., 2000; Muller, S. et al., 2000). Thus, growth inhibition of the P. falciparum parasites by these AdoMetDC inhibitors is unlikely to be due to inhibition of polyamine biosynthesis, but to perturbation of AdoMet metabolism, as shown for trypanosomes (see Section 3.2.5(b)). It was also shown that a growth defect of the AdoMetDC-deficient and ODC-deficient *Escherichia coli* line EWH331 was successfully complemented by expression of the malarial AdoMetDC/ODC protein, which verified its dual roles *in vivo* (Muller, S. *et al.*, 2000). The purified recombinant fusion protein containing the ODC domain was inhibited by two novel ODC inhibitors, CGP52622A and CGP54619A (Krause *et al.*, 2000). These results indicate that *Plasmodium* AdoMetDC/ODC is exploitable for the further development of novel antimalarial drugs.

(b) Exploitation of AdoMetDC as a chemotherapeutic target in trypanosomiasis. As explained in detail above (Section 3.2.3(c)), an irreversible inhibitor of ODC, DFMO (effornithine) has been shown to be effective for treatment of both early and late-stage Gambian human African trypanosomiasis (Sjoerdsma and Schechter, 1984; Van Nieuwenhove et al., 1985; Bacchi et al., 1987). DFMO treatment also caused alteration in the AdoMet metabolism: AdoMet and DcAdo-Met concentrations increased > 50 and 1000-fold, respectively, while AdoMetDC activity, associated with the formation of spermidine and spermine in other eukaryotes, paradoxically declined in treated cells (Bacchi et al., 1983; Yarlett and Bacchi, 1988a). This observation validated the premise that AdoMet metabolism is a good target for drug development. Additionally, it was demonstrated that Trypanosoma brucei AdoMetDC activity was irreversibly inhibited by Berenil (diminazene aceturate) and reversibly by pentamidine or MGBG (Karvonen et al., 1985; Bitonti et al., 1986). A number of other AdoMetDC inhibitors, including MDL 73811 (Bitonti et al., 1990b), 5'-deoxy-5'-[(2-hydrazinoethyl)-methylamino] adenosine (MHZEA) and 5'-deoxy-5'-[(2-aminooxyethyl) methylamino] adenosine (MAO-EA), have been further tested as potential trypanocidal drugs (Tekwani et al., 1992a, b).

Irreversible inhibition of AdoMetDC by MDL 73811 was very effective against *T. brucei* infections in mice and rats (Byers *et al.*, 1991). In addition, combinations of MDL 73811 and DFMO showed a synergistic effect and cured mice infected with clinical isolates of *T. b. rhodesiense* (Bacchi *et al.*, 1992). The inactivation of trypanosomal AdoMetDC by MHZEA or MAOEA was irreversible, indicating that the compounds bind to the active site and form a covalent bond with

the enzyme (Tekwani *et al.*, 1992a). Ectopic overexpression of Ado-MetDC by episomal transfection alleviated the toxic effects of MDL 73811 on wild-type *Leishmania donovani* (Roberts *et al.*, 2002), supporting the hypothesis that AdoMetDC is a target of this compound.

T. brucei AdoMetDC was relatively insensitive to activation by putrescine and was stimulated by only 50% over a 10 000-fold range of putrescine concentrations (Tekwani *et al.*, 1992a), unlike the situation in mammals and yeasts, in which AdoMetDC was stimulated several-fold by putrescine (Poso *et al.*, 1976). Furthermore, unlike the bacterial enzyme (Poso *et al.*, 1976), which is highly stimulated by Mg²⁺, *T. brucei* AdoMetDC was not stimulated by 10 mM Mg²⁺ (Bitonti *et al.*, 1986).

The presence of AdoMetDC in *T. cruzi* was predicted based on growth inhibition by MDL 73811 (Yakubu *et al.*, 1993) and MGBG (Brun *et al.*, 1996), and a responsible gene has been identified (Persson *et al.*, 1998; Kinch *et al.*, 1999). MGBG is a potent inhibitor of human AdoMetDC, but a poor inhibitor of *T. cruzi* recombinant AdoMetDC (Persson *et al.*, 1998). Altogether, these results indicate that trypanosomal AdoMetDC differs significantly from its mammalian and bacterial counterparts.

3.3. Transsulfuration Reactions

3.3.1. Terminology and General Description of Forward and Reverse Transsulfuration Pathways

The forward transsulfuration pathway, previously demonstrated in bacteria, fungi and plants, is involved in the formation of methionine from cysteine. Since a part of this pathway, from homocysteine to methionine, is also part of the methionine-recycling pathway as explained in Section 3.2, we here describe only the two committed steps that lead to the formation of homocysteine from cysteine (Figure 2). These two steps are catalyzed firstly by cystathionine γ -synthase (CGS, EC 2.5.1.48), which synthesizes cystathionine from cysteine with *O*-activated-L-serine (*O*-acetyl-, *O*-phospho-, or *O*-succinyl-Lhomoserine), and subsequently by cystathionine β -lyase (CBL, EC 4.4.1.8), which catalyzes an α , β -elimination of cystathionine to produce homocysteine and pyruvate. These two steps are followed by a reaction catalyzed by methionine synthase, described above, finally forming methionine.

The reverse transsulfuration pathway has previously been demonstrated in fungi and mammals, and generally includes the complete process leading to cysteine from methionine. Since the first three steps, i.e. methionine activation, transmethylation and hydrolysis, have been described in Section 3.2 as part of the methionine regeneration pathways, we describe here only the last two steps. These reactions are catalyzed sequentially by two PLP-dependent enzymes, cystathionine β -synthase (CBS, EC 4.2.1.22), which synthesizes cystathionine from homocysteine and serine, and cystathionine γ -lyase (CGL, EC 4.4.1.1), to finally form cysteine, α -ketobutyrate and ammonia (Figure 2). In the first reaction the alanyl moiety of serine is transferred to homocysteine by a β -replacement reaction to produce cystathionine, which is decomposed by the α - and γ -lyase activity of CGL.

3.3.2. Transsulfuration Pathway in Animals

Animals possess only the reverse transsulfuration pathway, which operates in the direction from methionine to cysteine. As explained in Section 3.2.2, homocysteine enters one of two pathways, methionine recycling and reverse transsulfuration. Homocysteine represents a key intermediate of methionine/cysteine metabolic pathways since it occupies a branch point leading to the production of cysteine and methionine. About half of the homocysteine formed is irreversibly converted into cysteine through transsulfuration (Finkelstein *et al.*, 1974; Mudd and Poole, 1975), while the remaining half of homocysteine is remethylated to regenerate methionine by the recycling pathway described above. Depletion of homocysteine is essential not only for proper flow of sulfur in the transsulfuration pathway and the methionine cycle, but also for scavenging this toxic intermediate, which has been implicated in pathological conditions associated with various genetic disorders such as deficiency of CBS or homocysteine-methylating enzymes causing homocysteinuria and homocysteinemia (Mudd *et al.*, 1985; Stipanuk, 2004; Townsend *et al.*, 2004). Nearly a hundred mutations responsible for many pathological disorders have been identified in the CBS gene (Kraus *et al.*, 1999). Homocysteine was also shown to be a pro-oxidant, causing damage to vascular endothelia (De Bree *et al.*, 2002), and is known to be associated with increased cardiovascular risk (Wald *et al.*, 2002) and Alzheimer's disease (Miller, J.W., 1999). CBS contributes to keeping homocysteine and AdoHcy concentrations low, which is also essential for the efficient methylation capacity of the cell (Walker, R.D. and Duerre, 1975).

3.3.3. Transsulfuration Pathway in Bacteria, Fungi and Plants

In contrast to animals, bacteria, fungi and plants mainly operate the similar transsulfuration pathway in the opposite direction using a set of homologous enzymes at two steps, during which homocysteine is produced from cysteine. These organisms are also capable of de novo production of cysteine by sulfur assimilation (see below, Section 4). Cysteine produced by this anabolic pathway is converted into cystathionine by CGS, and further hydrolyzed by CBL finally to form homocysteine. These two enzymes also contain PLP as a cofactor, and belong to the so-called α -type PLP enzymes together with CGL, with high mutual homology at the primary sequence level (Eliot and Kirsch, 2004). Transsulfuration in plants and bacteria is similar in that the reaction proceeds only in the direction of cysteine to homocysteine (Giovanelli, 1987). In contrast, in fungi the reaction proceeds in both directions. The major difference between forward transsulfuration in plants and bacteria concerns the donors of the 4carbon moiety of homocysteine. Plants utilize O-phosphohomoserine as the physiological donor of the 4-carbon moiety, while bacteria and fungi utilize either O-succinylhomoserine or O-acetylhomoserine (Giovanelli, 1987). The donor of the final methyl transfer reaction to homocysteine to produce methionine in bacteria, fungi and plants also differs from that of mammals (Griffith, 1987).

3.3.4. Transsulfuration Pathways in Parasitic Protozoa

(a) A spectrum of the reverse transsulfuration pathway among parasitic protozoa. We conducted a gene survey to evaluate the distribution of enzymes related to transsulfuration pathways among protozoan organisms. We previously demonstrated that Entamoeba histolytica lacks genes encoding enzymes of the transsulfuration pathway in both directions (Tokoro et al., 2003). Our analysis using the latest genome database of *E. histolytica* confirmed lack of these enzymes. Similarly E. histolytica, Giardia duodenalis, Trichomonas vaginalis, Plasmodium falciparum and Cryptosporidium parvum lack both CBS and CGL of the reverse transsulfuration pathway. Lujan and Nash (1994) also demonstrated that the G. intestinalis lysate contained neither CBS nor CGL activity, which agrees well with the results of our gene survey. The presence of a transsulfuration pathway was demonstrated in bloodstream trypomastigotes of Trypanosoma brucei by Yarlett and Bacchi (1988a). It was shown that T. brucei bloodstream trypomastigotes rapidly incorporated [³⁵S]methionine and derivatized it into homocysteine, cystathionine and cysteine, suggesting the presence of an active reverse transsulfuration pathway (Bacchi et al., 1995). Goldberg et al. (2000) also reported that cystathionine and cysteine concentrations increased when T. b. rhodesiense and T. b. brucei were incubated with saturating amounts of methionine. These studies, together with our previous report on molecular identification of CBS from T. cruzi (Nozaki et al., 2001), indicate the presence of reverse transsulfuration pathways in trypanosomes in general. Our wide-ranging survey confirmed that both CBS and CGL genes for the reverse transsulfuration pathway are present in the genome of T. brucei, T. cruzi and Leishmania major (Table 1).

(b) Redundancy of two pathways for cysteine synthesis and dual functions of CBS in Trypanosoma cruzi. We previously showed by chromatographic separation of the lysates that T. cruzi possesses at least two separate CBS and CS activities. While CS activity is constitutively expressed, CBS activity is expressed in a stage-specific fashion. However, we could not attribute the CS activity to any putative gene in the database (Nozaki *et al.*, 2001). The results of gene survey clarified this discrepancy. We unequivocally conclude that *T. cruzi* possesses both CS and CBS genes. There are two CS genes in the *T. cruzi* genome database, both of which clearly clustered with CS genes from other organisms. We also showed that these CBS genes are capable of complementing the CS-deficient *Escherichia coli* mutant cell line and the CBS-deficient *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mutant cell line by ectopic expression (Nozaki *et al.*, 2001). These data, together with enzymological studies *in vitro* using recombinant CBS, indicate that *T. cruzi* CBS plays dual roles as both CS and CBS.

(c) Multiplicity and biochemical features of unique CBS from Trypanosoma cruzi. Genome survey revealed that *T. cruzi* possessed at least four CBS isoenzymes. However, the amino acid sequence of one CBS isotype was similar to, but distinct from, the CBS isotype we previously reported (Nozaki *et al.*, 2001), which contained two nucleotide substitutions that resulted in amino acid alterations (V14A, Y261C). In addition, the remaining three CBS isotypes were not previously found in our cDNA library. These isotypes differ from the major isotypes described above in a few amino acid residue substitutions, e.g. T19K–I71V–K210R, D93E and K210R. These data suggest two possibilities: (i) interstrain variations of the number and sequences of isoenzymes or (ii) CBS genes and proteins are extremely heterogeneous in *T. cruzi*. The biological significance of the presence of multiple CBS genes and their redundant functions in *T. cruzi* are currently unknown.

T. cruzi CBS lacks the 90–120-amino acid C-terminal extension present in CBS from all other organisms except *Leishmania* and other species of *Trypanosoma*. Trypanosomal CBS is one of the shortest CBS enzymes reported to date. Enzymological studies of CBS from *T. cruzi* revealed several unique aspects of this enzyme, including lack of activation by AdoMet, absence of detectable amounts of heme, and relative insensitivity to known non-specific inhibitors, e.g. aminooxyacetic acid and hydroxylamine. These data suggest that biochemical and physicochemical properties of *T. cruzi* CBS differ substantially from yeast and mammalian CBS (Nozaki *et al.*, 2001). *T. cruzi* CBS showed CBS and CS activities *in vitro*, which is in good

agreement with the functional rescue of the CS-deficient *Escherichia* coli strain and the CBS-deficient yeast strain.

(d) Absence of the forward transsulfuration pathway from parasitic protozoa. In contrast to the reverse transsulfuration pathway, the forward pathway appears to be totally absent from protozoan parasites. None of the protists discussed in this review possess either CGS or CBL homologs involved in the first two reactions of the forward pathway. However, since these enzymes belongs to the same α -family of PLP-dependent enzymes (Mehta and Christen, 1998) together with CGL and thus show moderate mutual homology, it is often difficult to predict gene function and to assign names for these putative genes based on sequence alignments and phylogenetic analyses. Therefore, further enzymological and functional characterization of these gene products must be conducted to unequivocally confirm the lack of the forward transsulfuration in the protozoan parasites.

4. SULFUR ASSIMILATORY *DE NOVO* CYSTEINE BIOSYNTHETIC PATHWAY

4.1. A General Scheme of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway

As mentioned above, in mammals and fungi cysteine can be synthesized from methionine through the reverse transsulfuration sequence. The sulfur atom of cysteine is derived from methionine whereas carbon and nitrogen atoms of cysteine are derived from serine. Similarly, bacteria (Byrne *et al.*, 1988; Ogasawara *et al.*, 1994) and plants (Romer *et al.*, 1992; Saito *et al.*, 1992; Hell *et al.*, 1994; Noji *et al.*, 1994, 1998) are also capable of producing cysteine from serine. However, the sulfur donor of cysteine production in these organisms is inorganic sulfur, not organic compounds. Cysteine production utilizing inorganic sulfur is called sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthesis. This pathway is catalyzed by two steps, initiated by serine acetyltransferase (SAT, EC 2.3.1.30) to form *O*-acetylserine (OAS) from L-serine and acetyl-coenzyme A. Subsequently, OAS reacts with sulfide to produce cysteine in an alanyl-transfer reaction by cysteine synthase (CS, OAS thiolyase, EC 2.5.1.47). Since SAT catalyses the formation of OAS from serine in the first reaction, SAT is located at the entry step from serine metabolism to cysteine biosynthesis. Thus, it is reasonable to assume that SAT plays a regulatory role in this pathway. SAT is in fact negatively regulated by allosteric inhibition by L-cysteine in bacteria (Kredich and Tomkins, 1966; Saito et al., 1995; Noji et al., 1998). Two isotypes of CS, CysK and CysM proteins, with different substrate specificities, were localized in the cytoplasm of prokaryotes. CysK prefers sulfide while CysM exclusively utilizes thiosulfate (Nakamura et al., 1983). In plants, three isotypes, CS-A, CS-B and CS-C, are compartmentalized in the cytoplasm, chloroplasts and mitochondria, respectively (Saito et al., 1992, 1993). Plant CSs have also been shown to catalyze the formation of β substituted alanines besides cysteine, and are considered to be involved, at least in part, in detoxifying internal toxins like cyanide, pyrazole, and 3,4-dihydroxypyridine (Ikegami et al., 1996; Maruvama et al., 1998).

4.2. Presence of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway in a Limited Range of Parasitic Protozoa

We previously demonstrated the presence of the cysteine biosynthetic pathway in parasitic protozoa for the first time by cloning and characterization of CS from *Entamoeba histolytica* (Nozaki *et al.*, 1998) and a closely related non-pathogenic species *E. dispar* (Nozaki *et al.*, 2000). We further demonstrated that SAT, which catalyzes a committed step of OAS formation, is also present in *E. histolytica*, *E. dispar* (Nozaki *et al.*, 1999) and *Trypanosoma cruzi* (Nozaki *et al.*, 2001). We also showed that *T. cruzi* possesses bifunctional CBS, which functions both *in vitro* and *in vivo* as do CS and CBS (Nozaki *et al.*, 2001) (also see above, Section 3.3.4(b)).

Survey of the genome databases of parasitic protozoa revealed very restricted distribution of these genes. As in the transsulfuration

pathway, Giardia duodenalis, Plasmodium falciparum and Cryptosporidium parvum appear to lack both CS and SAT genes (Table 1). The previous study by Lujan and Nash (1994) showed that [³⁵S]sulfate was not incorporated into *Giardia* proteins, suggesting that G. duodenalis lacks the capacity for de novo synthesis of cysteine from inorganic sulfur. This observation is consistent with the results of our gene survey. P. falciparum and C. parvum, which also lack a reverse transsulfuration pathway, are probably able to obtain these amino acids from erythrocytes and intestinal villus epithelial cells, respectively, as they live within these host cells. It has previously been shown that Leishmania donovani possesses an AdoMet transporter (Lawrence et al., 1998) and probably the complete reverse transsulfuration pathway (see Section 3.3.4). Thus, the lack of CS and SAT in Leishmania reflects the fact that this organism does not need to depend on sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthesis for its cysteine source. In contrast to T. brucei, which lacks both CS and SAT, T. cruzi conserves this pathway. As explained in Section 3.3.4(b), T. cruzi possesses both CBS, which plays dual roles as CBS and CS in vitro and in vivo, and CS. This apparent redundancy of CS and CBS in T. cruzi might indicate the physiological importance of these metabolic steps for this protozoan parasite.

Trichomonas vaginalis also possesses at least seven putative CS genes. Our phylogenetic analysis revealed that, among these genes, six form a monophyletic clade with CS from E. histolytica, while one gene clusters with CS from other Entamoeba species, i.e. E. dispar and E. moshkovskii (personal observation). Serine sulfhydrase (synonymous with CBS) activity, which catalyzes the reversible interconversion of serine and cysteine, has previously been demonstrated in T. vaginalis by Thong and Coombs (1985, 1987). Several isoenzymes were separated by isoelectric focusing to verify their identities (Thong and Coombs, 1987). Although serine sulfhydrase activity was previously attributable to CBS in studies using chicken liver (Braunstein et al., 1971) and Aspergillus nidulans (Pieniazek et al., 1973; Stepien and Pieniazek, 1973), multiple CS, but not CBS, genes are present in the T. vaginalis genome database. Therefore, it is likely that some isotypes of putative T. vaginalis CS proteins are responsible for the serine sulfhydrase activity. Although the existence of multiple CS

isotypes needs to be further verified, the biological significance of the presence of multiple CS genes and redundant functions of these genes in *T. vaginalis* is currently unknown.

4.3. Possible Functions of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway in *Entamoeba* and *Trypanosoma*

4.3.1. Contradiction Between the Presence of Cysteine Biosynthesis and the Apparent Requirement of Cysteine in Entamoeba histolytica

As mentioned above, among all representative protozoan parasites, only Entamoeba histolytica and Trypanosoma cruzi have the complete de novo cysteine biosynthetic pathway (see above; also Nozaki et al., 1999, 2000, 2001). The presence of this pathway directly indicates that they are capable of production of cysteine de novo. However, the earlier finding of the apparent reliance of E. histolvtica on extracellular cysteine appears to contradict this premise. It has been well established in axenic culture in vitro that E. histolytica apparently requires a high concentration of extracellular L-cysteine for growth, attachment, and antioxidative survival (Gillin and Diamond, 1980a, b, 1981a-c; Gillin et al., 1984). Since these effects of L-cysteine could be produced by substituting D-cysteine, L-cystine, ascorbic acid, or thioglycolic acid, but not by thiomalic acids, methionine, taurine, glutathione, or other reducing agents (Gillin and Diamond, 1980b), these results indicate that extracellular cysteine is required not as an amino acid source but for redox control of the surface environment. We still do not have a reasonable explanation why oxidized L-cystine could be substituted for L-cysteine and why most of the reducing agents did not substitute for L-cysteine. One possible explanation for the apparent requirement of extracellular L-cysteine in the culture system is that L-cysteine synthesized *de novo* may not be efficiently utilized for the maintenance of the redox state of the surface thiol molecules, while extracellular L-cysteine or L-cystine may be utilized after reduction by an unidentified reductant, as previously suggested (Gillin et al., 1984). L-Cysteine is also essential for Giardia duodenalis (Gillin and Diamond, 1981a, b; Gillin and Reiner, 1982; Jarroll et al., 1989; Adam, 1991), which lacks both CS and SAT. However, the requirement for L-cysteine is more stringent in G. duodenalis than in E. histolytica; e.g., L-cysteine is indispensable for both growth and protection against oxygen stress and cannot be substituted for by other compounds in G. duodenalis, while it can be replaced by, e.g., L-cystine or ascorbic acid in E. histolytica. Thus, the essential nature of extracellular cysteine is not solely attributable to, but is somehow related to, the presence or absence of this pathway. Among other Entamoeba species for which genome databases are available, E. dispar, the mammalian species that is most closely related to E. histolytica, and E. moshkovskii have both CS and SAT genes, while two others reptile Entamoeba species, E. invadens and E. terrapinae, lack both or one (SAT) of these two enzymes (personal observation). This suggests a limited distribution of the sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthetic pathway among Entamoeba species. In addition, cysteine biosynthesis is biologically important in Entamoeba species due to their reliance on iron-sulfur proteins for the electron-transport chain (Reeves et al., 1980; Weinbach et al., 1980; Beinert et al., 1997; see below, Section 4.3.2). Cysteine and its *de novo* biosynthetic pathway might play an important role during tissue invasion by *E. histolytica*, when the parasites move from anaerobic (in the lumen of the cecum/ colon) to highly oxygenated aerobic conditions (in mammalian tissues and organs, i.e. intestinal epithelium or oxygen-rich organs including liver, lung and brain). However, the requirement of cysteine for infection in vivo has not been tested.

4.3.2. Roles of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway in Antioxidative Defense Mechanisms and ISC Biosynthesis in Entamoeba histolytica

The premise that extracellular or incorporated cysteine is important for cellular activities and homeostasis in *Entamoeba histolytica* prompted us to test if a *de novo* cysteine biosynthetic pathway plays a key role in redox regulation, or more specifically in antioxidative defense mechanisms, in E. histolytica (Gillin and Diamond, 1981a). We tested whether the *de novo* cysteine biosynthetic pathway is associated with sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide. E. histolytica possesses superoxide dismutase to convert superoxide into hydrogen peroxide (Chen, J. et al., 1996), and hydrogen peroxide is a major oxidative agent toxic to E. histolvtica (Ghadirian et al., 1986). An ameba cell line that was created by episomal transformation to express 5–10-fold higher CS activity than the wild type showed partial resistance to hydrogen peroxide, with a concomitant two-fold increase of intracellular cysteine concentration, while >10-fold overproduction of SAT, an allosteric enzyme negatively regulated by cysteine, neither increased cysteine concentrations nor altered sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide (Nozaki et al., 1999). These data suggest that the amount of CS protein, but not of SAT, largely influences intracellular cysteine concentrations, and that cysteine or its unidentified derivatives probably inactivate hydrogen peroxide or its related toxic metabolites. Hence, although reductants of hydrogen peroxide and eninvolved in the reaction [e.g. p34 NADPH:flavin zymes oxidoreductase (Bruchhaus et al., 1998), rubrethrin (Loftus et al., 2005), or peroxiredoxin (Torian et al., 1990; Tachibana et al., 1991; Bruchhaus and Tannich, 1993)] are still unknown, the de novo cysteine biosynthetic pathway seems to participate in antioxidant defense. Thus, regulation of CS expression appears to control antioxidant activity in E. histolytica, which should be essential not only for inactivation of toxic reactive oxygen species produced by the host immune system during tissue invasion, but also for neutralization of highly reactive radicals produced during degradation within phagosomes of ingested host cells that contain high concentrations of iron (hemoglobin and iron-sulfur proteins in erythrocytes and bacteria).

As briefly described in Section 2.2.1, cysteine is also utilized for the production of ubiquitous iron-sulfur clusters. Iron-sulfur clusters (ISCs) are cofactors of proteins probably present in all living organisms (Beinert *et al.*, 1997). The ISCs play various important roles in electron transfer, redox regulation, nitrogen fixation, photosynthesis, biotin and thiamine biosynthesis, oxygen and iron sensing, and gene regulation (Beinert *et al.*, 1997). *E. histolytica* possesses a simplified

and non-redundant nitrogen fixation (NIF)-like system for the Fe-S cluster formation, composed of only a catalytic NifS component and a scaffold NifU component (Ali et al., 2004b). There is no precedent for this NIF-like system in any other eukaryotes, including other parasitic and non-parasitic protozoa. The NIF system has been identified in, besides E. histolytica (Ali et al., 2004b), only nitrogen-fixing bacteria and non-diazotrophic protobacteria including Campylobacter jejuni and Helicobacter pylori (Olson et al., 2000). Thus, the NIF system appears to be involved in Fe-S assembly of the nitrogenase proteins in diazotrophic bacteria and that of non-nitrogenase Fe-S proteins in ɛ-proteobacteria and E. histolytica (Olson et al., 2000; Ali et al., 2004b). E. histolytica possesses at least a few essential iron-sulfur proteins including ferredoxin (Reeves et al., 1980) and pyruvate:ferredoxin oxidoreductase (Reeves et al., 1977; Rodriguez et al., 1996), both of which play a crucial role in energy production and electron transport in this parasite (Reeves et al., 1980; Weinbach et al., 1980). In contrast to E. histolytica, all other parasitic protozoa so far studied, including Trichomonas vaginalis and Giardia duodenalis (Tachezy et al., 2001; Tovar et al., 2003), Cryptosporidium parvum (LaGier et al., 2003), and Plasmodium falciparum (Ellis et al., 2001; Wilson et al., 2003) possess two other systems, the ISC and SUF (Plasmodium only) systems, for the formation of ISCs (Seeber, 2002; LaGier et al., 2003; Ali et al., 2004b). Therefore, the limited and shared distribution of the *de novo* cysteine biosynthetic pathway among the parasitic protozoa is apparently not directly associated with the systems for ISC formation.

4.3.3. Roles of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway in Trypanosoma cruzi

Trypanosoma cruzi seems to be the only parasitic protozoon possessing two apparently redundant pathways for cysteine production, i.e. reverse transsulfuration and *de novo* cysteine biosynthetic pathways. Theoretically either of the two pathways should provide L-cysteine to fulfill its physiological demand. Fungi also possess both pathways. In *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, cysteine is exclusively synthesized through

the transsulfuration pathway and OAS serves solely as a co-inducer of the sulfate assimilation pathway (Ono et al., 1996). By analogy, in T. cruzi, the cysteine biosynthetic pathway may play a major role in the regulation of sulfate assimilation, while the reverse transsulfuration pathway mainly provides the necessary cysteine. In contrast, OAS serves as both a metabolic intermediate and a regulatory element in Escherichia coli (Kredich and Tomkins, 1966; Ostrowski et al., 1987) and Salmonella typhimurium (Kredich et al., 1979). Both CS and SAT are constitutively expressed in both insect-stage epimastigotes and mammalian-stage trypomastigotes/amastigotes of T. cruzi, while CBS is expressed exclusively in epimastigotes (Nozaki et al., 2001). These results are consistent with the notion that the sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthetic pathway plays more 'housekeeping' roles, e.g. sulfate incorporation and activation, by controlling OAS abundance, as part of a complex mechanism to balance thiol concentration in T. cruzi (Nozaki et al., 2001). In contrast, in the mammalian cytoplasm or bloodstream, the parasites are probably able to scavenge cysteine from their host. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that the sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthetic pathway also plays an indispensable role in *de novo* production of cysteine in epimastigotes. A biological role for these two pathways in trypanosomes could be unequivocally demonstrated by gene replacement or disruption (Cooper, R. et al., 1993; Hariharan et al., 1993) of SAT and CS genes.

4.3.4. Other Possible Roles of the Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathway in Parasitic Protozoa and Possible Drug Development

It has previously been indicated that the sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthetic pathway is involved in resistance to hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) in plants (Noji and Saito, 2002). They showed that a genetically manipulated *Arabidopsis thaliana* cell line that overexpressed watermelon SAT gene with a point mutation causing insensitivity to allosteric inhibition by L-cysteine, was more resistant to hydrogen sulfide in air than the wild-type cell line. However, it is not yet clear if the pathway is involved in the defense mechanisms against toxic gas under physiological conditions in plants. Whether or not the pathway is involved in the detoxification of hydrogen sulfide or other possible alanyl acceptors in Entamoeba histolytica remains totally unknown. CS utilizes sulfide and various compounds as alanyl acceptors. The spectrum of these acceptors depends on the origin of CS. The spectrum of the alanyl acceptors for CS has been most extensively studied for plant enzymes. For instance, spinach CS utilizes a variety of alanyl acceptors to form the corresponding β -substituted alanines. These alanyl acceptors include L-cysteine, L-quisqualic acid, L-mimosine, L-willardiine, L-isowillardiine, β -(pyrazol-1-yl)-L-alanine, β -(1,2,4-triazol-1-yl)-L-alanine and β -(3-amino-1,2,4-triazol-1-yl)-L-alanine (Ikegami et al., 1996; Maruyama et al., 1998). E. histolytica CS also uses sulfide, 1,2,4-triazol, isoxazolin-5-one, pyrazole and cyanide as alanyl acceptors; the specific activity against these acceptors is, however, 9-4000-fold less efficient than that against sulfide (Nozaki et al., 1998). Although 1,2,4-triazole has been used as a herbicide targeting the plant CS, this compound did not show toxic effects on E. histolytica (personal observation), necessitating further screening of CS substrates with amebicidal activity. However, since CS and the sulfur assimilatory de novo cysteine biosynthetic pathway are absent from mammalian hosts, they represent a novel target for the development of new drugs against amebiasis, trichomoniasis and Chagas disease.

SAT from *E. histolytica* and *Trypanosoma cruzi* showed major biochemical differences from that of other organisms. While K_m values for acetyl coenzyme A (CoA) and serine are comparable, the specificity of allosteric feedback was notably different (Nozaki *et al.*, 1999, 2001). Enzymatic activity of SAT from *E. histolytica* and *T. cruzi* is negatively regulated by L-cysteine and L-cystine, and that of SAT from *T. cruzi* is also partially negatively regulated by glutathione, suggesting substantial differences in the binding of these inhibitors between protozoa and other organisms. While SAT from bacteria and plants is known to form a stable complex with CS, *E. histolytica* SAT and CS do not form a complex, as confirmed by biochemical co-purification and a yeast two-hybrid system (Nozaki *et al.*, 1999). Altogether, the sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthetic pathway in protozoan parasites reveals remarkable differences from that of other organisms.

5. DEGRADATIVE PATHWAYS OF SULFUR-CONTAINING AMINO ACIDS

5.1. Degradation of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acids in Mammals

As described above (Section 3.3.2), the majority of methionine is converted into homocysteine via AdoMet and AdoHcy. Homocysteine is either methylated to regenerate methionine in the methionine salvage pathway or used for transsulfuration to gain cysteine. Therefore, the reverse transsulfuration pathway can be considered one of the main methionine degradation pathways in mammals (Cooper, A.J., 1983; Walker, J. and Barrett, 1997). Methionine is also metabolized by the deamination reaction to form α -keto- γ -thiomethylbutyrate by L-amino-acid oxidase and aminotransferase. However, the enzyme responsible for this pathway is unknown to date; no methionine-specific aminotransferase has been demonstrated in mammals (Steele and Benevenga, 1979; Griffith, 1987).

Once methionine is converted into cysteine, the oxidative pathway is the principal route for cysteine catabolism in mammals, while a separate transaminative pathway also exists. Cysteine dioxygenase (CDO, EC 1.13.11.20; Figure 2) catalyzes the oxygenation of cysteine to 3-sulfinoalanine, a key intermediate of cysteine metabolism leading to hypotaurine, taurine, pyruvate, and sulfate in mammalian tissues (Yamaguchi and Hosokawa, 1987). The sulfur-containing amino acid biosynthesis and degradation in mammals has recently been reviewed by Stipanuk (2004). It was reported that CDO activity of rat liver responded to dietary protein content. CDO was thought to play an important role in the regulation of intracellular levels of methionine, cysteine and glutathione (Kohashi et al., 1978). It was also suggested that CDO is involved in the prevention of free radical production by auto-oxidation of cysteine and dopamine in the brain (Parsons, R.B. et al., 2001). The other cysteine degradative pathway in mammals is initiated by cysteine aminotransferase (CAT, EC 2.6.1.3), which deaminates cysteine to form 3-mercaptopyruvate (Figure 2). Sulfurtransferases (EC 2.8.1.1-5), widely distributed in prokaryotes and eukaryotes, catalyze the transfer of sulfane sulfur from a donor molecule, such as thiosulfate or 3-mercaptopyruvate, to a nucleophilic acceptor, such as cyanide or mercaptoethanol. However, the natural sulfane donors and acceptors and the physiological functions of most sulfurtransferases remain uncertain (Nakayama, K. *et al.*, 2000; Bordo and Bork, 2002). The rhodanese family sulfurtransferases are thought to occur in many organisms, with the mammalian enzymes being the most extensively studied (Luo and Horowitz, 1994; Nandi *et al.*, 2000). Rhodanese from bovine liver plays a role in detoxifying cyanide by forming thiocyanate, which is harmless and excreted by the kidneys (Picton *et al.*, 2002). In organisms that possess a methionine biosynthetic pathway, cysteine is also degraded at least *in vitro* by CBL to thiocysteine, pyruvate and ammonia (Uren, 1987; Gentry-Weeks *et al.*, 1993). However, an *in vivo* role for CBL, or its related enzymes CGS and CGL, in degradation of sulfur-containing amino acids needs to be verified.

5.2. Peculiarities and Distribution of MGL among Parasitic Protozoa

None of the protozoan parasites discussed in this review possess the above-mentioned cysteine degradation pathways (Table 1). Instead, two protozoan parasites, Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas va*ainalis*, possess a unique enzyme known as methionine γ -lyase (MGL, EC 4.4.1.11) (Thong et al., 1987b; Tokoro et al., 2003). MGL catalyzes decomposition of methionine, homocysteine, cysteine, and also some substituted serine or homoserine analogs including OAS and Oacetyl-L-homoserine, by α - and β -elimination or α - and γ -elimination (Figure 2). MGL requires PLP as a cofactor for its activity and belongs to the α -family of PLP-dependent enzyme (Mehta and Christen, 1998), together with CGL, CGS and CBL. MGL shares high to moderate homology with these PLP-dependent enzymes: MGL1 of E. histolytica showed 39% identity with CGS from Helicobacter pylori, 37% identity with human CGL, and 26% identity with Escherichia coli CBL. The presence of an MGL gene or its encoded protein has also been demonstrated in a limited range of bacteria, including Clostridium sporogenes (Kreis and Hession, 1973), Pseudomonas

putida (Ito et al., 1976), P. taetrolens (Zanin et al., 1989), Bacillus halodurans (Nakayama, T. et al., 1984), Aeromonas sp. (Nakayama, T. et al., 1984), Citrobacter intermedius (Faleev et al., 1996), and Brevibacterium linenese (Dias and Weimer, 1998). T. vaginalis and E. histolytica are the only two eukaryotic organisms known to possess MGL. Putative MGL genes have also been reported in several archaeal species of Methanosarcina (e.g. M. mazei, M. acetivorans and M. barkeri; Tokoro et al., 2003). MGL has not been reported from fungi, plants or mammals.

Thorough genome search revealed that only E. histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis are known to possess MGL, while all the other species, Giardia duodenalis, Plasmodium falciparum, Cryptosporidium parvum, Trypanosoma brucei, Tryp. cruzi and Leishmania major, lack an MGL gene. This limited distribution of MGL among parasitic protozoa suggests that MGL and its metabolic pathway play a specific role related to the unique metabolism shared by these two parasites. MGL activity has not been detected in crude extracts from other anaerobic protozoan parasites such as *E. invadens*, *Trichomonas* foetus and Trichomitus batrachorum (Thong et al., 1987b; Lockwood and Coombs, 1991), suggesting that the presence of MGL is not directly associated with anaerobic metabolism. Although the genome databases of E. invadens and other Entamoeba species are still incomplete, putative MGL genes are present in E. dispar and E. moshkovskii, but probably not in E. invadens and E. terrapinae (personal observation). Our previous phylogenetic analyses indicate that Entamoeba MGL forms a monophyletic relationship with archaeal MGL (Methanosarcina), while Trichomonas MGL forms an independent clade with Pseudomonas and other bacterial MGL, suggesting that the origins of MGL are different in these two parasites. These data suggest that lateral gene transfers of MGL from the ancestral organism Methanosarcina to Entamoeba, and from eubacterial organisms to Trichomonas, occurred after the branching of E. histolytica/E. dispar/E. moshkovskii from the other Entamoeba groups.

MGL activity in *Trichomonas* was initially described as homocysteine desulfurase (EC 4.4.1.2) activity. This activity was claimed to be responsible for the breakdown of L-methionine in *T. vaginalis*, as occurs with bacterial MGL (Thong and Coombs, 1987; Thong *et al.*,

1987b). MGL of T. vaginalis was further characterized enzymologically after purification using conventional methods (Lockwood and Coombs, 1991), and later also by molecular cloning and biochemical characterization of recombinant MGL expressed in Escherichia coli (Han et al., 1998; McKie et al., 1998). These studies indicate that MGL catalyzes α,β - and α,γ -elimination reactions of a wide range of sulfur amino acids, e.g. methionine, homocysteine, cysteine and OAS, but not cystathionine. The lack of cystathionine lyase activity, together with the absence of several specific signature motifs shared by MGL from other organisms (Tokoro et al., 2003), clearly indicates that MGL represents a new subfamily of the *a*-family of PLPdependent enzymes. Interestingly, T. vaginalis possesses two MGL isoenzymes, which are different in substrate specificities and overall charge (isoelectric point). Similarly, Esch. histolytica also possesses two MGLs (Tokoro et al., 2003) with distinct substrate specificities and isoelectric points. The two MGL isotypes from E. histolytica expressed in Esch. coli exhibited different colors and behaviors during chromatographic separation, suggestive of significant biochemical differences, e.g. the presence of a different prosthetic group and interaction with other proteins (personal observation). However, it is not known if the distinct enzymological properties of the two MGL isotypes, demonstrated in vitro, reflect differences in function in vivo, such as substrate preference and compartmentalization.

5.3. Functions of MGL in the Anaerobic Protozoan Parasites *Entamoeba histolytica* and *Trichomonas vaginalis*

Among the products of methionine degradation by MGL are α -keto acids, i.e. pyruvate and α -ketobutyrate, which provide a carbon skeleton to form other amino acids (e.g. pyruvate is involved in the formation of alanine). These α -keto acids are also key intermediates for energy metabolism (Lockwood and Coombs, 1991). Fermentation of pyruvate, forming acetate or ethanol, occurs via acetyl CoA, a product given by pyruvate:ferredoxin oxidoreductase, which thus plays an indispensable role in the energy metabolism of *Entamoeba histolytica*

and Trichomonas vaginalis (Reeves et al., 1977). Pyruvate:ferredoxin oxidoreductase in these anaerobic protozoa utilizes various α -keto acids for the production of acetyl CoA and propionic acid (Upcroft and Upcroft, 1999). Furthermore, thiols, i.e. methanethiol and hydrogen sulfide, are also produced as a consequence of methionine degradation by MGL, and have been implicated in the pathogenesis of oral microorganisms (Lancero et al., 1996). It was shown that exposure to low concentrations of these gases induced alteration of cell membrane permeability to ions as well as to larger molecules such as endotoxin (Ng and Tonzetich, 1984). These gases also hampered intracellular signaling pathways in oral tissues by increasing intracellular levels of cyclic AMP (Ratkay et al., 1995) and/or by alteration of phosphorylation of specific proteins (Guan et al., 1991). By analogy, these toxic gases may contribute to tissue damage caused by infections with E. histolytica and T. vaginalis. Methanethiol has also been identified as a major flavoring compound in many traditional fermented foods, including cheese (Dias and Weimer, 1998; Weimer et al., 1999; Bonnarme et al., 2001).

Since hydrogen sulfide, formed from cysteine or homocysteine by MGL, is reused by the sulfur assimilatory cysteine biosynthetic pathway to resynthesize cysteine, it is conceivable that the activity of these two pathways is coordinately regulated. MGL from E. histolytica and T. vaginalis does not react with cystathionine (Lockwood and Coombs, 1991; Tokoro et al., 2003), whereas Pseudomonas putida and Aeromonas MGL utilize cystathionine (Esaki and Soda, 1987). The lack of cystathionine lyase activity in E. histolytica and T. vaginalis MGL seems to be reasonable since these protozoa lack both forward and reverse transsulfuration pathways, and thus do not produce cystathionine as an intermediate compound. E. histolvtica and T. vaginalis possess MAT and SAHH, and thus produce homocysteine. Production of homocysteine does not appear to be beneficial for these parasites since they lack methionine recycling pathways (both methionine synthase and the MTA cycle; see above). Thus, it is conceivable that removal of AdoHcy via homocysteine by MGL is an absolute requirement for efficient methylation by AdoMet in these organisms. Thus, the removal of AdoHcy may be a primary role of MGL in these protozoan parasites.

5.4. MGL as a Target for the Development of Novel Drugs Against *Entamoeba histolytica* and *Trichomonas vaginalis*

Since MGL is present in Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas va*ginalis*, and absent from their mammalian hosts, it is an ideal target for the development of new drugs against these parasites. Our initial attempt to use inhibitors of E. histolytica MGL was not successful, as we found that a general inhibitor of PLP-dependent enzymes, propargylglycine, at 20 µM completely inhibited MGL activity in axenic cultures without causing growth inhibition for at least 48 hours. This indicates that MGL may not be essential for E. histolytica survival and growth in nutrient-rich conditions such as axenic media (e.g. BI-S-33). Coombs and Mottram (2001) and later ourselves (Tokoro et al., 2003) hypothesized that a compound that is decomposed to yield a toxic product should serve as a drug against E. histolytica. A fluorosubstituted methionine analog, trifluoromethionine, was tested against T. vaginalis and E. histolytica, and showed significant cytopathic effects on these parasites in vitro (Coombs and Mottram, 2001: Tokoro et al. . 2003). Peritoneal administration of trifluoromethionine also cured mouse peritoneal infection by T. vaginalis (Coombs and Mottram, 2001) and also liver abscess caused by E. histolytica (personal observation). We are currently testing prodrugs of trifluoromethionine with modifications that enable slow release and an extended half life.

The crystal structure of *T. vaginalis* and *Pseudomonas putida* MGL has been recently elucidated (Motoshima *et al.*, 2000, and the structure of *T. vaginalis* MGL has been deposited in the database). The *P. putida* MGL crystal revealed its spiral arrangement of subunits, with three functionally distinct domains and a quaternary arrangement, which is similar to the structure of CBS and CGL from *Escherichia coli* (Motoshima *et al.*, 2000). Structural analysis of MGL from *T. vaginalis* and *E. histolytica*, which is in progress, should facilitate structure-based designing of more effective inhibitors and 'suicide' compounds for these protozoan parasites.

6. SERINE METABOLIC PATHWAYS

6.1. Serine Metabolic Pathways in Eukaryotes

6.1.1. A General Scheme of Phosphorylated and Non-phosphorylated Serine Metabolic Pathways in Mammals

L-Serine is a key intermediate in a number of important metabolic pathways including the synthesis of proteins, phospholipids, and neurotransmitters, and is an intermediate in the metabolism of sulfurcontaining amino acids (Snell, 1984; Giovanelli, 1987; Soda, 1987). L-Serine is also converted into L-cysteine, glycine, and L-methionine (Snell, 1984). Two major pathways are known for L-serine metabolism in mammals: phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated. These two pathways play mutually exclusive roles in L-serine metabolism (Snell, 1986). The phosphorylated pathway is the primary route for Lserine biosynthesis, while the non-phosphorylated pathway is involved in L-serine degradation and gluconeogenesis with a net flow in the reverse direction (Cheung et al., 1969; Rowsell et al., 1969; Chen, K.S. and Lardy, 1988). The phosphorylated pathway utilizes a glycolytic intermediate 3-phosphoglycerate (PHP), and includes three sequential reactions catalyzed by D-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PGDH, EC 1.1.1.95), phospho-L-serine aminotransferase (PSAT, EC 2.6.1.52) and O-phospho-L-serine phosphatase (PSP, EC 3.1.3.3) (Figure 3). The non-phosphorylated pathway operates in the opposite direction, forming 2-phosphoglycerate from L-serine; it consists of three reactions catalyzed by L-serine:pyruvate aminotransferase (SPAT, EC 2.6.1.51), D-glycerate dehydrogenase (GDH, EC 1.1.1.29) and D-glycerate kinase (GK, EC 2.7.1.31) (Snell, 1986).

6.1.2. Regulation of the Phosphorylated Serine Metabolic Pathway

The L-serine biosynthetic pathway is affected by nutritional conditions in mammals (Snell, 1986). All three enzymes of the phosphorylated



Figure 3 A general scheme of serine metabolic pathways. The abbreviations used are: CS, cysteine synthase (EC 2.5.1.47); GDH, glycerate dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.29); GK, glycerate kinase (EC 2.7.1.31); PGDH, phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.95); PK, pyruvate kinase (EC 2.7.1.40); PSAT, phosphoserine aminotransferase (EC 2.6.1.52); PSP, phosphoserine phosphatase (EC 3.1.3.3); SAT, serine *O*-acetyltransferase (EC 2.3.1.30); SD, serine dehydratase (EC 4.3.1.17); SHMT (GHMT), serine (glycine) hydroxymethyl transferase (EC 2.1.2.1); and SPAT (AGAT), serine pyruvate (alanine glyoxylate) aminotransferase (EC 2.6.1.51).

pathway in the liver are regulated in response to dietary and hormonal changes. The activity of PGDH and PSP is down-regulated by a high protein/low carbohydrate diet. Conversely, PGDH expression is induced by a low protein/high carbohydrate diet (Snell, 1984). The sulfur-containing amino acids methionine and cysteine also modulate PGDH expression and its activity (Fallon *et al.*, 1966; Achouri *et al.*, 1999). Hormonal factors such as glucagon and corticosteroids also influence PGDH and PSP activity and the corresponding mRNA level (Snell, 1984; Achouri *et al.*, 1999).

The pathway appears to be controlled by the cellular demand for Lserine rather than the supply of the precursor PHP (Snell and Fell, 1990). Intracellular concentrations of PHP are relatively high (0.3 µmol/g wet weight of rat liver) (Guynn et al., 1986). Thus, availability of PHP cannot be a factor in determining overall L-serine production. Instead, the flux of L-serine synthesis is regulated by the reaction rate of PSP, which catalyzes the irreversible and rate-limiting step of Lserine biosynthesis (Fell and Snell, 1988; Snell and Fell, 1990). It has also been shown that enzymes of the phosphorylated pathway are upregulated in proliferating tissues, such as neoplastic tissues, to meet the cellular demands for increased L-serine utilization (Snell et al., 1988). The enzymes of the phosphorylated pathway are widely distributed in humans and high mRNA expression and activity of these enzymes are found in a variety of organs (Snell, 1984; Klomp et al., 2000; Baek et al., 2003). The high level of PGDH and PSAT expression indicates active L-serine biosynthesis and rapid cell proliferation in these tissues.

In plants, the phosphorylated serine pathway is regulated by environmental stress, i.e. high salinity, flooding and low temperature (Ho and Saito, 2001). For instance, mRNA expression of the PGDH gene was increased in conditions of high salinity, whereas PSAT mRNA expression was increased during flooding (Ho and Saito, 2001). PGDH activity from *Escherichia coli* (Sugimoto and Pizer, 1968), *Bacillus subtilis* (Saski and Pizer, 1975) and pea plants (Slaughter and Davies, 1968) was inhibited by the end product of the pathway, L-serine. Thus, PGDH also plays a critical role in the negative regulation of this pathway. However, such allosteric inhibition by the end product was not reported for PGDH from other plants (Larsson and Albertsson, 1979; Ho *et al.*, 1999b), animals (Walsh and Sallach, 1965; Jaeken *et al.*, 1996a; Achouri *et al.*, 1997) and *Entamoeba histolytica* (see below; Ali *et al.*, 2004a). PSP is also regulated by feedback inhibition by L-serine at physiological concentrations in bacteria (Wang, W. *et al.*, 2002), mammals, plants and some other eukaryotes (Knox *et al.*, 1969; Ho *et al.*, 1999a).

6.1.3. Serine Dehydratase for Serine–Pyruvate Conversion and Gluconeogenesis in Mammals

In addition to the non-phosphorylated pathway described above, Lserine is also utilized by serine dehydratase (SD, EC 4.3.1.17) for the production of pyruvate and further gluconeogenesis. The contribution of these two routes to gluconeogenesis is influenced by dietary composition in animals (Snell, 1984), and is also organism- and tissue-dependent (Xue *et al.*, 1999a, b). Under starvation or hormonal action, SD favors energy metabolism since it directly produces pyruvate from L-serine (Xue *et al.*, 1999a). Although SPAT activity was shown to be elevated 6–10-fold by glucagon administration in rat liver, the flux through pyruvate accounted for 80–90% of gluconeogenesis, reinforcing the major contribution of SD to gluconeogenesis.

6.1.4. Serine–Glycine Conversion by Serine Hydroxymethyltransferase

L-Serine is converted into glycine by cytosolic serine hydroxymethyltransferase (cSHMT; EC 2.1.2.1, a synonym of glycine hydroxymethyltransferase), with concomitant generation of 5,10-methylene tetrahydrofolate from tetrahydrofolate (THF) (Figure 3). This reaction is unidirectional in physiological conditions, and provides the major source of one-carbon groups, e.g. formyl groups for purine synthesis and methyl groups for pyrimidine synthesis, remethylation of homocysteine (see above) and many other methylation reactions involved in cellular homeostasis (Fu, T.F. *et al.*, 2001; Herbig *et al.*, 2002). Mitochondrial SHMT (mSHMT) operates in the opposite direction and is primarily involved in the production of L-serine from glycine (Appling, 1991). In neoplastic tissues, SHMT is significantly up-regulated together with several enzymes in the phosphorylated serine pathway (Snell *et al.*, 1988). These changes probably meet the high demand for L-serine required for nucleotide biosynthesis during rapid cell proliferation. SHMT has been shown to be a potential target for the development of anticancer chemotherapeutics, either by antagonizing the PLP cofactor or by direct inhibition of SHMT (Lin *et al.*, 1996; Renwick *et al.*, 1998).

6.1.5. Human Genetic Disorders and Physiological Importance of the Serine Metabolic Pathway

Genetic disorders of the metabolism of sulfur-containing and related amino acids are generally associated with neurological dysfunction (Pepplinkhuizen *et al.*, 1980; Waziri *et al.*, 1983, 1984; Tada *et al.*, 1992; Devor and Waziri, 1993; De Koning *et al.*, 2003). The first two cases of genetic neurological disorders in humans attributable to a defect in the phosphorylated L-serine pathway (PGDH and PSP) were reported by Jaeken *et al.* (1996a, b) and De Koning *et al.* (2003).

Genetic disorders of the non-phosphorylated serine pathway have also been well studied (Wadman *et al.*, 1976; Cochat & Rolland, 2002). In hyperoxaluria type 2, a defect in GDH activity causes accumulation of hydroxypyruvate (HP) and glyoxylate, which are converted into L-glycerate and oxalate by lactate dehydrogenase, resulting in the abnormal excretion of L-glycerate and oxalate in urine (Chalmers *et al.*, 1984; Van Schaftingen *et al.*, 1989; Giafi and Rumsby, 1998). In D-GK deficiency, D-glycerate cannot be phosphorylated to complete the pathway (Wadman *et al.*, 1976; Cochat and Rolland, 2002), causing D-glyceric aciduria (Van Schaftingen *et al.*, 1989). These genetic errors reinforce the physiological importance of L-serine metabolism in mammals.

6.2. A Spectrum of Serine Metabolic Pathways in Parasitic Protozoa

6.2.1. A Survey of Enzymes of Phosphorylated and Nonphosphorylated Serine Metabolic Pathways in Parasitic Protozoa

In order to examine how ubiquitous the serine metabolic pathways are in parasitic protozoa, we conducted a wide-ranging search of all the known enzymes involved in L-serine metabolism. Our analysis indicated that Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis are similar in that both organisms possess both of the two L-serine pathways and the enzyme responsible for L-serine-pyruvate conversion (SD). One exception is that E. histolytica lacks an enzyme for Lserine-glycine conversion (SHMT) while T. vaqinalis retains it (Table 2). In contrast, another anaerobic (microaerophilic) and amitochondrial protist, Giardia duodenalis, lacks all the pathways except SD (Ali et al., 2003, 2004a) and utilizes L-serine for energy production, as does E. histolytica (Takeuchi et al., 1979). Therefore, serineassociated energy metabolism is significantly diverse between these two groups of amitochondrial protozoa. The remarkable similarity of L-serine metabolism in E. histolytica and T. vaginalis is unexpected as T. vaginalis differs from E. histolytica and G. duodenalis in compartmentalization of energy metabolism. Energy production depends on hydrogenosomes, which are analogous to the mitochondria in higher eukaryotes in T. vaginalis, while E. histolytica and G. duodenalis lack this organelle (Muller, M., 1988, 1992). Since Giardia appears to be devoid of all known L-serine metabolic pathways except SD, it remains unclear how G. duodenalis maintains intracellular L-serine and glycine pools. It may be that G. duodenalis depends solely on uptake of L-serine from an extracellular milieu via as yet unidentified amino acid transporters. It has previously been shown that L-serine and arginine are incorporated from the external medium by G. 'intestinalis' (a synonym of G. duodenalis) by Edwards et al. (1989). It has also been shown that L-serine is transported by a putative alanine transporter (Knodler et al., 1994). It is worth mentioning that intracellular concentration of L-serine is significantly

Organisms	Enzymes							
	Phosphorylated pathways			Non-phosphorylated pathways			Serine-glycine conversion	Serine degradation
	PGDH	PSAT	PSP	SPAT	GDH	GK	SHMT	SD
E. histolytica	+	+	+	_	+	+	_	+
G. duodenalis	_	_	_	+ ^b	_	_	_	+
T. vaginalis	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+
P. falciparum	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
C. parvum	_	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
L. major	+	-	-	+ ^b	-	-	+	-
T. cruzi	_	_	-	+	+	+	+	+
T. brucei	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	_

Table 2 Enzymes involved in serine metabolism in parasitic protozoa^a

Accession numbers of putative homologs (either protein or nucleotide) are as follows: *E. histolytica*, PGDH (AB091512), PSAT (AB091513), PSP (191.m00122), GDH (AB091511), GK (92.m00143, 250.m00075), SD (4.m00604, 117.m00151, 221.m00087, 26.m00279); *G. duodenalis*, SPAT (EAA42011), SD (AAM94634); *T. vaginalis*, PGDH (39121.m00033), PSAT (61700.m00121), GDH (50194.m00035), GK (37903.m00037), SHMT (83992/133781 Nuc. No. 58883-60116), SD (37851.m00026, 57441.m00043); *P. falciparum*, SHMT (NP_701706); *C. parvum*, cSHMT (EAK89448), mSHMT (EAK89612); *L. major*, PGDH (AAM68972), SPAT (AAM68973), cSHMT (CAB94023), mSHMT (CAB72302); and *T. cruzi*, SPAT (8170.m00010), GDH (6876.m00003, 8304.m00012), GK (7853.m00017), SHMT (8251.m00015), SD (7107.m00007).

^aSee the legend of Figure 3 for abbreviations used in this table; + and – symbols denotes presence or absence of the gene.

^bThese putative SPAT showed highest homology (35–40% amino acid identity) to both 2-aminoethyl phosphonate:pyruvate aminotransferase and SPAT from various bacteria. A putative SPAT gene from *L. major* is denoted 2-aminoethyl phosphonate:pyruvate aminotransferase in the genome database.

lower in *G. 'intestinalis'* (0.18 mM; Knodler *et al.*, 1994) than in two other amitochondriate protists, *E. histolytica* (3.2 mM; Bakker-Grunwald *et al.*, 1995) and *T. vaginalis* (1.15 mM; Knodler *et al.*, 1994), which may reflect the absence of major metabolism of serine by *Giardia*.

Both Plasmodium falciparum and Cryptosporidium parvum, like Giardia, lack both the phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated pathways (Gardner et al., 2002; Abrahamsen et al., 2004). Instead, these organisms possess an active L-serine–glycine interconversion pathway and apparently depend solely on this pathway for L-serine biosynthesis. The situation in kinetoplastids is more complicated. Leishmania major possesses a gene for PGDH only, and lacks all the other enzymes of the phosphorylated pathway. The biological significance, if any, of the solitary presence of PGDH but not the other enzymes of the pathway in Leishmania is unclear. In contrast to Leishmania, Trypanosoma cruzi seems to possess only enzymes of the non-phosphorylated, but not the phosphorylated, pathway, which is unique to this parasite. Although two contigs in the T. cruzi genome database contain putative GDH/PGDH/2-hydroxyacid dehydrogenase genes, our amino acid comparisons and phylogenetic reconstructions with GDH and PGDH from numerous organisms unequivocally demonstrated that they are most probably GDH. Trypanosoma brucei lacks all the enzymes of both phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated pathways. The biological significance of the evolutionary retention and loss of individual L-serine pathways remains largely unknown.

6.2.2. Distribution of Serine–Glycine and Serine–Pyruvate Conversion Pathways in Parasitic Protozoa

The conversion of L-serine to glycine occurs in most parasitic protozoa except *Entamoeba histolytica*, *Giardia duodenalis* and *Trypanosoma brucei*. The absence of this pathway in *E. histolytica* and *G. duodenalis* agrees well with the fact that these parasites lack folate metabolism, which gives rise to THF required as a hydroxylmethyl donor of SHMT (Alfadhli and Rathod, 2000). It is conceivable that SD, which is involved in conversion of L-serine into pyruvate and ammonia, compensates for the lack of SHMT in these two organisms. It is intriguing that this enzyme is also missing from *Plasmodium falciparum*, *Cryptosporidium parvum* and *Leishmania major*, suggesting that the presence or absence of these two conversion pathways is mutually exclusive, with only two exceptions—*Trichomonas vaginalis* and *Trypanosoma cruzi*. However, we are not confident about the complete lack of serine metabolism in *Tryp. brucei* due to the incomplete nature of the genome database of this organism.

One group of parasites, *C. parvum*, *Tryp. cruzi* and *L. major*, have two types of SHMT (mitochondrial and cytosolic) while another group, *Trich. vaginalis* and *P. falciparum*, possesses only cytosolic SHMT. Since *Plasmodium* lacks serine biosynthetic pathways, its serine is probably derived solely extracellularly, e.g. by heme degradation. The wide (almost ubiquitous) distribution of SHMT strongly indicates the biological importance of L-serine–glycine conversion in the Apicomplexa and Kinetoplastida.

SHMT has been biochemically characterized only from P. falciparum (Alfadhli and Rathod, 2000). SHMT is associated with methylene tetrahydrofolate recycling, in which bifunctional dihydrofolate reductase-thymidylate synthase (DHFR-TS) was also extensively characterized as an important target of common antimalarial drugs including pyrimethamine and cycloguanil (Cowman, 1998). It is worth emphasizing that malaria parasites have conserved L-serine-glycine conversion while they have lost most of the metabolic pathways for other amino acids; only a limited set of enzymes involved in the conversion of L-serine to glycine, cysteine to alanine, and the interconversion between aspartate and aspargine, and glutamate and glutamine, are retained in the P. falciparum genome (Gardner et al., 2002). E. histolytica and G. duodenalis lack SHMT and the conversion of L-serine into glycine. However, they possess PLP-dependent SD, which directly converts L-serine into pyruvate. It is worth mentioning that differentiation of SD and threonine dehydratase (EC 4.3.1.16) at the primary sequence level is not very reliable as putative SD homologs from protozoan parasites also showed significant homology to PLP-dependent threonine dehydratases, which deaminate both L-serine and threonine.

6.3. Unique Presence of Both Serine Metabolic Pathways in *Entamoeba histolytica* and *Trichomonas vaginalis*

Genome survey showed that both Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis possess all the enzymes of the phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated pathways, except for SPAT in E. histolytica and PSP and SPAT in T. vaginalis (Table 2). Since SPAT is known to be localized in mitochondria or peroxisomes in mammals, both of which are missing from *E. histolytica*, it is conceivable that the amebic SPAT might have been lost during secondary loss of the mitochondria (Clark and Roger, 1995). SPAT activity, if present, may be attributable to an unidentified protein localized in a different compartment in these organisms. Since E. histolvtica possesses a residual mitochondria-like organelle, the mitosome or crypton (Mai et al., 1999; Tovar et al., 1999), it is possible that SPAT or a SPAT-like protein is localized in this organelle in E. histolytica. In contrast, the biological significance of the lack of PSP and SPAT in T. vaginalis, which possesses hydrogenosomes, remains totally unresolved. We cannot at present be certain whether other ATs, present in the genome database, catalyze the conversion of L-serine into HP.

It is very striking that *E. histolytica* and *T. vaginalis* share many common features of sulfur-containing amino acid metabolism: (i) the presence of a sulfur assimilatory *de novo* cysteine biosynthetic pathway, (ii) the presence of MGL, (iii) lack of both the forward and reverse transsulfuration pathways, (iv) an MTAN-dependent methionine recycling pathway and (v) the presence of both phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated serine pathways. These shared characteristics should give us clues to the biological and physiological advantages of these metabolic pathways. The only major difference we found between *E. histolytica* and *T. vaginalis* by genome survey was the fact that SHMT is present in *T. vaginalis* and absent from *E. histolytica*. The biological and evolutionary significance of the unique presence in *T. vaginalis* of SHMT, which contains a possible mitochondria/hydrogenosome-targeting signal, needs to be elucidated.

6.3.1. The Phosphorylated Serine Pathway in Entamoeba histolytica

Two major enzymes in the phosphorylated serine pathway, PGDH and PSAT, from Entamoeba histolytica were enzymologically characterized (Ali et al., 2004a). The kinetic studies of recombinant PGDH showed an approximately eight-fold higher affinity for NADH than for NADPH, and specific activity was about three-fold higher with NADH than with NADPH in the reverse direction. The $K_{\rm m}$ for PHP and NAD⁺ in the forward reaction was one order higher than those for 3-phosphohydroxypyruvate (PHP) and NADH in the reverse reaction (Ali et al., 2004a). The K_m of E. histolytica PGDH for substrates was similar to that of mammalian PGDH (Walsh and Sallach, 1965; Achouri et al., 1997), and one to two orders lower than that of bacterial PGDH (Sugimoto and Pizer, 1968). PGDH and PSAT, as well as GDH of the non-phosphorylated pathway, are not compartmentalized, and are likely to be cytosolic. While PGDH from all other organisms forms a homotetramer with a monomer size of 44-67 kDa, the amoebic PGDH exists in a homodimeric form (Ali et al., 2004a).

Kinetic analyses of E. histolytica PSAT showed that the biochemical properties of this enzyme from E. histolytica, bacteria and mammals was similar in that (i) PSAT showed one order higher affinity to L-glutamate than to α -keto-glutarate, while affinity to PHP and Ophospho-L-serine was comparable and (ii) the specific activity in the forward reaction was one order higher than that in the reverse direction (Hirsch and Greenberg, 1967; Basurko et al., 1999; Ali and Nozaki, unpublished study). When compared to plant PSAT, E. histolytica PSAT showed substantially different affinity toward substrates: $K_{\rm m}$ of PSAT from *E. histolytica* for PHP was two orders lower than that of PSAT from spinach and Arabidopsis thaliana (Saito et al., 1997; Ho et al., 1998), while $K_{\rm m}$ for glutamate is 5–10-fold higher. However, our current analysis of the kinetic parameters of E. histolytica and A. thaliana PSAT showed a similar K_m for PHP, but a seven-fold higher K_m for glutamate of A. thaliana PSAT. In addition, the specific activity of A. thaliana PSAT in the forward reaction was 1.5–3.7-fold higher. These data are consistent with the premise that E. histolytica PSAT is enzymologically superior to plant PSAT, which may represent a biological advantage for *E. histolyti*ca. Three substrate analogs, *O*-phospho-D-serine, *O*-phospho-L-threonine and OAS partially inhibited amebic PSAT activity, in contrast to mammalian and plant enzymes, which are not inhibited by these substrate analogs (Ho *et al.*, 1998; Basurko *et al.*, 1999).

6.3.2. The Non-Phosphorylated Serine Pathway in Entamoeba histolytica

GDH from all organisms including *Entamoeba histolytica* forms a homodimer (Rosenblum *et al.*, 1971; Greenler *et al.*, 1989; Izumi *et al.*, 1990; Ali *et al.*, 2003). The amebic GDH showed a strong preference toward NADPH and HP compared to NADP⁺ and D-glyceric acid. We demonstrated that recombinant amebic GDH possesses two order higher affinities to NADPH than to NADH. However, specific activity was four-fold higher with NADH than with NADPH. The K_m for D-glyceric acid and NADP⁺ in the reverse reaction was one order higher than those for HP and NADPH in the forward reaction (Ali *et al.*, 2003). *E. histolytica* GDH cannot utilize glyoxylate as substrate to produce glycolate, while GDH from mammals and plants can catalyze this reaction. Thus, the amebic GDH appears to be specific for the HP–glycerate conversion (Ali *et al.*, 2003).

The non-phosphorylated pathway is unlikely to be involved in energy metabolism in *E. histolytica* for the following reasons. First, gluconeogenesis does not occur in the ameba due to lack of an enzyme for the committed step (conversion of fructose-1,6-bisphosphate into fructose-6-phosphate) (McLaughlin and Aley, 1985). Second, the first enzyme of the pathway, SPAT, consumes pyruvate as an amino residue acceptor from L-serine in a transamination reaction to yield HP (Snell, 1984). Thus, the net yield of pyruvate from L-serine and pyruvate through the non-phosphorylated pathway is zero. In addition, one molecule each of NADPH and ATP are consumed to produce 2-phosphoglycerate from L-serine. However, this pathway is stimulated during starvation or by hormonal action, as has been demonstrated in mammals, and contributes substantially to energy metabolism during starvation (Xue *et al.*, 1999b). Thus, it is possible,

by analogy, that this pathway may also play a role in energy metabolism during starvation or encystation of the ameba.

6.3.3. Origin of Serine Metabolic Pathways in Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis

Protein alignments and phylogenetic analyses of proteins involved in the phosphorylated pathway suggest that PGDH and PSAT from Entamoeba histolvtica show a close kinship to those of bacteroides. This close kinship was also supported by the shared deletion and high amino acid identities (48-50% for PGDH and 56-59% for PSAT). Trichomonas vaginalis PGDH and PSAT appear to have ancestors distinct from those of the E. histolytica enzymes. For instance, T. vaginalis PGDH showed a close association with homologs from Pvrococcus horikoshii and P. furiosus, suggesting that T. vaginalis gained PGDH from an ancestral organism similar to archaea. On the contrary, T. vaginalis PSAT showed closest kinship to homologs from fungi and mammals (Ali and Nozaki, unpublished study). Interestingly, T. vaginalis PSAT possesses a 38-amino acid extension at the N terminus, which is not present in the amebic PGDH. This extension contains 11 positively charged and 16 hydrophobic residues, consistent with the mitochondria-targeting signal (unpublished observation). This finding suggests that T. vaqinalis PSAT might be compartmentalized in hydrogenosomes. These data are consistent with the notion that most of the genes, if not all, encoding the enzymes involved in the phosphorylated pathway in E. histolytica were transferred from bacteroides or their ancestral organisms to E. histolytica or vice versa (i.e. from *E. histolytica* to bacteroides) by a single lateral gene transfer event. In contrast, the genes involved in the phosphorylated serine pathway in T. vaqinalis were probably obtained from distinct ancestral organisms by at least a few independent lateral transfer events. It would be very interesting to know if PGDH and PSAT from T. vaginalis possess enzymological properties similar to or distinct from those of the *E. histolytica* enzyme. Lateral gene transfer has been well documented in E. histolytica, mainly for metabolic (fermentation) enzymes that were transferred from archaea or bacteria to the parasite (Field et al., 2000; Nixon et al., 2002).
Phylogenetic analysis of the non-phosphorylated pathway (Ali et al., 2003) led us to a different scenario. E. histolytica GDH showed strong affinity (38–40% protein identity) to *e*-proteobacteria including Campvlobacter jejuni and Helicobacter pylori. This close kinship was also supported by the shared amino acid insertions, suggesting that amebic GDH was probably obtained from an ancestral organism of current *ɛ*-proteobacteria by lateral transfer. In contrast, *T. vaqi*nalis GDH showed its highest identity (32%) to Escherichia coli, Bacillus subtilis and human enzymes, while it was only 26% identical to E. histolytica GDH. Phylogenetic analyses also supported the premise of a close association of Trichomonas GDH with mammalian and yproteobacteria GDH. GK catalyzes phosphorylation to form 2phosphoglycerate from D-glycerate utilizing ATP as a phosphate donor (Figure 3). E. histolytica and T. vaginalis GK showed highest identities (40-42%) to Bacillus cereus, Esch. coli (GK2 isotype), and 32% to Haemophilus influenzae, B. halodurans and B. subtilis. Phylogenetic analyses showed that E. histolytica and T. vaqinalis GK belong to a single clade, suggesting that GK from *E. histolytica* and *T.* vaginalis may have had the same evolutionary origin, dissimilar to that of other enzymes of the phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated serine metabolic pathways (personal observation).

6.4. Biological Significance of Serine Metabolic Pathways in Parasitic Protozoa

Serine is a precursor of cysteine in both the reverse transsulfuration and sulfur assimilatory *de novo* cysteine biosynthetic pathways. Thus, in virtually all organisms, including protozoa, serine metabolic pathways contribute to the regulation of cysteine production. In the phosphorylated serine pathway, the primary substrate of the pathway, 3-phosphoglyceric acid, is an important intermediate of glycolysis. Thus, an overall flow of glycolysis also probably influences the cellular concentration of 3-phosphoglyceric acid and its availability for the serine metabolic pathway. In the sulfur assimilatory *de novo* cysteine biosynthetic pathway, since OAS is unstable *in vivo*, the production of OAS from acetyl CoA and serine by SAT appears to be a bottleneck in cysteine production. The final enzyme of this pathway, CS, is negatively regulated by an intermediate of glycolysis (pyruvate) as well as by intermediates of L-serine metabolism (*O*phosphoserine and HP) in *E. histolytica* (personal observation). Taken together, both intermediates of glycolysis and L-serine metabolism influence cysteine synthesis.

While serine metabolic pathways are absent from the majority of parasitic protists, as described above, there are several exceptions: Entamoeba histolytica, Trichomonas vaginalis, Trypanosoma cruzi and Leishmania major. In particular, the former two organisms possess both the serine metabolic pathways. It is conceivable that it is because L-serine metabolism plays such critical roles, including pyruvate production via SD and *de novo* cysteine synthesis, that dual pathways are retained in these parasites. The presence of the non-phosphorylated serine metabolic pathway in the amitochondrial protozoan parasites may be associated with the unique metabolism of anaerobic/microaerophilic parasites. Since both E. histolytica and T. vaginalis do not possess a functional tricarboxylic acid cycle and pentose-phosphate pathway, their major source of energy is glycolysis and fermentation. In addition, due to lack of lactate dehydrogenase, NADH formed during glycolysis is not reoxidized by the conversion of pyruvate into lactate in E. histolytica. Instead, acetyl CoA is anaerobically reduced to ethanol and CO₂ in *E. histolytica*, and to acetate in *Trichomonas* (Reeves, 1984 and McLaughlin and Aley, 1985). SD has also been implicated in the microaerophilic energy metabolism of Entamoeba as L-serine stimulates oxygen consumption and is converted into pyruvate in living cells and extracts (Takeuchi et al., 1979). Since the nonphosphorylated pathway is not economically favored for the production of pyruvate (Section 6.3.2), there are probably other advantages of utilizing this pathway, e.g. NADH reoxidation. The physiological importance of the non-phosphorylated pathway, and in particular GDH, has been well demonstrated in L-glyceric aciduria (hyperoxaluria type II) by Giafi and Rumsby (1998) (Section 6.1.5). Since E. histolytica lacks lactate dehydrogenase and GDH does not catalyze glyoxylate reduction, the fate of HP, when GDH is absent, is not known. Altogether, GDH may play an important role in the maintenance of intracellular L-serine and HP concentrations, and also

in the control of downstream cysteine biosynthesis in these protozoa (Ali *et al.*, 2003). Although regulation of the non-phosphorylated pathway in gluconeogenesis depends on dietary composition in animals, regulation of this pathway in *E. histolytica* and *T. vaginalis* is totally unknown.

7. DEVELOPMENTAL STAGE REGULATION OF METABOLIC PATHWAYS OF SULFUR-CONTAINING AMINO ACIDS

7.1. Developmental Stage Regulation of Reverse Transsulfuration and *De Novo* Cysteine Biosynthetic Pathways in *Trypanosoma cruzi*

We currently have very limited knowledge of the developmental stage-specific regulation of metabolism of sulfur-containing amino acids in protozoan parasites. Trypanosoma cruzi possesses a complex life cycle consisting of intracellular or blood stages in mammalian hosts (amastigotes and trypomastigotes, respectively) and an extracellular stage in the alimentary tract of insect hosts (epimastigotes) (Brener, 1973). Environmental conditions such as availability of nutrition and oxidative stress drastically change during stage transitions. The reverse transsulfuration pathway and sulfur assimilatory de novo cysteine biosynthetic pathway are differentially regulated in two major developmental stages of T. cruzi (Nozaki et al., 2001). Expression of CBS is stage-specific: CBS is exclusively expressed in epimastigotes, and no CBS activity has been detected in amastigotes or trypomastigotes. In contrast to CBS, CS is constitutively expressed in both mammalian and insect stages. It appears that stage-specific regulation of the reverse transsulfuration pathway in T. cruzi is causally connected to nutritional and environmental requirements associated with the complex life cycle of the parasite. Amastigotes or trypomastigotes reside in the cytoplasm of invaded host cells or in the bloodstream, respectively, where sulfur-containing amino acids are present in sufficient amounts and are readily available. Thus, it is conceivable that amastigotes and trypomastigotes rely on host

sulfur-containing amino acids or their intermediates, which are incorporated into the parasites. In contrast, epimastigotes live in the alimentary tract of insects, where sulfur-containing amino acids are not present in sufficient concentration. Thus, epimastigotes probably depend on two apparently redundant cysteine biosynthetic pathways. A large supply of cysteine may be required for the high demand of glutathione and trypanothione production in epimastigotes (Fairlamb and Cerami, 1992), in order to maintain redox potential in trypanosomes.

7.2. Developmental Stage Regulation of Sulfur-Containing Amino Acid Metabolism in *Plasmodium* and *Cryptosporidium*

Genes involved in sulfur-containing amino acid metabolism are also regulated in a stage-specific fashion in *Plasmodium falciparum*. We examined expression profiles of genes encoding enzymes involved in the methionine cycle (MAT, methyl transferase, SAHH, Ado-MetDC-ODC, aspartate aminotransferase) and serine to glycine conversion (SHMT) using mRNA expression data based on DNA microarrays (glass slide and photolithographic oligonucleotide arrays) available on the PlasmoDB web site (http://plasmodb.org). As mentioned above, genes involved in forward and reverse transsulfuration as well as sulfur assimilatory pathways are absent from Plasmodium. Genes involved in the methionine cycle are constitutively expressed in all intraerythrocytic (meront) stages of P. falciparum; the level of expression generally peaks at the late trophozoite and early schizont stages except for aspartate aminotransferase, which is expressed continuously at comparable levels from ring to late schizont (meront) stages. Bifunctional AdoMetDC-ODC mRNA is 2-5-fold higher in sporozoites than in other stages, suggesting a specific role of this enzyme in the insect stage. The stage-specific regulation of MAT has also been described in Cryptosporidium parvum by Slapeta et al. (2003). MAT is continuously expressed throughout the life cycle, but its expression greatly increases in the late trophozoite and early meront stages of C. parvum (Slapeta et al., 2003).

DNA microarray data showed that the expression of SHMT, which catalyzes serine-glycine conversion, is higher in late trophozoites, early schizonts and gametocytes than in sporozoites and early ring stages of P. falciparum. The stage-dependent expression of SHMT has also been shown independently by Nirmalan et al. (2002): SHMT mRNA was preferentially expressed in gametocytes and late trophozoites/schizonts. Since SHMT requires THF as a cofactor for its activity, SHMT metabolism is closely associated with the folate pathway, which has been viewed as a rational drug target for malaria (Ruenwongsa et al., 1989; Rathod et al., 1992). Two enzymes involved in the folate pathway have been extensively studied in Plasmodium. Thymidylate synthase (TS; EC 2.1.1.45), essential for de novo pyrimidine biosynthesis and DNA synthesis, and dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) are known to exist as a DHFR-TS fusion protein in Plasmodium. The expression of DHFR-TS is constant during intraerythrocytic development of P. falciparum (Nirmalan et al., 2002). The folate pathway and folate-dependent formation of thymidylate are critical for replication of malaria parasites. The malaria parasites salvage purines, rather than using folate-dependent synthesis (Sherman, 1979). However, malaria parasites are unable to salvage pyrimidine (Sherman, 1979), and entirely depend on the thymidylate cycle for pyrimidine biosynthesis during replication. This fact may explain why expression of DHFR-TS and SHMT are up-regulated during the transition from ring to trophozoite/schizont stages, in which DNA content drastically increases (about 14-fold per parasite in 48 hours) (Smeijsters et al., 1994). All folate, synthesized de novo or salvaged, must be first reduced to THF by DHFR and then converted by the transfer of a hydroxymethyl moiety to THF to form 5,10-methylene tetrahydrofolate, catalyzed by SHMT. 5,10-Methylene tetrahydrofolate is then utilized to convert deoxyuridine monophosphate into deoxythymidine monophosphate catalyzed by TS, with concomitant formation of 7,8-dihydrofolate, which needs to be stoichiometrically recycled to THF by DHFR. Thus, it is conceivable that SHMT expression synchronizes with that of DHFR-TS due to the cellular requirement of THF cofactor essential for SHMT activity. It is also intriguing that SHMT expression is high in gametocytes as well as in trophozoites and schizonts. This may reflect the fact that DNA

synthesis occurs during gametocyte maturation, development of microgametes and replication following fertilization, all of which occur shortly after ingestion by the mosquito (Janse *et al.*, 1988).

8. REMAINING QUESTIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Despite the biological significance of the ubiquitous sulfur-containing amino acids, the distribution of the metabolic pathways of these amino acids is extremely diverse among parasitic protozoa. This level of heterogeneity was totally unexpected, and should help us in elucidating the mechanisms of retention or loss of these metabolic pathways in parasitism-associated evolution. A number of important and unsolved questions remain. (i) All the parasitic protozoa which have been studied, except for Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis, apparently lack enzymes or pathways responsible for degradation of toxic intermediates of sulfur-containing amino acids, e.g. MGL and CDO. It remains totally unknown how they evade the effect of these toxic metabolites. For instance, how does *Plasmodium* falciparum, which lacks a complete methionine cycle, the MTA cycle, and both of the transsulfuration pathways, detoxify or eliminate homocysteine in erythrocytes? (ii) Giardia duodenalis lacks both the sulfur assimilatory de novo cysteine biosynthetic and reverse transsulfuration pathways. How does the parasite acquire sufficient methionine and cysteine in the small intestine? If Giardia acquires cysteine solely by uptake from the small intestine, it must possess an efficient cysteine transporter. (iii) Sulfur assimilatory de novo cysteine biosynthesis and both phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated serine metabolic pathways occur in a very limited range of organisms, i.e. E. histolytica and Trich. vaginalis, but not in other parasitic protozoa studied including the anaerobic/amitochondriate protist G. duodenalis. What are the biological advantages (or the selective pressure in nature) leading to the retention of these pathways in the former two species and to their elimination in the latter? (iv) Why is the reverse transsulfuration pathway conserved solely in kinetoplastids? (v) What is the biological interpretation of the striking similarity between sulfur-containing amino acid metabolism in general in *E. histolytica* and *T. vaginalis*?

We have now a list of model organisms in which to study the specific function of each pathway. For instance, *P. falciparum* lacks most of the pathways discussed in this review, but selectively retains methionine activation and SHMT, highlighting the physiological significance of these processes in *Plasmodium*. On the other hand, *Trypanosoma cruzi* is the only known parasitic protozoon that possesses the non-phosphorylated serine pathway but not the phosphorylated pathway. It is conceivable that these pathways play an indispensable role for these organisms. Thus, *Plasmodium* and *Tryp. cruzi* should provide good models to study the biological roles in parasitism and pathogenesis of serine–glycine conversion and the non-phosphorylated serine metabolic pathway, respectively.

Only a few enzymes and pathways that are present in parasites, but absent from their mammalian hosts, have been characterized so far. All of these parasite-specific enzymes and pathways could be rational targets for new chemotherapeutic agents. In particular, (i) sulfur assimilatory de novo cysteine biosynthesis, (ii) MTAN in the methionine cycle and (iii) degradation of sulfur-containing amino acids by MGL, represent the most appealing targets. Considering the biological importance of sulfur-containing amino acids in parasites, either the antagonistic inhibition of these enzymes or the subversive conversion of synthetic substances (e.g. trifluoromethionine) into toxic substrates by these enzymes should be damaging for the parasites. There are already several lead compounds available for these studies. However, needless to say, further exploitation of these potentially useful drug targets requires multidisciplinary collaboration between organic and inorganic chemistry, biochemistry, structural and cellular biology, and medicine.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the following for helpful discussion: Seiki Kobayashi, Takahashi Asai, Masanobu Tanabe and Tsutomu Takeuchi (Keio University School of Medicine), Kazuki Saito and Fumio

Ikegami (Chiba University), Tetsuo Hashimoto (Tsukuba Universitv), Motohiro Iseki (Kanazawa University), Lidva B. Sanchez and Miklos Muller (the Rockefeller University), Yasuhiro Takahashi (Osaka University), Kiyoshi Kita (University of Tokyo) and Shinichiro Kawazu (International Medical Center of Japan). We thank Kazuvuki Tanabe (Osaka Institute of Technology) for encouragement to write this review. We also thank all members of our laboratory at the National Institute of Infectious Diseases for helpful discussions and technical assistance. This work was supported by a grant for Precursory Research for Embryonic Science and Technology (PRESTO) from the Japan Science and Technology Agency, a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan to T.N. (16017397, 16044250, 15590378), Fellowship PB01155 from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science to V.A., a grant for Research on Emerging and Re-emerging Infectious Diseases from the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare, and a Project to Promote Development of Anti-AIDS Pharmaceuticals grant from the Japan Health Sciences Foundation to T.N.

REFERENCES

- Abrahamsen, M.S., Templeton, T.J., Enomoto, S., Abrahante, J.E., Zhu, G., Lancto, C.A., Deng, M., Liu, C., Widmer, G., Tzipori, S., Buck, G.A., Xu, P., Bankier, A.T., Dear, P.H., Konfortov, B.A., Spriggs, H.F., Iyer, L., Anantharaman, V., Aravind, L. and Kapur, V. (2004). Complete genome sequence of the apicomplexan, *Cryptosporidium parvum. Science* 304, 441–445.
- Achouri, Y., Rider, M.H., Schaftingen, E.V. and Robbi, M. (1997). Cloning, sequencing and expression of rat liver 3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase. *Biochemical Journal* 323, 365–370.
- Achouri, Y., Robbi, M. and Van Schaftingen, E. (1999). Role of cysteine in the dietary control of the expression of 3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase in rat liver. *Biochemical Journal* 344, 15–21.
- Adam, R.D. (1991). The biology of *Giardia* spp. *Microbiology Reviews* 55, 706–732.
- Alfadhli, S. and Rathod, P.K. (2000). Gene organization of a *Plasmodium* falciparum serine hydroxymethyltransferase and its functional expression in *Escherichia coli*. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology **110**, 283–291.

- Ali, V., Shigeta, Y. and Nozaki, T. (2003). Molecular and structural characterization of NADPH-dependent D-glycerate dehydrogenase from the enteric parasitic protist *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Biochemical Journal* **375**, 729–736.
- Ali, V., Shigeta, Y., Tokumoto, U., Takahashi, Y. and Nozaki, T. (2004b). An intestinal parasitic protist, *Entamoeba histolytica*, possesses a nonredundant nitrogen fixation-like system for iron-sulfur cluster assembly under anaerobic conditions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 16863–16874.
- Ali, V., Hashimoto, T., Shigeta, Y. and Nozaki, T. (2004a). Molecular and biochemical characterization of D-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase from *Entamoeba histolytica*. A unique enteric protozoan parasite that possesses both phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated serine metabolic pathways. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 271, 2670–2681.
- Alvarez, L., Corrales, F., Martin-Duce, A. and Mato, J.M. (1993). Characterization of a full-length cDNA encoding human liver *S*-adenosylmethionine synthetase: tissue-specific gene expression and mRNA levels in hepatopathies. *Biochemical Journal* **293**, 481–486.
- Anderson, J.W. (1978). *Sulfur in Biology*. Baltimore, MD: University Park Press.
- Appling, D.R. (1991). Compartmentation of folate-mediated one-carbon metabolism in eukaryotes. *FASEB Journal* 5, 2645–2651.
- Ariyanayagam, M.R. and Fairlamb, A.H. (1999). Entamoeba histolytica lacks trypanothione metabolism. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 103, 61–69.
- Ariyanayagam, M.R. and Fairlamb, A.H. (2001). Ovothiol and trypanothione as antioxidants in trypanosomatids. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 115, 189–198.
- Ariyanayagam, M.R., Oza, S.L., Mehlert, A. and Fairlamb, A.H. (2003). Bis(glutathionyl)spermine and other novel trypanothione analogues in *Trypanosoma cruzi. Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 27612–27619.
- Asawamahasakda, W. and Yuthavong, Y. (1993). The methionine synthesis cycle and salvage of methyltetrahydrofolate from host red cells in the malaria parasite (*Plasmodium falciparum*). *Parasitology* **107**, 1–10.
- Assaraf, Y.G., Golenser, J., Spira, D.T. and Bachrach, U. (1984). Polyamine levels and the activity of their biosynthetic enzymes in human erythrocytes infected with the malarial parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum. Biochemical Journal* 222, 815–819.
- Avila, J.L. and Polegre, M.A. (1993). Uptake and metabolism of S-adenosyl-L-methionine by *Leishmania mexicana* and *Leishmania braziliensis* promastigotes. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **58**, 123–134.
- Bacchi, C.J., Garofalo, J., Ciminelli, M., Rattendi, D., Goldberg, B., McCann, P.P. and Yarlett, N. (1993). Resistance to DLα-difluoromethylornithine by clinical isolates of *Trypanosoma brucei*

rhodesiense. Role of *S*-adenosylmethionine. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **46**, 471–481.

- Bacchi, C.J. and Yarlett, N. (1993). Effects of antagonists of polyamine metabolism on African trypanosomes. *Acta Tropica* 54, 225–236.
- Bacchi, C.J. and Yarlett, N. (2002). Polyamine metabolism as chemotherapeutic target in protozoan parasites. *Mini Review Medicinal Chemistry* 2, 553–563.
- Bacchi, C.J., Garofalo, J., Mockenhaupt, D., McCann, P.P., Diekema, K.A., Pegg, A.E., Nathan, H.C., Mullaney, E.A., Chunosoff, L., Sjoerdsma, A. and Hutner, S.H. (1983). *In vivo* effects of α-DL-difluoromethylornithine on the metabolism and morphology of *Trypanosoma brucei brucei*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 7, 209–225.
- Bacchi, C.J., Nathan, H.C., Clarkson, A.B., jr, Bienen, E.J., Bitonti, A.J., McCann, P.P. and Sjoerdsma, A. (1987). Effects of the ornithine decarboxylase inhibitors $DL-\alpha$ -difluoromethylornithine and α -monofluoromethyldehydroornithine methyl ester alone and in combination with suramin against *Trypanosoma brucei brucei* central nervous system models. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **36**, 46–52.
- Bacchi, C.J., Sufrin, J.R., Nathan, H.C., Spiess, A.J., Hannan, T., Garofalo, J., Alecia, K., Katz, L. and Yarlett, N. (1991). 5'-Alkyl-substituted analogs of 5'-methylthioadenosine as trypanocides. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 35, 1315–1320.
- Bacchi, C.J., Nathan, H.C., Yarlett, N., Goldberg, B., McCann, P.P., Bitonti, A.J. and Sjoerdsma, A. (1992). Cure of murine *Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense* infections with an S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase inhibitor. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 36, 2736–2740.
- Bacchi, C.J., Goldberg, B., Garofalo-Hannan, J., Rattendi, D., Lyte, P. and Yarlett, N. (1995). Fate of soluble methionine in African trypanosomes: effects of metabolic inhibitors. *Biochemical Journal* **309**, 737–743.
- Bachrach, U., Wang, Y.C. and Tabib, A. (2001). Polyamines: new cues in cellular signal transduction. *News on Physiological Sciences* 16, 106–109.
- Baek, J.Y., Jun do, Y., Taub, D. and Kim, Y.H. (2003). Characterization of human phosphoserine aminotransferase involved in the phosphorylated pathway of L-serine biosynthesis. *Biochemical Journal* 373, 191–200.
- Bagnara, A.S., Tucker, V.E., Minotto, L., Howes, E.R., Ko, G.A., Edwards, M.R. and Dawes, I.W. (1996). Molecular characterisation of adenosylhomocysteinase from *Trichomonas vaginalis*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 81, 1–11.
- Bakker-Grunwald, T., Martin, J.B. and Klein, G. (1995). Characterization of glycogen and amino acid pool of *Entamoeba histolytica* by ¹³C-NMR spectroscopy. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* **42**, 346–349.
- Basurko, M.J., Marche, M., Darriet, M. and Cassaigne, A. (1999). Phosphoserine aminotransferase, the second step-catalyzing enzyme for serine biosynthesis. *IUBMB Life* 48, 525–529.

- Beinert, H. (2000). Iron-sulfur proteins: ancient structures, still full of surprises. Journal of Biological Inorganic Chemistry 5, 2–15.
- Beinert, H., Holm, R.H. and Munck, E. (1997). Iron-sulfur clusters: nature's modular, multipurpose structures. Science 277, 653–659.
- Berger, B.J., Dai, W.W., Wang, H., Stark, R.E. and Cerami, A. (1996). Aromatic amino acid transamination and methionine recycling in trypanosomatids. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* USA 93, 4126–4130.
- Berger, B.J., Dai, W.W. and Wilson, J. (1998). Methionine formation from α-ketomethiobutyrate in the trypanosomatid *Crithidia fasciculata*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **165**, 305–312.
- Berger, L.C., Wilson, J., Wood, P. and Berger, B.J. (2001). Methionine regeneration and aspartate aminotransferase in parasitic protozoa. *Journal of Bacteriology* **183**, 4421–4434.
- Birkholtz, L., Joubert, F., Neitz, A.W. and Louw, A.I. (2003). Comparative properties of a three-dimensional model of *Plasmodium falciparum* ornithine decarboxylase. *Proteins* **50**, 464–473.
- Birkholtz, L.M., Wrenger, C., Joubert, F., Wells, G.A., Walter, R.D. and Louw, A.I. (2004). Parasite-specific inserts in the bifunctional S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase/ornithine decarboxylase of *Plasmodium falciparum* modulate catalytic activities and domain interactions. *Biochemical Journal* 377, 439–448.
- Bitonti, A.J., Dumont, J.A. and McCann, P.P. (1986). Characterization of *Trypanosoma brucei brucei S*-adenosyl-L-methionine decarboxylase and its inhibition by Berenil, pentamidine and methylglyoxal-bis(guanylhydrazone). *Biochemical Journal* 237, 685–689.
- Bitonti, A.J., Cross-Doersen, D.E. and McCann, P.P. (1988). Effects of α diffuoromethylornithine on protein synthesis and synthesis of the variantspecific glycoprotein (VSG) in *Trypanosoma brucei brucei*. *Biochemical Journal* **250**, 295–298.
- Bitonti, A.J., Baumann, R.J., Jarvi, E.T., McCarthy, J.R. and McCann, P.P. (1990a). Antimalarial activity of a 4',5'-unsaturated 5'-fluoroadenosine mechanism-based inhibitor of S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine hydrolase. *Bi*ochemical Pharmacology 40, 601–606.
- Bitonti, A.J., Byers, T.L., Bush, T.L., Casara, P.J., Bacchi, C.J., Clarkson, A.B., jr, McCann, P.P. and Sjoerdsma, A. (1990b). Cure of *Trypanosoma* brucei brucei and *Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense* infections in mice with an irreversible inhibitor of S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 34, 1485–1490.
- Blom, H.J., Boers, G.H., van den Elzen, J.P., Gahl, W.A. and Tangerman, A. (1989). Transamination of methionine in humans. *Clinical Sciences* (London) 76, 43–49.
- Bollinger, J.M., jr, Kwon, D.S., Huisman, G.W., Kolter, R. and Walsh, C.T. (1995). Glutathionylspermidine metabolism in *Escherichia coli*.

Purification, cloning, overproduction, and characterization of a bifunctional glutathionylspermidine synthetase/amidase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **270**, 14031–14041.

- Bonnarme, P., Lapadatescu, C., Yvon, M. and Spinnler, H.E. (2001). L-Methionine degradation potentialities of cheese-ripening microorganisms. *Journal of Dairy Research* **68**, 663–674.
- Bordo, D. and Bork, P. (2002). The rhodanese/Cdc25 phosphatase superfamily. Sequence-structure-function relations. *EMBO Reports* 3, 741–746.
- Braunstein, A.E., Goryachenkova, E.V., Tolosa, E.A., Willhardt, I.H. and Yefremova, L.L. (1971). Specificity and some other properties of liver serine sulphydrase: evidence for its identity with cystathionine β -synthase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **242**, 247–260.
- Brener, Z. (1973). Biology of Trypanosoma cruzi. Annual Review of Microbiology 27, 347–382.
- Brown, D.M., Upcroft, J.A. and Upcroft, P. (1993). Cysteine is the major low-molecular weight thiol in *Giardia duodenalis*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 61, 155–158.
- Bruchhaus, I. and Tannich, E. (1994). Induction of the iron-containing superoxide dismutase in *Entamoeba histolytica* by a superoxide anion-generating system or by iron chelation. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **67**, 281–288.
- Bruchhaus, I. and Tannich, E. (1993). Analysis of the genomic sequence encoding the 29-kDa cysteine-rich protein of *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 44, 116–118.
- Bruchhaus, I., Richter, S. and Tannich, E. (1998). Recombinant expression and biochemical characterization of an NADPH:flavin oxidoreductase from *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Biochemical Journal* **330**, 1217–1221.
- Brun, R. and Schonenberger, M. (1979). Cultivation and *in vitro* cloning of procyclic culture forms of *Trypanosoma brucei* in a semi-defined medium. *Acta Tropica* 36, 289–292.
- Brun, R., Buhler, Y., Sandmeier, U., Kaminsky, R., Bacchi, C.J., Rattendi, D., Lane, S., Croft, S.L., Snowdon, D., Yardley, V., Caravatti, G., Frei, J., Stanek, J. and Mett, H. (1996). *In vitro* trypanocidal activities of new *S*-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase inhibitors. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 40, 1442–1447.
- Burton, E. and Sakami, W. (1971). Methionine synthesis (yeast). Methods in Enzymology 17B, 388–392.
- Burton, E.G. and Metzenberg, R.L. (1975). Regulation of methionine biosynthesis in *Neurospora crassa*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 168, 219–229.
- Byers, T.L., Bush, T.L., McCann, P.P. and Bitonti, A.J. (1991). Antitrypanosomal effects of polyamine biosynthesis inhibitors correlate with increases in *Trypanosoma brucei brucei S*-adenosyl-L-methionine. *Biochemical Journal* **274**, 527–533.

- Byrne, C.R., Monroe, R.S., Ward, K.A. and Kredich, N.M. (1988). DNA sequences of the cysK regions of *Salmonella typhimurium* and *Escherichia coli* and linkage of the cysK regions to ptsH. *Journal of Bacteriology* **170**, 3150–3157.
- Cantoni, G.L. (1975). Biological methylation: selected aspects. Annual Review of Biochemistry 44, 435–451.
- Casero, R.A., jr and Woster, P.M. (2001). Terminally alkylated polyamine analogues as chemotherapeutic agents. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 44, 1–26.
- Ceccon, M., Giusti, P., Facci, L., Borin, G., Imbesi, M., Floreani, M. and Skaper, S.D. (2000). Intracellular glutathione levels determine cerebellar granule neuron sensitivity to excitotoxic injury by kainic acid. *Brain Research* 862, 83–89.
- Chalmers, R.A., Tracey, B.M., Mistry, J., Griffiths, K.D., Green, A. and Winterborn, M.H. (1984). l-Glyceric aciduria (primary hyperoxaluria type 2) in siblings in two unrelated families. *Journal of Inheritable Metabolic Diseases* 7, supplement 2, 133–134.
- Chen, J., Huang, X., Liu, Y., Dai, G. and Chen, W. (1996). Detoxicating enzymes of *Entamoeba histolytica* and their detoxifying roles. *Chinese Medical Journal* **109**, 792–794.
- Chen, K.S. and Lardy, H.A. (1988). Pathway of gluconeogenesis from Dand L-glycerate in rat hepatocytes. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **265**, 433–440.
- Cheung, G.P., Cotropia, J.P. and Sallach, H.J. (1969). The effects of dietary protein on the hepatic enzymes of serine metabolism in the rabbit. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **129**, 672–682.
- Chiang, P.K. and Cantoni, G.L. (1977). Activation of methionine for transmethylation. Purification of the S-adenosylmethionine synthetase of bakers' yeast and its separation into two forms. Journal of Biological Chemistry **252**, 4506–4513.
- Chiang, P.K., Chamberlin, M.E., Nicholson, D., Soubes, S., Su, X., Subramanian, G., Lanar, D.E., Prigge, S.T., Scovill, J.P., Miller, L.H. and Chou, J.Y. (1999). Molecular characterization of *Plasmodium falciparum S*-adenosylmethionine synthetase. *Biochemical Journal* 344, 571–576.
- Clark, C.G. and Roger, A.J. (1995). Direct evidence for secondary loss of mitochondria in *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* **92**, 6518–6521.
- Cochat, P. and Rolland, M.O. (2002). Primary hyperoxalurias. In: *Inborn Metabolic Diseases* (J. Fernandes, J.M. Saudubray and G. Van der Berghe, eds), pp. 446–452. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Cody, G.D., Boctor, N.Z., Filley, T.R., Hazen, R.M., Scott, J.H., Sharma, A. and Yoder, H.S., jr (2000). Primordial carbonylated iron-sulfur compounds and the synthesis of pyruvate. *Science* 289, 1337–1340.

- Coombs, G.H. and Mottram, J.C. (2001). Trifluoromethionine, a prodrug designed against methionine γ -lyase-containing pathogens, has efficacy *in vitro* and *in vivo* against *Trichomonas vaginalis*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **45**, 1743–1745.
- Cooper, A.J. (1983). Biochemistry of sulfur-containing amino acids. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 52, 187–222.
- Cooper, J.L. and Meister, A. (1972). Isolation and properties of highly purified glutamine transaminase. *Biochemistry* **11**, 661–671.
- Cooper, R., de Jesus, A.R. and Cross, G.A. (1993). Deletion of an immunodominant *Trypanosoma cruzi* surface glycoprotein disrupts flagellum–cell adhesion. *Journal of Cell Biology* **122**, 149–156.
- Cowman, A.F. (1998). The molecular basis of resistance to the sulfones, sulfonamides, and dihydrofolate reductase inhibitors. In: *Malaria Parasite Biology, Pathogenesis, and Protection* (I.W. Sherman, ed.), pp. 317–330. Washington, DC: ASM Press.
- Creedon, K.A., Rathod, P.K. and Wellems, T.E. (1994). Plasmodium falciparum S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase. cDNA identification, predicted protein sequence, and expression in Escherichia coli. Journal of Biological Chemistry 269, 16364–16370.
- Das, B., Gupta, R. and Madhubala, R. (1997). Combined action of inhibitors of S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase with an antimalarial drug, chloroquine, on *Plasmodium falciparum*. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 44, 12–17.
- De Bree, A., Verschuren, W.M., Kromhout, D., Mennen, L.I. and Blom, H.J. (2002). Homocysteine and coronary heart disease: the importance of a distinction between low and high risk subjects. *International Journal of Epidemiology* **31**, 1268–1272.
- De Koning, T.J., Snell, K., Duran, M., Berger, R., Poll-The, B.T. and Surtees, R. (2003). L-Serine in disease and development. *Biochemical Journal* 371, 653–661.
- De La Rosa, J., Ostrowski, J., Hryniewicz, M.M., Kredich, N.M., Kotb, M., LeGros, H.L., jr, Valentine, M. and Geller, A.M. (1995). Chromosomal localization and catalytic properties of the recombinant α subunit of human lymphocyte methionine adenosyltransferase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **270**, 21860–21868.
- Devor, E.J. and Waziri, R. (1993). A familial/genetic study of plasma serine and glycine concentrations. *Biology of Psychiatry* 34, 221–225.
- Dias, B. and Weimer, B. (1998). Purification and characterization of Lmethionine γ-lyase from *Brevibacterium linens* BL2. *Applied Environmental Microbiology* 64, 3327–3331.
- Doelman, C.J. and Bast, A. (1990). Oxygen radicals in lung pathology. Free Radical Biology of Medicine 9, 381–400.
- Dringen, R., Kussmaul, L., Gutterer, J.M., Hirrlinger, J. and Hamprecht, B. (1999). The glutathione system of peroxide detoxification is less efficient

in neurons than in astroglial cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 72, 2523–2530.

- Duerre, J.A. (1962). Preparation and properties of S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine, S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine sulfoxide and S-ribosyl-L-homocysteine. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics **96**, 70–76.
- Duszenko, M., Ferguson, M.A., Lamont, G.S., Rifkin, M.R. and Cross, G.A. (1985). Cysteine eliminates the feeder cell requirement for cultivation of *Trypanosoma brucei* bloodstream forms *in vitro*. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 162, 1256–1263.
- Duszenko, M., Muhlstadt, K. and Broder, A. (1992). Cysteine is an essential growth factor for *Trypanosoma brucei* bloodstream forms. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **50**, 269–273.
- Edwards, M.R., Gilroy, F.V., Jimenez, B.M. and O'Sullivan, W.J. (1989). Alanine is a major end product of metabolism by *Giardia lamblia*: a proton nuclear magnetic resonance study. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **37**, 19–26.
- Eliot, A.C. and Kirsch, J.F. (2004). Pyridoxal phosphate enzymes: mechanistic, structural, and evolutionary considerations. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* **73**, 383–415.
- Ellis, K.E., Clough, B., Saldanha, J.W. and Wilson, R.J. (2001). Nifs and Sufs in malaria. *Molecular Microbiology* **41**, 973–981.
- Esaki, N. and Soda, K. (1987). L-Methionine γ-lyase from *Pseudomonas* putida and Aeromonas. Methods in Enzymology 143, 459–465.
- Fahey, R.C., Newton, G.L., Arrick, B., Overdank-Bogart, T. and Aley, S.B. (1984). *Entamoeba histolytica*: a eukaryote without glutathione metabolism. *Science* 224, 70–72.
- Fairlamb, A.H. (1989). Novel biochemical pathways in parasitic protozoa. Parasitology **99**, supplement, S93–S112.
- Fairlamb, A.H. and Cerami, A. (1992). Metabolism and functions of trypanothione in the Kinetoplastida. *Annual Review of Microbiology* **46**, 695–729.
- Fairlamb, A.H. and Henderson, G.B. (1987). Metabolism of trypanothione and glutathionylspermidine in trypanosomatids. In: *Host–Parasite Cellular and Molecular Interactions in Protozoal Infections* (K.P. Chang and D. Snary, eds). Vol. H11, pp. 29–40. Berlin: Springer-Verlag/NATO ASI Series.
- Fairlamb, A.H. and LeQuesne, S.A. (1997). Polyamine metabolism in trypanosomes. In: *Trypanosomiasis and Leishmaniasis: Biology and Control* (G. Hide, J.C. Mottram, G.H. Coombs and P.H. Holmes, eds), vol. 9, pp. 149–161. Wallingford, UK: CAB International.
- Fairlamb, A.H., Blackburn, P., Ulrich, P., Chait, B.T. and Cerami, A. (1985). Trypanothione: a novel bis(glutathionyl)spermidine cofactor for glutathione reductase in trypanosomatids. *Science* 227, 1485–1487.

- Fairlamb, A.H., Henderson, G.B., Bacchi, C.J. and Cerami, A. (1987). In vivo effects of difluoromethylornithine on trypanothione and polyamine levels in bloodstream forms of *Trypanosoma brucei*. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology 24, 185–191.
- Faleev, N.G., Troitskaya, M.V., Paskonova, E.A., Saporovslaya, M.B. and Belikov, V.M. (1996). L-Methionine γ-lyase in *Citrobacter intermedius* cells: stereochemical requirements with respect to the thiol structure. *Enzymes and Microbial Technology* **19**, 590–593.
- Fallon, H.J., Hackney, E.J. and Byrne, W.L. (1966). Serine biosynthesis in rat liver. Regulation of enzyme concentration by dietary factors. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **241**, 4157–4167.
- Fell, D.A. and Snell, K. (1988). Control analysis of mammalian serine biosynthesis. Feedback inhibition on the final step. *Biochemical Journal* 256, 97–101.
- Ferro, A.J., Barrett, A. and Shapiro, S.K. (1976). Kinetic properties and the effect of substrate analogues on 5'-methylthioadenosine nucleosidase from *Escherichia coli*. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **438**, 487–494.
- Ferro, A.J., Barrett, A. and Shapiro, S.K. (1978). 5-Methylthioribose kinase. A new enzyme involved in the formation of methionine from 5methylthioribose. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 253, 6021–6025.
- Field, J., Rosenthal, B. and Samuelson, J. (2000). Early lateral transfer of genes encoding malic enzyme acetyl-CoA synthetase and alcohol dehydrogenases from anaerobic prokaryotes to *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Molecular Microbiology* 38, 446–455.
- Finkelstein, J.D. (1974). Methionine metabolism in mammals: the biochemical basis for homocysteinuria. *Metabolism* 23, 387–398.
- Finkelstein, J.D. and Martin, J.J. (1986). Methionine metabolism in mammals. Adaptation to methionine excess. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 261, 1582–1587.
- Finkelstein, J.D., Kyle, W. and Harris, B.J. (1971). Methionine metabolism in mammals. Regulation of homocysteine methyltransferases in rat tissue. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 146, 84–92.
- Finkelstein, J.D., Kyle, W.E. and Harris, B.J. (1974). Methionine metabolism in mammals: regulatory effects of S-adenosylhomocysteine. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 165, 774–779.
- Flohe, L., Hecht, H.J. and Steinert, P. (1999). Glutathione and trypanothione in parasitic hydroperoxide metabolism. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 27, 966–984.
- Fontecave, M., Mulliez, E. and Ollagnier-de-Choudens, S. (2001). Adenosylmethionine as a source of 5'-deoxyadenosyl radicals. *Current Opinion Chemical Biology* 5, 506–511.
- Fu, P.C., Zic, V. and Ozimy, K. (1979). Studies of ethylene-forming system in rat liver extract. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **585**, 427–434.

- Fu, T.F., Rife, J.P. and Schirch, V. (2001). The role of serine hydroxymethyltransferase isozymes in one-carbon metabolism in MCF-7 cells as determined by (13)C NMR. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **393**, 42–50.
- Furfine, E.S. and Abeles, R.H. (1988). Intermediates in the conversion of 5'-S-methylthioadenosine to methionine in *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 263, 9598–9606.
- Gardner, M.J., Hall, N., Fung, E., White, O., Berriman, M., Hyman, R.W., Carlton, J.M., Pain, A., Nelson, K.E., Bowman, S., Paulsen, I.T., James, K., Eisen, J.A., Rutherford, K., Salzberg, S.L., Craig, A., Kyes, S., Chan, M.S., Nene, V., Shallom, S.J., Suh, B., Peterson, J., Angiuoli, S., Pertea, M., Allen, J., Selengut, J., Haft, D., Mather, M.W., Vaidya, A.B., Martin, D.M., Fairlamb, A.H., Fraunholz, M.J., Roos, D.S., Ralph, S.A., McFadden, G.I., Cummings, L.M., Subramanian, G.M., Mungall, C., Venter, J.C., Carucci, D.J., Hoffman, S.L., Newbold, C., Davis, R.W., Fraser, C.M. and Barrel, B. (2002). Genome sequence of the human malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum. Nature* 419, 498–511.
- Gentry-Weeks, C.R., Keith, J.M. and Thompson, J. (1993). Toxicity of Bordetella avium β-cystathionase toward MC3T3-E1 osteogenic cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 268, 7298–7314.
- Ghadirian, E., Somerfield, S.D. and Kongshavn, P.A. (1986). Susceptibility of *Entamoeba histolytica* to oxidants. *Infection and Immunity* **51**, 263–267.
- Ghoda, L.Y., Savarese, T.M., Northup, C.H., Parks, R.E., jr, Garofalo, J., Katz, L., Ellenbogen, B.B. and Bacchi, C.J. (1988). Substrate specificities of 5'-deoxy-5'-methylthioadenosine phosphorylase from *Trypanosoma* brucei brucei and mammalian cells. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasi*tology 27, 109–118.
- Giafi, C.F. and Rumsby, G. (1998). Kinetic analysis and tissue distribution of human D-glycerate dehydrogenase/glyoxylate reductase and its relevance to the diagnosis of primary hyperoxaluria type 2. *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry* 35, 104–109.
- Gillin, F.D. and Diamond, L.S. (1980a). Attachment and short-term maintenance of motility and viability of *Entamoeba histolytica* in a defined medium. *Journal of Protozoology* 27, 220–225.
- Gillin, F.D. and Diamond, L.S. (1980b). Attachment of *Entamoeba histolytica* to glass in a defined maintenance medium: specific requirement for cysteine and ascorbic acid. *Journal of Protozoology* **27**, 474–478.
- Gillin, F.D. and Diamond, L.S. (1981a). Entamoeba histolytica and Giardia lamblia: effects of cysteine and oxygen tension on trophozoite attachment to glass and survival in culture media. Experimental Parasitology 52, 9–17.
- Gillin, F.D. and Diamond, L.S. (1981b). Entamoeba histolytica and Giardia lamblia: growth responses to reducing agents. Experimental Parasitology 51, 382–391.

- Gillin, F.D. and Diamond, L.S. (1981c). Inhibition of clonal growth of *Giardia lamblia* and *Entamoeba histolytica* by metronidazole, quinacrine, and other antimicrobial agents. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* **8**, 305–316.
- Gillin, F.D. and Reiner, D.S. (1982). Attachment of the flagellate *Giardia lamblia*: role of reducing agents, serum, temperature, and ionic composition. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **2**, 369–377.
- Gillin, F.D., Reiner, D.S., Levy, R.B. and Henkart, P.A. (1984). Thiol groups on the surface of anaerobic parasitic protozoa. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **13**, 1–12.
- Giovanelli, J. (1987). Sulfur amino acids of plants: an overview. *Methods in Enzymology* **143**, 419–426.
- Goldberg, B., Yarlett, N., Sufrin, J., Lloyd, D. and Bacchi, C.J. (1997). A unique transporter of *S*-adenosylmethionine in African trypanosomes. *FASEB Journal* **11**, 256–260.
- Goldberg, B., Rattendi, D., Lloyd, D., Sufrin, J.R. and Bacchi, C.J. (1998). Effects of intermediates of methionine metabolism and nucleoside analogs on S-adenosylmethionine transport by Trypanosoma brucei brucei and a drug-resistant Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense. Biochemical Pharmacology 56, 95–103.
- Goldberg, B., Rattendi, D., Lloyd, D., Yarlett, N. and Bacchi, C.J. (1999). Kinetics of S-adenosylmethionine cellular transport and protein methylation in *Trypanosoma brucei brucei* and *Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics **364**, 13–18.
- Goldberg, B., Rattendi, D., Lloyd, D., Yarlett, N. and Bacchi, C.J. (2000). Kinetics of methionine transport and metabolism by *Trypanosoma brucei* brucei and *Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 377, 49–57.
- Gonzalez, J.C., Banerjee, R.V., Huang, S., Sumner, J.S. and Matthews, R.G. (1992). Comparison of cobalamin-independent and cobalamin-dependent methionine synthases from *Escherichia coli*: two solutions to the same chemical problem. *Biochemistry* 31, 6045–6056.
- Greenler, J.M., Sloan, J.S., Schwartz, B.W. and Becker, W.M. (1989). Isolation, characterization and sequence analysis of a full-length cDNA clone encoding NADH-dependent hydroxypyruvate reductase from cucumber. *Plant Molecular Biology* **13**, 139–150.
- Griffith, O.W. (1987). Mammalian sulfur amino acid metabolism: an overview. *Methods in Enzymology* **143**, 366–376.
- Grimble, R.F. and Grimble, G.K. (1998). Immunonutrition: role of sulfur amino acids, related amino acids, and polyamines. *Nutrition* 14, 605–610.
- Guan, J.L., Trevithick, J.E. and Hynes, R.O. (1991). Fibronectin/integrin interaction induces tyrosine phosphorylation of a 120-kDa protein. *Cell Regulation* **2**, 951–964.

- Guynn, R.W., Merrill, D.K. and Lund, K. (1986). The reactions of the phosphorylated pathway of L-serine biosynthesis: thermodynamic relationships in rat liver *in vivo*. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 245, 204–211.
- Hall, T.R., Wallin, R., Reinhart, G.D. and Hutson, S.M. (1993). Branched chain aminotransferase isoenzymes. Purification and characterization of the rat brain isoenzyme. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 268, 3092–3098.
- Han, Q., Lenz, M., Tan, Y., Xu, M., Sun, X., Tan, X., Tang, L., Miljkovic, D. and Hoffman, R.M. (1998). High expression, purification, and properties of recombinant homocysteine α -, γ -lyase. *Protein Expression and Purification* **14**, 267–274.
- Hariharan, S., Ajioka, J. and Swindle, J. (1993). Stable transformation of *Trypanosoma cruzi*: inactivation of the PUB12.5 polyubiquitin gene by targeted gene disruption. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 57, 15–30.
- Heby, O., Roberts, S.C. and Ullman, B. (2003). Polyamine biosynthetic enzymes as drug targets in parasitic protozoa. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **31**, 415–419.
- Heilbronn, J., Wilson, J. and Berger, B.J. (1999). Tyrosine aminotransferase catalyzes the final step of methionine recycling in *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. *Journal of Bacteriology* 181, 1739–1747.
- Hell, R., Bork, C., Bogdanova, N., Frolov, I. and Hauschild, R. (1994). Isolation and characterization of two cDNAs encoding for compartment specific isoforms of *O*-acetylserine (thiol) lyase from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *FEBS Letters* 351, 257–262.
- Henderson, D.M., Hanson, S., Allen, T., Wilson, K., Coulter-Karis, D.E., Greenberg, M.L., Hershfield, M.S. and Ullman, B. (1992). Cloning of the gene encoding *Leishmania donovani S*-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase, a potential target for antiparasitic chemotherapy. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 53, 169–183.
- Herbig, K., Chiang, E.P., Lee, L.R., Hills, J., Shane, B. and Stover, P.J. (2002). Cytoplasmic serine hydroxymethyltransferase mediates competition between folate-dependent deoxyribonucleotide and S-adenosylmethionine biosynthesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 38381–38389.
- Hillary, R.A. and Pegg, A.E. (2003). Decarboxylases involved in polyamine biosynthesis and their inactivation by nitric oxide. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1647, 161–166.
- Hirsch, H. and Greenberg, D.M. (1967). Studies on phosphoserine aminotransferase of sheep brain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 242, 2283–2287.
- Ho, C.L. and Saito, K. (2001). Molecular biology of the plastidic phosphorylated serine biosynthetic pathway in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Amino Acids* **20**, 243–259.

- Ho, C.L., Noji, M., Saito, M., Yamazaki, M. and Saito, K. (1998). Molecular characterization of plastidic phosphoserine aminotransferase in serine biosynthesis from *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Journal* 16, 443–452.
- Ho, C.L., Noji, M. and Saito, K. (1999a). Plastidic pathway of serine biosynthesis. Molecular cloning and expression of 3-phosphoserine phosphatase from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 11007–11012.
- Ho, C.L., Noji, M., Saito, M. and Saito, K. (1999b). Regulation of serine biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis*. Crucial role of plastidic 3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase in non-photosynthetic tissues. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 397–402.
- Hoffman, D.R., Haning, J.A. and Cornatzer, W.E. (1981). Microsomal phosphatidylethanolamine methyltransferase: inhibition by S-adenosylhomocysteine. *Lipids* 16, 561–567.
- Horne, D.W., Holloway, R.S. and Wagner, C. (1997). Transport of Sadenosylmethionine in isolated rat liver mitochondria. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 343, 201–206.
- Ikegami, F., Kamiya, M., Kuo, Y.H., Lambein, F. and Murakoshi, I. (1996). Enzymatic synthesis of two isoxazolylalanine isomers by cysteine synthases in *Lathyrus* species. *Biological Pharmaceutical Bulletins* 19, 1214–1215.
- Ito, S., Nakamura, T. and Eguchi, Y. (1976). Purification and characterization of methioninase from *Pseudomonas putida*. Journal of Biochemistry (Tokyo) 79, 1263–1272.
- Izumi, Y., Yoshida, T., Kanzaki, H., Toki, S., Miyazaki, S.S. and Yamada, H. (1990). Purification and characterization of hydroxypyruvate reductase from a serine-producing methylotroph, *Hyphomi*crobium methylovorum GM2. European Journal of Biochemistry **190**, 279–284.
- Jaeken, J., Detheux, M., Van Maldergem, L., Foulon, M., Carchon, H. and Van Schaftingen, E. (1996a). 3-Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase deficiency: an inborn error of serine biosynthesis. Archives of Disease in Childhood 74, 542–545.
- Jaeken, J., Detheux, M., Van Maldergem, L., Frijns, J.P., Alliet, P., Foulon, M., Carchon, H. and Van Schaftingen, E. (1996b). 3-Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase deficiency and 3-phosphoserine phosphatase deficiency: inborn errors of serine biosynthesis. *Journal of Inheritable Metabolic Diseases* 19, 223–226.
- Janse, C.J., Ponnudurai, T., Lensen, A.H., Meuwissen, J.H., Ramesar, J., Van der Ploeg, M. and Overdulve, J.P. (1988). DNA synthesis in gametocytes of *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Parasitology* 96, 1–7.
- Jarroll, E.L., Manning, P., Berrada, A., Hare, D. and Lindmark, D.G. (1989). Biochemistry and metabolism of *Giardia*. *Journal of Protozoology* **36**, 190–197.

- Kaiser, A.E., Gottwald, A.M., Wiersch, C.S., Maier, W.A. and Seitz, H.M. (2003). Spermidine metabolism in parasitic protozoa. A comparison to the situation in prokaryotes, viruses, plants and fungi. *Folia Parasitologia* (*Praha*) **50**, 3–18.
- Kaplan, M.M. and Flavin, M. (1966). Cystathionine γ-synthetase of *Salmonella*. Catalytic properties of a new enzyme in bacterial methionine biosynthesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **241**, 4463–4471.
- Karvonen, E., Kauppinen, L., Partanen, T. and Poso, H. (1985). Irreversible inhibition of putrescine-stimulated *S*-adenosyl-L-methionine decarboxylase by Berenil and pentamidine. *Biochemical Journal* 231, 165–169.
- Kinch, L.N., Scott, J.R., Ullman, B. and Phillips, M.A. (1999). Cloning and kinetic characterization of the *Trypanosoma cruzi S*-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **101**, 1–11.
- Kitade, Y., Kozaki, A., Miwa, T., Nakanishi, M., and Yatome, C. (2000). Synthesis of carbocyclic nucleosides and their SAH hydrolase inhibitory activities. *Nucleic Acids Symposium Series* no. 44, 111–112.
- Kitade, Y., Kojima, H., Zulfiqur, F., Yabe, S., Yamagiwa, D., Ito, Y., Nakanishi, M., Ueno, Y., Kim, H.S. and Wataya, Y. (2003). Synthesis of carbocyclic and acyclic nucleosides possessing 2-fluoroadenine derivatives and their inhibitory activities against *Plasmodium falciparum* SAH hydrolase. *Nucleic Acids Research*, supplement 3, 5–6.
- Klomp, L.W., de Koning, T.J., Malingre, H.E., van Beurden, E.A., Brink, M., Opdam, F.L., Duran, M., Jaeken, J., Pineda, M., Van Maldergem, L., Poll-The, B.T., van den Berg, I.E. and Berger, R. (2000). Molecular characterization of 3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase deficiency: a neurometabolic disorder associated with reduced L-serine biosynthesis. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 67, 1389–1399.
- Knodler, L.A., Edwards, M.R. and Schofield, P.J. (1994). The intracellular amino acid pools of *Giardia intestinalis*, *Trichomonas vaginalis*, and *Crithidia luciliae*. *Experimental Parasitology* **79**, 117–125.
- Knox, W.E., Herzfeld, A. and Hudson, J. (1969). Phosphoserine phosphatase distribution in normal and neoplastic rat tissues. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 132, 397–403.
- Kohashi, N., Yamaguchi, K., Hosokawa, Y., Kori, Y., Fujii, O. and Ueda, I. (1978). Dietary control of cysteine dioxygenase in rat liver. *Journal of Biochemistry (Tokyo)* 84, 159–168.
- Kojima, H., Yamaguchi, T., Kozaki, A., Nakanishi, M., Ueno, Y. and Kitade, Y. (2002). Synthesis of noraristeromycin analogues possessing SAH hydrolase inhibitory activity for the development of antimalaria agents. *Nucleic Acids Research*, supplement 2, 141–142.
- Kotb, M. and Geller, A.M. (1993). Methionine adenosyltransferase: structure and function. *Pharmacological Therapy* 59, 125–143.

- Kotb, M. and Kredich, N.M. (1985). S-adenosylmethionine synthetase from human lymphocytes. Purification and characterization. Journal of Biological Chemistry 260, 3923–3930.
- Kraus, J.P., Janosik, M., Kozich, V., Mandell, R., Shih, V., Sperandeo, M.P., Sebastio, G., de Franchis, R., Andria, G., Kluijtmans, L.A., Blom, H., Boers, G.H., Gordon, R.B., Kamoun, P., Tsai, M.Y., Kruger, W.D., Koch, H.G., Ohura, T. and Gaustadnes, M. (1999). Cystathionine β -synthase mutations in homocysteinuria. *Human Mutations* **13**, 362–375.
- Krause, T., Luersen, K., Wrenger, C., Gilberger, T.W., Muller, S. and Walter, R.D. (2000). The ornithine decarboxylase domain of the bifunctional ornithine decarboxylase/S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase of *Plasmodium falciparum*: recombinant expression and catalytic properties of two different constructs. *Biochemical Journal* 352, 287–292.
- Krauth-Siegel, R.L.and Inhoff, O. (2003). Parasite-specific trypanothione reductase as a drug target molecule. *Parasitology Research* 90, supplement 2, S77–S85.
- Kredich, N.M. and Tomkins, G.M. (1966). The enzymic synthesis of Lcysteine in *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 241, 4955–4965.
- Kredich, N.M., Hulanicka, M.D. and Hallquist, S.G. (1979). Synthesis of Lcysteine in Salmonella typhimurium. Ciba Foundation Symposium 72, 87–99.
- Kreis, W. and Hession, C. (1973). Isolation and purification of L-methionine-α-deamino-γ-mercaptomethane-lyase (L-methioninase) from *Clostridium sporogenes. Cancer Research* 33, 1862–1865.
- Krungkrai, J., Webster, H.K. and Yuthavong, Y. (1989). Characterization of cobalamin-dependent methionine synthase purified from the human malarial parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Parasitology Research* **75**, 512–517.
- LaGier, M.J., Tachezy, J., Stejskal, F., Kutisova, K. and Keithly, J.S. (2003). Mitochondrial-type iron-sulfur cluster biosynthesis genes (IscS and IscU) in the apicomplexan *Cryptosporidium parvum*. *Microbiology* **149**, 3519–3530.
- Lancero, H., Niu, J. and Johnson, P.W. (1996). Exposure of periodontal ligament cells to methyl mercaptan reduces intracellular pH and inhibits cell migration. *Journal of Dental Research* 75, 1994–2002.
- Larsson, C. and Albertsson, E. (1979). Enzymes related to serine synthesis in spinach chloroplasts. *Physiologia Plantarum* **45**, 7–10.
- Lawrence, F., Derbecourt, T. and Robert-Gero, M. (1998). Proton-ATPase activities involved in the uptake of an S-adenosylmethionine analogue. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 92, 99–109.
- LeGros, H.L., jr, Halim, A.B., Geller, A.M. and Kotb, M. (2000). Cloning, expression, and functional characterization of the β regulatory subunit of

human methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT II). *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **275**, 2359–2366.

- Leustek, T., Martin, M.N., Bick, J.A. and Davies, J.P. (2000). Pathways and regulation of sulfur metabolism revealed through molecular and genetic studies. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 51, 141–165.
- Lin, H.B., Falchetto, R., Mosca, P.J., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D.F. and Hamlin, J.L. (1996). Mimosine targets serine hydroxymethyltransferase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 271, 2548–2556.
- Lockwood, B.C. and Coombs, G.H. (1991). Purification and characterization of methionine γ-lyase from *Trichomonas vaginalis*. *Biochemical Journal* **279**, 675–682.
- Loftus, B., Anderson, I., Davies, R., Alismark, U.C.M., Samuelson, J., Amedeo, P., Roncaglia, P., Berriman, M., Hirt, R.P., Mann, B.J., Nozaki, T., Suh, B., Pop, M., Duchene, M., Ackers, J., Tannich, E., Leippe, M., Hofer, M., Bruchhaus, I., Willhoeft, U., Bhattacharya, A., Chillingworth, T., Churcher, C., Hance, Z., Harris, B., Harris, D., Jagels, K., Moule, S., Mungall, K., Ormond, D., Squares, R., Whitehead, S., Guill, N., Gilchrist, C., Stroup, S.E., Bhattacharya, S., Lohia, A., Foster, P.G., Sicheritz-Ponten, T., Weber, C., Singh, U., Mukherjee, C., Petri, W.A.J., Clark, C.G., Embley, T.M., Barrell, B., Fraser, C.M. and Hall, N. (2005). The genome of the protist parasite *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Nature* 433, 865–868.
- Lujan, H.D. and Nash, T.E. (1994). The uptake and metabolism of cysteine by *Giardia lamblia* trophozoites. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* **41**, 169–175.
- Lu, S.C. (2000). S-adenosylmethionine. International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology 32, 391–395.
- Luo, G.X. and Horowitz, P.M. (1994). The sulfurtransferase activity and structure of rhodanese are affected by site-directed replacement of Arg-186 or Lys-249. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **269**, 8220–8225.
- Mai, Z., Ghosh, S., Frisardi, M., Rosenthal, B., Rogers, R. and Samuelson, J. (1999). Hsp60 is targeted to a cryptic mitochondrion-derived organelle ('crypton') in the microaerophilic protozoan parasite *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**, 2198–2205.
- Marchitto, K.S. and Ferro, A.J. (1985). The metabolism of 5'-methylthioadenosine and 5-methylthioribose 1-phosphate in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of General Microbiology 131, 2153–2164.
- Marton, L.J. and Pegg, A.E. (1995). Polyamines as targets for therapeutic intervention. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* **35**, 55–91.
- Maruyama, A., Ishizawa, K., Takagi, T. and Esashi, Y. (1998). Cytosolic β cyanoalanine synthase activity attributed to cysteine synthases in cocklebur seeds. Purification and characterization of cytosolic cysteine synthases. *Plant Cell Physiology* **39**, 671–680.

- Mato, J.M., Corrales, F., Martin-Duce, A., Ortiz, P., Pajares, M.A. and Cabrero, C. (1990). Mechanisms and consequences of the impaired transsulphuration pathway in liver disease: Part I. Biochemical implications. *Drugs* 40, supplement 3, 58–64.
- McKie, A.E., Edlind, T., Walker, J., Mottram, J.C. and Coombs, G.H. (1998). The primitive protozoon *Trichomonas vaginalis* contains two methionine γ -lyase genes that encode members of the γ -family of pyridoxal 5'-phosphate-dependent enzymes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **273**, 5549–5556.
- McLaughlin, J. and Aley, S. (1985). The biochemistry and functional morphology of the *Entamoeba*. Journal of Protozoology **32**, 221–240.
- Mehlotra, R.K. (1996). Antioxidant defense mechanisms in parasitic protozoa. Critical Reviews in Microbiology 22, 295–314.
- Mehta, P.K. and Christen, P. (1998). The molecular evolution of pyridoxal-5'-phosphate-dependent enzymes. *Advances in Enzymology and Related Areas of Molecular Biology* **74**, 129–184.
- Meister, A. and Anderson, M.E. (1983). Glutathione. Annual Review of Biochemistry 52, 711–760.
- Merali, S., Vargas, D., Franklin, M. and Clarkson, A.B., jr (2000). S-adenosylmethionine and *Pneumocystis carinii*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275, 14958–14963.
- Miller, J.W. (1999). Homocysteine and Alzheimer's disease. Nutrition Review 57, 126–129.
- Miller, R.L. and Toorchen, D.P. (1988). MTA phosphorylase in protozoa: a potential target for chemotherapeutic attack. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 250, 211–218.
- Mingorance, J., Alvarez, L., Pajares, M.A. and Mato, J.M. (1997). Recombinant rat liver S-adenosyl-L-methionine synthetase tetramers and dimers are in equilibrium. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 29, 485–491.
- Minotto, L., Ko, G.A., Edwards, M.R. and Bagnara, A.S. (1998). *Trichomonas vaginalis*: expression and characterisation of recombinant S-adenosylhomocysteinase. *Experimental Parasitology* **90**, 175–180.
- Motoshima, H., Inagaki, K., Kumasaka, T., Furuichi, M., Inoue, H., Tamura, T., Esaki, N., Soda, K., Tanaka, N., Yamamoto, M. and Tanaka, H. (2000). Crystal structure of the pyridoxal 5'-phosphate dependent L-methionine γ-lyase from *Pseudomonas putida*. *Journal of Biochemistry* (*Tokyo*) 128, 349–354.
- Mudd, S.H. and Poole, J.R. (1975). Labile methyl balances for normal humans on various dietary regimens. *Metabolism* 24, 721–735.
- Mudd, S.H., Skovby, F., Levy, H.L., Pettigrew, K.D., Wilcken, B., Pyeritz, R.E., Andria, G., Boers, G.H., Bromberg, I.L., Cerone, R., *et al.* (1985). The natural history of homocysteinuria due to cystathionine β -synthase deficiency. *American Journal of Human Genetics* **37**, 1–31.

- Muller, M. (1988). Energy metabolism of protozoa without mitochondria. Annual Review of Microbiology 42, 465–488.
- Muller, M. (1992). Energy metabolism of ancestral eukaryotes: a hypothesis based on the biochemistry of amitochondriate parasitic protists. *Biosystems* 28, 33–40.
- Muller, S., Da'dara, A., Luersen, K., Wrenger, C., Das Gupta, R., Madhubala, R. and Walter, R.D. (2000). In the human malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*, polyamines are synthesized by a bifunctional ornithine decarboxylase, S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275, 8097–8102.
- Muller, S., Coombs, G.H. and Walter, R.D. (2001). Targeting polyamines of parasitic protozoa in chemotherapy. *Trends in Parasitology* **17**, 242–249.
- Muller, S., Liebau, E., Walter, R.D. and Krauth-Siegel, R.L. (2003). Thiolbased redox metabolism of protozoan parasites. *Trends in Parasitology* 19, 320–328.
- Murphy, J.T. and Spence, K.D. (1972). Transport of S-adenosylmethionine in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Journal of Bacteriology 109, 499–504.
- Myers, R.W., Wray, J.W., Fish, S. and Abeles, R.H. (1993). Purification and characterization of an enzyme involved in oxidative carbon–carbon bond cleavage reactions in the methionine salvage pathway of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Journal of Biological Chemistry **268**, 24785–24791.
- Nagai, S. and Flavin, M. (1967). Acetylhomoserine. An intermediate in the fungal biosynthesis of methionine. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 242, 3884–3895.
- Nakamura, T., Kon, Y., Iwahashi, H. and Eguchi, Y. (1983). Evidence that thiosulfate assimilation by *Salmonella typhimurium* is catalyzed by cysteine synthase B. *Journal of Bacteriology* **156**, 656–662.
- Nakanishi, M., Iwata, A., Yatome, C. and Kitade, Y. (2001). Purification and properties of recombinant *Plasmodium falciparum S*-adenosyl-Lhomocysteine hydrolase. *Journal of Biochemistry (Tokyo)* 129, 101–105.
- Nakayama, K., Awata, S., Zhang, J., Ebinuma, H., Mariyama, T. and Kodama, H. (2000). Contents of sulfur amino acids and cystathionine β -synthase, and γ -lyase activities in various tissues from *Agkistroden blomhoffi* (mamushi). *Physiological Chemistry and Physical Medicine NMR* **32**, 21–26.
- Nakayama, T., Esaki, N., Sugie, K., Beresov, T.T., Tanaka, H. and Soda, K. (1984). Purification of bacterial L-methionine γ-lyase. *Analytical Biochemistry* **138**, 421–424.
- Nandi, D.L., Horowitz, P.M. and Westley, J. (2000). Rhodanese as a thioredoxin oxidase. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Bi*ology 32, 465–473.
- Ng, W. and Tonzetich, J. (1984). Effect of hydrogen sulfide and methyl mercaptan on the permeability of oral mucosa. *Journal of Dental Research* **63**, 994–997.

- Nirmalan, N., Wang, P., Sims, P.F. and Hyde, J.E. (2002). Transcriptional analysis of genes encoding enzymes of the folate pathway in the human malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Molecular Microbiology* 46, 179–190.
- Nishimura, S., Taya, Y., Kuchino, Y. and Oashi, Z. (1974). Enzymatic synthesis of 3-(3-amino-3-carboxypropyl)uridine in *Escherichia coli* phenylalanine transfer RNA: transfer of the 3-amino-acid-3-carboxypropyl group from S-adenosylmethionine. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 57, 702–708.
- Nixon, J.E., Wang, A., Field, J., Morrison, H.G., McArthur, A.G., Sogin, M.L., Loftus, B.J. and Samuelson, J. (2002). Evidence for lateral transfer of genes encoding ferredoxins, nitroreductases, NADH oxidase, and alcohol dehydrogenase 3 from anaerobic prokaryotes to *Giardia lamblia* and *Entamoeba histolytica. Eukaryotic Cell* 1, 181–190.
- Noctor, G., Arisi, A.C., Jouanin, L. and Foyer, C.H. (1998). Manipulation of glutathione and amino acid biosynthesis in the chloroplast. *Plant Physiology* **118**, 471–482.
- Noji, M. and Saito, K. (2002). Molecular and biochemical analysis of serine acetyltransferase and cysteine synthase towards sulfur metabolic engineering in plants. *Amino Acids* 22, 231–243.
- Noji, M., Murakoshi, I. and Saito, K. (1994). Molecular cloning of a cysteine synthase cDNA from *Citrullus vulgaris* (watermelon) by genetic complementation in an *E. coli* Cys-auxotroph. *Molecular and General Genetics* **244**, 57–66.
- Noji, M., Inoue, K., Kimura, N., Gouda, A. and Saito, K. (1998). Isoform-dependent differences in feedback regulation and subcellular localization of serine acetyltransferase involved in cysteine biosynthesis from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273, 32739–32745.
- Nozaki, T., Asai, T., Kobayashi, S., Ikegami, F., Noji, M., Saito, K. and Takeuchi, T. (1998). Molecular cloning and characterization of the genes encoding two isoforms of cysteine synthase in the enteric protozoan parasite *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 97, 33–44.
- Nozaki, T., Asai, T., Sanchez, L.B., Kobayashi, S., Nakazawa, M. and Takeuchi, T. (1999). Characterization of the gene encoding serine acetyl-transferase, a regulated enzyme of cysteine biosynthesis from the protist parasites *Entamoeba histolytica* and *Entamoeba dispar*. Regulation and possible function of the cysteine biosynthetic pathway in *Entamoeba. Journal of Biological Chemistry* **274**, 32445–32452.
- Nozaki, T., Tokoro, M., Imada, M., Saito, Y., Abe, Y., Shigeta, Y. and Takeuchi, T. (2000). Cloning and biochemical characterization of genes encoding two isozymes of cysteine synthase from *Entamoeba dispar*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **107**, 129–133.

- Nozaki, T., Shigeta, Y., Saito-Nakano, Y., Imada, M. and Kruger, W.D. (2001). Characterization of transsulfuration and cysteine biosynthetic pathways in the protozoan hemoflagellate, *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Isolation and molecular characterization of cystathionine β -synthase and serine acetyltransferase from *Trypanosoma*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**, 6516–6523.
- Ogasawara, N., Nakai, S. and Yoshikawa, H. (1994). Systematic sequencing of the 180 kilobase region of the *Bacillus subtilis* chromosome containing the replication origin. *DNA Research* **1**, 1–14.
- Olson, J.W., Agar, J.N., Johnson, M.K. and Maier, R.J. (2000). Characterization of the NifU and NifS Fe–S cluster formation proteins essential for viability in *Helicobacter pylori*. *Biochemistry* **39**, 16213–16219.
- Ondarza, R.N., Iturbe, A., Hurtado, G., Tamayo, E., Ondarza, M. and Hernandez, E. (1999). *Entamoeba histolytica*: a eukaryote with trypanothione metabolism instead of glutathione metabolism. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry* **30**, 47–52.
- Ono, B., Kijima, K., Ishii, N., Kawato, T., Matsuda, A., Paszewski, A. and Shinoda, S. (1996). Regulation of sulphate assimilation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Yeast* 12, 1153–1162.
- Ostrowski, J., Jagura-Burdzy, G. and Kredich, N.M. (1987). DNA sequences of the cysB regions of *Salmonella typhimurium* and *Escherichia coli. Journal of Biological Chemistry* **262**, 5999–6005.
- Parsons, B.L. and Mattoo, A.K. (1991). Wound-regulated accumulation of specific transcripts in tomato fruit: interactions with fruit development, ethylene and light. *Plant Molecular Biology* 17, 453–464.
- Parsons, R.B., Waring, R.H., Williams, A.C. and Ramsden, D.B. (2001). Cysteine dioxygenase: regional localisation of protein and mRNA in rat brain. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 65, 78–84.
- Pegg, A.E. (1988). Polyamine metabolism and its importance in neoplastic growth and a target for chemotherapy. *Cancer Research* 48, 759–774.
- Pegg, A.E. and Williams-Ashman, H.G. (1969). On the role of S-adenosyl-Lmethionine in the biosynthesis of spermidine by rat prostate. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 244, 682–693.
- Pepplinkhuizen, L., Bruinvels, J., Blom, W. and Moleman, P. (1980). Schizophrenia-like psychosis caused by a metabolic disorder. *Lancet* 1, 454–456.
- Perez-Pertejo, Y., Reguera, R.M., Villa, H., Garcia-Estrada, C., Balana-Fouce, R., Pajares, M.A. and Ordonez, D. (2003). *Leishmania donovani* methionine adenosyltransferase. Role of cysteine residues in the recombinant enzyme. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 270, 28–35.
- Persson, K., Aslund, L., Grahn, B., Hanke, J. and Heby, O. (1998). *Tryp-anosoma cruzi* has not lost its S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase: characterization of the gene and the encoded enzyme. *Biochemical Journal* 333, 527–537.

- Phelouzat, M.A., Basselin, M., Lawrence, F. and Robert-Gero, M. (1995). Sinefungin shares AdoMet-uptake system to enter *Leishmania donovani* promastigotes. *Biochemical Journal* 305, 133–137.
- Picton, R., Eggo, M.C., Merrill, G.A., Langman, M.J. and Singh, S. (2002). Mucosal protection against sulphide: importance of the enzyme rhodanese. *Gut* 50, 201–205.
- Pieniazek, N., Stepien, P.P. and Paszewski, A. (1973). An *Aspergillus nidulans* mutant lacking cystathionine β -synthase: identity of L-serine sulfhydrylase with cystathionine β -synthase and its distinctness from *O*acetyl-L-serine sulfhydrylase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **297**, 37–47.
- Poso, H., Hannonen, P., Himberg, J.J. and Janne, J. (1976). Adenosylmethionine decarboxylase from various organisms: relation of the putrescine activation of the enzyme to the ability of the organism to synthesize spermine. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 68, 227–234.
- Rahlfs, S., Schirmer, R.H. and Becker, K. (2002). The thioredoxin system of *Plasmodium falciparum* and other parasites. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 59, 1024–1041.
- Rathaur, S. and Walter, R.D. (1987). *Plasmodium falciparum: S*-adenosyl-Lmethionine decarboxylase. *Experimental Parasitology* **63**, 227–232.
- Rathod, P.K., Leffers, N.P. and Young, R.D. (1992). Molecular targets of 5-fluoroorotate in the human malaria parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 36, 704–711.
- Ratkay, L.G., Waterfield, J.D. and Tonzetich, J. (1995). Stimulation of enzyme and cytokine production by methyl mercaptan in human gingival fibroblast and monocyte cell cultures. *Archives of Oral Biology* **40**, 337–344.
- Ravanel, S., Gakiere, B., Job, D. and Douce, R. (1998). The specific features of methionine biosynthesis and metabolism in plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 95, 7805–7812.
- Rea, P.A., Li, Z.S., Lu, Y.P., Drozdowicz, Y.M. and Martinoia, E. (1998). From vacuolar Gs-X pumps to multispecific Abc transporters. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 49, 727–760.
- Reeves, R.E. (1984). Metabolism of *Entamoeba histolytica* Schaudinn, 1903. *Advances in Parasitology* 23, 105–142.
- Reeves, R.E., Warren, L.G., Susskind, B. and Lo, H.S. (1977). An energyconserving pyruvate-to-acetate pathway in *Entamoeba histolytica*. Pyruvate synthase and a new acetate thiokinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 252, 726–731.
- Reeves, R.E., Guthrie, J.D. and Lobelle-Rich, P. (1980). Entamoeba histolytica: isolation of ferredoxin. Experimental Parasitology 49, 83–88.
- Reguera, R.M., Perez-Pertejo, Y., Ordonez, C., Cubria, J.C., Tekwani, B.L., Balana-Fouce, R. and Ordonez, D. (1999). S-adenosylmethionine

synthesis in *Leishmania infantum* promastigotes. *Cell Biology International* 23, 579–583.

- Reguera, R.M., Balana-Fouce, R., Perez-Pertejo, Y., Fernandez, F.J., Garcia-Estrada, C., Cubria, J.C., Ordonez, C. and Ordonez, D. (2002). Cloning expression and characterization of methionine adenosyltransferase in *Leishmania infantum* promastigotes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 3158–3167.
- Renwick, S.B., Snell, K. and Baumann, U. (1998). The crystal structure of human cytosolic serine hydroxymethyltransferase: a target for cancer chemotherapy. *Structure* 6, 1105–1116.
- Riscoe, M.K., Ferro, A.J. and Fitchen, J.H. (1988). Analogs of 5-methylthioribose, a novel class of antiprotozoal agents. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **32**, 1904–1906.
- Riscoe, M.K., Ferro, A.J. and Fitchen, J.H. (1989). Methionine recycling as a target for antiprotozoal drug development. *Parasitology Today* **5**, 330–333.
- Roberts, S.C., Scott, J., Gasteier, J.E., Jiang, Y., Brooks, B., Jardim, A., Carter, N.S., Heby, O. and Ullman, B. (2002). S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase from *Leishmania donovani*. Molecular, genetic, and biochemical characterization of null mutants and overproducers. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 5902–5909.
- Rodriguez, M.A., Hidalgo, M.E., Sanchez, T. and Orozco, E. (1996). Cloning and characterization of the *Entamoeba histolytica* pyruvate:ferredoxin oxidoreductase gene. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 78, 273–277.
- Romer, S., d'Harlingue, A., Camara, B., Schantz, R. and Kuntz, M. (1992). Cysteine synthase from *Capsicum annuum* chromoplasts. Characterization and cDNA cloning of an up-regulated enzyme during fruit development. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 267, 17966–17970.
- Rosenblum, I.Y., Antkowiak, D.H., Sallach, H.J., Flanders, L.E. and Fahien, L.A. (1971). Purification and regulatory properties of beef liver Dglycerate dehydrogenase. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 144, 375–383.
- Rowsell, E.V., Snell, K., Carnie, J.A. and Al-Tai, A.H. (1969). Liver-Lalanine-glyoxylate and L-serine-pyruvate aminotransferase activities: an apparent association with gluconeogenesis. *Biochemical Journal* **115**, 1071–1073.
- Ruenwongsa, P., Luanvararat, M. and O'Sullivan, W.J. (1989). Serine hydroxymethyltransferase from pyrimethamine-sensitive and -resistant strains of *Plasmodium chabaudi*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitolo*gy 33, 265–271.
- Saito, K., Miura, N., Yamazaki, M., Hirano, H. and Murakoshi, I. (1992). Molecular cloning and bacterial expression of cDNA encoding a plant

cysteine synthase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* **89**, 8078–8082.

- Saito, K., Tatsuguchi, K., Murakoshi, I. and Hirano, H. (1993). cDNA cloning and expression of cysteine synthase B localized in chloroplasts of *Spinacia oleracea. FEBS Letters* **324**, 247–252.
- Saito, K., Yokoyama, H., Noji, M. and Murakoshi, I. (1995). Molecular cloning and characterization of a plant serine acetyltransferase playing a regulatory role in cysteine biosynthesis from watermelon. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270, 16321–16326.
- Saito, K., Takagi, Y., Ling, H.C., Takahashi, H. and Noji, M. (1997). Molecular cloning, characterization and expression of cDNA encoding phosphoserine aminotransferase involved in phosphorylated pathway of serine biosynthesis from spinach. *Plant Molecular Biology* 33, 359–366.
- Sanchez-Fernandez, R., Fricker, M., Corben, L.B., White, N.S., Sheard, N., Leaver, C.J., Van Montagu, M., Inze, D. and May, M.J. (1997). Cell proliferation and hair tip growth in the *Arabidopsis* root are under mechanistically different forms of redox control. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 94, 2745–2750.
- Saski, R. and Pizer, L.I. (1975). Regulatory properties of purified 3phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase from *Bacillus subtilis*. *European Journal of Biochemistry* **51**, 415–427.
- Schwartz, M. and Shapiro, S.K. (1954). The mechanism of utilization of thiomethyladenosine in the biosynthesis of methionine. *Journal of Bacteriology* 67, 98–102.
- Seeber, F. (2002). Biogenesis of iron-sulphur clusters in amitochondriate and apicomplexan protists. *International Journal for Parasitology* **32**, 1207–1217.
- Sekowska, A., Kung, H.F. and Danchin, A. (2000). Sulfur metabolism in Escherichia coli and related bacteria: facts and fiction. Journal of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology 2, 145–177.
- Sherman, I.W. (1979). Biochemistry of *Plasmodium* (malarial parasites). *Microbiology Reviews* **43**, 453–495.
- Shuto, S., Minakawa, N., Niizuma, S., Kim, H.S., Wataya, Y. and Matsuda, A. (2002). New neplanocin analogues. 12. Alternative synthesis and antimalarial effect of (6'R)-6'-C-methylneplanocin A, a potent AdoHcy hydrolase inhibitor. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 45, 748–751.
- Sjoerdsma, A. and Schechter, P.J. (1984). Chemotherapeutic implications of polyamine biosynthesis inhibition. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapy* 35, 287–300.
- Slapeta, J., Stejskal, F. and Keithly, J.S. (2003). Characterization of Sadenosylmethionine synthetase in Cryptosporidium parvum (Apicomplexa). FEMS Microbiology Letters 225, 271–277.
- Slaughter, J.C. and Davies, D.D. (1968). Inhibition of 3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase by L-serine. *Biochemical Journal* **109**, 749–755.

- Smeijsters, L.J., Zijlstra, N.M., de Vries, E., Franssen, F.F., Janse, C.J. and Overdulve, J.P. (1994). The effect of S-9-(3-hydroxy-2-phosphonylmethoxypropyl) adenine on nuclear and organellar DNA synthesis in erythrocytic schizogony in malaria. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 67, 115–124.
- Smith, K., Borges, A., Ariyanayagam, M.R. and Fairlamb, A.H. (1995). Glutathionylspermidine metabolism in *Escherichia coli*. *Biochemical Journal* 312, 465–469.
- Snell, K. (1984). Enzymes of serine metabolism in normal, developing and neoplastic rat tissues. Advances in Enzyme Regulation 22, 325–400.
- Snell, K. (1986). The duality of pathways for serine biosynthesis is a fallacy. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **11**, 241–243.
- Snell, K. and Fell, D.A. (1990). Metabolic control analysis of mammalian serine metabolism. *Advances in Enzyme Regulation* **30**, 13–32.
- Snell, K., Natsumeda, Y., Eble, J.N., Glover, J.L. and Weber, G. (1988). Enzymic imbalance in serine metabolism in human colon carcinoma and rat sarcoma. *British Journal of Cancer* **57**, 87–90.
- Soda, K. (1987). Microbial sulfur amino acids: an overview. *Methods in Enzymology* **143**, 453–459.
- Steegborn, C., Clausen, T., Sondermann, P., Jacob, U., Worbs, M., Marinkovic, S., Huber, R. and Wahl, M.C. (1999). Kinetics and inhibition of recombinant human cystathionine γ -lyase. Toward the rational control of transsulfuration. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **274**, 12675–12684.
- Steele, R.D. and Benevenga, N.J. (1979). The metabolism of 3-methylthiopropionate in rat liver homogenates. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 254, 8885–8890.
- Steenkamp, D.J. (2002). Trypanosomal antioxidants and emerging aspects of redox regulation in the trypanosomatids. *Antioxidative Redox Signaling* 4, 105–121.
- Steiger, R.F. and Steiger, E. (1977). Cultivation of *Leishmania donovani* and *Leishmania braziliensis* in defined media: nutritional requirements. *Journal of Protozoology* 24, 437–441.
- Stepien, P.P. and Pieniazek, N.J. (1973). The use of the L-serine sulfhydrylase assay for the estimation of cystathionine β -synthase. Analytical Biochemistry 54, 294–299.
- Stipanuk, M.H. (1986). Metabolism of sulfur-containing amino acids. Annual Review of Nutrition 6, 179–209.
- Stipanuk, M.H. (2004). Sulfur amino acid metabolism: pathways for production and removal of homocysteine and cysteine. *Annual Review of Nutrition* 24, 539–577.
- Stramentinoli, G. (1987). Pharmacologic aspects of *S*-adenosylmethionine. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. *American Journal of Medicine* **83**, 35–42.

- Sufrin, J.R., Meshnick, S.R., Spiess, A.J., Garofalo-Hannan, J., Pan, X.Q. and Bacchi, C.J. (1995). Methionine recycling pathways and antimalarial drug design. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **39**, 2511–2515.
- Sugimoto, E. and Pizer, L.I. (1968). The mechanism of end product inhibition of serine biosynthesis. I. Purification and kinetics of phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 243, 2081–2089.
- Sun, H., Gao, J., Ferrington, D.A., Biesiada, H., Williams, T.D. and Squier, T.C. (1999). Repair of oxidized calmodulin by methionine sulfoxide reductase restores ability to activate the plasma membrane Ca-ATPase. *Biochemistry* 38, 105–112.
- Tabor, C.W. and Tabor, H. (1984). Polyamines. Annual Review of Biochemistry 53, 749–790.
- Tachezy, J., Sanchez, L.B. and Muller, M. (2001). Mitochondrial type iron-sulfur cluster assembly in the amitochondriate eukaryotes *Trichomonas vaginalis* and *Giardia intestinalis*, as indicated by the phylogeny of IscS. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 18, 1919–1928.
- Tachibana, H., Ihara, S., Kobayashi, S., Kaneda, Y., Takeuchi, T. and Watanabe, Y. (1991). Differences in genomic DNA sequences between pathogenic and nonpathogenic isolates of *Entamoeba histolytica* identified by polymerase chain reaction. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 10, 2234–2239.
- Tada, K., Kure, S., Takayanagi, M., Kume, A. and Narisawa, K. (1992). Non-ketotic hyperglycinemia: a life-threatening disorder in the neonate. *Early Human Development* 29, 75–81.
- Takeuchi, T., Weinbach, E.C., Gottlieb, M. and Diamond, L.S. (1979). Mechanism of L-serine oxidation in *Entamoeba histolytica*. Comparative Biochemical Physiology [B] 62, 281–285.
- Takusagawa, F., Kamitori, S. and Markham, G.D. (1996). Structure and function of S-adenosylmethionine synthetase: crystal structures of Sadenosylmethionine synthetase with ADP, BrADP, and PPi at 28 angstroms resolution. *Biochemistry* 35, 2586–2596.
- Tamayo, E.M., Iturbe, A., Hernandez, E., Hurtado, G., Gutierrez, X.M.M., Rosales, J.L., Woolery, M. and Ondarza, R.N. (2005). Trypanothione reductase from the human parasite *Entamoeba histolytica*: a new drug target. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry* **41**, 105–115.
- Tekwani, B.L., Bacchi, C.J. and Pegg, A.E. (1992a). Putrescine activated Sadenosylmethionine decarboxylase from Trypanosoma brucei brucei. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry 117, 53–61.
- Tekwani, B.L., Bacchi, C.J., Secrist, J.A., III and Pegg, A.E. (1992b). Irreversible inhibition of S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase of *Trypano*soma brucei brucei by S-adenosylmethionine analogues. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 44, 905–911.

- Thomas, D. and Surdin-Kerjan, Y. (1997). Metabolism of sulfur amino acids in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* **61**, 503–532.
- Thong, K.W. and Coombs, G.H. (1985). L-Serine sulphydrase activity in trichomonads. *IRCS Medical Science* 13, 495–496.
- Thong, K.W. and Coombs, G.H. (1987). *Trichomonas* species: homocysteine desulphurase and serine sulphydrase activities. *Experimental Parasitology* 63, 143–151.
- Thong, K.W., Coombs, G.H. and Sanderson, B.E. (1985). S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase activity in *Trichomonas vaginalis* and other trichomonads. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **17**, 35–44.
- Thong, K.W., Coombs, G.H. and Sanderson, B.E. (1987a). S-adenosylmethionine and transmethylation reactions in trichomonads. *Parasitology Research* **73**, 193–198.
- Thong, K.W., Coombs, G.H. and Sanderson, B.E. (1987b). L-Methionine catabolism in trichomonads. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 23, 223–231.
- Tokoro, M., Asai, T., Kobayashi, S., Takeuchi, T. and Nozaki, T. (2003). Identification and characterization of two isoenzymes of methionine γ lyase from *Entamoeba histolytica*: a key enzyme of sulfur-amino acid degradation in an anaerobic parasitic protist that lacks forward and reverse trans-sulfuration pathways. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**, 42717–42727.
- Torian, B.E., Flores, B.M., Stroeher, V.L., Hagen, F.S. and Stamm, W.E. (1990). cDNA sequence analysis of 29-kDa cysteine-rich surface antigen of pathogenic *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 87, 6358–6362.
- Tovar, J., Fischer, A. and Clark, C.G. (1999). The mitosome, a novel organelle related to mitochondria in the amitochondrial parasite *Entamoe*ba histolytica. Molecular Microbiology 32, 1013–1021.
- Tovar, J., Leon-Avila, G., Sanchez, L.B., Sutak, R., Tachezy, J., Van Der Giezen, M., Hernandez, M., Muller, M. and Lucocq, J.M. (2003). Mitochondrial remnant organelles of *Giardia* function in iron–sulphur protein maturation. *Nature* 426, 172–176.
- Townsend, D.M., Tew, K.D. and Tapiero, H. (2004). Sulfur containing amino acids and human disease. *Biomedical Pharmacotherapy* **58**, 47–55.
- Trackman, P.C. and Abeles, R.H. (1983). Methionine synthesis from 5'-Smethylthioadenosine. Resolution of enzyme activities and identification of 1-phospho-5-S methylthioribulose. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 258, 6717–6720.
- Trager, W., Robert-Gero, M. and Lederer, E. (1978). Antimalarial activity of *S*-isobutyl adenosine against *Plasmodium falciparum* in culture. *FEBS Letters* **85**, 264–266.

- Trager, W., Tershakovec, M., Chiang, P.K. and Cantoni, G.L. (1980). *Plasmodium falciparum*: antimalarial activity in culture of sinefungin and other methylation inhibitors. *Experimental Parasitology* **50**, 83–89.
- Tucker, A.M., Winkler, H.H., Driskell, L.O. and Wood, D.O. (2003). Sadenosylmethionine transport in *Rickettsia prowazekii*. Journal of Bacteriology 185, 3031–3035.
- Turrens, J.F. (2004). Oxidative stress and antioxidant defenses: a target for the treatment of diseases caused by parasitic protozoa. *Molecular Aspects* of Medicine 25, 211–220.
- Upcroft, J.A. and Upcroft, P. (1999). Keto-acid oxidoreductases in the anaerobic protozoa. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology* **46**, 447–449.
- Uren, J. (1987). Cystathionine β -lyase from *Escherichia coli*. Methods in *Enzymology* **143**, 483–486.
- Van der Straeten, D., Van Wiemeersch, L., Goodman, H.M. and Van Montagu, M. (1990). Cloning and sequence of two different cDNAs encoding 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate synthase in tomato. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 87, 4859–4863.
- Van Nieuwenhove, S., Schechter, P.J., Declercq, J., Bone, G., Burke, J. and Sjoerdsma, A. (1985). Treatment of gambiense sleeping sickness in the Sudan with oral DFMO ($DL-\alpha$ -difluoromethylornithine), an inhibitor of ornithine decarboxylase; first field trial. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **79**, 692–698.
- Van Schaftingen, E., Draye, J.P. and Van Hoof, F. (1989). Coenzyme specificity of mammalian liver D-glycerate dehydrogenase. *European Journal of Biochemistry* **186**, 355–359.
- Vigneaud, V.D. (1952). *A Trail of Research*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Wadman, S.K., Duran, M., Ketting, D., Bruinvis, L., De Bree, P.K., Kamerling, J.P., Gerwig, G.J., Vliegenthart, J.F., Przyrembel, H., Becker, K. and Bremer, H.J. (1976). D-Glyceric acidemia in a patient with chronic metabolic acidosis. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 71, 477–484.
- Wald, D.S., Law, M. and Morris, J.K. (2002). Homocysteine and cardiovascular disease: evidence on causality from a meta-analysis. *British Medical Journal* 325, 1202.
- Walker, J. and Barrett, J. (1997). Parasite sulphur amino acid metabolism. International Journal for Parasitology 27, 883–897.
- Walker, R.D. and Duerre, J.A. (1975). S-adenosylhomocysteine metabolism in various species. *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry* **53**, 312–319.
- Walsh, D.A. and Sallach, H.J. (1965). Purification and properties of chicken liver D-3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase. *Biochemistry* **4**, 1076–1085.
- Wang, C.C. (1995). Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic approaches to the treatment of African trypanosomiasis. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* 35, 93–127.

- Wang, W., Cho, H.S., Kim, R., Jancarik, J., Yokota, H., Nguyen, H.H., Grigoriev, I.V., Wemmer, D.E. and Kim, S.H. (2002). Structural characterization of the reaction pathway in phosphoserine phosphatase: crystallographic 'snapshots' of intermediate states. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **319**, 421–431.
- Waziri, R., Wilson, R. and Sherman, A.D. (1983). Plasma serine to cysteine ratio as a biological marker for psychosis. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 143, 69–73.
- Waziri, R., Wilcox, J., Sherman, A.D. and Mott, J. (1984). Serine metabolism and psychosis. *Psychiatry Research* 12, 121–136.
- Weimer, B., Seefeldt, K. and Dias, B. (1999). Sulfur metabolism in bacteria associated with cheese. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* **76**, 247–261.
- Weinbach, E.C. and Diamond, L.S. (1974). Entamoeba histolytica. I. Aerobic metabolism. Experimental Parasitology 35, 232–243.
- Weinbach, E.C., Takeuchi, T., Elwood Claggett, C., Inohue, F., Kon, H. and Diamond, L.S. (1980). Role of iron-sulfur proteins in the electron transport system of *Entamoeba histolytica*. Archivos de Investigacion de Medicina (Mexico) 11, 75–81.
- Whaun, J.M., Miura, G.A., Brown, N.D., Gordon, R.K. and Chiang, P.K. (1986). Antimalarial activity of neplanocin A with perturbations in the metabolism of purines, polyamines and S-adenosylmethionine. Journal of Pharmacological and Experimental Therapy 236, 277–283.
- Whitfield, C.D., Steers, E.J., jr and Weisbach, H. (1970). Purification and properties of 5-methyltetrahydropteroyltriglutamate-homocysteine transmethylase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **245**, 390–401.
- Wilson, R.J., Rangachari, K., Saldanha, J.W., Rickman, L., Buxton, R.S. and Eccleston, J.F. (2003). Parasite plastids: maintenance and functions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 358, 155–162; discussion 162–164.
- Wray, J.W. and Abeles, R.H. (1993). A bacterial enzyme that catalyzes formation of carbon monoxide. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 268, 21466–21469.
- Wray, J.W. and Abeles, R.H. (1995). The methionine salvage pathway in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and rat liver. Identification and characterization of two novel dioxygenases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270, 3147–3153.
- Wright, P.S., Byers, T.L., Cross-Doersen, D.E., McCann, P.P. and Bitonti, A.J. (1991). Irreversible inhibition of S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase in *Plasmodium falciparum*-infected erythrocytes: growth inhibition in vitro. Biochemical Pharmacology **41**, 1713–1718.
- Wullner, U., Seyfried, J., Groscurth, P., Beinroth, S., Winter, S., Gleichmann, M., Heneka, M., Loschmann, P., Schulz, J.B., Weller, M. and Klockgether, T. (1999). Glutathione depletion and neuronal cell death: the role of reactive oxygen intermediates and mitochondrial function. *Brain Research* 826, 53–62.

- Xue, H.H., Fujie, M., Sakaguchi, T., Oda, T., Ogawa, H., Kneer, N.M., Lardy, H.A. and Ichiyama, A. (1999a). Flux of the L-serine metabolism in rat liver. The predominant contribution of serine dehydratase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 16020–16027.
- Xue, H.H., Sakaguchi, T., Fujie, M., Ogawa, H. and Ichiyama, A. (1999b). Flux of the L-serine metabolism in rabbit, human, and dog livers. Substantial contributions of both mitochondrial and peroxisomal serine:pyruvate/alanine:glyoxylate aminotransferase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **274**, 16028–16033.
- Yakubu, M.A., Majumder, S. and Kierszenbaum, F. (1993). Inhibition of S-adenosyl-L-methionine (AdoMet) decarboxylase by the decarboxylated AdoMet analog 5'-([(Z)-4-amino-2-butenyl]methylamino)-5'-deoxy-adenosine (MDL 73811) decreases the capacities of *Trypanosoma cruzi* to infect and multiply within a mammalian host cell. *Journal of Parasitology* **79**, 525–532.
- Yamaguchi, K. and Hosokawa, Y. (1987). Cysteine dioxygenase. *Methods in Enzymology* 143, 395–403.
- Yarlett, N. and Bacchi, C.J. (1988a). Effect of DL-α-difluoromethylornithine on methionine cycle intermediates in *Trypanosoma brucei brucei*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **27**, 1–10.
- Yarlett, N. and Bacchi, C.J. (1988b). Effect of $DL-\alpha$ -difluoromethylornithine on polyamine synthesis and interconversion in *Trichomonas vaginalis* grown in a semi-defined medium. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **31**, 1–9.
- Yarlett, N. and Bacchi, C.J. (1994). Parasite polyamine metabolism: targets for chemotherapy. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 22, 875–879.
- Yarlett, N., Goldberg, B., Moharrami, M.A. and Bacchi, C.J. (1992). Inhibition of *Trichomonas vaginalis* ornithine decarboxylase by amino acid analogs. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 44, 243–250.
- Yarlett, N., Garofalo, J., Goldberg, B., Ciminelli, M.A., Ruggiero, V., Sufrin, J.R. and Bacchi, C.J. (1993). S-adenosylmethionine synthetase in bloodstream *Trypanosoma brucei*. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1181, 68–76.
- Yu, Y.B., Adams, D.O. and Yang, S.F. (1979). 1-Aminocyclopropanecarboxylate synthase, a key enzyme in ethylene biosynthesis. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 198, 280–286.
- Zanin, V.A., Lukina, V.I. and Berezov, T.T. (1989). [Isolation, various physico-chemical and catalytic properties of L-methionine-γ-lyase from *Pseudomonas taetrolens.*] *Voprosy Meditsinskoi Khimii* **35**, 84–89. [In Russian; English Summary.]
The Use and Implications of Ribosomal DNA Sequencing for the Discrimination of Digenean Species

Matthew J. Nolan and Thomas H. Cribb

School of Molecular and Microbial Sciences and Centre for Marine Studies, Parasitology Section, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland 4072, Australia

	Abstra	act		. 102	
1.	Introdu	uction		. 103	
2.	The Digenea				
3	Species Distinction: Traditional and Modern Approaches				
0.	3.1	Advantages and Disadvantages of Using Molecular	•		
	0.1.	Techniques for Systematic Studies		105	
4.	Genes	and Spacers.		. 106	
	4.1.	Ribosomal DNA		. 107	
5	Studie	s Using ITS rDNA to Distinguish Digenean Species		111	
0.	5 1	Anocreadiidae	•	112	
	5.2	Rivesiculidae	•	112	
	53	Cladorchiidae	•	112	
	5.0.	Didymozoidae	•	112	
	5.5	Dinlostomidae	·	112	
	5.5.		•	11/	
	5.0.		•	. 1 14	
	5.7. E 0		•	110	
	5.6.		·	. 110	
	5.9.		•		
	5.10.		·	. 117	
	5.11.		·	. 118	
	5.12.	Monorchildae.	·	. 118	
	5.13.	Opecoelidae	•	. 119	
	5.14.	Paragonimidae.	•	. 120	
	5.15.	Plagiorchiidae		. 125	
	5.16.	Sanguinicolidae		. 125	
	5.17.	Schistosomatidae		. 125	
	5.18.	Strigeidae		. 131	
	5.19.	Telorchiidae		. 132	

6.	The Ir	terpretation of ITS rDNA Sequences
	6.1.	Identical Sequences, Different Species
	6.2.	Interspecific Variation
	6.3.	Intraspecific Variation
7.	Implic	ations of ITS Sequencing for Digenean Taxonomy 146
	7.1.	Implications for Species Richness
	7.2.	Implications for Morphological Taxonomy148
	7.3.	When to Name a New Species?
8.	Conclu	usions
	8.1.	Is ITS Sequencing Effective?
	8.2.	Remaining Problems
	8.3.	An Effective Study
	Refere	ences

ABSTRACT

In just over a decade, the use of molecular approaches for the recognition of parasites has become commonplace. For trematodes, the internal transcribed spacer region of ribosomal DNA (ITS rDNA) has become the default region of choice. Here, we review the findings of 63 studies that report ITS rDNA sequence data for about 155 digenean species from 19 families, and then review the levels of variation that have been reported and how the variation has been interpreted. Overall, complete ITS sequences (or ITS1 or ITS2 regions alone) usually distinguish trematode species clearly, including combinations for which morphology gives ambiguous results. Closely related species may have few base differences and in at least one convincing case the ITS2 sequences of two "good" species are identical. In some cases, the ITS1 region gives greater resolution than the ITS2 because of the presence of variable repeat units that are generally lacking in the ITS2. Intraspecific variation is usually low and frequently apparently absent. Information on geographical variation of digeneans is limited but at least some of the reported variation probably reflects the presence of multiple species. Despite the accepted dogma that concerted evolution makes the individual representative of the entire species, a significant number of studies have reported at least some intraspecific variation. The significance of such variation is difficult to assess a posteriori, but it seems likely that identification and sequencing errors account for some of it and failure to recognise separate species may also be significant. Some reported variation clearly requires further analysis. The use of a "yardstick" to determine when separate species should be recognised is flawed. Instead, we argue that consistent genetic differences that are associated with consistent morphological or biological traits should be considered the marker for separate species. We propose a generalised approach to the use of rDNA to distinguish trematode species.

1. INTRODUCTION

Few parasitologists now question the value of molecular data in defining and separating species of parasites. Although the techniques continue to evolve, the basic methods are now well established and are used in many laboratories. The attractions of a molecular approach for identifying parasites are compelling; molecular data has the capacity to allow comparisons that remove confounding factors of age, host or geographically based variation. In the work that we review below, DNA sequence information has been reported for about 155 species from 19 families of trematodes. In some of the papers, quite long-standing problems of identity have been resolved. However, despite these advances, molecular approaches to the identification of trematodes have problems. Predominant among these are questions pertaining to the interpretation of results and what should be considered best-practice for the field.

Here we review the work that has been done so far in the discrimination of trematodes by the use of molecular approaches, consider the interpretation of data and make general recommendations for future work. The review focuses on the internal transcribed spacer region of ribosomal DNA (ITS rDNA), in its entirety and as its constituent components, because this has become the default region of choice in taxonomic studies of digeneans and we see no reason to expect this to change.

2. THE DIGENEA

The Digenea is the largest and most successful group of internal metazoan parasites. As at 2001, the subclass comprised some 150

recognised families containing nearly 2700 nominal genera and about 18 000 nominal species (Cribb *et al.*, 2001). As adults, digeneans display a multiplicity of morphological form. Variation is seen in the form and position of the suckers, the digestive tract and the reproductive system. Digenean life cycles are complex, involving both freeliving and parasitic stages, one to four hosts, usually three distinct generations and alternating sexual and asexual reproductive generations (Cribb *et al.*, 2003). The mainstay of digenean systematics is morphological examination of sexual adults from vertebrates (Blair *et al.*, 1996).

3. SPECIES DISTINCTION: TRADITIONAL AND MODERN APPROACHES

Studies of morphology, epidemiology and behavioural characteristics, host and geographic distribution, cross-breeding studies and studies of physiology and biochemistry have all been used in the process of identifying closely related animal species (Coleman and Mai, 1997). In digenean taxonomy, however, the vast majority of species have been described entirely on the basis of their adult morphology and by reference to their host and geographic distributions. However, morphology alone may be insufficient to unequivocally identify many species. Factors that render the differentiation of digenean species difficult include: the small size of adult stages and a paucity of taxonomic characters, combined with uncertainty over the validity of those characters (Luton et al., 1992; Leon-Regagnon et al., 1999; Schulenburg et al., 1999; Maldonado et al., 2001); high-morphological similarities between closely related species (i.e. cryptic species) (Tkach et al., 2000); an apparent time-lag between primary genetic speciation and morphological differentiation (Jousson et al., 2000); phenotypic plasticity (especially age and host-induced variation) (Galazzo et al., 2002); a lack of conserved and hard structures (Jousson and Bartoli, 2001) and the fact that many digenean life cycle stages, e.g. cercariae and metacercariae, lack distinctive morphological characters, making their association with adults by morphological characters alone impossible (Jousson et al., 1998b, 1999; Bartoli

and Jousson, 2003). These problems can lead to underestimates or overestimates of parasite diversity; typically, variation must be interpreted by an "expert" and a judgement made. Such judgements may have no truly objective basis. Thus, trematode taxonomy is fertile ground for the subjective activities of "lumpers" and "splitters".

The use of host and geographic distribution, cross-breeding studies, epidemiological and behavioural characteristics and physiology to distinguish species also has shortcomings. These problems have been discussed by McManus and Bowles (1996) in some detail and will not be reviewed here. As an alternative to these classical approaches, molecular tools (usually DNA sequencing) are now thought to allow quick and accurate identification of genetically distinct but morphologically similar species.

The advent of modern molecular techniques, such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (Mullis *et al.*, 1986; Saiki *et al.*, 1986), has meant that DNA sequence data are often used to test hypotheses formulated using the traditional methods of species distinction. As observed by Morgan and Blair (1995), genetic variation at the nucleotide level provides the highest resolution for investigating inheritable differences. Thus, molecular techniques, especially primary sequence comparisons, are used for life cycle elucidation, examination of potential cryptic species, the examination of species complexes and their phylogeographical genetic structure and phylogenetic studies.

3.1. Advantages and Disadvantages of Using Molecular Techniques for Systematic Studies

There are four main advantages of using DNA for systematic studies (Nadler, 1990; McManus and Bowles, 1996). First, as a consequence of the fact that different genes, and different segments within certain genes, evolve at disparate rates, it is possible to answer a wide range of taxonomic questions at many phylogenetic levels. Secondly, only the number of non-repetitive nucleotide positions in the genome limits the number of potential characters for systematic inference. Thirdly, the very nature of DNA molecules implies that non-heritable

(phenotypic) variation is not a problem. Lastly, molecular techniques are now fast, reliable and relatively inexpensive.

Although molecular techniques may provide apparently objective insights into the systematic position of digeneans, there are several problems associated with these methods. First, there are problems associated with obtaining and analysing sequence data sets including, potentially, a lack of primary material from which to work (due to low prevalence of infection within hosts), inability to sample a wide range of sites throughout the geographical range of the parasite for comparison purposes, incorrect identification of samples (identification problems associated with cryptic species for instance), laboratory contamination, errors in nucleotide sequences incorporated during sequencing and not understanding the underlying parameters and assumptions of alignment programs necessary to achieve the "optimal" sequence alignment. Secondly, there is the potential problem of convergence, especially for anciently diverged taxa, as there are only five base possibilities (the four nucleotides and a gap: some computer programs, e.g. PAUP (Swofford, 1998), allow gaps, which are inserted into sequences during multiple sequence alignments, to be considered as a "New State" and analysed as a 5th base) for each site (Nadler, 1990; McManus and Bowles, 1996). Lastly, although molecular methods have the advantage of precision and speed, their nature means that it is possible to bypass study of the biology of parasites. Molecular analysis cannot provide much of the information gained from traditional approaches.

4. GENES AND SPACERS

Selecting an appropriate gene or spacer region requires careful consideration of the purpose of the study, different genes and observed rates of evolution. Over time all genomes, both nuclear and mitochondrial, accumulate mutations. However, some regions are more susceptible to nucleotide changes than others. Regions apparently unconstrained by function, such as introns and non-coding regions, usually evolve more rapidly than coding regions. Those regions coding for particular functions (e.g. the translation of mRNA) accumulate

fewer spontaneous mutations, as preservation of function is vital to an organism's survival (McManus and Bowles, 1996; Gasser, 2001). Consequently, different regions of a genome evolve at different rates. The challenge therefore is to achieve a balance. If a gene or spacer region displays too little variation, genuinely distinct groups will not be differentiated whereas if too much variation is present, difficult or questionable alignments will fail to yield robust systematic inferences. According to Hillis and Dixon (1991), systematic relationships based on highly divergent sequences are not robust because levels of homoplasy (resulting from convergences and parallelisms) increase as the probability for change at each base position increases, and, the number of alignments that are "nearly good enough" becomes prohibitively large. These authors therefore suggest that the best regions for study should be greater than 70% but less than 100% similar. Generally, suitable genes are chosen on the basis of prior knowledge gleaned from studies of closely related organisms. Ribosomal DNA (rDNA) genes and mitochondrial genes are overwhelmingly the most popular choices for systematic investigation of trematodes.

4.1. Ribosomal DNA

Ribosomal RNA genes and their spacer regions (transcribed and non-transcribed) are collectively called ribosomal DNA (rDNA). rDNA is a multigene family whose array contains hundreds of tandemly repeated copies, or paralogues, of the transcription unit, the non-transcribed spacer and two internal transcribed spacers within the nucleolar organiser region of eukaryotic genomes (Figure 1). It is within this organiser region that the rDNA array folds, forming helices that provide the appropriate recognition and docking signals for the molecular complex that processes the primary transcript (Hillis and Davis, 1986; Hillis and Dixon, 1991; Michot *et al.*, 1993; Capowski and Tracy, 2003; Coleman, 2003; Goertzen *et al.*, 2003).

Ribosomal DNA is useful for taxonomic studies because it includes regions with varying rates of evolution, from highly conserved (18S, 5.8S and 28S) to highly variable (transcribed and non-transcribed or intergenic spacer regions). Consequently, it is possible to find suitable



Figure 1 Diagrammatic representation of ribosomal DNA within the nucleolar organiser region of the eukaryotic genome (tandem repeats (black boxes), the transcription unit, the non-transcribed spacers and the two internal transcribed spacers) (not to scale).

gene regions to answer systematic questions at many taxonomic levels (Hillis and Davis, 1986; Hillis and Dixon, 1991). rDNA is also useful because, as a multigene family, the entire rDNA repeat tends to evolve in a concerted fashion (through unbiased gene conversion and unequal crossing-over). This process is thought to rapidly homogenise and fix new variants that arise through random genetic drift and natural selection within reproductive units (Morgan and Blair, 1995), making the individual representative of an interbreeding group (Hillis and Davis, 1986, 1988; Hillis and Dixon, 1991; McManus and Bowles, 1996; Coleman, 2003). Also, the necessity for the region to fold into its secondary structure to maintain correct function within the ribosome, an action dependent on the primary sequence, means that the region must stay relatively conserved* (Coleman and Mai, 1997). Maintenance of this secondary structure is preserved by compensatory mutations between paired nucleotides (Hillis and Dixon, 1991;

^{*}It has been suggested that conservation of secondary structure allows for the identification of positional homology and application of ITS2 sequence data to broad systematic questions (Goertzen *et al.*, 2003). It should be noted however that possible rapid evolution in regions corresponding to loops might lead to gene saturation. This according to Stevens and Schofield (2003) leads ultimately to reversals, homoplasy and inaccurate phylogenetic inference.

Michot *et al.*, 1993; Morgan and Blair, 1998; Coleman, 2003). A further advantage to using this region is that the tandemly repeated copies provide a large number of target sequences for PCR amplification (Jousson *et al.*, 1998a).

The 18S rRNA, or small subunit ribosomal gene, is among the slowest evolving sequences found in living organisms and is used to infer deep phylogenetic relationships among ancient lineages (Hillis and Davis, 1986). The 28S rRNA, or large subunit rRNA gene, is larger than 18S and shows a faster rate of evolution through its different domains than does the 18S gene. However, the 28S rRNA gene does possess regions with levels of gene conservation similar to those of 18S (Hillis and Dixon, 1991). Both regions have been used to detect species boundaries within digenean families (Kaukas and Rollinson, 1997; Schulenburg and Wagele, 1998; Snyder and Tkach, 2001; Leon-Regagnon and Paredes, 2002) but this is not common. This review will focus on the internal transcribed ribosomal spacer region (ITS rDNA) because it is by far the most frequently exploited region for the exploration of species boundaries in digeneans.

4.1.1. Internal Transcribed Spacer rDNA (ITS1, 5.8S rRNA Gene and ITS2) Region

The internal transcribed spacer includes two spacers, ITS1 and ITS2, separated by the 5.8S rRNA gene. Typically the region is thought to be relatively conserved within a species or genus and therefore useful for determining species boundaries (Morgan and Blair, 1995; Jousson *et al.*, 1998b). This region (as a whole or as its individual constituent components) has been used to explore species boundaries in at least 19 digenean families. The ITS is not usually analysed as a whole; rather it is broken into its two main components, the internal transcribed spacers 1 and 2. The 5.8S rRNA gene has levels of gene conservation similar to the 18S rRNA gene (although Hershkovitz and Lewis (1996) found the region to have divergences roughly twice those of 18S). However, according to Hillis and Dixon (1991), Hershkovitz and Lewis (1996) and Coleman (2003) the gene region is too short to effectively infer robust phylogenies across large time scales.

4.1.1.1. Internal transcribed spacer 1 (ITS1) of rDNA. The nature of the ITS1 rDNA spacer has allowed characterisation of digeneans at different taxonomic levels. The high variability of the 5' end allows the entire ITS1 sequence to identify species, and the more conservative 3' end can provide information on relative systematic position (Schulenburg *et al.*, 1999).

Much of the variation in this region is due to the presence of tandemly repeated elements located at the 5' end of the spacer. Such repeats are known from the Haematoloechidae, Mesometridae, Opecoelidae, Schistosomatidae, Strigeidae and the Telorchiidae, Most ITS1 regions that possess these repeats are composed of three elements: first, the short 5' end (the length of which varies depending on the species or species complex); secondly, a tract containing "X" nucleotides that may be repeated "Y" times and may be composed of two or more parts; and thirdly, the 3' region that usually lacks repeats, although repeat elements have been found in this region in Schistosoma margrebowiei, S. mattheei (Kane and Rollinson, 1994; Kane et al., 1996) and Trichobilharzia szidati (Dvorak et al., 2002). The number of nucleotides that constitute a repeat, and the number of times this repeat is present, varies with the species and the family. Often these tandem repeats are composed of two parts, usually designated "a" and "b". Picard and Jousson (2001), however, found repeat elements in Trichobilharzia cercariae composed of three elements with a "ba-(ca)₅" repeat pattern configuration. The order and size (in nucleotides) of these components is again dependent on the species and the family to which it belongs (Van Herwerden et al., 1998, 1999).

4.1.1.2. Internal transcribed spacer 2 (ITS2) of rDNA. The second internal transcribed spacer (ITS2 rDNA) is generally considered to contain fewer variable sites than the ITS1. Generally it does not contain repeat elements, although they have been found in the Echinostomatidae (Morgan and Blair, 1995). It is highly variable in length both within and between families and is known for its relatively high sequence conservation at the species level. This means that satisfactory alignment above the genus level may be a problem and has meant that this region is not often used for phylogenetic inference at the family, order or higher taxonomic levels (Coleman, 2003). As a result, some authors (Michot *et al.*, 1993; Morgan and Blair, 1998; Coleman, 2003) have suggested that once the secondary structure of this region has been established, it may aid the alignment of ITS2 sequences at taxonomic levels above that of the genus. However, a study by Morgan and Blair (1998) of 38 digenean species from nine families found that satisfactory sequence alignments between families were not possible. This was despite the authors determining a four-domain secondary structure model for digenean ITS2, which supported the model proposed by Michot *et al.* (1993). Morgan and Blair (1998) showed that there was substantial length variation associated with different families. This study therefore suggests that although knowing the secondary structure of ITS2 may aid alignment within a family, a combination of high sequence conservation and great variation in sequence lengths, both within and between families, may result in the region being restricted to systematic studies at the genus and family levels only.

5. STUDIES USING ITS rDNA TO DISTINGUISH DIGENEAN SPECIES

We have found 63 studies that have reported partial or complete ITS rDNA of digenean species (literature searched to 1st May, 2004). Only 14 of these analysed the entire ITS. The ITS varies from 820 to 1125 nucleotide sites depending on the family. Eight studies found evidence of intraspecific variation, which was generally less than 1.0% (although four found intraspecific variation of 1.2–3.2%). Of the 63 studies, 24 (including six that analysed the entire region) analysed only partial or complete ITS1; 13 found intraspecific variation, which was again usually less than 1.0%, although there are exceptions (Luton *et al.*, 1992; Galazzo *et al.*, 2002; Jousson and Bartoli, 2002). Of the 63 studies, 44 analysed ITS2; 16 found intraspecific variation that ranges from 0.3 to 3.5%.

Below we review the findings of these studies as they relate to the 19 families of digeneans. Our approach here is to summarise the literature, but to make no attempt to reinterpret the conclusions reached in any of the studies. Approaches to analysis are considered with reference to selected studies in Section 6. We refer to "replicate sequences" as sequences obtained from separate individual worms, *not* repeat sequencing of the same material to check accuracy.

5.1. Apocreadiidae

Lo *et al.* (2001) sequenced the ITS2 from *Schistorchis zancli* from the fish *Zanclus cornutus* from the Great Barrier Reef and French Polynesia. Despite more than 6000 km of deep ocean separating the two sites, they found zero differences (266 nucleotides compared) between sequences from the two localities.

5.2. Bivesiculidae

Cribb *et al.* (1998) sequenced the ITS2 for two genera and four species of adult bivesiculids, and specimens of an immature bivesiculid to attempt to elucidate the life cycle of the latter. The sequences from the immature bivesiculids from the intestine of *Thalassoma lunare* (Labridae) were identical to replicate sequences obtained from adults of *Bivesicula claviformis* from *Epinephelus fasciatus* (Serranidae). Intrageneric variation ranged from 8.1 to 11.6% (23–33 base differences) and intergeneric variation from 16.0 to 36.0% (41–101 base differences).

5.3. Cladorchiidae

Itagaki *et al.* (2003) reported ITS2 sequences from three common Japanese bovine amphistomes, *Calicophoron calicophorum*, *Ortho-coelium streptocoelium* and *Homalogaster paloniae*. They found no intraspecific variation for *C. calicophorum* (284 nucleotides, seven replicates, four locations), *O. streptocoelium* (284 nucleotides, 10 replicates, three locations) and *H. paloniae* (285 nucleotides, two replicates, one location). Interspecific variation between the three species ranged from 4.2 to 5.3%.

5.4. Didymozoidae

Two studies (Anderson and Barker, 1998; Anderson, 1999) have explored didymozoids of platycephalid fishes from Queensland waters

using ITS2 sequences. Anderson and Barker (1993) had previously used restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis[†] of the entire ITS region to distinguish six didymozoid species. Anderson and Barker (1998) reported ITS2 sequences from 11 species from four genera (seven *Indodidymozoon* species, two *Helicodidymozoon* species, *Rhopalotrema elusiva* and *Neometadidymozoon polymorphis*) and found differences between all combinations of species distinguished by morphological criteria. Interspecific variation ranged from 0.5 (2 base differences over 342 sites) to 8.0%; intergeneric variation ranged from 3.0 to 19.0%; there was no mention of replicate sequences.

Anderson (1999) compared ITS2 sequences from four putative didymozoid metacercariae to those of adult didymozoid species obtained by Anderson and Barker (1998) and found the sequence of one to be identical to the sequence from the adult of *I. pearsoni*.

5.5. Diplostomidae[‡]

Overstreet *et al.* (2002) studied two *Bolbophorus* species from the channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*, and the American white pelican, *Pelecanus erythrorhynchos*. They reported intraspecific variation over the entire ITS of 0.6% for *Bolbophorus* sp. and 3.2% for *B. damnificus*. Interspecific sequence divergence between the adult stages of the two *Bolbophorus* species from *P. erythrorhynchos* reached 13.5% (over 1036 sites). These levels of variation were confirmed by experimental infection with nestling and de-wormed adult pelicans in conjunction with sequence data from the 18S, 28S and CO1 gene regions.

Galazzo *et al.* (2002) found 0.0–0.8% intraspecific variation in the ITS1 and ITS2 from three North American species of *Diplostomum*.

[†]RFLP analysis is an indirect approach to estimating variation at the nucleotide level using restriction endonucleases. DNA is digested with a restriction enzyme. The resulting DNA fragments are separated by electrophoresis. The cut DNA fragments are visualised directly by end labelling (Maniatis *et al.*, 1982) or after transfer to a nitrocellulose filter (Southern, 1975). The presence or absence of restriction sites in the DNA under consideration will change the lengths of the fragments. These length variations are referred to as restriction fragment polymorphisms.

[‡]For the purposes of this review, *Bolbophorus* is considered co-familial with *Diplostomum*, as presented by Niewiadomska (2002). This is despite Overstreet *et al.* (2002) assigning *Bolbophorus* to the family, Bolbophoridae.

Five *Diplostomum baeri* sequences were identical; four *D. huronense* sequences were identical whereas a fifth had a single transition. Six of nine specimens identified as *D. indistinctum* were identical. The other three differed at three sites in the ITS1, while one differed at a further five sites in ITS1 and a single site in ITS2. The three specimens exhibiting intraspecific variation had been identified only tentatively (Galazzo *et al.*, 2002).

Niewiadomska and Laskowski (2002) examined six Eurasian *Diplostomum* species. Interspecific variation between four species ranged from 9 to 32 base differences (1.3–4.7% divergence), but *D. spathaceum* and *D. parviventosum* had identical ITS1 sequences. Niewiadomska and Laskowski (2002) did not synonymise the two species, as the two were said to be readily distinguishable based on morphological differences between adult, cercarial and metacercarial stages.

5.6. Echinostomatidae

Morgan and Blair (1995) sequenced the entire ITS rDNA of six recognised *Echinostoma* species and *Echinostoma* sp. I and II from Africa, Asia, Europe and North and South America. They found no intraspecific variation over 1042 sites between replicate sequences for any species. They also found no interspecific variation between *Echinostoma caproni*, *E. liei* and *Echinostoma* sp. II, and on this basis, synonymised these three species. Interspecific variation within the 37collar–spine group ranged from 1.1 to 3.7%, while outside this group variation reached as high as 19.2%.

Sorensen *et al.* (1998) sequenced the ITS from *E. revolutum* from Eurasia and North America and *E. trivolvis* from Indiana to determine the levels of intraspecific variation within North American *Echinostoma* species. They found intraspecific variation of 0.9% between sequences from *E. revolutum* from different continents (no variation between sequences from North America) and 0.6% sequence divergence between two isolates of *E. trivolvis* taken from the same pond in Indiana. Interspecific variation in the same study ranged from 0.8 to 2.9% (8–29 of 1006 sites). Despite finding levels of intraspecific variation higher than some interspecific variation found in the same study, Sorensen *et al.* (1998) concluded that variation of 0.6 and 0.9% did not invalidate the integrity of the two species.

Grabda-Kazubska *et al.* (1998) sequenced ITS1 from rediae and cercariae (stages easily discriminated by morphology and chaetotaxy) to discriminate species of *Echinoparyphium*, *Pseudoechinoparyphium*, *Neoacanthoparyphium* and *Hypoderaeum*. By counting the number of base differences figured in their Table II, it is possible to determine that interspecific variation between species of *Echinoparyphium* in this study ranged from 1.6 to 3.2% (6–12 of 376 sites). Levels of intergeneric variation range from 4.8 to 12.2% (18–46 base differences).

Maldonado *et al.* (2001) studied a species of *Echinostoma* obtained from the rodent *Nectomys squamipes* from Brazil. The ITS2 was identical to that of *E. paraensei* (isolated from the snail *Biomphalaria glabrate* from Brazil). Consequently, but also in the light of light and scanning electron microscopy, the new Brazilian isolate was identified as *E. paraensei*.

5.7. Fasciolidae

Adlard *et al.* (1993) sequenced ITS2 from *Fasciola hepatica* from Australia, Hungary, Mexico and New Zealand, *F. gigantica* from Indonesia and Malaysia, *Fasciola* sp. from Japan and *Fascioloides magna* from the United States. They found geographical variation within *F. hepatica* was limited to a single base substitution in the Mexican isolate (0.4% variation, 263 nucleotides compared). There was no sequence variation between replicate sequences from *F. gigantica* (213 nucleotides compared). There were six base differences (2.8%, 213 nucleotides compared) between *F. hepatica* and *F. gigantica*. Intergeneric variation ranged from 13.2% (38 of 289 sites—*F. hepatica* and *F. magna*) to 16.0% (34 of 214 sites—*F. gigantica* and *F. magna*) (differences in lengths of sequences compared were due to incomplete sequences obtained for *F. gigantica*. Sequences from the unidentified Japanese isolate differed from *F. gigantica* at one base and consequently Adlard *et al.* (1993) identified this form as *F. gigantica*.

Hashimoto et al. (1997) obtained ITS2 from F. hepatica from Australia, F. gigantica from Malaysia and Fasciola sp. from Japan to elucidate the taxonomic status of the Japanese *Fasciola* species. Their findings confirmed those of Adlard *et al.* (1993).

Itagaki and Tsutsumi (1998) obtained ITS2 sequences from the Japanese triploid form of *Fasciola* (seven), *F. hepatica* from Uruguay (three) and F. gigantica from Zambia (two) and Indonesia (two) to determine the nature of the Japanese triploid form. They found no intraspecific variation among F. hepatica replicate sequences from Uruguay. In contrast, three different ITS2 sequences were obtained for F. aigantica. Two sequences from Indonesia were identical (also identical to sequences from F. gigantica from Malaysia obtained by Adlard et al. (1993) and Hashimoto et al. (1997)). However, the two Zambian isolates differed from each other at four sites and one of these differed from the Indonesian isolate at six sites. A comparison of the ITS2 sequences from the seven Fasciola isolates from Japan revealed two distinct sequence types. The first was identical to those of F. hepatica from Uruguay and the second was similar to sequences from F. gigantica from Indonesia and Japan reported by Adlard et al. (1993) and Hashimoto et al. (1997).

Mas-Coma *et al.* (2001) compared complete ITS1 and two sequences (433 and 364 nucleotides long) for *F. hepatica* from the Northern Bolivian Altiplano and Spain and found no base differences. Comparison of these sequences to those of Adlard *et al.* (1993), Hashimoto *et al.* (1997) and Itagaki and Tsutsumi (1998) showed the Spanish and Bolivian sequences to differ from all previous sequences in at least one base position.

Huang *et al.* (2004) sequenced ITS2 for *F. hepatica* from France and *F. hepatica*, *F. gigantica* and a *Fasciola* sp. from three locations in China. They found no intraspecific variation for *F. hepatica* or *F. gigantica*. The sequences from *F. hepatica* differed from those of *F. gigantica* at six of 362 nucleotide sites (1.7%). The *Fasciola* sp. differed from *F. hepatica* and *F. gigantica* at five sites (1.4%).

5.8. Haematoloechidae

Leon-Regagnon *et al.* (1999) partially sequenced the ITS and 28S rRNA of several *Haematoloechus* species described as Mexican endemics. They combined their data sets (1836 bp) and found

sequence divergence of 1.7% between *H. macrorchis* (1 replicate) and *H. longiplexus* (1 replicate). Based on what they interpreted as a low interspecific sequence divergence and a lack of distinguishing morphological traits between the two species, they proposed *H. macrorchis* (Mexico) as the junior synonym of *H. longiplexus* (Nebraska, USA). It was suggested that the 1.7% could represent differentiated populations or apparent affinities for different host species. In the same study a *Haematoloechus* isolate, Pulcher I (from *Ambystoma lermaensis*), was considered conspecific with *H. complexus*, as the 1.2% divergence between these isolates was less than that of *H. longiplexus* over the same region. Another isolate, Tuxtlas I (Los Tuxtlas, Mexico), and *H. medioplexus* (Nebraska, USA) differed by 2.0% and were also considered conspecific, partly because they have a continuous distribution from Los Tuxtlas to Nebraska.

Snyder and Tkach (2001) studied the ITS from eight North American and European *Haematoloechus* species and found interspecific sequence variation as low as 0.5% between *H. medioplexus* and *H. varioplexus*, which are easily distinguishable on morphological grounds. They found no intraspecific variation within *H. longiplexus*, *H. varioplexus*, *H. variegatus* and *H. abbreviatus* and just 0.1% between three isolates of *H. asper* from the same population.

5.9. Lepocreadiidae

Lo *et al.* (2001) reported ITS2 sequences from two species of Lepocreadiidae, *Preptetos laguncula* and *Neohypocreadium dorsoporum*, from French Polynesia and the Great Barrier Reef. Replicates of *P. laguncula* were identical. Replicates of *N. dorsoporum* from *Chaetodon vagabundus* from French Polynesia and *C. ephippium* from the Great Barrier Reef were also identical, but specimens from *C. flavirostris* and *C. vagabundus* from the Great Barrier Reef each had a single base difference (0.3%) relative to the first two samples.

5.10. Leucochloridiidae

Casey et al. (2003) sequenced the entire 5.8S and ITS2 and partially sequenced the 28S and ITS1 from the green-banded brood sac of

Leucochloridium paradoxum and the brown-banded brood sac of *L. variae* from Poland, Denmark and Norway. They found no intraspecific variation between replicates from the three geographical locations over the entire region for both species and 6.8% (72 of 1059 sites) interspecific variation. They found 8.2% interspecific variation in the ITS1 and 5.1% interspecific variation in the ITS2 between the two species.

5.11. Mesometridae

Jousson *et al.* (1998b) analysed ITS sequences to identify cercariae of the Mesometridae. Complete ITS rDNA sequences were obtained from five adult mesometrid species and compared to complete ITS1 sequences from five putative mesometrid cercariae. Sequences from cercariae isolated from three species of *Rissoa* were almost identical to those from the adult of *Centroderma spinosissima* (0.0–0.1% intraspecific variation). Sequences from cercariae taken from *Vermetus triqueter* and *Barleeia rubra* corresponded to those from adults of *Elstia stossichianum* (no variation) and *Wardula capitellata* (0.4% intraspecific variation), respectively. Within the ITS1, interspecific variability ranged from 6.6 to 19.1%, slightly higher than for the ITS2, 3.4–15.1%. Jousson *et al.* (1998a) later used this same data to construct a molecular phylogeny for these parasites.

5.12. Monorchiidae

Bartoli *et al.* (2000) sequenced *Cercaria cerastodermae* I from the cockle *Cerastoderma edule*, adult trematodes from the experimentally infected sparid *Diplodus sargus* and adult specimens of *Monorchis parvus* from naturally infected *D. annularis*. Sequences from the three sources differed at two of 1050 base positions (0.2% sequence divergence). A comparison of the 0.2% variation to interspecific variation of 7.3–7.5% (74–76 of 1050 sites), between *M. parvus* and *M. monorchis*, suggested that *Cercaria cerastodermae* I corresponded to the adult of *M. parvus* found in *D. annularis*.

Jousson et al. (2000) investigated Monorchis parvus from Diplodus vulgaris, D. sargus and D. annularis from the north-western Mediterranean. Analysis of ITS1 sequences from specimens taken from each host species showed the presence of two distinct taxa; one restricted to *D. vulgaris* and *D. sargus* and the other to *D. annularis*. Intraspecific variation within each group was no greater than 0.7%(634 sites) while interspecific variation reached 3.8%. The authors concluded that *M. parvus* was composed of two cryptic species. However, no new species was proposed.

Jousson and Bartoli (2002) analysed the ITS1 from Monorchis parvus and M. monorchis, from sparid fishes. Sequences from M. parvus again divided into two host-defined groups separated by 3.5% divergence (21 base differences). One group was restricted to Diplodus sargus and D. vulgaris and the other to D. annularis, suggesting a host-associated species complex (supporting their previous study). However, as a consequence of the morphological homogeneity between the adult stages of each group, Jousson and Bartoli (2002) continued to identify both as M. parvus. The sequences from M. monorchis from Spondvliosoma cantharus and D. puntazzo were identical, but differed from apparent M. monorchis sequences from Parablennius gattorugine by 12.9%. This high divergence was supported by analysis of morphological characters and morphometrics. The authors subsequently described the new species, M. blennii, from P. gattorugine. Interspecific variation in this study ranged from 4.1% (over 601 bases) between M. parvus and M. monorchis to 14.7% (over 973 bases) between M. parvus and M. blennii.

5.13. Opecoelidae

Jousson *et al.* (1999) reported the entire ITS from 16 adult opecoelid species, eight opecoelid cercariae and four opecoelid metacercariae. They initially reported intraspecific variation ranging from 0.1 to 1.5%. Cercariae collected from species of *Tricolia*, *Haliotis*, *Clanculus* and *Gibbula* were found to correspond to *Allopodocotyle pedicellata* (0.1% difference), *Cainocreadium labracis* (0.7%), *Podocotyle scorpaenae* (0.2%) and *Helicometra fasciata* (1.1%), respectively. Sequences from cercariae from *Columbella rustica* and *Mitrella scripta* differenc from those of adult *Opecoeloides furcatus* at 1.5 and 0.8%,

respectively. Jousson *et al.* (1999) contrasted this difference to the sequence divergence between two apparently closely related opecoelids, *O. furcatus* and *Poracanthium furcatum*, whose divergence was significantly higher (15.0–17.8%). However, later study (Jousson and Bartoli, 2000) showed that 1.5% divergence differentiated *O. furcatus* into two taxa, one from each intermediate host species.

Jousson *et al.* (2000) analysed ITS sequences from opecoelid species from *Diplodus vulgaris*, *D. sargus* and *D. annularis*. Sequences from *Macvicaria crassigula* revealed two well-defined host-dependent groups. Interspecific variation between the two groups was 2.6% but no new species was proposed.

Jousson and Bartoli (2000) also found evidence for two cryptic species associated with Opecoeloides furcatus. ITS1 sequences from adults of this species from Gaidropsarus mediterraneus and cercariae from Columbella rustica were 840 bp long, whereas those of adults from Mullus surmuletus and cercariae from Mitrella scripta were 900 bp long. The difference was due to a 60-nucleotide repeat, present twice in the 900 bp sequence. They concluded that the 840 bp sequences corresponded to a new species, Opecoeloides columbellae, and the 900 bp sequences corresponded to the "real" O. furcatus. The authors concluded that inclusion of distantly related Mediterranean opecoelids in their previous study (Jousson et al., 1999) had meant that the ITS1 region was too variable to be aligned unambiguously. This had led them to the spurious conclusion that cercariae from Columbella rustica and Mitrella scripta both belonged to O. furcatus. In a later study, Bartoli and Jousson (2003) found that interspecific sequence divergence between the two Opecoeloides species over the entire ITS was 1.5%, significantly lower than that between other congeneric opecoelids, e.g., Cainocreadium labracis and C. dentecis, which had 7.5% variation (Jousson and Bartoli, 2001).

5.14. Paragonimidae

The Paragonimidae has been studied more than any family except the Schistosomatidae. This is attributable to the socio-economic importance of the family, but also because one species, *Paragonimus* *westermanii*, has both diploid (2*n*) and triploid (3*n*) forms and probably consists of a complex of cryptic species. In overview, 12 studies use ITS sequence data for consideration of 19 *Paragonimus* species, two *Pagumogonimus* species and two *Euparagonimus* species. One study considers the ITS1, but comments only on the nature of the repeat elements. Eleven studies make use of ITS2; this region varies from 287 to 364 nucleotides in length, exhibits intraspecific variation that ranges from 1 to 10 base differences, and interspecific variation that ranges from less than 6 to 48 base differences depending on the comparisons made. Typically, species recognised by morphology have been corroborated by these analyses, but two species have been synonymised as a result of them. Three studies conclude that *P. westermanii* may be composed of a complex of species across Asia, although no formal move to divide this species has been made.

Van Herwerden *et al.* (1999) are the only authors to consider the ITS1 region of paragonimid species. They found repeats in paragonimid ITS1 rDNA to be composed of two sub-repeats, "a" and "b". Five sequenced clones of *P. ohirai* had (ab)₂a-type repeats, as did the single clone of *P. macrorchis*. Within each of the diploid and triploid forms of *P. westermanii* there were three repeat types ("a"; "a,del"; "del,a" for the diploid form and "a"; "aba"; "(ab)₂a" for the triploid form (see Van Herwerden *et al.*, 1999, Figure 1, p. 69); each form represents intra-individual variation. The intra-individual variation within *P. westermanii* was not present in the *P. ohirai* group. Numbers of base differences were not given in this study.

Blair *et al.* (1997b) investigated the geographic structure of diploid and triploid forms of *P. westermanii* collected from 14 localities in seven Asian countries. Their findings are presented in Table 1. The authors suggested that ITS2 was a good marker for specific relationships within *Paragonimus*, but less useful for investigating intraspecific genetic structure.

Blair et al. (1997a) sequenced the ITS2 from the three species of the *Paragonimus ohirai* group; *P. ohirai*, *P. iloktsuenensis* and *P. sadoensis*. They found no base differences between the sequences from these species and concluded that *P. iloktsuenensis* and *P. sadoensis* should be regarded as junior synonyms of *P. ohirai*. Sequences from

Species	Origin	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
P. westermani	1 Hyogo, Japan	_	1 (0.3%)	7 (1.9%)	6 (1.7%)	35	25 ^{a,b}	25 ^a
	2 Karapai, Taiwan		_	8	7	36	26 ^{a,b}	26 ^a
	3 Leyte, Philippines			(2.270)	(1.5%) 1 (0.3%)	38	29 ^{a,b}	29 ^a
	4 Sungai Wa, Malaysia				_	37	28 ^{a,b}	28 ^a
P. ohirai	5 Tanegashima, Japan					—	27 ^{a,b}	27 ^a
P. miyazakii	6 Miyazaki, Japan						—	0^{b}
P. skrjabini	7 China, Sichuan							—

Table 1 Pairwise differences among ITS2 sequences

Notes: Modified from Blair et al. (1997). Figures within parentheses indicate sequence divergences between each comparison (not included in the original paper). All isolates from Japan, China and Korea had sequences identical to that from Hyogo, Japan. Both Taiwanese isolates had identical sequences.

^aIgnoring 1 "N" in *P. miyazakii.* ^bIgnoring a deletion 2 nucleotides long in *P. miyazakii* and *P. skrjabini*.

the P. ohirai group differed at 29 and 35 sites from P. miyazakii and *P. westermanii*, respectively (8.0 and 9.6%).

The status of Euparagonimus and Pagumogonimus relative to Paragonimus was investigated by Blair et al. (1999). Sequences from representatives of each genus were taken from two previous studies (Blair et al., 1997b, 1998). Interspecific variation in Paragonimus ranged from 16 to 43 base differences, while intergeneric variation was only 16-44 base differences. P. miyazakii (Japan) and Pg. skrjabini (China) possessed identical ITS2 sequences. The non-monophyly of representatives of Paqumogonimus, and the close relationship between P. miyazakii (Japan) and Pg. skrjabini led these authors to conclude that Pagumogonimus was not a natural taxon, although P. miyazakii and Pq. skrjabini were not synonymised.

Chang et al. (2000) sequenced ITS2 to evaluate its value in diagnosis of paragonimiasis. Sequences were obtained from eggs in the sputum of a human patient and from eggs collected from two dogs previously infected with P. westermanii and P. skrjabini. Sequence comparison showed the unidentified eggs to be identical to *P. west-ermanii* and to differ by 8.0% from *P. skrjabini*.

Iwagami *et al.* (2000) investigated the geographic structure of *P. westermanii* in Asia by sequencing diploid and triploid forms from 23 localities in six countries. Their results are presented in Table 2. As a result of these findings, the authors came to a conclusion similar to that of Blair *et al.* (1997b); populations of *P. westermanii* can be divided into two possible species, one in northeast Asia and the other in southern Asia. Comparison of *P. westermanii* sequences to those of *P. miyazakii* and *P. ohirai* revealed 27–34 (9.4–11.9%) and 38–43 (13.2–15.0%) base differences, respectively.

Ryu *et al.* (2000) sequenced 363 bases of ITS2 from seven adults of *Paragonimus* collected from Anhui Province, China. Six sequences were identical to a previously sequenced Chinese isolate of *P. west-ermanii*. The remaining sequence was identical to *P. ohirai*. The mitochondrial genes CO1 and ND1 supported these interpretations. This study confirmed findings of Blair *et al.* (1997b) and Iwagami

Species	Origin	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
P. westermani	1 Chiba, Japan	_	1 (0.3%)	7 (2.4%)	8 (2.8%)	10 (3.5%)	27	38
	2 Myaoli, Taiwan		_	8 (2.8%)	9 (3.1%)	11 (3.8%)	28 31	39
	3 Kuala Pilah, Malaysia			_	7 (2.4%)	9 (3.1%)	31	41
	4 Leyte, Philippines				_	10 (3.5%)	31	42
	5 Thailand						34	43
P. miyazakii	6 Rokuroshi, Japan						—	32
P. ohirai	7 Kinosaki, Japan							—

Table 2 Pairwise differences among ITS2 sequences

Notes: Modified from Iwagami *et al.* (2000). Figures within parentheses indicate sequence divergences between each comparison (not included in the original paper). All isolates from Japan, China and Korea had sequences identical to that from Chiba, Japan. Three Taiwanese isolates had identical sequences, as did three Malaysian isolates and two Philippine isolates.

et al. (2000), who also found all *P. westermanii* sequences from different geographical locations in China to be identical.

Sugiyama *et al.* (2002) sequenced rDNA from paragonimid metacercariae provisionally identified as *P. westermanii* and *P. miyazakii* from freshwater crabs from Wakayama Prefecture, Japan. ITS2 sequences were 287 and 285 nucleotides for the putative *P. westermanii* and *P. miyazakii*, respectively. No intraspecific variation was observed for either species between six replicates (each) from different host individuals. The sequences were identical to those reported previously for *P. westermanii* and *P. ohirai*. Interspecific variation over the ITS2 was 9.4% (27 of 287 sites).

Cui *et al.* (2003) obtained ITS2 sequences for five species of *Paragonimus* not previously sequenced in other systematic studies. They found interspecific variation ranging from 1.4% between *P. bang-kokensis* and *P. menglaensis* to 8.8% between *P. paishuihoensis* and *P. hokuensis*. No mention was made of intraspecific variation.

Iwagami *et al.* (2003a) studied metacercariae of *P. mexicanus* from Guatemala and Ecuador. Two ITS2 sequences were both 285 nucleotides in length but differed at a single site (0.4% divergence). Interspecific variation (comparison of *P. mexicanus* to *P. westermanii*) was observed at 33 sites (11.5% divergence).

Iwagami *et al.* (2003b) determined the identities of two *Paragonimus* species from Sri Lanka using ITS2 sequences (CO1 sequences were also used). Metacercariae were collected from freshwater crabs from six localities. Sequences from metacercariae were compared to sequences from 10 *Paragonimus* species from eight countries in Asia and the Americas. The Sri Lankan metacercariae had two sequence types that differed at 23 sites (8.0% divergence). The Type 1 sequence was closest to *P. westermanii* (Malaysia, Philippines and Thailand), with 5.2–5.9% sequence divergence (15–17 sites). Type 2 sequences were closest to *P. siamensis* from Thailand, diverging by 2.1% (six sites). Intraspecific variation between *P. westermanii* sequences used in this study ranged from 2.4 to 3.1% (seven to nine sites). The identity of worms with Type 1 sequences remained unclear, while those with Type 2 were suggested to be either *P. siamensis* or a sibling of the Thai species.

Park et al. (2003) examined intraspecific polymorphism in diploid and triploid forms of *P. westermanii* from 15 geographical locations, including three from Korea. Diploid and triploid ITS2 sequences were 363 nucleotides in length and varied at nine sites (2.5% divergence). Sequences from Korean *P. westermanii* were almost identical to each other with the diploid form (Haenam) and the triploid form (Youngam and Bogil-Island) differing at two sites (0.6% divergence).

5.15. Plagiorchiidae

Tkach *et al.* (2000) studied three *Plagiorchis* species belonging to the *P. vespertilionis* group from European bats. They found no intraspecific variation between replicate sequences from the three species regardless of host or geographical location. Interspecific variation among the three species ranged from 2.9 to 12.8%. Tkach *et al.* (2000) also sequenced *P. elegans* from the intestine of birds. Sequence divergence between *P. elegans* and the three species from bats was higher (15.2%, 197 of 1297 sites) than that observed between species from bats alone.

5.16. Sanguinicolidae

Nolan and Cribb (2004a) found no intraspecific variation between five replicate sequences from adult and four replicate sequences from cercarial stages of the blood fluke *Paracardicoloides yamagutii* (344 nucleotides) from southeast Queensland, Australia. Thirteen replicate sequences from *Plethorchis acanthus* (414 nucleotides) were identical, as were nine replicate sequences from an unidentified sanguinicolid cercaria (351 nucleotides). Intergeneric variation was greater than 40% and made effective alignment of sequences impossible.

Nolan and Cribb (2004b) sequenced rDNA to test the distinctness of *Pearsonellum pygmaeus* from the type-species of the genus, *P. corventum*, and found 29 base differences (5.7% sequence divergence). Four replicate sequences from *P. corventum* from the southern Great Barrier Reef were identical.

5.17. Schistosomatidae

Owing to the significant socio-economic importance of this family and the ability of certain of its species to interbreed and produce viable hybrids, the schistosomes are the most frequently studied digenean family. We have found 14 studies that have used partial or complete ITS rDNA sequences to explore the systematic status of 26 schistosome species, particularly of the genus *Schistosoma* (17 species). Six studies utilise the ITS1 for systematic study of the *Schistosoma haematobium* group, *Trichobilharzia* species and the interrelationships of Asian *Schistosoma* species. The remaining studies use the ITS2, often using the same sequences obtained from previous studies for broader systematic comparisons.

In overview, six studies use ITS1 data and find sequence length variation ranging from 929 to 2290 bp, depending on the species and the number and size of repeat elements. Eight studies use ITS2; length varies from 286 to 398 bp. Intraspecific variation over the ITS2 ranges from 0 to 2 base differences. Interspecific variation ranges from 0 to 42 base differences between African species, 1 to 39 base differences between Asian species and 40 to 90 base differences between the two groups. Three species (*S. intercalatum*, *S. bovis* and *S. curassoni*) have been reported with identical ITS2 sequences.

The first study using ITS1 (Kane and Rollinson, 1994) attempted to determine the nature of the size variation observed in this region and establish if it could be used to differentiate Schistosoma haematobium, S. intercalatum and S. mattheei (Zambian isolate). It was found that S. haematobium and S. intercalatum possessed two repeat elements (72 base pairs each) and S. mattheei possessed four (72, 77, 78 and 80 base pairs). Actual numbers of base differences between these species were not given. However, by counting the number figured in the ITS1 alignment, it is possible to determine sequence divergence between the species. There are nine base differences between S. haematobium and S. intercalatum (0.8% divergence over 1086 nucleotides, although it may be lower as three bases are unidentifiable), 182 base differences between S. haematobium and S. mattheei (16.8% sequence divergence) and 176 base differences between S. intercalatum and S. mattheei (16.2% sequence divergence). Intraspecific variation was reported between successive repeating elements rather than between replicate ITS1 sequences from different isolates of the same species. Between repeat elements one and two of *S. haematobium* there were 12 base differences (of a total of 72), and between elements one and two of *S intercalatum* there were 13 (of 72). Between the four repeat elements of *S. mattheei* there were 10–15 base differences (of a total of 72–80 bases).

Kane et al. (1996) studied the ITS1 from Schistosoma mansoni, S. margrebowiei, S. spindale and S. mattheei (South African isolate). Again, numbers of repeating elements were used to distinguish species; S. margrebowiei had four repeat elements (three tandem and one towards the 3' end of the ITS1), S. mansoni had two repeat elements (in common with S. haematobium and S. intercalatum), S. spindale had seven repeat elements and the South African S. mattheei isolate had five repeat elements (four tandem and one towards the 3' end of the ITS1). Intraspecific variation was also determined between replicate sequences from the same Schistosoma species from different geographical locations. ITS1 sequences from five geographical isolates of S. mansoni were identical except for one base ambiguity. Five geographical isolates of S. haematobium differed at one base position and two replicate sequences from S. intercalatum were identical except for three ambiguous bases. The ITS1 from the S. mattheei isolate from South Africa contained five repeat elements in contrast to the four previously found in the Zambian isolate of S. mattheei (Kane and Rollinson, 1994) and in S. margrebowiei (Kane et al., 1996). The authors suggested that such intraspecific variation in the ITS1 might be unique to S. mattheei.

Blair *et al.* (1997c) determined the relationships between *Schisto-soma malayensis* and other Asian and African *Schistosoma* species. Although they stated that there was evidence of intraspecific variation within Asian species, no data were provided. They reported that one of the three clones of *S. malayensis* varied at a single site in the ITS2.

Van Herwerden *et al.* (1998) explored variation in the number of repeating elements of *Schistosoma malayensis* (four repeats), *S. mekongi* (four repeats) and *S. japonicum* (two repeats). Although they presented information on variation within the ITS1 within individuals and between strains and species, due principally to the presence of the internal repeats, they were more concerned with nucleotide variation between each repeat element for a single species than between whole replicate sequences. For instance, *S. malayensis* possesses four repeats, each composed of two sub-repeats (a~90 nucleotides; b~15 nucleotides). Intra-individual variation between repeat a_1 , a_2 , a_3 and a_4 within *S. malayensis* ranged from 1.3 to 7.5%. Intraspecific sequence variations within repeat a_1 across multiple molecular weight products were less than the intra-individual variation observed between repeats a_1 and a_2 . Interspecific variation between repeat "a" of *S. malayensis* and that of *S. mekongi* ranged from 1.3 to 8.8%. Similar comparisons were made for repeat "b". Consequently it is not possible to comment on the levels of intraand interspecific sequence variation within and between the three species.

Picard and Jousson (2001) and Dvorak *et al.* (2002) studied European *Trichobilharzia* species, comparing sequences from cercariae isolated from *Lymnaea* spp. to an adult tentatively identified as *Trichobilharzia regenti*. The authors found that the ITS1 from two cercariae from *L. auricularia* and four cercariae from *L. ovata* gave a single product 1100 bp in length and two cercariae from *L. ovata* and the adult of *T. regenti* had a PCR product 1400 bp long. The observed variations were due to repeat elements composed of three subrepeats (a, 75 bp; b, 30 bp; c, 40 bp); the 1100 bp sequence had a repeat type ba-(ca)₅ repeated six times. The sequence divergence between the sequences types reached 11.0% (89 base differences). Within-type divergences were 5.6% (47 base differences) for type 1100 and 1.8% (16 base differences) for type 1400. Intra-individual variation reached 0.6% for type 1100 and 1.0% for type 1400.

Dvorak *et al.* (2002) studied three *Trichobilharzia* species to clarify the status of the unusual *T. regenti*. Like Asian and African *Schistosoma* species, European *Trichobilharzia* also have repeating elements present at the 5' end of the ITS1. They found that *T. regenti* had six repeats (111+112+111+111+112+85 nucleotides), *T. szidati* two repeats (not tandem and 43 and 31 nucleotides long) and *T. franki* three tandem repeats (101+100+101 nucleotides). Dvorak *et al.* (2002) also gave base differences between replicate sequences; sequences from *T. franki* were identical, while those of *T. szidati* differed at two base positions (laboratory versus wild strain).

Despres et al. (1992) were the first to study the ITS2. They sequenced six African Schistosoma species and found no intraspecific variation for replicate sequences from either S. mansoni or S. bovis. They found the sequences from S. intercalatum, S. curassoni and S. bovis to be identical, but did not synonymise these species. Interspecific variation between the African species ranged from 0 to 28 base differences (0.0-7.9%). Schistosoma haematobium and S. intercalatum, two species known to produce viable second generation hybrids naturally and under laboratory conditions, differed at four base positions (1.1% divergence). African and Asian species varied at 40-50 base positions (11.3 and 14.1%). Despres et al. (1995) expanded this work by including a single sequence from S. hippopotami in South Africa; prior to this study S. mansoni and S. hippopotami were considered potentially synonymous. Despres et al. (1995) found 6.5% sequence divergence between the two species and concluded that they were distinct. This conclusion was supported by finding two species of the S. mansoni group (lateral-spined egg group) to be more distant from S. hippopotami (also of this group) than either was from species of the S. haematobium group (terminal-spined egg group).

Bowles *et al.* (1993) studied geographical isolates of *Schistosoma japonicum* from China, the Philippines and Japan, and found no intraspecific variation between replicate sequences. ITS2 sequences from *S. japonicum* differed from those of *S. mekongi* and *S. mansoni* in 4.9 and 11.3% of nucleotide sites respectively. The latter two species differed from each other in 10.9% of nucleotide sites.

Michot *et al.* (1993) determined the secondary structure of the ITS2 from *Schistosoma mansoni*, *S. haematobium*, *S. intercalatum* and *S. japonicum*. They found interspecific sequence divergences between African species ranging from 4 to 28 base differences (1.1–7.8%). Variation between African and Asian species was considerably higher, however, ranging from 86 to 90 base differences (24.0–25.1%). The number of differences between African species found in this study is comparable to those found by Despres *et al.* (1992). However, the number of base differences between African and Asian species found by Michot *et al.* (1993), 86–90 bases, was considerably higher than reported by Despres *et al.* (1992) (40–50 bases).

Bowles *et al.* (1995) used ITS2 to test hypotheses associated with the grouping of *Schistosoma* species, groupings traditionally based on egg morphology, intermediate host-specificity and geographic origin. They obtained sequences from four African and two Asian *Schistosoma* species as well as from *Schistosomatium douthitti*. There was no intraspecific variation between two replicate sequences from *Sc. douthitti* or three replicate sequences from *S. japonicum*. They found five base differences between sequences from *S. haematobium* and *S. intercalatum* (*S. haematobium* group), three between *S. mansoni* and *S. rodhaini* (*S. mansoni* group), 32 between *S. japonicum* and *S. mekongi* (*S. japonicum* group) and up to 145 base differences between *Schistosoma* species and *Sc. douthitti*.

Agatsuma *et al.* (2001) studied *Schistosoma sinensium* from Thailand and China, comparing ITS2 sequences to those obtained by Bowles *et al.* (1995). Intraspecific variation between the Thai and Chinese isolates of *S. sinensium* was 0.7% (two base differences over 294 nucleotides). This level of variation was higher than that observed between *S. malayensis* and *S. mekongi*, 0.4% (one base difference over 286 nucleotides). Consequently, in the context of differences in snail host specificity and differences in the size of eggs between the two geographical isolates, Agatsuma *et al.* (2001) suggested that there was a species complex associated with *S. sinensium*.

Agatsuma *et al.* (2002) sequenced the ITS2 from four species of the *Schistosoma indicum* group (*S. indicum*, *S. spindale*, *S. nasale* and *S. incognitum*) and compared these to previously obtained sequences. Interspecific variation within the group ranged from 1.6 to 8.1%. They found 12.6–16.7% sequence divergence between *S. indicum* group sequences and those of the *S. japonicum* group. Sequence divergences of 4.8–9.4% were found between the *S. indicum* group and both the *S. haematobium* and *S. mansoni* groups from Africa.

Agatsuma *et al.* (2004) sequenced the ITS2 from *Bivitellobilharzia nairi* to determine its taxonomic position. Alignment of 13 *B. nairi* sequences (from seven male worms and six female worms) revealed one sequence to contain a TA insertion (0.6% over 329 sites) and another replicate sequence to vary at a single site only (0.3%).

5.18. Strigeidae

Bell et al. (2001) determined the inter-relationships of Ichthyocotylurus variegatus, I. platvcephalus, I. erraticus and I. pileatus by analysing three data sets, ITS1, ITS2 and CO1. Interspecific variation in the ITS2 between the four species was 1-3 base differences (0.3-1.0%) and confined to the last 14 bases of the spacer region. PCR amplification of the ITS1 produced five or six different molecular weight products ranging from 300 to 1800 nucleotides in length. The authors chose to sequence the most abundant and ubiquitous of these products (800 bp). Partial sequencing of the other different molecular weight products revealed these to represent either intraindividual or intraspecific variation within the gene. A comparison of sequences from *I. variegatus* from two different Scottish fish revealed a single base transversion over 784 base positions; both samples exhibited a common base transversion relative to samples from a Finnish fish. Bell et al. (2001) found no evidence of intraspecific variation in the ITS1 sequences from the other three species. Interspecific variation between the four species ranged from 1.9 to 3.1% (15-24 of 784 sites). Intergeneric variation between Ichthyocotylurus and Apatemon was 24.7%.

Bell and Sommerville (2002) used three nucleotide data sets to explore the systematic status of Apatemon gracilis from four fish species and A. annuligerum from two geographical locations. They found that ITS2 sequences were 292 nucleotides long and identical within a species (regardless of host or geographical location) and also between species. As in their previous study, Bell et al. (2001) found evidence of a number of different molecular weight products after PCR amplification of the ITS1. Again, only the most abundant and ubiquitous product (700 bp) was isolated and sequenced. There was no intraspecific variation in the ITS1 from A. annuligerum (2 repeat elements) over 688 sites. Intraspecific variation between replicate sequences from A. gracilis was a result of a varying number of repeat elements. For instance, A. gracilis from the stone loach possessed three repeats; specimens from salmon parr possessed two repeats and specimens from rainbow trout possessed two tandem repeats of (TCGGCT) and a third repeat of (ATACCTCGACC), not present in other *A. gracilis* sequences. Aside from intraspecific variation as a consequence of a difference in number of repeat elements, no intra- or interspecific specific sequence variation was observed (*A. gracilis* from salmon parr and *A. annuligerum* both possess two repeat elements and were identical along 688 nucleotides). Consequently, *A. annuligerum* was considered synonymous with *A. gracilis*. This conclusion was supported by CO1 sequences, which were identical in length and composition for both putative species.

5.19. Telorchiidae

The study by Luton et al. (1992) of two Dolichosaccus species from Australia was the first to use sequence data in a taxonomic study of digeneans. It remains the only such study of telorchiids. Over the entire ITS, they found 0.3 and 2.5% intraspecific variation between replicate sequences from D. symmetrus and an unidentified Dolichosaccus sp. (respectively) between two localities. Interspecific variation over the same number of nucleotides between the two species was 30.7% (541 of 1762 sites). The most conspicuous difference between the sequences from the two species was the length of the ITS1, owing mainly to the presence of several repeats approximately 100 nucleotides long in *Dolichosaccus* sp. that are present only once in *D*. symmetrus. The multiple presence of these repeats ultimately leads to a larger interspecific sequence divergence when just ITS1 sequences are compared, 75.4% (488 of 647 sites). When the 3' end of the ITS1 is compared between the two species only, interspecific variation is 16.7% (63 of 378 sites). Replicate sequences from ITS2 for D. symmetrus and Dolichosaccus sp. were identical and interspecific variation reached 20.2% (51 of 252 sites).

6. THE INTERPRETATION OF ITS rDNA SEQUENCES

We have reviewed 63 studies that report partial or complete ITS sequences to identify about 155 named digenean species from 19 families. Some of these sought sequence matches between candidate

life cycles stages and others used sequence data to determine the distinctness of species, whose validity was not necessarily clear on the basis of morphological comparisons. A few explored geographic variation. All have needed to consider what levels of sequence variation constitute intra- and interspecific variation. Here, we review levels of variation reported as intra- and interspecific variation and how it can be best interpreted.

The implied expectation in the literature is that ITS sequences will be identical for replicates of the same species, recognisably different for species of the same genus, and significantly more different for species of different genera or families. As discussed in Section 4.1, this expectation is based on the fact that the entire rDNA repeat is thought to evolve in a concerted fashion (making the individual representative of the entire group) while the necessity for the region to fold into its secondary structure to maintain correct function within the ribosome means that the region must stay relatively conserved. It thus follows that we expect ITS sequences from trematodes to show very little intraspecific variation. This expectation is generally met. For approximately 33 species, there is evidence of replicate sequences but no intraspecific variation having been found. However, "trouble" is met in the two following ways:

- Species are sometimes reported as having sequences identical to those of other closely related species.
- Species are sometimes reported as having intraspecific variation.

6.1. Identical Sequences, Different Species

Given that ITS sequences are generally sought with a view to exploring the validity of species boundaries, it is no surprise that identical sequences tend to be taken as evidence of the same species. In studies of the Echinostomatidae (Morgan and Blair, 1995), Paragonimidae (Blair *et al.*, 1997a) and Strigeidae (Bell and Sommerville, 2002) replicate sequences for parts of the ITS region were repeatedly found to be identical for putatively different species. In each case, it was concluded that there was no other compelling evidence that required that separate species should continue to be recognised and the species were synonymised. These studies are examples of the highly effective application of sequencing technology to improve our understanding of the taxonomy of trematodes.

There are also three cases in which putatively different species have been found to have identical ITS sequences, but have continued to be recognised as distinct. Each of these is worthy of special consideration.

Niewiadomska and Laskowski (2002) found no differences between ITS1 sequences from *Diplostomum spathaceum* and *D. parviventosum* (Diplostomidae). They did not synonymise the two species because they considered them distinguishable by morphological differences between adult, cercarial and metacercarial stages. However, in addition to the two sequences for each species lodged by these authors on Genbank (which are all identical as reported) there are a further four otherwise unpublished ITS1 sequences for *D. spathaceum*. These differ from each other at 0–2 sites and from the sequences from Niewiadomska and Laskowski at 22–24 base positions. It thus seems at least possible that the Niewiadomska and Laskowski sequences for *D. spathaceum* were reported in error and that the two species are indeed easily separated by ITS sequences.

Despres *et al.* (1992) reported identical ITS2 sequences for *Schisto-soma intercalatum*, *S. curassoni* and *S. bovis*, but did not synonymise these species. We examined GenBank and found nine ITS2 sequences for *S. bovis* (AF146030; AF146032-146035; LO3651-3653; LO3657), one for *S. curassoni* (LO3654) and two for *S. intercalatum* (LO3655; U22166). In a new alignment, we added six sequences for *S. bovis*, a single ITS2 sequence for *S. intercalatum* (U22166), the only sequence for *S. curassoni* and sequences for *S. haematobium* (AF146038), *S. mansoni* (U22168) and *S. hippopotami* (AY029182) (to delimit the 5' and 3' ends of ITS2). We found a single base difference between *S. intercalatum* and *S. bovis*. On this basis, we believe that further systematic work will show all three species may possess distinct ITS2 sequences.

Blair et al. (1997b) and Blair et al. (1998) found identical ITS2 sequences for *Paragonimus miyazakii* from Japan and *Pagumo-gonimus skrjabini* from China. However, they found substantial

differences in the mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase subunit I gene (CO1). These two species were also described as having significant morphological differences.

Thus, of the three studies that recognise different species despite the recovery of identical sequences from the ITS region, only that of paragonimids has a robust and convincing data set. However, this finding is of great importance because it establishes that genuinely distinct species may not necessarily differ in at least one of the internal transcribed space regions of rDNA. In some respects, this should not be surprising because other pairs of species that have been characterised convincingly have as few as one base difference so that there appears to be no reason to think that the ITS region is guaranteed to find differences between species.

6.2. Interspecific Variation

With the exception of the three cases discussed above (two potentially spurious), all reported combinations of congeners have differences in some part of their ITS sequences or are now considered synonymous. Levels of interspecific variation are typically substantial so that there is usually little doubt as to the separation of the species involved. However, a number of studies have found very small differences between some species, especially in the ITS2. Agatsuma et al. (2001) found just one base difference between the ITS2 sequences from Schistosoma malayensis and S. mekongi (Schistosomatidae). This difference correlates with the two species having different biological attributes (Greer et al., 1988) and differing in other molecular markers (Agatsuma et al., 2001). Bell et al. (2001) found just 1-3 base differences between combinations of four species of Ichthyocotylurus (Strigeidae). Species distinction was confirmed by molecular data from CO1 and ITS1. Anderson and Barker (1998) reported just two base differences between ITS2 sequences in one combination of 2 of 11 didymozoids from Queensland flatheads. The two species occurred in different but sympatric hosts and had slightly differing morphologies. Morgan and Blair (1995) found two base differences in the ITS2 from Echinostoma trivolvis and E. paraensei (Echinostomatidae). They concluded on the basis of divergences over the entire ITS (not on ITS2 alone) that the two species were distinct. Bowles *et al.* (1995) found just three base differences between *Schistosoma mansoni* and *S. rodhaini* (Schistosomatidae). Snyder and Tkach (2001) found interspecific sequence variation of only four differences over 851 sites over the entire ITS between *Haematoloechus medioplexus* and *H. varioplexus* (Haematoloechidae), which are easily distinguishable by morphology. Other reported combinations of congeners differ at progressively larger numbers of sites in ITS2 (see Section 5).

Levels of interspecific difference between congeners over the ITS1 range from 0.8% (9 of 1086 bases) for *Schistosoma haematobium* and *S. intercalatum* (Kane and Rollinson, 1994) to 75.4% between *D. symmetrus* and *Dolichosaccus* sp. from two locations in central Queensland (Luton *et al.*, 1992). Except for the schistosomes, all combinations of congeners are reported to vary at greater than 1.0%. Because of the frequent importance of repeats in the analysis of ITS1 sequences, percent differences are often far less meaningful than a description of differences in the repeat structure.

6.3. Intraspecific Variation

Intraspecific variation of some sort has been reported for many species. We suspect that some reported intraspecific variation is spurious, resulting from error or from the failure to recognise the presence of more than one species. Genuine intraspecific variation may occur in a sample from a single site or perhaps over the geographic range of the species.

6.3.1. Error

We think it is likely that error is common. The first kind of error is brought about by the correct sequencing of incorrectly identified specimens. This can occur by the failure to appreciate that more than one species is present in a sample or that two different samples represent the same species. In this we do not refer to the problems of cryptic species, which may only be detected when a molecular approach is taken. Rather, we refer to plain errors of misidentification,
mislabelling and contamination. To some extent these problems can be controlled by the rigorous retention of morphological vouchers for all sequenced samples and, ideally, their lodgement in museums. The most convincing way for this to be done is by retaining half the specimen for morphology and sequencing the other half; we have seen only one report of this having been done for trematodes (Galazzo *et al.*, 2002). That such errors occur is shown at least by our own work; we have detected several cases of mislabelling and misidentification in our own studies (although as far as we know we have detected these prior to publication).

The second kind of error is sequencing error; the correct sample is sequenced, but the sequence is not a true reflection of the species. Sequences are now usually generated by automatic sequencing machines that return a chromatogram and a "call" of each base position. For a myriad of reasons (Innis et al., 1988), there may be one or more bad "calls" for a given sequence. In our experience, bad sequences are generally recognised by the combination of the quality of the sequence itself and by reference to other sequences. A poor sequence may have many base positions that cannot be called and a generally poorly resolved chromatogram (our own sequence database has many tags saying "bad read, do not use"). However, "poor" may be subjective, and it is entirely possible for a generally excellent sequence to have an area where the read is not reliable. In this context, we think it essential that at least a minimum 85% sequence match should be found between forward and reverse sequences to confirm an entire sequence before it is used.

Poor sequences may also be recognised as such by sequence replication. Many of the apparently more careful studies refer to many identical replicates. The advantage of multiple replicates is that they draw attention to unconvincing (or interesting) base differences. However, if there is no confirmation of a sequence for a given host/ parasite/locality combination, then anomalous (and potentially spurious) bases may remain undetected. We suspect that small amounts of error are rife in the published literature. Many studies have reported variation in one or two base positions. Tellingly, we are unaware of any study where such a low difference has been confirmed by the reported re-sequencing of the samples. In the main, very low levels of variation are considered inconsequential and are ignored; if two target species differ at 15 sites, does it matter that there may be intraspecific variation in a few base positions? Perhaps typically the answer is that the variation is indeed inconsequential. However, we conclude that it does matter because, as we have seen above, variation, especially in the ITS2, ranges from high and very clear levels of difference to negligible difference and rarely to no difference at all.

6.3.2. Failure to Recognise Multiple Species

We suspect that several studies have wrongly interpreted variation as intraspecific when it is in fact an indication of the presence of multiple species. Many studies report at least some variation that is interpreted as intraspecific variation. This ranges from as few as one base difference in one replicate to as much as 3.2% variation over the entire ITS region. We have seen above (Section 6.2) that convincing pairs of species may be separated by very small differences. Here, we consider the five largest levels of variation that have been interpreted as intraspecific variation.

Luton et al. (1992) found 0.9 and 6.8% intraspecific variation over the entire ITS for replicate sequences from *Dolichosaccus symmetrus* and *Dolichosaccus* sp. (Telorchiidae) from cane toads from two Queensland localities. There is no other sequence data available for the Telorchiidae with which to contrast these results. It is noteworthy, however, that in a morphology-based study Barton (1994) subsequently reported three species of *Dolichosaccus* from cane toads from the same area. The two studies did not refer to each other's specimens, but it seems likely that the exceptionally wide divergence reported by Luton et al. (1992) related to the presence of a third species in the system. It is noteworthy also that at the time there was no other information about levels of variation in the rDNA ITS region for trematodes. We therefore believe that this system is worthy of further examination.

Sorensen et al. (1998) sequenced the ITS from Echinostoma revolutum (Echinostomatidae) from Eurasia and North America and reported intraspecific variation of 0.9%. They suggested this variation could also represent genetically differentiated cryptic species. Morgan and Blair (1995) found no intraspecific variation over the entire ITS rDNA between replicate sequences for six recognised *Echinostoma* species. Therefore, we conclude that Sorensen *et al.* (1998) may indeed have examined cryptic species.

Leon-Regagnon *et al.* (1999) partially sequenced the ITS and 28S rRNA of several species of *Haematoloechus* (Haematoloechidae) from Mexico and the United States, and reported what they interpreted as intraspecific variation of 1.7, 1.2 and 2.0% for three species. However, Snyder and Tkach (2001) found interspecific sequence variation in the ITS from eight North American and European *Haematoloechus* species to be as low as 0.5% between species that are easily distinguishable on morphological grounds and found no intraspecific variation in four species and just 0.1% in the fifth. Based on their own findings, Snyder and Tkach (2001) suggested the cautious use of Leon-Regagnon *et al.* (1999) data.

Overstreet *et al.* (2002) reported intraspecific variation of 3.2% over the entire ITS for *Bolbophorus damnificus* (Diplostomidae). In contrast, Galazzo *et al.* (2002) found no or negligible intraspecific variation for most replicates in the ITS2 from three North American species of *Diplostomum* and only minor variation for some specimens identified only tentatively. In addition, Niewiadomska and Laskowski (2002) found only 1.3–4.7% divergence among six Eurasian *Diplostomum* species (difficulties with the sequences from *D. spathaceum* and *D. parviventosum* are ignored here). These levels of variation make that found by Overstreet *et al.* (2002) appear anomalously large and may suggest that further study is required on *Bolbophorus damnificus* (despite the corroborating evidence from experimental infection and sequence data from different gene regions).

Jousson and Bartoli (2002) analysed morphological, biological and molecular data for two species of *Monorchis*, *M. parvus* and *M. monorchis*, both from multiple Mediterranean fishes. Within each host-parasite combination intraspecific variation did not exceed 0.3% (1–2 base differences over 601 sites). *M. parvus* sequences formed a monophyletic group consisting of two host-associated clades separated by 3.5% sequence divergence. The two taxa were also separated by morphometric data. However, the observed differences were attributed to host-related phenotypic plasticity. This led the authors to identify both as *M. parvus*. On the basis of these findings and those of their previous studies on opecoelids (Jousson and Bartoli, 2000) the authors proposed, "the degree of morphological variation between species is not necessarily correlated with the amount of genetic divergence for marine digeneans". On balance, however, we reject the interpretation that forms of *M. parvus* differing at 3.5% can be a single species.

We conclude that the evidence relating to each of these studies, suggests that (1) there has been error in sequencing or identification of the specimens, (2) there has been an unconvincing interpretation of the significance of the variation (i.e. only one rather than at least two species) or (3) that there is an exceptional case of intraspecific variation that has not been sufficiently characterised. We predict that for most of these cases there will prove to have been more than one species involved.

6.3.3. Geographical Variation

There have been relatively few studies of genetic variation in trematodes over their geographical range. The most detailed work has been on the groups of greatest economic importance (Fasciolidae, Paragonimidae and Schistosomatidae). For at least 16 species, ITS sequences from relatively widely separated localities have proven identical (Table 3). These reports suggest that, frequently, what is considered to be single species with a wide range is exactly that.

For the Paragonimidae, there have been three studies of *P. west-ermanii* that report variation associated with geographical distribution (Blair *et al.*, 1997b; Iwagami *et al.*, 2000; Ryu *et al.*, 2000). These studies used ITS2 sequences and reported either no or very little variation for samples from China, Japan, Korea and Taiwan (Taiwanese samples differed consistently at one position). Samples from Thailand, Malaysia and the Philippines differed from the northern group at 6–10 sites; Malaysian and Philippine samples differed from each other at one base and from the Thai population at 8–9 bp. The

Species	Family	Spacer	Separation	Reference
Schistorchis zancli	Apocreadiidae	ITS2	Great Barrier Reef and French Polynesia (6000 km)	Lo et al. (2001)
Bivesicula claviformis; Bivesicula unexpecta	Bivesiculidae	ITS2	Northern and Southern Great Barrier Reef (1188 km)	Cribb et al. (1998)
Calicophoron calicophorum; Orthocoelium streptocoelium; Homalogaster paloniae	Cladorchiidae	ITS2	Iwate, Aomori, Akita and Hyogo Prefecture, Japan	Itagaki <i>et al.</i> (2003)
Preptetos laguncula; Neohypocreadium dorsoporum	Lepocreadiidae	ITS2	Great Barrier Reef and French Polynesia (6000 km)	Lo et al. (2001)
Leucochloridium paradoxum; Leucochloridium variae	Leucochloridiidae	ITS	Poland, Denmark and Norway	Casey et al. (2003)
Plagiorchis vespertilionis; Plagiorchis muelleri; Plagiorchis koreanus	Plagiorchiidae	ITS	Golaya Pristan district; Khersan Region, Velika Pisarevka district, Sumy Region; Kiev Region; town of Nizhin, Chernigiv Region (all localities in Ukraine)	Tkach <i>et al.</i> (2000)
Schistosoma mansoni; Schistosoma bovis	Schistosomatidae	ITS2	Brazil, Guadeloupe, Venezuela, Ivory Coast, Senegal; and Niger, Italy (respectively)	Despres <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Schistosoma japonicum	Schistosomatidae	ITS2	China, Indonesia, Japan, Taiwan and The Philippines	Bowles et al. (1993)
Schistosoma mansoni	Schistosomatidae	ITS1	Brazil, Egypt, Kenya and Senegal	Kane et al. (1996)

Table 3 Sixteen species, from which ITS2 rDNA sequences, from isolates of relatively widely separated geographical localities, have proven identical

141

consensus of these authors was that *P. westermanii* could be divided into two or three species, one in northeast Asia and the other two in southern Asia. These findings were supported by COI sequences and biologically by the family of snail host used by each group (members of the southern group use thiarids and members of the north eastern group use pleurocerids). Given these studies, it is safe to conclude that *P. westermanii* as conceived of prior to the advent of molecular studies is not a "stable" species. However, there has been no formal move to propose such a division on the basis of these data.

For the Schistosomatidae replicate sequences from species from different geographical localities have typically been identical. Two cases are noteworthy, however, Kane and Rollinson (1994) and Kane *et al.* (1996) studied the ITS1 from *S. mattheei* from South Africa and Zambia and found five repeat elements in the South African isolate in contrast to four in the Zambian isolate. Agatsuma *et al.* (2001) compared ITS2 sequences from *S. sinensium* from Thailand and China and found two base differences. This was more than the single base difference that separates *S. malayensis* and *S. mekongi*. There are differences in snail host specificity and in the size of eggs between the two geographical isolates of *S. sinensium*. Agatsuma *et al.* (2001) suggested that there is a species complex associated with *S. sinensium*, although no formal move to divide the species has been made.

For the Fasciolidae, ITS2 sequences have been generated for *Fasciola hepatica* from Australia, China, France, Hungary, Mexico, New Zealand, Spain, Uruguay and Bolivia (Adlard *et al.*, 1993; Hashimoto *et al.*, 1997; Itagaki and Tsutsumi, 1998; Mas-Coma *et al.*, 2001; Huang *et al.*, 2004). ITS2 sequences were mainly identical (Australia, China, France, Hungary, New Zealand and Uruguay). The Mexican isolate had a single base substitution and the Spanish and Bolivian samples differed from all other sequences in at least one base position. The ITS2 from *F. gigantica* has been sequenced for samples from China, Indonesia, Malaysia and Zambia (Adlard *et al.*, 1993; Hashimoto *et al.*, 1997; Itagaki and Tsutsumi, 1998; Huang *et al.*, 2004). There were two different sequences obtained for Zambian samples. Sequences from China, Indonesia, Malaysia and one from Zambia were identical. The second Zambian isolate differed from the

other at four sites and one of these differed from the Indonesian isolate at six sites.

Overall, where variation has been investigated over a substantial geographical range there have been three types of outcomes. Most commonly the sequences are identical. Far less commonly consistent differences are found that have been interpreted as probably being the reflection of the presence of separate species. Also uncommon is minor variation that has been interpreted in the literature as genuine geographical variation. We suspect that in some cases this variation may be a pointer to the presence of distinct species. In such circumstances there are two paths open for further investigation. Further molecular analysis would be to sequence more samples (and extra genes) from localities intermediate between the sites already sampled to see how (or if) the sequences change gradually over their range. Conceivably, different sequences may grade into each other (indicative of a single species) or there might be an abrupt boundary or overlap zone between the two (indicative of separate species). The second approach would be to explore the biological basis of difference between the populations-are there differences in morphology, behaviour or host-specificity? At present, the weight of evidence suggests that genetic geographical variation between isolates of trematode species is not common; at least it is not routinely revealed by sequencing of the ITS region. ITS sequences from species are typically identical at different localities and where they differ, it appears that the best interpretation is often that separate species are present.

6.3.4. "Real" Intraspecific Variation

Because high-quality studies that use multiple replicates usually find little or no intraspecific variation, we infer that low levels of variation reported where there are few replicates may frequently be the result of sequencing error. Because the level of variation between species may be very low (exceptionally no variation at all), especially for ITS2 sequences, we conclude that it is likely that some reported intraspecific variation is actually interspecific variation. Where significant geographical variation has been reported, the most compelling interpretations have suggested that it is indicative of the presence of separate species. Very low levels of geographical variation may represent genuine intraspecific variation but this requires further exploration. We conclude that, for the present, there is no compelling evidence of significant intraspecific variation in ITS sequences, especially where the sequences have been derived from sympatric samples. We argue that where variation is found it should be taken as a signal that further investigation is necessary.

So far no molecular studies have revealed or suggested the presence of combinations of cryptic (morphologically inseparable) species infecting a single host species at a single locality. Multiple sympatric congeners are by no means rare for digeneans so it can be expected that ultimately such systems will be identified. It is conceivable that some of the intraspecific variation reported in the literature at present represents exactly this.

6.3.5. The Recognition of Species

We have argued above that some of the intraspecific variation reported in the literature probably reflects the presence of separate species. If we are right, such misinterpretations may have arisen because of a combination of inadequate replication and the inappropriate use of "yardsticks" of comparison.

This question raises the issue of when genetic differences can be interpreted as reflecting the presence of more than one species. We believe that the answer to this question can only be resolved by reference to studies in relatively simple and controlled conditions. The key, in our view, is the study of samples collected in sympatry, which removes any possible issues of geographical variation. If, at a given location, trematode populations associated with different hosts, different morphology or different ecology are consistently characterised by a genetic trait in the form of base differences in ITS sequences, then, we think that in all probability the distinction is a marker for separate species, regardless of how many differences there are. We suspect that many such small but important differences remain to be recognised. The basis for this view is established by reference to hypothetical data. Suppose that one form of trematode, always found in Genus A species A at a given locality, has 20–21 oral spines and a second at the same locality but in Genus B species A, always has 29–30. Morphological taxonomists would, with very few exceptions, conclude that two species are present. A few might wonder if the identity of the host affected morphology, but with such a substantial morphological difference this would not be a major concern. If we then examined specimens from Genus A species B and found that they had 22–23 spines then legitimate argument as to whether different species should be recognised might ensue; the outcome might well be recourse to a molecular study.

Suppose then that we sequence the ITS1 or ITS2 from one specimen of each of the three forms from the three hosts mentioned above. We might find that the sample from Genus B species A differs at 20 sites from the specimens from the other two hosts, which differ from each other at only a single (different) position. The tempting conclusion would be that, based on the morphological (spine number), biological (host) and genetic (base) differences between the specimens from Genus B relative to those from Genus A, there are just two trematode species in the system. The minute morphological and genetic differences seen between specimens from Hosts A and C could be dismissed as intraspecific variation or sequencing error. However, it is entirely possible for such an interpretation to be quite wrong. False interpretation would arise from a combination of the use of an inappropriate "yardstick" and from a lack of replication in the data set. Suppose that we chose to explore this system further and sequenced 10 replicates from each host and returned 10 identical sequences for each of the three forms. We would then be forced to conclude that we had three species in the system. Species A and C might be best considered cryptic species because of the similarity of their morphology, but they differ consistently in their host and consistently in their genotype while being sympatric and thus potentially having the opportunity for genetic exchange.

In the hypothetical system described above, the large genetic difference between Species A and B has initially misled us into assuming that all sets of species differences will be comparable. This

expectation is unsound because some species will have diverged far more recently in evolutionary time than others and thus we can expect levels of genetic difference to vary dramatically, even within a single genus. That the sequence differences may be very small between genuinely distinct species is shown by several studies reviewed earlier. For this reason we argue that the idea that a "yardstick" of levels of variation can be developed is seriously flawed. Rather than seeking to apply a yardstick, the better approach is to test for consistent *difference* between sequences and to seek a biological, morphological or ecological basis for any distinction that may be suggested.

Thus, wherever studies have reported intraspecific variation we suspect that there is room for the further careful consideration of the system. The intraspecific variation reported in the literature ranges from single base positions (Galazzo *et al.*, 2002) through to as many as 31 positions (Overstreet *et al.*, 2002). At the lower end of the scale we suspect that most of the variation reported is intraspecific variation or sequencing error. As the number of differences increases this becomes less likely, but each system needs careful consideration and the application of many replicates. We also note that "careful consideration" requires substantial work and if there is no *a priori* reason (such as a difference in hosts or in morphology) to do that work, then often there may be little reason to pursue the study.

7. IMPLICATIONS OF ITS SEQUENCING FOR DIGENEAN TAXONOMY

The goal of any taxonomic studies whether morphological, molecular or otherwise is to lead to an accurate reflection of biological reality and to develop an effective naming system for use by the scientific community. An important goal of any system of classification should be stability; continual (especially unnecessary) changing of names is not welcomed by the scientific community at large. It is timely to consider, therefore, the overall impact of molecular taxonomic approaches (at least those using rDNA sequences) on digenean taxonomy.

7.1. Implications for Species Richness

At present there are thought to be about 18 000 described trematode species. The studies reviewed here have reported sequence information for about 155 named species, or less than 1% of them, and representatives of fewer than half the families. In this respect, molecular approaches cannot be said to have revolutionised the field. Overall, it is pleasing that most of the existing morphological taxonomy has been corroborated by the molecular studies; there is no evidence that existing taxonomy is comprehensively inaccurate. However, molecular studies have now contributed to the proposal of four convincing synonymies of named species and have helped separate about eight combinations of species (Despres *et al.*, 1995; Blair *et al.*, 1997b; Iwagami *et al.*, 2000; Jousson and Bartoli, 2000; Jousson *et al.*, 2000; Agatsuma *et al.*, 2001; Galazzo *et al.*, 2002; Jousson and Bartoli, 2002), which otherwise might not have been recognised as distinct (although not all of these new species have been named formally).

Thus, as might have been predicted, molecular approaches have the capacity to solve problems on the margin of the resolving power of traditional taxonomic approaches. Often they give corroboration to hypotheses that are just suspicions. Studies involving rDNA sequencing so far have led to the recognition of far fewer new synonymies than they have potentially new species. The data set is still small, but if this pattern persists for the Digenea as a whole, it would suggest that morphological taxonomy typically underestimates the true species-richness of trematodes.

In some of the cases described above, we suspect that the pairs of species could have been recognised as such without the use of molecular techniques. Are molecular approaches then replacing morphology-based approaches and should this be seen as good, bad or unimportant? Our view is clear. Morphological and molecular approaches will always work best when they are used to support and augment each other. Ambiguous morphological or biological differences that remain unexplored from the point of view of molecules are unsatisfactory to exactly the same extent as are genetically distinguished but biologically or morphologically undifferentiated species. Which approach (morphological or molecular) should come first is a matter for the individual circumstance, although in our experience it is knowledge of biological questions formed from the study of morphology and biology that usually prompt an augmentative molecular study.

7.2. Implications for Morphological Taxonomy

An important benefit of the molecular work reviewed above should be reciprocal illumination of processes in morphological taxonomy, not just by testing its predictions, but by exploring levels of geographical variation that are supported by molecular tests. To this end we here consider the morphological variation reported for three pairs of species that have been separated, in part, by differences in ITS sequences. In each case the work was all done by the same authors so that preparation and figuring methods are directly comparable.

Jousson *et al.* (2000) and Jousson and Bartoli (2002) found that *Monorchis parvus* from three species of *Diplodus* (Sparidae) from the Mediterranean was actually two species, one restricted to *Diplodus vulgaris* and *D. sargus* and one to *D. annularis*, which differed by 3.8% (Jousson *et al.*, 2000) and 3.5% (Jousson and Bartoli, 2002) over ITS1. Jousson *et al.* (2000) specifically concluded that they considered this system to represent a pair of cryptic species, but they did not name a new species. Differences between the two forms are certainly subtle (Figure 2). The two forms differ somewhat in body shape, in the size of the testis, the position of the ovary and slightly in the arrangement of terminal genitalia.

Jousson and Bartoli (2000) reported two cryptic species associated with *Opecoeloides furcatus* (Opecoelidae) in Mediterranean fishes. ITS1 sequences from the two species differ by an extra 60 nucleotide repeat in one form and 13 other scattered base differences. Figure 3 shows "*habitus*" figures of the two species reconstructed from mean data. The two species are clearly distinct in their typical overall size and in the lobation of the testes.

Nolan and Cribb (2004b) sequenced the ITS2 from a new sanguinicolid species, *Pearsonellum pygmaeus*, to test its separation from the type species of the genus, *P. corventum*. Both species occur



Figure 2 Monorchis parvus from (A) *Diplodus sargus*, (B) *D. annularis*. Ventral view. Scale bars: (A,B) 100 μ m. (Redrawn from Jousson and Bartoli, 2002.)

sympatrically in serranid fishes (but different genera) on the Great Barrier Reef. They found 29 base differences between the species. The two species are morphologically similar, but *P. pygmaeus* differs from *P. corventum* in the smaller overall body size, the relative distance of the brain from the anterior end and the relative lengths of the oesophagus and the testis. This species also differs with respect to the distribution and shape of the testis, the position of the uterus with respect to the ovary and the size and shape of the ovary (Figure 4).

This small sample of studies is both encouraging and challenging. The opecoelid and sanguinicolid pairs of species show that the kinds of characters used routinely in taxonomy appear to be reliable. The monorchiid pairs show that differences may indeed be quite subtle.

7.3. When to Name a New Species?

Should a pair of species distinguished convincingly only by genetic differences be described with separate names? This problem has already been encountered to some extent and it is likely that it will become more common in the future. Jousson *et al.* have reported



Figure 3 Habitus of (A) *Opecoeloides furcatus*, (B) *O. columbellae*. Scale bars: (A,B) 1000 µm. (Redrawn from Jousson and Bartoli, 2000.)



Figure 4 (A) Pearsonellum corventum from Plectropomus leopardus. (B) Pearsonellum pygmaeus from Cromileptes altivelis. Scale bars: (A,B) 100 µm.

what they explicitly consider to be two pairs of species with clear genetic differences and with clear differences in hosts but in each case did not name the second new species. In one case (Jousson and Bartoli, 2002) they stated that, in effect, they were unwilling to describe the new species because it could not be distinguished by morphology. The reason for this approach is clear. If a species can only be identified by its genetic sequence and perhaps by its host (and host is always a problematic marker of identity), then the classification is made difficult for those who need to identify the parasites. The disadvantage of not naming species is that the true species richness of a system tends to be undervalued and the true complexity of a biological system is not represented by the taxonomic system. We incline to the view that species that are characterised convincingly should be named, even if the characterisation is entirely genetic. If the characterisation is entirely genetic, then we see this as a signal that more work probably needs to be done to understand the morphology and biology of the species in question.

An important component of any classification system is its stability and its utility; names of species that are used widely, especially those of economic importance, should not be changed unless there is a compelling reason to do so. On this basis, we accept that changes within important genera such as Fasciola, Paragonimus and Schistosoma should only be made with considerable caution. In this context we do note, however, that splitting species and providing new names may have some advantages. The advantages may be in the knowledge that a socio-economically important parasite has a limited distribution and perhaps peculiar biological attributes that enhance the capacity to control it. Except for the small number of trematodes of economic importance, the great majority of trematode species are of interest to biology because of their significance in biological diversity (in its broadest possible sense). Most trematode species will only be considered by biologists whose interests should always lie with the most accurate possible classification. We therefore advocate the bold proposal of new species and new synonymies with the understanding that all our scientific work is hypothesis-based, and that the eternal battle between "lumpers" and "splitters" should lead to an approximation of scientific truth.

8. CONCLUSIONS

8.1. Is ITS Sequencing Effective?

Molecular approaches are generally added to studies that consider species boundaries of trematodes because they are seen as bringing objectivity to the study and because they cut through problems of phenotypic variation. In large part they do just this. Overwhelmingly, studies using ITS rDNA have confirmed the distinctness of wellaccepted trematode species and they have also confirmed that morphologically variable species are indeed single species. In addition, in several cases, they have revealed the existence of cryptic species, which were either unknown or only suspected.

Most investigations that use the ITS from rDNA for the distinction of species use the ITS1 or ITS2 rather than the entire ITS. Only 14 of 63 studies reviewed used the entire region. Yet of these 14, only four found interspecific variation of <1.0% (including one study where species were synonymised). Of the 24 studies that used partial or complete ITS1, only three found interspecific variation of <1.0%. In fact, all studies that use either the ITS or ITS1, with the exception of those of Hashimoto *et al.* (1997), Bell *et al.* (2001), Bell and Sommerville (2002) and Overstreet *et al.* (2002), base their conclusions solely on data obtained from rDNA sequence data. This is in sharp contrast to the number of studies using the ITS2 region, the number finding interspecific variation of <1.0% and the number relying on sequence data from mitochondrial genes to support their findings.

Does this mean that ITS2 is too conserved between closely related species to allow the conclusive distinction of species? Morgan and Blair (1995) think so, as do Blair *et al.* (1997b). We conclude that this assessment is harsh. Given the number of studies that have used ITS2 and that have also used data from other gene regions (whether nuclear or mitochondrial) for support, it is true that ITS2 is too conserved to unequivocally distinguish all combinations of species. The greatest divergences in the ITS occur in ITS1. This region has the potential to identify variation that is not detected by ITS2. Given the variation revealed by ITS1, we believe it is desirable to sequence the entire ITS to

improve the chances of distinguishing digenean species. However, it should be noted that ITS2 has successfully discriminated species from many digenean families and it can be expected to continue to do so.

8.2. Remaining Problems

There remain several significant issues to be considered when using rDNA sequence data for distinguishing species.

- Despite the established view that the ITS region shows minimal variation within species because of concerted evolution and the need to maintain biological function, minor variation is indeed reported commonly. The amount of variation that is real and that can be attributed to sequencing error or the presence of multiple species requires active investigation.
- The level of genetic variation between clearly distinct species is often large (numerous base differences). It thus becomes attractive to set such levels of variation as a "yardstick" that can be applied to variation wherever it is found. This approach is flawed, however, because, almost by definition, molecular approaches are valuable when comparing species that are not clearly distinct. Species that are not clearly distinct can be expected to be more closely related than distinct ones, so that a "yardstick" drawn from obviously different species is not likely to discriminate between cryptic species. Any level of consistent genetic variation that is associated with a biological attribute such as differing hosts or morphology is likely to be significant.
- In just one clear case, sequencing of the rDNA ITS2 revealed no differences at all between what are considered to be good species for strong biological reasons and for differences identified by other genetic analysis. It is essential, therefore, that lack of variation should not necessarily be interpreted as meaning that only one species is present. Nonetheless, identical sequences are typically an indication of the presence of one species and in some cases where this has been so it was thought no further study was required.
- Geographical variation in the genotype of species probably occurs, but it is not well understood, and some of the variation that has

been reported as geographical variation probably relates to interspecific variation. Distinguishing between intraspecific geographic variation and interspecific variation remains a substantial challenge.

8.3. An Effective Study

We conclude that the characteristics of an effective taxonomic study to explore trematode species boundaries will incorporate:

- 1. *An understanding of the species in question*. Molecular data will be of little value in the absence of information about (some of) morphology, host range, life cycle and geographic distribution.
- 2. *Breadth*. A sound study will sequence as many combinations of parasite species, hosts species and geographical localities as is possible.
- 3. *Replication*. The more replicates that a study contains, the greater the confidence can be had in the veracity of the results. This becomes of greatest importance when the differences between species are small.
- 4. *Voucher specimens*. If it is not possible to examine a morphological voucher for a given molecular sample then one of the principle methods of checking and understanding interesting or spurious results is lost.
- 5. Discarding of suspect data. Information from suspect collections (such as dubious localities, host identifications or samples lacking morphological vouchers) or low quality sequences should be discarded. Just as in classical morphological taxonomy, spurious records are essentially impossible to disprove after publication and only high-quality data should be reported.
- 6. Sequencing the entire ITS region. Traditionally, the ITS2 has been considered a good place to start. This remains true, but ITS2 alone will not necessarily give complete illumination of a system. Whereas either ITS1 or ITS2 will typically discriminate trematode species, the use of both regions increases the discriminating power significantly.
- 7. *Addition of extra genes.* Using molecular data from other gene regions (such as the mitochondrial COI, NDI and ND4) will test

and (usually) corroborate results based on rDNA sequences. These regions are under different selection pressures and different rates of evolution; parallel results will give weight to conclusions based on ITS1 or ITS2 and give answers to a wider range of taxonomic questions.

- 8. Interpreting a system in terms of the combination of morphological, biological and molecular data. In an ideal study, the addition of molecular resolution will clarify previous uncertainty about characters such as host distribution and morphology. Where these sources of data conflict (e.g. "good" species with identical sequences or divergent sequences from samples that lack an indication of morphological or biological difference) then such conflict should be made clear and should be seen as the basis for the need for further study.
- 9. *Willingness to propose change*. There is rarely a pressing or immediate need for new species to be proposed or for species to be synonymised. However, we advocate that where the evidence has become compelling, those scientists should not hesitate to propose taxonomic change, recognising that their proposals remain hypotheses.

REFERENCES

- Adlard, R.D., Barker, S.C., Blair, D. and Cribb, T.H. (1993). Comparisons of the second internal transcribed spacer (ribosomal DNA) from populations and species of Fasciolidae (Digenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* 23, 423–425.
- Agatsuma, T., Iwagami, M., Liu, C.X., Rajapakse, R., Mondal, M.M.H., Kitikoon, V., Ambu, S., Agatsuma, Y., Blair, D. and Higuchi, T. (2002). Affinities between Asian non-human *Schistosoma* species, the *S. indicum* group, and the African human schistosomes. *Journal of Helminthology* 76, 7–19.
- Agatsuma, T., Iwagami, M., Liu, C.X., Saitoh, Y., Kawanaka, M., Upatham, S., Qui, D. and Higuchi, T. (2001). Molecular phylogenetic position of *Schistosoma sinensium* in the genus *Schistosoma. Journal of Helminthology* **75**, 215–221.
- Agatsuma, T., Rajapakse, R.P., Kuruwita, V.Y., Iwagami, M. and Rajapakse, R.C. (2004). Molecular taxonomic position of the elephant schistosome,

Bivitellobilharzia nairi, newly discovered in Sri Lanka. *Parasitology International* **53**, 69–75.

- Anderson, G.R. (1999). Identification and maturation of the metacercaria of *Indodidymozoon pearsoni*. *Journal of Helminthology* **73**, 21–26.
- Anderson, G.R. and Barker, S.C. (1993). Species differentiation in the Didymozoidae (Digenea): restriction fragment length differences in internal transcribed spacer and 5.8S ribosomal DNA. *International Journal for Parasitology* 23, 133–136.
- Anderson, G.R. and Barker, S.C. (1998). Inference of phylogeny and taxonomy within the Didymozoidae (Digenea) from the second internal transcribed spacer (ITS2) of ribosomal DNA. *Systematic Parasitology* 41, 87–94.
- Bartoli, P. and Jousson, O. (2003). The life-cycle of *Podocotyle scorpaenae* (Opecoelidae: Digenea) demonstrated by comparative analysis of ribosomal DNA sequences. In: *Taxonomie, écologie et évolution des métazoaires parasites. Taxonomy, ecology and evolution of metazoan parasites* (*Livre hommage à Louis Euzet*) (C. Combes and J. Jourdane, eds), pp. 17–28. Perpignan: Presses Universitaires de Perpignan.
- Bartoli, P., Jousson, O. and Russell, P.F. (2000). The life cycle of *Monorchis parvus* (Digenea: Monorchiidae) demonstrated by developmental and molecular data. *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 479–489.
- Barton, D.P. (1994). Three species of the genus *Dolichosaccus* Johnston, 1912 (Digenea: Telorchiidae) from the introduced toad *Bufo marinus* (Amphibia: Bufonidae) in Australia, with the erection of *Meditypus* n. subg. *Systematic Parasitology* **29**, 121–131.
- Bell, A.S. and Sommerville, C. (2002). Molecular evidence for the synonymy of two species of *Apatemon* Szidat, 1928, *A. gracilis* (Rudolphi, 1819) and *A. annuligerum* (von Nordmann, 1832) (Digenea: Strigeidae) parasitic as metacercariae in British fishes. *Journal of Helminthology* 76, 193–198.
- Bell, A.S., Sommerville, C. and Valtonen, E.T. (2001). A molecular phylogeny of the genus *Ichthyocotylurus* (Digenea, Strigeidae). *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 833–842.
- Blair, D., Agatsuma, T. and Watanobe, T. (1997a). Molecular evidence for the synonymy of *Paragonimus*, *P. ohirai* Miyazaki, 1939, *P. iloktsuenensis* Chen, 1940, and *P. sadoensis* Miyazaki *et al.*, 1968. *Journal of Helminthology* **71**, 305–310.
- Blair, D., Agatsuma, T., Watanobe, T., Okamoto, M. and Ito, A. (1997b). Geographical genetic structure within the human lung fluke, *Paragonimus westermani*, detected from DNA sequences. *Parasitology* 115, 411–417.
- Blair, D., Campos, A., Cummings, M.P. and Laclette, J.P. (1996). Evolutionary biology of parasitic platyhelminths: the role of molecular phylogenetics. *Parasitology Today* 12, 66–71.
- Blair, D., Van, H.L., Hirai, H., Taguchi, T., Habe, S., Hirata, M., Lai, K., Upatham, S. and Agatsuma, T. (1997c). Relationships between

Schistosoma malayensis and other Asian schistosomes deduced from DNA sequences. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **85**, 259–263.

- Blair, D., Waikagul, J., Honzako, Y. and Agatsuma, T. (1998). Phylogenetic relationships among the Thai species of *Paragonimus* inferred from DNA sequences. *Proceedings of the 9th International Congress of Parasitology* Chiba, Japan.
- Blair, D., Wu, B., Chang, Z.S., Gong, X., Agatsuma, T., Zhang, Y.N., Chen, S.H., Lin, J.X., Chen, M.G., Waikagul, J., Guevara, A.G., Feng, Z. and Davis, G.M. (1999). A molecular perspective on the genera *Par-agonimus* Braun, *Euparagonimus* Chen and *Pagumogonimus* Chen. *Jour-nal of Helminthology* 73, 295–299.
- Bowles, J., Blair, D. and McManus, D.P. (1995). A molecular phylogeny of the human schistosomes. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 4, 103–109.
- Bowles, J., Hope, M., Tiu, W.U., Liu, X. and McManus, D.P. (1993). Nuclear and mitochondrial genetic markers highly conserved between Chinese and Philippine Schistosoma japonicum. Acta Tropica 55, 217–229.
- Capowski, E.E. and Tracy, J.W. (2003). Ribosomal RNA processing and the role of SmMAK16 in ribosome biogenesis in Schistosoma mansoni. Molecular & Biochemical Parasitology 132, 67–74.
- Casey, S.P., Bakke, T.A., Harris, P.D. and Cable, J. (2003). Use of ITS rDNA for discrimination of European green- and brown-banded sporocysts within the genus *Leucochloridium* Carus, 1835 (Digenea: Leucochloridiidae). *Systematic Parasitology* 56, 163–168.
- Chang, Z., Wu, B., Blair, D., Zhang, Y., Hu, L., Chen, S., Chen, M., Feng, Z., Davis, G.M., Chang, Z.S., Wu, B., Zhang, Y.N., Hu, L., Chen, S.H., Chen, M.G. and Feng, Z. (2000). Gene sequencing for identification of *Paragonimus* eggs from a human case. *Chinese Journal of Parasitology* and Parasitic Diseases 18, 213–215.
- Coleman, A.W. (2003). ITS2 is a double-edged tool for eukaryote evolutionary comparisons. *Trends in Genetics* **19**, 370–375.
- Coleman, A.W. and Mai, J.C. (1997). Ribosomal DNA ITS-1 and ITS-2 sequence comparisons as a tool for predicting genetic relatedness. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* **45**, 168–177.
- Cribb, T.H., Anderson, G.R., Adlard, R.D. and Bray, R.A. (1998). A DNAbased demonstration of a three-host life-cycle for the Bivesiculidae (Platyhelminthes: Digenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1791–1795.
- Cribb, T.H., Bray, R.A., Littlewood, D.T.J., Pichelin, S.P. and Herniou, E.A. (2001). The digenea. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 168–185. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Cribb, T.H., Bray, R.A., Olson, P.D. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003). Life cycle evolution in the Digenea: a new perspective from phylogeny. *Advances in Parasitology* **54**, 197–254.
- Cui, A., Chang, Z., Chen, M., Blair, D., Chen, S., Zhang, Y., Feng, Z., Cui, A.L., Chang, Z.S., Chen, M.G., Chen, S.H., Zhang, Y.N. and Feng, Z.

(2003). Taxonomic status in DNA sequences of five species of genus *Paragonimus. Chinese Journal of Parasitology and Parasitic Diseases* **21**, 27–30.

- Despres, L., Imbert-Establet, D., Combes, C. and Bonhomme, F. (1992). Molecular evidence linking hominid evolution to recent radiation of schistosomes (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 1, 295–304.
- Despres, L., Kruger, F.J., Imbert-Establet, D. and Adamson, M.L. (1995). ITS2 ribosomal RNA indicates *Schistosoma hippopotami* is a distinct species. *International Journal for Parasitology* 25, 1509–1514.
- Dvorak, J., Vanacova, S., Hampl, V., Flegr, J. and Horak, P. (2002). Comparison of European *Trichobilharzia* species based on ITS1 and ITS2 sequences. *Parasitology* **124**, 307–313.
- Galazzo, D.E., Dayanandan, S., Marcogliese, D.J. and McLaughlin, J.D. (2002). Molecular systematics of some North American species of *Dip-lostomum* (Digenea) based on rDNA-sequence data and comparisons with European congeners. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 80, 2207–2217.
- Gasser, R.B. (2001). Identification of parasitic nematodes and study of genetic variability using PCR approaches. In: *Parasitic nematodes: Molecular biology, biochemistry and immunology* (M. Kennedy and W. Harnett, eds). Oxon: CABI Press.
- Goertzen, L.R., Cannone, J.J., Gutell, R.R. and Jansen, R.K. (2003). ITS secondary structure derived from comparative analysis: implications for sequence alignment and phylogeny of the Asteraceae. *Molecular Phylo*genetics and Evolution 29, 216–234.
- Grabda-Kazubska, B., Borsuk, P., Laskowski, Z. and Mone, H. (1998). A phylogenetic analysis of trematodes of the genus *Echinoparyphium* and related genera based on sequencing of internal transcribed spacer region of rDNA. *Acta Parasitologica* **43**, 116–121.
- Greer, G.J., Ow-Yang, C.K. and Yong, H.S. (1988). *Schistsoma malayensis* n. sp.: a *Schistsoma japonicum*-complex schistosome from peninsula Malaysia. *Journal of Parasitology* **74**, 471–480.
- Hashimoto, K., Watanobe, T., Liu, C.X., Init, I., Blair, D., Ohnishi, S. and Agatsuma, T. (1997). Mitochondrial DNA and nuclear DNA indicate that the Japanese *Fasciola* species is *F. gigantica. Parasitology Research* 83, 220–225.
- Hershkovitz, M.A. and Lewis, L.A. (1996). Deep-level diagnostic value of the rDNA-ITS region. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **13**, 1276–1295.
- Hillis, D.M. and Davis, S.K. (1986). Evolution of ribosomal DNA: fifty million years of recorded history in the frog genus *Rana*. *Evolution* **40**, 1275–1288.
- Hillis, D.M. and Davis, S.K. (1988). Ribosomal DNA: intraspecific polymorphism, concerted evolution and phylogenetic reconstruction. Systematic Zoology 37, 63–66.

- Hillis, D.M. and Dixon, M.T. (1991). Ribosomal DNA: molecular evolution and phylogenetic inference. *Quarterly Review of Biology* **66**, 411–453.
- Huang, W.Y., He, B., Wang, C.R. and Zhu, X.Q. (2004). Characterisation of *Fasciola* species from Mainland China by ITS-2 ribosomal DNA sequence. *Veterinary Parasitology* 120, 75–83.
- Innis, M.A., Myambo, K.B., Gelfand, D.H. and Brow, M.A.D. (1988). DNA sequencing with thermus-aquaticus DNA-polymerase and direct sequencing of polymerase chain reaction-amplified DNA. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 85, 9436–9440.
- Itagaki, T., Tsumagari, N., Tsutsumi, K.i. and Chinone, S. (2003). Discrimination of three amphistome species by PCR-RFLP based on rDNA ITS2 markers. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science* 65, 931–933.
- Itagaki, T. and Tsutsumi, K. (1998). Triploid form of *Fasciola* in Japan: genetic relationships between *Fasciola hepatica* and *Fasciola gigantica* determined by ITS-2 sequence of the nuclear rDNA. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 777–781.
- Iwagami, M., Ho, L.Y., Su, K., Lai, P.F., Fukushima, M., Nakano, M., Blair, D., Kawashima, K. and Agatsuma, T. (2000). Molecular phylogeographic studies on *Paragonimus westermani* in Asia. *Journal of Helminthology* 74, 315–322.
- Iwagami, M., Monroy, C., Rosas, M.A., Pinto, M.R., Guevara, A.G., Vieira, J.C., Agatsuma, Y. and Agatsuma, T. (2003a). A molecular phylogeographic study based on DNA sequences from individual metacercariae of *Paragonimus mexicanus* from Guatemala and Ecuador. *Journal of Helminthology* 77, 33–38.
- Iwagami, M., Rajapakse, R.P.V.J., Paranagama, W. and Agatsuma, T. (2003b). Identities of two *Paragonimus* species from Sri Lanka inferred from molecular sequences. *Journal of Helminthology* 77, 239–245.
- Jousson, O. and Bartoli, P. (2000). The life cycle of *Opecoeloides columbellae* (Pagenstecher, 1863) n. comb. (Digenea, Opecoelidae): evidence from molecules and morphology. *International Journal for Parasitology* 30, 747–760.
- Jousson, O. and Bartoli, P. (2001). Molecules, morphology and morphometrics of *Cainocreadium labracis* and *Cainocreadium dentecis* n. sp. (Digenea: Opecoelidae) parasitic in marine fishes. *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 706–714.
- Jousson, O. and Bartoli, P. (2002). Species diversity among the genus Monorchis (Digenea: Monorchiidae) parasitic in marine teleosts: molecular, morphological and morphometrical studies with a description of Monorchis blennii n. sp. Parasitology Research 88, 230–241.
- Jousson, O., Bartoli, P. and Pawlowski, J. (1998a). Molecular phylogeny of Mesometridae (Trematoda, Digenea) with its relation to morphological changes in parasites. *Parasite* **5**, 365–369.

THE USE AND IMPLICATIONS OF RIBOSOMAL DNA SEQUENCING

- Jousson, O., Bartoli, P. and Pawlowski, J. (1999). Molecular identification of developmental stages in Opecoelidae (Digenea). *International Journal* for Parasitology 29, 1853–1858.
- Jousson, O., Bartoli, P. and Pawlowski, J. (2000). Cryptic speciation among intestinal parasites (Trematoda: Digenea) infecting sympatric host fishes (Sparidae). Journal of Evolutionary Biology 13, 778–785.
- Jousson, O., Bartoli, P., Zaninetti, L. and Pawlowski, J. (1998b). Use of the ITS rDNA for elucidation of some life-cycles of Mesometridae (Trematoda, Digenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1403–1411.
- Kane, R.A., Ridgers, I.L., Johnston, D.A. and Rollinson, D. (1996). Repetitive sequences within the first internal transcribed spacer of ribosomal DNA in schistosomes contain a Chi-like site. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 75, 265–269.
- Kane, R.A. and Rollinson, D. (1994). Repetitive sequences in the ribosomal DNA internal transcribed spacer of *Schistosoma haematobium*, *Schisto*soma intercalatum and *Schistosoma mattheei*. Molecular & Biochemical Parasitology 63, 153–156.
- Kaukas, A. and Rollinson, D. (1997). Interspecific variation within the 'hypervariable' region of the 18S ribosomal RNA gene among species of Schistosoma Weinland, 1858 (Digenea). *Systematic Parasitology* **36**, 157–160.
- Leon-Regagnon, V., Brooks, D.R. and Perez-Ponce de Leon, G. (1999). Differentiation of Mexican species of *Haematoloechus* Looss, 1899 (Digenea: Plagiorchiformes): molecular and morphological evidence. *Journal* of *Parasitology* 85, 935–946.
- Leon-Regagnon, V. and Paredes, C.E.L. (2002). *Haematoloechus danbrooksi* n. sp. (Digenea: Plagiorchioidea) from *Rana vaillanti* from Los Tuxtlas, Veracruz, Mexico. *Journal of Parasitology* 88, 1215–1221.
- Lo, C.F., Morgan, J.A.T., Galzin, R. and Cribb, T.H. (2001). Identical digeneans in coral reef fishes from French Polynesia and the Great Barrier Reef (Australia) demonstrated by morphology and molecules. *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 1573–1578.
- Luton, K., Walker, D. and Blair, D. (1992). Comparisons of ribosomal internal transcribed spacers from two congeneric species of flukes (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda: Digenea). *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 56, 323–328.
- Maldonado, J.A., Loker, E.S., Morgan, J.A.T., Rey, L. and Lanfredi, R.M. (2001). Description of the adult worms of a new Brazilian isolate of *Echinostoma paraensei* (Platyhelminthes: Digenea) from its natural vertebrate host *Nectomys squamipes* by light and scanning electron microscopy and molecular analysis. *Parasitology Research* 87, 840–848.
- Maniatis, T., Fritsch, E.F. and Sambrook, J. (1982). Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual. Cold Springs Harbour, New York: Cold Springs Harbour Laboratory.

- Mas-Coma, S., Funatsu, I.R. and Bargues, M.D. (2001). Fasciola hepatica and lymnaeid snails occurring at very high altitude in South America. *Parasitology* 123, S115–S127.
- McManus, D.P. and Bowles, J. (1996). Molecular genetic approaches to parasite identification: their value in diagnostic parasitology and systematics. *International Journal for Parasitology* **26**, 687–704.
- Michot, B., Despres, L., Bonhomme, F. and Bachellerie, J.P. (1993). Conserved secondary structures in the ITS2 of trematode pre-rRNA. *FEBS Letters* **316**, 247–252.
- Morgan, J.A.T. and Blair, D. (1995). Nuclear rDNA ITS sequence variation in the trematode genus *Echinostoma*: an aid to establishing relationships within the 37-collar-spine group. *Parasitology* **111**, 609–615.
- Morgan, J.A.T. and Blair, D. (1998). Trematode and monogenean rRNA ITS2 secondary structures support a four-domain model. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* **47**, 406–419.
- Mullis, K., Faloona, F., Scharf, S., Saiki, R., Horn, G. and Erlich, H. (1986). Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. *Cold Spring Harbour Symposium on Quantitative Biology* 51, 263–273.
- Nadler, S.A. (1990). Molecular approaches to studying helminth population genetics and phylogeny. *International Journal for Parasitology* **20**, 11–29.
- Niewiadomska, K. (2002). Family Diplostomidae Poirier, 1886. In: Keys to the Trematoda (D.I. Gibson, A. Jones and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 167–196.
- Niewiadomska, K. and Laskowski, Z. (2002). Systematic relationships among six species of *Diplostomum* Nordmann, 1832 (Digenea) based on morphological and molecular data. *Acta Parasitologica* 47, 20–28.
- Nolan, M.J. and Cribb, T.H. (2004a). The life cycle of *Paracardicoloides yamagutii* Martin, 1974 (Digenea: Sanguinicolidae). *Folia Parasitologica* 51, 320–326.
- Nolan, M.J. and Cribb, T.H. (2004b). Two new blood flukes (Digenea: Sanguinicolidae) from Epinephelinae (Perciformes: Serranidae) of the Pacific Ocean. *Parasitology International* **53**, 327–335.
- Overstreet, R.M., Curran, S.S., Pote, L.M., King, D.T., Blend, C.K. and Grater, W.D. (2002). *Bolbophorus damnificus* n. sp. (Digenea: Bolbophoridae) from the channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus* and American white pelican *Pelecanus erythrorhynchos* in the USA based on life-cycle and molecular data. *Systematic Parasitology* **52**, 81–96.
- Park, G.-M., Im, K.-I. and Yong, T.-S. (2003). Phylogenetic relationship of ribosomal ITS2 and mitochondrial COI among diploid and triploid *Par-agonimus westermani* isolates. *The Korean Journal of Parasitology* 41, 47–55.
- Picard, D. and Jousson, O. (2001). Genetic variability among cercariae of the Schistosomatidae (Trematoda: Digenea) causing swimmer's itch in Europe. *Parasite* 8, 237–242.

THE USE AND IMPLICATIONS OF RIBOSOMAL DNA SEQUENCING

- Ryu, J.S., Hwang, U.W., Min, D.Y., Shin, K.S., Nam, S.J. and Lee, O.R. (2000). Molecular identification of *Paragonimus ohirai* and *P. westermani* from Anhui Province. *China. Parasite*, 7, 305–309.
- Saiki, R., Bugawan, T.L., Horn, G.T., Mullis, K.B. and Erlich, H.A. (1986). Analysis of enzymatically amplified beta-globin and HLA-DQ alpha DNA with allele-specific oligonucleotide probes. *Nature* 324, 163–166.
- Schulenburg, J.H.G.v.d., Englisch, U. and Waegele, J.W. (1999). Evolution of ITS1 rDNA in the Digenea (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda): 3' end sequence conservation and its phylogenetic utility. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 48, 2–12.
- Schulenburg, J.H.G. and Wagele, J.-W. (1998). Molecular characterization of digenetic trematodes associated with *Cyathura carinata* (Crustacea: Isopoda) with a note on the utility of 18s ribosomal DNA for phylogenetic analysis in the Digenea (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda). *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1425–1428.
- Snyder, S.D. and Tkach, V.V. (2001). Phylogenetic and biogeographical relationships among some holarctic frog lung flukes (Digenea: Haematoloechidae). *Journal of Parasitology* 87, 1433–1440.
- Sorensen, R.E., Curtis, J. and Minchella, D.J. (1998). Intraspecific variation in the rDNA loci of 37-collar-spined echinostomes from north America: implications for sequence-based diagnoses and phylogenetics. *Journal of Parasitology* 84, 992–997.
- Southern, E.M. (1975). Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. *Journal of Molecular Biology* **98**, 503–517.
- Stevens, J.R. and Schofield, C.J. (2003). Phylogenetics and sequence analysis—some problems for the unwary. *Trends in Parasitology* **19**, 582–588.
- Sugiyama, H., Morishima, Y., Kameoka, Y. and Kawanaka, M. (2002). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based molecular discrimination between *Paragonimus westermani* and *P. miyazakii* at the metacercarial stage. *Molecular and Cellular Probes* 16, 231–236.
- Swofford, D.L. (1998). *PAUP: Phylogenetic Analysis Using Parsimony (and other methods)*. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer.
- Tkach, V.V., Pawlowski, J. and Sharpilo, V.P. (2000). Molecular and morphological differentiation between species of the *Plagiorchis vespertilionis* group (Digenea, Plagiorchiidae) occurring in European bats, with a redescription of *P. vespertilionis* (Muller, 1780). *Systematic Parasitology* 47, 9–22.
- Van Herwerden, L., Blair, D. and Agatsuma, T. (1998). Intra- and interspecific variation in nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer 1 of the *Schistosoma japonicum* species complex. *Parasitology* **116**, 311–317.
- Van Herwerden, L., Blair, D. and Agatsuma, T. (1999). Intra- and interindividual variation in ITS1 of *Paragonimus westermani* (Trematoda: Digenea) and related species: implications for phylogenetic studies. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 12, 67–73.

Advances and Trends in the Molecular Systematics of the Parasitic Platyhelminthes

Peter D. Olson¹ and Vasyl V. Tkach²

¹Division of Parasitology, Department of Zoology, The Natural History Museum, Cromwell Road, London SW7 5BD, UK ²Department of Biology, University of North Dakota, Grand Forks, North Dakota, 58202-9019, USA

	Abstract	. 166
1.	Introduction	. 166
	1.1. DNA Taxonomy	. 168
	1.2. The Platyhelminthes as Lophotrochozoan Bilaterians	. 169
	1.3. Interrelationships and Position of the Neodermata	. 170
	1.4. Abbreviations.	. 171
2.	Molecular Systematics of the Cestoda	. 172
	2.1. Interrelationships of the Major Lineages of Cestodes	. 172
	2.2. Inter- and Intraspecific Variation in the Cestodes	. 176
З.	Molecular Systematics of the Digenea	. 180
	3.1. Non-Sequence-Based Works	. 181
	3.2. Interrelationships of the Major Lineages of Digeneans	. 182
	3.3. Interrelationships of Genera and Families	. 185
	3.4. Inter- and Intraspecific Variation in the Digeneans	. 187
4.	Molecular Systematics of the Monogenea	. 194
	4.1. Non-Monophyly of the Monogenea	. 195
	4.2. Interrelationships of the Monopisthocotylea and	
	Polyopisthocotylea	. 196
	4.3. Systematics of Select Groups	. 198
	4.4. Systematics and Diagnostics in <i>Gyrodactylus</i>	. 201
5.	Beyond Systematics: Molecular Diagnostics	. 204
	5.1. Ecological Diagnostics and Life Cycle Studies	. 206
	5.2. Clinical Diagnostics	. 208
6.	Future Directions.	. 209
	6.1. Taxonomic Considerations	. 209

6.2. Analytical Considerations	211
6.3. Molecular Targets	212
6.4. Genomics	212
Acknowledgments	215
References	215

ABSTRACT

The application of molecular systematics to the parasitic Platyhelminthes (Cestoda, Digenea and Monogenea) over the last decade has advanced our understanding of their interrelationships and evolution substantially. Here we review the current state of play and the early works that led to the molecular-based hypotheses that now predominate in the field; advances in their systematics, taxonomy, classification and phylogeny, as well as trends in species circumscription, molecular targets and analytical methods are discussed for each of the three major parasitic groups. A by-product of this effort has been an ever increasing number of parasitic flatworms characterized genetically, and the useful application of these data to the diagnosis of animal and human pathogens, and to the elucidation of life histories are presented. The final section considers future directions in the field, including taxon sampling, molecular targets of choice, and the current and future utility of mitochondrial and nuclear genomics in systematic study.

1. INTRODUCTION

From new developments in systematic theory and molecular biological techniques, notably the polymerase chain reaction, emerged the field of molecular phylogenetics and its effect has had an immediate and far-reaching impact on biology. Beyond simply coming to the fore of systematic biology, the field has facilitated the integration of comparative evolutionary thought throughout the sub-disciplines of biology, and our inferences are now richer for it. With regard to the Platyhelminthes, and particularly to the parasitic groups (the Neodermata), research over the past decade forms a significant body of literature with the systematics of few major taxa remaining that have not been investigated at least preliminarily using molecular data. To some extent, however, studies have been concentrated at two extremes, aiming either to circumscribe major lineages and estimate their interrelationships, or to circumscribe species and strains, particularly in those of medical or economic importance. Fewer studies have addressed the systematics of intermediary taxonomic groups such as families and orders, although focus is increasingly moving in this direction.

This paper reviews the advances that have been made through molecular studies in our understanding of the systematics and evolution of the three obligately parasitic groups of flatworms: the Cestoda (tapeworms), Digenea (flukes) and Monogenea. In each of these taxa, new phylogenetic hypotheses, evolutionary scenarios and in some cases revised classifications have been proposed based on molecular data, mostly stemming from the ribosomal DNA (rDNA) genes. In attempting a comprehensive review of the literature that has led to these advances, we cannot give adequate attention to their many biological implications or the corresponding morphological arguments for or against the results based on molecules. The nature of the work and the many hypotheses that predate the field of molecular systematics make it equally difficult to avoid reference to morphology altogether, and at least some consideration of these issues is necessarily found in the text. In addition, it is not possible to provide comprehensive coverage of the many ways in which molecular data are being used for the diagnosis of medically important taxa, most studies of which do not bear directly on issues in systematics or evolution.

Ongoing technical advances in sequencing and associated laboratory procedures have led to an ever increasing expansion of available genetic data and ways in which such data may be applied to the study of systematics. The characterization and study of complete mitochondrial genomes, for example, are now readily possible and the characterization of nuclear genomes and their associated transcriptomes are being sought for a number of key platyhelminth taxa (e.g. *Schistosoma* and *Echinococcus*). The impact of genomic data has yet to make a tangible mark on the study of platyhelminth systematics, but may well introduce significant changes to the field in the near future. Work in

this area, as well as current practices in the analysis of molecular systematic data, are considered briefly in the final section.

1.1. DNA Taxonomy

Molecular data are being used not only to hypothesize ancestor–descendant relationships among living organisms in the pursuit of a comprehensive 'tree of life' (or perhaps 'ring of life'; Rivera and Lake, 2004), but for the circumscription of our most basic of biological entities: species. Thus among the many species concepts that have been proposed and debated, typically with little or no direct influence over the practical, i.e. morphological, recognition of species, DNA-based taxonomy is quickly coming to the fore, and with it new criteria for delineating and testing species boundaries. A considerable number of the studies reviewed herein are based at least implicitly on such an approach, although the questions addressed and the results reported concern their contribution to the understanding of higher interrelationships, classification and related areas relevant to systematics broadly.

There is no doubt that species circumscription, as the foundation of practical systematic biology, has benefited immensely from the incorporation of molecular data. On the other hand, it could also be seen to have been made more complex because of the effectively continuous spectrum of variation available from the genome. Proponents of 'DNA taxonomy' argue for supremacy of their methods over traditional morphological species concepts citing reproducibility, efficiency and cost as being principal advantages (Tautz et al., 2003), or as justified simply by the theoretical impossibility of describing all of Earth's organisms using traditional methods (Blaxter and Floyd, 2003). In truth, however, both the theoretical and practical subjectivity of species boundaries remain as much (more so?) a problem for DNA-based taxonomy as they have been using traditional, morphologically based criteria, and this, along with many other factors (Lipscomb et al., 2003; Seberg et al., 2003), would suggest that a purely DNA-based approach to species circumscription makes sense only in the absence of other data (see also Spakulová, 2002, for a review of species-level issues and concepts in helminthology).

Whatever the long-term future and practice of DNA taxonomy may be, we already see that the combined application of morphological and molecular methods has become commonplace in the description of new species and will come to significantly improve our understanding of both genetic and morphological variability at the species boundary. Practical and theoretical considerations of the approach and its application to the parasitic platyhelminthes are not considered further here; a companion paper by Nolan and Cribb (this volume) provides an evaluation of these issues as applied to the Digenea.

1.2. The Platyhelminthes as Lophotrochozoan Bilaterians

Traditional views on the position of the Platyhelminthes within the animal kingdom held that they were a basal, 'primitive group' exemplifying the first appearance of bilateral symmetry among the triploblastic animals (e.g. Hyman, 1951). Results stemming from the analysis of 18S rDNA quickly overturned this and other deeply entrenched ideas in animal evolution (e.g. Halanych et al., 1995; Aguinaldo et al., 1997; Carranza et al., 1997), and such a pivotal position in the evolution of the Bilateria is now postulated for the acoelomorph flatworms alone (Ruiz-Trillo et al., 1999). The uniqueness of the acoelomorph flatworms is supported by multiple lines of evidence including both ribosomal and protein-coding genes (Ruiz-Trillo et al., 1999, 2002; Jondelius et al., 2002; Giribet, 2003; Telford et al., 2003), Hox gene signatures (Cook et al., 2004), and unique mitochondrial codon usage (Telford et al., 2000). The revised Platyhelminthes (minus the acoelomorphs) in turn appears to be more derived and is grouped within the Lophotrochozoa, one of the three main branches of the Bilateria as inferred from 18S rDNA (Aguinaldo et al., 1997) and other genes (e.g. Eernisse and Peterson, 2004; see Figure 1A). Although the interrelationships of the Lophotrochozoa remain contentious, the circumscription of a monophyletic Platyhelminthes and its new position in the animal kingdom are significant advances toward a better understanding of the origins and diversification of the phylum.



Figure 1 Phylogenetic position and interrelationships of the phylum Platyhelminthes. (A) The platyhelminths as members of the Lophotrochozoa based on a combined analysis of morphology, SSU and Myosin II by Eernisse and Peterson (2004). Note position of the acoelomorphs at the base of the Bilateria. (B), (C) Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes as estimated by Bayesian analysis of complete SSU or complete LSU from Lockyer *et al.* (2003a). Although monophyly of the parasitic Platyhelminthes (the Neodermata) has been strongly and consistently supported, interrelationships within the Neodermata remain confused and alternatives to the scenarios shown here have also been supported by molecular studies.

1.3. Interrelationships and Position of the Neodermata

Phylum-level molecular phylogenetic analyses of the Platyhelminthes have consistently shown that the obligately parasitic groups, Cestoda (Gyrocotylidea + Amphilinidea + Eucestoda), Monogenea (Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea) and Trematoda (Aspidogastrea + Digenea) form a derived clade (Baverstock *et al.*, 1991; Blair, 1993b; Rohde *et al.*, 1993; Littlewood *et al.*, 1999b; Litvaitis and Rohde, 1999; Littlewood and Olson, 2001), as was previously proposed by Ehlers (1984) who coined the term Neodermata in reference to the replacement of the larval epithelium by a

syncitial tegument. However, the interrelationships of the Neodermata have been and remain unsettled by the application of molecular data. Traditionally held views derived from Janicki (1920) and Bychowsky (1937) proposed that the presence of a 'cercomer' united the Monogenea with the Cestoda into the 'Cercomeromorphae', to the exclusion of the Trematoda. While this scenario has been supported by some molecular phylogenies based on 18S (e.g. Littlewood and Olson, 2001), others have suggested a closer relationship between the Cestoda and Digenea (e.g. Litvaitis and Rohde, 1999), including a recent study based on complete 18S and 28S rDNA (Figures 1B and C) that advocates rejecting the cercomer theory due to the questionable homology among such structures (Lockyer et al., 2003a). The difficulty in resolving this basic three-taxon statement is further confounded by the likely paraphyly of the Monogenea (Mollaret et al., 1997; Justine, 1998; Littlewood et al., 1999b). Although supported by a number of morphological features (Boeger and Kritsky, 2001), the two main branches of the group, Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea, show greater differences than similarities in their anatomy and biology (Justine, 1998; Euzet and Combes, 2003) and rate of sequence divergence (Olson and Littlewood, 2002). Indeed, it may be that the synapomorphies (shared derived characters) identified by Boeger and Kritsky (2001) are in fact symplesiomorphies (shared ancestral characters) simply retained in the more derived lineage of 'monogeneans' whose most recent ancestor is shared with either the Cestoda or Digenea (in which such features were lost). Thus other than support for the monophyly of the Neodermata itself, the interrelationships of the primary neodermatan lineages as estimated by molecular data remain controversial, precluding robust inferences regarding the condition of the 'proto-typical' parasitic flatworm.

1.4. Abbreviations

The following abbreviations are used throughout the text: 18S, small subunit rDNA; 28S, large subunit nuclear rDNA; bp(s), base pair(s); cox1, cytochrome *c* oxidase subunit 1; gDNA, total genomic DNA; ITS1/ITS2, internal transcribed spacers 1 or 2; mtDNA, mitochondrial

DNA; *nad1*, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide dehydrogenase subunit 1; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; RAPD, randomly amplified polymorphic DNA; RFLP, restriction fragment length polymorphism; SSCP, single-strand conformation polymorphism.

2. MOLECULAR SYSTEMATICS OF THE CESTODA

The Cestoda comprises more than 5000 described species (Georgiev, 2003) including the aetiological agents of hydatidiosis and cysticercosis (*Echinococcus* and *Taenia*, respectively). As adults, they are enteric parasites of all classes of vertebrates and utilize arthropods as first intermediate hosts. They have been recognized since the time of ancient Greece (Grove, 1990) and their diversity has been well documented in the last century; systematic treatments include Yamaguti (1959), Schmidt (1986) and most recently Khalil *et al.* (1994), who recognized 14 major lineages at the Linnean rank of order. Nevertheless, the application of molecular data has challenged ideas based on morphology and host associations and has led to fundamental changes in our understanding of cestode relationships and evolution. Early studies in the molecular systematics of the Cestoda were reviewed by Mariaux and Olson (2001) and we have minimized repetition of their review here.

2.1. Interrelationships of the Major Lineages of Cestodes

Prior to molecular systematics, scenarios presented to explain the evolution of the cestodes were almost entirely lacking in agreement. Disagreement stemmed not only from the general pattern of evolution, but in the homology and evolutionary importance of morphological structures, and in the number and taxonomic composition of the major lineages themselves. The absence of segmentation in groups such as the Caryophyllidea, for example, could be justifiably argued as evidence of their 'primitive' condition or as having become secondarily lost; morphology and life history traits are themselves insufficient to arbitrate between the two interpretations. Unique features of groups such as the Nippotaeniidea or Haplobothriidea only help to establish their dissimilarity to other groups; characters unambiguously uniting two or more groups to the exclusion of others are few and far between. Works by Mariaux (1998) and Olson and Caira (1999) were early attempts to overcome the limitations of morphology and examine the composition and relative positions of the major lineages of cestodes as had been defined in Khalil et al. (1994). Their studies (see Figure 2) differed in the representation of higher (ordinal) taxa and in the gene regions analyzed, making them more complementary than compatible, but together provided the initial evaluations of the major questions in cestode evolution. While limited in taxonomic representation and support from the data, a number of important general conclusions were consistent: the monozoic (Caryophyllidea and Spathebothriidea) and difossate (Diphyllidea, Pseudophyllidea and Trypanorhyncha) orders are basal to a clade of tetrafossate (four-part scoleces) groups, with the orders Cyclophyllidea, Nippotaeniidea and Tetrabothriidea forming a derived clade within the tetrafossate clade (Figure 2). In addition, the orders Pseudophyllidea and Tetraphyllidea were found to be paraphyletic, with the Diphyllobothriidae independent of the remaining 'Pseudophyllidea', and the Tetraphyllidea forming multiple lineages within the tetrafossate clade. The relative positions of the difossate lineages, as well as those within the tetrafossate clade were inconsistent between studies (Mariaux, 1998; Olson and Caira, 1999) and among gene regions and methods of analysis (Olson and Caira, 1999).

Thus a reasonably solid and morphologically independent foundation for the group was forged and available for further testing. Kodedová *et al.* (2000), for instance, expanded the 18S data of Olson and Caira (1999) with additional taxa representing the Caryophyllidea, Proteocephalidea and Pseudophyllidea (Figure 2). Considered only from the interrelationships of the orders themselves, the improved taxon representation of these groups had the unfortunate effect of reducing the resolution (using parsimony analysis), although a derived tetrafossate clade was still supported. Similarly, Hoberg *et al.* (2001) combined morphological data with a few additional sequences added to the work of Mariaux (1998) and added further support of the conclusions described above. The same year, Olson
PETER D. OLSON AND VASYL V. TKACH



Figure 2 Molecular hypotheses of the inter-ordinal relationships of the tapeworms showing broad support for the derived tetrafossate and higher-tetrafossate clades. The positions of the Caryophyllidea and Spathebothriidea and their implications for the evolution of strobilation in the cestodes are highlighted with open and filled circles, respectively. Orders found to be paraphyletic indicated in bold type (Note: the Diphyllobothriidae is labelled as a lineage separate of the 'Pseudophyllidea' throughout the figure.)

et al. (2001) more than doubled the number of exemplar taxa used in previous studies, complemented complete 18S data with partial (D1–D3; ~1400 bp) 28S data, and re-evaluated a suite of morphological characters derived from the studies of Hoberg *et al.* (2001) and Justine (2001). Their analyses (Olson *et al.*, 2001; see Figure 2), provided additional support for the general conclusions stated above as

well as greater insight into the problems of paraphyly, but also showed how labile the internal nodes of the tree were. For this reason, no formal revision of the classification was made, although recommendations were mooted by the authors. Figure 2 shows the positions of the Caryophyllidea (open circles) and Spathebothriidea (closed circles) as estimated in some of the works discussed above. In most of these, their positions are basal with respect to the fully segmented 'strobilate' groups, implying that they are primarily monozoic (nonsegmented). However, strong and consistent support for their positions has not been obtained, and more derived positions are also recovered, albeit with an equal lack of support.

Below the class level, the interrelationships of few higher taxa (e.g. orders, families) have been examined even preliminarily using molecular data. A notable exception is the Proteocephalidea for which a concerted effort has been made. de Chambrier et al. (2004), for example, presented a comprehensive treatment, expanding the earlier work of Zehnder and Mariaux (1999). Their work (de Chambrier et al., 2004) combined morphology with partial 28S data for 75 taxa and showed that a number of genera, including the highly speciose Proteocephalus, were paraphyletic and such taxa were formally amended by the authors. Unexpectedly, their work also revealed that neotropical species, which show the greatest present day diversity, were derived and therefore the neotropics could not be the centre of origin for the group as had been postulated previously. These works have been expanded further by Hypsa et al. (2005) who added ITS2 and partial (V4) 18S data to the sequences analyzed by de Chambrier et al. (2004), and also examined the utility of secondary structural characters (of ITS2). Considerable agreement is found between the two studies and the additional data helped primarily to resolve the more derived parts of the tree.

Olson *et al.* (1999) made a preliminary examination of the lineages that make up the 'Tetraphyllidea', parasites of sharks and rays, revealing clades specific to their hosts groups (i.e. sharks, cownose rays and diamond rays). This and other works (i.e. Olson and Caira, 1999; Olson *et al.*, 2001) show that the Rhinebothriinae (sensu Euzet, 1994) appears as the most basal of the 'tetraphyllidean' lineages, and a recent analysis by Caira *et al.* (in press) has shown that this is followed

by a lineage representing the Cathetocephalidae. Beyond that results are less consistent, albeit the phyllobothriid (non-hooked) lineages generally appear basal to onchobothriid (hooked) lineages, the latter of which also includes the monophyletic Proteocephalidea.

Future works on the constituent cestode groups similar to that on the Proteocephalidea are needed, especially to resolve relationships among the difossate lineages Diphyllidea, 'Pseudophyllidea' and Trypanorhyncha, and to subdivide the 'Tetraphyllidea' into monophyletic lineages. Although a few works have addressed interrelationships in the Cyclophyllidea (e.g. Mariaux, 1998; von Nickisch-Rosenegk et al., 1999; Foronda et al., 2004), no attempt at a comprehensive estimate has been made. It is in this group particularly, being more speciose than all other cestode orders combined and containing the most important cestode pathogens of man, that a large-scale analysis is needed. Ongoing work by the present authors and by many of our colleagues in cestodology is currently underway and aims to provide more comprehensive studies of a number of orders including the Cyclophyllidea, Lecanicephalidea, Pseudophyllidea, Tetraphyllidea and Trypanorhyncha. In turn, such studies will provide a wealth of new data for re-examining the interrelationships of the orders themselves.

2.2. Inter- and Intraspecific Variation in the Cestodes

The Cyclophyllidea, especially the Taeniidae, contains the vast majority of cestode species reported from man (Ashford and Crewe, 2003) and are thus widely studied at the inter- and intraspecific levels. For example, molecular data have allowed the recognition of a new Asian species of taeniid from Man, *Taenia asiatica*, which occurs sympatrically alongside *T. saginata* and *T. solium* (Eom *et al.*, 2002), and PCR methods for their differentiation have been recently developed (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, Yamasaki *et al.* (2002), using mitochondrial genes and two techniques capable of detecting single-base changes, found that Asian *T. solium* could be readily differentiated from American/African isolates, suggesting the possibility of yet another distinct Asian lineage. Variation in *cox1* was examined in seven species of *Taenia* and two species of *Echinococcus*, including 10 isolates

of *T. taeniaeformis* and six isolates of *E. multilocularis*, by Okamoto *et al.* (1995). High interspecific variation was found among the taeniid species and isolates of *T. taeniaeformis*, but no variation was found among those of *E. multilocularis*, regardless of host or location.

Kamenetzky et al. (2000) developed a technique to extract usable gDNA from both fertile and non-fertile hydatid cysts of Echinococcus granulosus and found that cyst fertility was not correlated with strain, as both types recovered from the intermediate host proved to be of the same genotype. Similarly, analysis of nadl sequences of E. granulosus cysts from domestic and wild animals as well as humans in Poland, Ukraine and Slovakia (Kedra et al., 1999, 2000b; Tkach et al., 2002b) has demonstrated that fertile and infertile cysts of the pig strain of *E. granulosus* may be found in both animals and humans. However, Obwaller et al. (2004) showed high levels of intraspecific strain differentiation in E. granulosus using cox1 and nad1 that corresponded largely to their host associations (e.g. sheep, horse, cattle, pig, etc.). Comparison of complete mitochondrial genomes (see Section 6.4.1) similarly link strain variation to host association (Le et al., 2002b). Previously Kędra et al. (2000a, 2001) showed genetic variability in nad1 sequences of E. multilocularis and T. hydatigena, from different geographic regions.

Genetic variation in *Mesocestoides*, primarily parasitic in canids, was studied by Crosbie *et al.* (2000) among isolates from domestic dogs and coyotes and showed a number of distinct genetic signatures using 18S and ITS2. *Hymenolepis nana* isolates from man and rodents in Western Australia could be differentiated using COI, albeit not with the more conserved ITS1 or paramyosin genes (Macnish *et al.*, 2002b). Attempts to infect mice with human isolates were unsuccessful (Macnish *et al.*, 2002a), further supporting the presence of two independent strains or species.

Fewer reports have dealt with cyclophyllidean species of wild animals. Genetic variation in species of the genus *Rodentolepis* (Hymenolepididae) from the Pyrenean mountains of Spain and France was examined using allozyme electrophoresis and morphometrics. Casanova *et al.* (2001) were able to discriminate between *R. straminea* and *R. microstoma* in murid rodents, and Santalla *et al.* (2002) examined intraspecific variation in *R. asymmetrica* from several species of voles, finding minor morphometric, but no genetic variation. Another pair of studies provides extensive analysis of genetic and morphometric variation, as well as biogeography in anoplocephalid cestodes of Holarctic collared lemmings (*Dicrostonyx*): Haukisalmi *et al.* (2001) uncovered cryptic species of *Paranoplocephala*, and Wickström *et al.* (2001) showed cospeciation of *Andrya arctica* within the Holarctic region, but not in the host split between Eurasia and North America. Using *cox1* data, evidence for multiple cryptic species of anoplocephalids was found in *Paranoplocephala omphalodes* in voles (Haukisalmi *et al.*, 2004), *P. arctica* in lemmings (Wickström *et al.*, 2003) and in the genus *Progamotaenia* in Australian macropodid marsupials (Hu *et al.*, 2005).

Outside the Cyclophyllidea, only a few members of the Pseudophyllidea are known from man (Ashford and Crewe, 2003) and all belong to the family Diphyllobothiidae, the only pseudophyllidean family infecting homeothermic tetrapods and now thought to represent an independent evolutionary lineage (Mariaux, 1998; Olson and Caira, 1999; Olson *et al.*, 2001; see below and Figure 2). The diphyllobothriid *Spirometra* is the aetiological agent of sparganosis, the result of infection with the plerocercoid stage of these canid/felid adult worms. Its extensive host and geographic ranges make it likely to be a complex of species, and Zhu *et al.* (2002) used SSCP to detect single-base variation in the *cox1* gene in populations stemming from different second intermediate hosts. Somewhat surprisingly, only two haplotypes were detected, differentiating specimens from non-amphibian and amphibian hosts in Australia.

Like Spirometra, Ligula intestinalis is more commonly encountered in the larval stage. The global ubiquity of Ligula plerocercoids in freshwater fishes and observed differences in pathological reactions of fish species also suggest the possibility of a large species complex. To this end, Olson *et al.* (2002) used the entire ITS region and partial 28S to examine Ligula populations in two different sympatric fish hosts in Northern Ireland. Within-host populations were identical, whereas consistent between-host differences were found in all gene regions (except the 5.8S which was invariant), with the ITS-2 showing the most variation. The same rDNA gene regions and sequences were used by Luo *et al.* (2003a) to examine the possible synonymy of Ligula with Digramma. Their comparisons showed that intergeneric divergences were only marginally larger than intra-generic (0.5–2% vs. 0–1.2%) divergences. Confounding their judgement, however, were parsimony results that supported separated clades for each genus. The same year, Li and Liao (2003) provided additional evidence for the synonomy of *Ligula* and *Digramma*, finding no variation in the 28S and COI genes, and only 0.7 and 7.4% variation in the quickly evolving ITS1 and *nad1* genes, respectively. Subsequently, Logan *et al.* (2004) examined the interrelationships of the diphyllobothriid genera *Digramma*, *Diphyllobothrium*, *Ligula* and *Schistocephalus* using ITS2. Their results further corroborated those above (i.e. Li and Liao, 2003; Luo *et al.*, 2003a), and provided additional evidence for the likely species complex represented by *L. intestinalis*. Thus the long-standing question of the validity of *Digramma* appears to be answered in the negative.

Other studies on pseudophyllideans have targeted species in commercially important freshwater and marine fishes. For example, following a series of studies examining genetic variation in Proteocephalus (Král'ová, 1996; Král'ová and Spakulová, 1996; Král'ová et al., 1997), Král'ová et al. (2001) used direct sequence comparison and PCR-RFLP to differentiate the salmonid cestodes Eubothrium crassum and E. salvelini, and more recently extended this to E. rugosum (Král'ová-Hromadová et al., 2003). Snábel et al. (2004) approached the same problem via allozyme variation, showing E. crassum and E. salvelini to be distinct entities restricted to their respective fish hosts. In all cases, these species could be readily diagnosed by RFLP analysis of the ITS region. Much finer variation was studied by Luo et al. (2003b) in the fish cestode Bothriocephalus acheilognathi using microsatellite markers. Their work represents one of the few population genetics studies on cestodes (Wickström et al., 2001; Snábel et al., 2004) and follows an earlier, phylogenetically based study of the same species collected from the basin area of the Yangtze River in China (Luo et al., 2002). Using eight microsatellite markers, they showed that heterozygosity was best accounted for by host species, rather than location, and genetic variation was higher than might be expected among sub-populations from sympatric host species, taken together as evidence of cryptic speciation (Luo et al., 2003b). More recently the genus *Bothriocephalus* was shown to be paraphyletic based on ITS2 and 18S without the inclusion of a number of additional genera such as *Anantrum* and *Clestobothrium* (Skeríková *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, karyological variation in number and morphology has been recently documented in *Bothriocephalus* spp. by Petkeviciute (2003).

In the Proteocephalidea, Zehnder and de Chambrier (2000) and Zehnder *et al.* (2000) provided examples of the combined morphological and molecular approach to taxonomy. Similarly, Skeríková *et al.* (2001) showed the monophyly of the European species of *Proteocephalus*, a cosmopolitan genus previously shown to be nonnatural (i.e. non-monophyletic, Zehnder and Mariaux, 1999; de Chambrier *et al.*, 2004), but found no evidence for host-parasite coevolution. Rosas-Valdez *et al.* (2004) examined the monophyly of the subfamily Corallobothrinae using 28S and showed it to be a nonnatural division of the Proteocephalidae, although the genera *Corallobothrium*, *Corallotaenia* and *Megathylacoides* formed a 'North American' clade with strong support.

3. MOLECULAR SYSTEMATICS OF THE DIGENEA

Comprising ~18 000 nominal species, the Digenea is by far the most speciose of the three main groups of parasitic Platyhelminthes, and may well be the largest group of internal metazoan parasites of animals (Cribb *et al.*, 2001). Despite a vast literature on the group extending back well into the eighteenth century, the classification and phylogeny of the Digenea remained unstable and the interrelationships of numerous digenean taxa, at both higher and lower taxonomic levels, unclear. Thus the origin and evolution of the digeneans and their remarkable diversity of life cycles have long been subjects of inquiry. Basic problems such as identifying the most 'primitive' extant digenean lineage have elicited heated debates without resolution (for instance, Gibson, 1987; Brooks, 1989; Brooks *et al.*, 1989; Pearson, 1992; Brooks and McLennan, 1993). At lower taxonomic levels, differentiating species and genera has been problematic in many families, and thus the families themselves lack clear morphological boundaries. Studying digenean life history is especially challenging due to their complex sequence of ontogenetic stages, hosts and niches, and data on the ontogeny of most digenean groups are fragmentary or lacking entirely (Yamaguti, 1975). Thus the adoption of molecular techniques was especially welcomed by researchers working on their systematics, evolution and ecology.

Unlike the Cestoda, where considerable effort has focused on resolving the interrelationships of higher-level taxa (i.e. orders), studies of digeneans have generally concentrated on lower taxa and only in recent years have more comprehensive works appeared. This is explained in part by the extraordinary diversity of the digeneans, and thus the significantly greater time and resources required to generate a molecular database sufficient for analysis of the class as a whole. Nevertheless, data are now available for the major groups and most significant families, enabling both diagnostic and systematic research in the group to advance more rapidly.

3.1. Non-Sequence-Based Works

Publications based on DNA sequence data represent the mainstream of modern molecular systematics and thus form the majority of works covered here. However, a substantial number of works dealing with species differentiation and systematics were published before PCR and sequencing became routine techniques. By far the most commonly used non-PCR-related technique is alloenzyme electrophoresis (e.g. Andrews and Chilton, 1999), although other methods, such as thin layer chromatography and DNA hybridization, have also been applied to digeneans. The vast majority of these works has been devoted to differentiating among populations or species in medically important taxa such as the schistosomes (Fletcher et al., 1980; Write and Ross, 1980; Viyanant and Upatham, 1985; Walker et al., 1985, 1986, 1989a, b; Woodruff et al., 1985; Yong et al., 1985; Bobek et al., 1991; Kaukas et al., 1994; Webster et al., 2003), paragonimids (Agatsuma, 1981; Agatsuma and Suzuki, 1981; Agatsuma and Habe, 1986; Agatsuma et al., 1988, 1992), fasciolids (Blair and McManus, 1989) and opisthorchiids (Pauly et al., 2003). Studies have also been carried out on members of the genus *Echinostoma* (Bailey and Fried, 1977; Voltz *et al.*, 1988), *Halipegus* (Goater *et al.*, 1990) and recently Vilas and co-authors published a series of articles devoted to population and species-level genetic variability in the hemiurid genus *Lecithochirium* (Vilas *et al.*, 2000, 2002a–c, 2003a, b, 2004a, b).

The RAPD technique has been used in several studies on schistosomatids and diplostomids (Barral *et al.*, 1993; Kaukas *et al.*, 1994; Laskowski, 1996; Mone *et al.*, 2003) and liver flukes (Morozova *et al.*, 2002; Semyenova *et al.*, 2003), while RFLP analysis has been applied to studies of species differentiation in the Didymozoidae (Anderson and Barker, 1993) and the introduction of *Schistosoma mansoni* to America (Després *et al.*, 1993). These approaches have been largely superseded by direct sequence analysis and thus their application to the systematics of flatworms has become increasingly rare.

3.2. Interrelationships of the Major Lineages of Digeneans

All publications devoted to the molecular phylogenetics of the Platyhelminthes have included at least some representative digenean taxa (Baverstock et al., 1991; Blair, 1993b; Blair and Barker, 1993; Rohde et al., 1993, 1995; Blair et al., 1998; Campos et al., 1998; Littlewood et al., 1998a, b, 1999a, b; Litvaitis and Rohde, 1999; Littlewood and Olson, 2001; Lockyer et al., 2003a), but specifically these works do not address the interrelationships of the Digenea, and in recent years the accumulation of sequence data has enabled more comprehensive studies of digenean phylogeny. The first such analysis was that of Cribb et al. (2001) based on complete 18S and including a total of 75 digenean taxa representing 55 families (plus five aspidogastrean outgroup taxa). Unlike the cestodes, for which comparisons at this taxonomic level using 18S reveal excessive variation in specific variable regions (e.g. V4 and V7), 18S sequences of disparately related digeneans show far less variability. The result is that analysis of 18S typically produces exceedingly short internodes and low nodal support. Nevertheless, the basic patterns revealed by Cribb et al. (2001) have been subsequently corroborated. For example, the

Diplostomata sensu Olson et al. (2003a), uniting a clade including the blood groups Schistosomatidae, Sanguinicolidae and Spirorchidae with the Clinostomidae, together with the Brachyolaimoidea and Diplostomoidea, forms one of the primary lineages in a basal split in the Digenea (Figure 3). This rejected the traditional trichotomy implied by their classification into three large groups and showed definitively the polyphyletic nature of the traditional grouping 'Echinostomida' (whereas the composition of the Plagiorchiida and Strigeida were, with exceptions, largely supported by molecular data). Re-examination and coding of morphological characters were also done by Cribb et al. (2001) and showed greater congruence with the results from molecules than had previous such analyses (e.g. Brooks et al., 1985; Pearson, 1992), albeit considerable differences were found. Tkach et al. (2000a, b) presented phylogenies of the suborder Plagiorchiata based on 28S and demonstrated its derived phylogenetic position in relation to all other major digenean lineages. It was also found that the Renicolidae belongs to the most derived clade of digeneans, along with the Eucotylidae whose systematic position was previously enigmatic. Although members of both families are parasitic in the kidneys of birds, their general morphology is so distinct that no one had previously hypothesized their close affinity.

The most comprehensive phylogenetic analysis of the Digenea to date was based on a combination of complete 18S and partial 28S and included 163 members of 77 families representing all major groups (Olson et al., 2003a; Figure 3). As discussed above, their work recognized two major clades, the Diplostomida, corresponding to the Strigeida sensu lato, and the Plagiorchiida, comprising the traditional Plagiorchiida along with the members of the 'Echinostomida', the latter of which was found to be a polyphyletic taxon. The Diplostomida includes only one nominal superfamily, whereas the Plagiorchiida now comprises 13 superfamilies of which the Xiphidiata is the largest and most derived and members of which share the presence of a penetrating stylet in their cercariae. Due to the basal dichotomy, no one group is seen to occupy the most basal position in the tree. However, at the base of the Plagiorchiida two lineages were found, each of which had been hypothesized previously as the progenitors of the Digenea: the Transversotrematidae and Bivesiculidae. However,



Figure 3 Hypothesis of digenean interrelationships and revised classification based on Bayesian inference of 18S and 28S data by Olson *et al.* (2003a). In contrast to traditional digenean classification, their scheme recognizes two main lineages, the Diplostomida and Plagiorchiida, as indicated on the tree. Expanded resolution of the Schistosomatoidea and the genus *Schistosoma* represents a consensus of compatible trees found in the publications shown, all of which analysed a subset of the same data. Taxa found to be paraphyletic indicated in bold type.

support for their placement was weak. Within the Diplostomida, the position of the Clinostomidae within the Schistosomatoidea (comprising the blood dwelling groups Sanguinicolidae, Schistosomatidae and Spirorchidae) seems surprising, although it confirms existing views based on shared features of their larval morphology (e.g. the presence of a dorsal cercarial body fin-fold).

Cribb *et al.* (2003) re-evaluated the evolution of digenean life cycles in light of the hypothesis presented in Olson *et al.* (2003a) and suggested that the two-host life cycle of blood flukes was the result of secondary abbreviation, whereas the active penetration of miracidia into snail hosts and infection of definitive (fish) hosts by the passive feeding on cercariae are plesiomorphic behaviours. No evidence of strict co-evolution between digeneans and their mollusc hosts was found. With respect to vertebrate parasitism, the recognition of the Diplostomida (all of which are parasitic in tetrapods except the Sanguinicolidae) forced the authors to conclude that the digeneans acquired vertebrate definitive hosts three separate times in their evolutionary history.

3.3. Interrelationships of Genera and Families

Interestingly, molecular systematic studies aimed at these taxonomic levels tend to produce the most conclusive results; studies of higher taxa suffer from higher levels of homoplasy, whereas studies targeting inter- and intraspecific questions must deal with the subjectivity of delineating fine-scale genetic variation. Early publications were devoted to molecular variability among fasciolids and paragonimids (Blair, 1993a), and comparison of 18S sequences in gyliauchenids (Blair and Barker, 1993), lepocreadiids and fellodistomids (Lumb *et al.*, 1993). Barker *et al.* (1993) used 18S sequences to test the phylogenetic hypothesis of Brooks *et al.* (1985) that *Heronimus* is the most basal extant digenean lineage. Although based on a very limited set of taxa, Barker *et al.* (1993) refuted this hypothesis and this result was corroborated a decade later by Olson *et al.* (2003a).

Anderson and Barker (1998) used ITS2 sequences to infer the phylogeny of members of the Didymozoidae, perhaps the most unusual and morphologically difficult group. Blair *et al.* (1998) studied phylogenetic relationships within the Hemiuroidea; a group with a complex taxonomic history and controversial views regarding its structure and content. No significant difference was found between the phylogenies obtained based on a morphological matrix and analysis of sequences of the V4 domain of 18S (Neefs *et al.*, 1990), which showed the Hemiuroidea to be a monophyletic group comprising at least two primary lineages. Moreover, no support for the placement of the Azygiidae within the Hemiuroidea was found. Fernández *et al.* (1998a, b) published works on the molecular phylogeny of the families Campulidae and Nasitrematidae based on mtDNA and 18S sequences. In part, the molecular data supported the hypotheses that the Campulidae are phylogenetically closest to Acanthocolpidae and not to the Fasciolidae, indicating a host-switch from fish to mammals. Another host-switching event was hypothesized for the digenean parasites of marine mammals based on analysis of mitochondrial ND3 sequences of the genus *Lecithodesmus* (Fernández *et al.*, 2000). In this case the parasites were captured by one group of cetaceans from another.

Grabda-Kazubska et al. (1998) and Kostadinova et al. (2003) addressed the interrelationships of several echinostomatid taxa. In the latter paper, sequence data confirmed morphological identifications of specimens representing different stages of the life cycle and suggested that *Echinoparyphium aconiatum* probably does not belong to this genus. Both nadl and ITS data failed, however, to provide sufficient resolution of the species of *Echinostoma* used in the study. Analysis of the family Mesometridae by Jousson et al. (1998) revealed general trends in the evolution of this small group of digeneans parasitic in marine fish, such as the regression of the pharynx, a change in the body shape from elongated to subcircular, and the development of an accessory holdfast organ. Blair et al. (1999b) examined the paragonimid genera Paragonimus, Euparagonimus and Pagumogonimus using sequences of COI and ITS2, and showed that at least the type species of Paqumogonimus, P. skrjabini, clearly belongs to the genus Paragonimus, making the genus Pagumogonimus a junior synonym. In the same analysis, the position of Euparagonimus cenocopiosus was not stable and it appeared as either the sister taxon of Paragonimus, or was found within the latter genus (thus suggesting all three genera are synonymous). Hall et al. (1999) used the V4 region of the 18S to examine the family Fellodistomidae and showed that members of the group actually represent three separate families:

Fellodistomidae, Faustulidae and Tandanicolidae. Use of bivalve molluscs as intermediate hosts, which has been traditionally considered a robust synapomorphy for the members of Fellodistomidae, was instead considered by the authors as an indicator of multiple host-switching events within the radiation of the Digenea.

A series of molecular phylogenetic studies based on the partial 28S sequences by Tkach and co-authors was devoted to resolving the phylogenetic relationships and taxonomic status of a number of taxa traditionally circumscribed within the suborder Plagiorchiata. Tkach et al. (1999, 2001a) showed the close affinity of four genera (Macrodera, Leptophallus, Metaleptophallus and Paralepoderma) from European snakes and their molecular results were corroborated by cercarial morphology and chaetotaxy, and the presence of an external seminal vesicle in adult worms. In subsequent publications, Tkach et al. (2001a, c, 2002a, 2003) studied the phylogenetic positions and families Macroderoididae. interrelationships of the Omphalometridae, Microphallidae, Lecithodendriidae, Prosthogonimidae and Pleurogenidae. Among other conclusions, it was shown that several genera (e.g. Glypthelmins, Haplometra) allocated to the Macroderoididae by previous authors, were not closely related and form independent lineages within the Plagiorchioidea. Alternatively, members of the Omphalometridae exhibited little sequence divergence despite the great differences in their size and body shape. Within the Microphalloidea, development of a seminal vesicle lying freely in parenchyma seems to have occurred independently at least twice. In turn, the Pleurogenidae has been found to be a family distinct from the Lecithodendriidae.

3.4. Inter- and Intraspecific Variation in the Digeneans

3.4.1. Systematics of Schistosoma and Related Blood Flukes

The Schistosomatidae is by far the best studied group of digeneans, and early studies on their molecular systematics have been summarized by Rollinson *et al.* (1997). Although the vast majority of effort in schistosome research concerns immunological, epidemiological

and other medical aspects of the species that infect human populations (i.e. Schistosoma species), significant advances in our understanding of the origins and diversification of these species and their close relatives in animal populations have been made in recent years (e.g. Combes et al., 1992; Després et al., 1992, 1993; Bowles et al., 1995; Rollinson et al., 1997; Snyder and Loker, 2000; Snyder et al., 2001; Agatsuma, 2003; Lockyer et al., 2003b; Morgan et al., 2003; Snyder, 2004). Much of this work involves testing the validity of described species, and genetic analyses of isolates have also revealed new lineages. For example, ITS2 has been used to verify the species status of S. hippopotami (e.g. Després et al., 1995), and genetic analysis of cercariae from its type locality (Lake Edward in western Uganda) has identified a third potential lineage in hippos (Morgan et al., 2003). Population-level variability has been analysed in S. japonicum (Bowles et al., 1993; van Herwerden et al., 1998) and S. mansoni (Curtis et al., 2002). In the latter work, microsatellite loci showed moderate genetic differentiation among S. mansoni populations within a single village in Brazil. Picard and Jousson (2001) characterized ITS sequences from cercariae causing swimmer's itch in Europe and although multiple sequences were found, some were identical to that of Trichobilharzia regenti recovered as adults from a mallard duck. Advances in the molecular systematics of European Trichobilharzia have been recently summarized by Dvorak et al. (2002) and Horak et al. (2002).

Snyder and Loker (2000) and Snyder *et al.* (2001) provided the first comprehensive phylogenetic assessment of the Schistosomatidae and were thus able to test its geographic origin, as well as the composition and interrelationships of genera and suprageneric lineages within the family. Their work first suggested an Asian origin of the genus *Schistosoma* and this was subsequently supported by Lockyer *et al.* (2003b; see Figure 3) through more extensive sampling, including 30 taxa and three genes (18S, 28S and COI), as well as morphological and biogeographic data. The avian schistosomes *Austrobilharzia* and *Ornithobilharzia* were shown to form the sister lineages of the mammalian genus *Schistosoma*, whereas *Orientobilharzia* appears to be a junior synonym of *Schistosoma*. Other taxonomic changes included the synonymy of *T. ocellata* and *T. szidati*. Although a majority of

known schistosomatid taxa has been analyzed in the works above, the phylogenetic position of the only schistosome known from reptiles, *Gryphobilharzia* from Australian freshwater crocodiles, remains undetermined and has not been reported on since its original description by Platt *et al.* (1991). Recent collections (S. Snyder, pers. comm.) of specimens suitable for molecular analysis should mean that its phylogenetic position will be determined soon.

Snyder (2004) recently added 18S and partial 28S sequences of representatives of eight genera of spirorchiids from freshwater and marine turtles. His work confirmed the basal position of the spirorchiids in relation to the schistosomatids, corroborating Olson *et al.* (2003a) who had included only a single spirorchiid representative. The wide representation presented by Snyder (2004) showed that the Spirorchiidae was a paraphyletic taxon (Figure 3) that should be subdivided taxonomically. Spirorchiids of freshwater turtles were found to be basal to those of marine turtles, mirroring the evolution of their hosts for which the marine forms are thought to have evolved from freshwater ancestors.

3.4.2. Systematics of the Liver Flukes Fasciola and Paragonimus

Intraspecific variability and its use for species/population diagnostics in *Paragonimus* have been intensively studied using nuclear and mitochondrial markers (e.g. Agatsuma *et al.*, 1994b; Blair *et al.*, 1997a, b, 1999b; van Herwerden *et al.*, 1999, 2000; Iwagami *et al.*, 2000, 2003a, b; Agatsuma *et al.*, 2003; Cui *et al.*, 2003a; Park *et al.*, 2003) and early works were summarized in a paper by Blair *et al.* (1999b). Blair *et al.* (1997b) provided molecular evidence for the synonymy of three species of *Paragonimus*. Based on the comparison of ITS2 and COI sequences, they concluded that *P. iloktsuinensis* and *P. sadoensis* should be considered junior synonyms of *P. ohirai* despite differences in metacercarial morphology among these forms. Further works devoted to the molecular identification and differentiation among species of *Paragonimus* have been published by Ryu *et al.* (2000), Sugiyama *et al.* (2002) and Iwagami *et al.* (2003a, b). Several works dealing with the differentiation of nominal species of *Paragonimus* in

China and south-eastern Asia have been published (Cui et al., 2003a, b; Chen et al., 2004). Among other findings, it was concluded that P. hokuoensis and P. szechuanensis are genetically close to P. skrjabini, and the latter two species are most probably synonymous. van Herwerden et al. (1999) demonstrated that molecular markers should be used with caution, at least in some cases, as their study involving numerous clones of *P. westermani* and related species showed intra-individual variability among ITS1 sequences greater than that between individuals of the species complex(!) At the same time, sequence variation within individuals of *P. ohirai* was minimal. Similarly, van Herwerden et al. (2000) discovered at least two lineages of the mitochondrial nadl gene within individual worms that confounded the use of this gene for phylogenetic inference. Iwagami et al. (2000) summarized the state of molecular phylogeographic studies of P. westermani in Asia. Since then, several works on the subject have been published that address the possible geographic origin of triploid forms in P. westermani (Agatsuma et al., 2003; Park et al., 2003), variability among P. skrjabini from several provinces in China (Cui et al., 2003a) and among P. mexicanus from Guatemala and Ecuador (Iwagami et al., 2003a).

Due to the small number of species, fewer works have been devoted to the intrageneric systematics and phylogenetics of *Fasciola*. Adlard *et al.* (1993) and Agatsuma *et al.* (1994a) studied variability among populations, and Hashimoto *et al.* (1997) demonstrated that the Japanese species he examined should all be considered *F. gigantica*. Huang *et al.* (2004) compared ITS2 sequences from several samples of *Fasciola* in China and France. They were able to differentiate between *F. hepatica* and *F. gigantica* but found an intermediate genotype exhibiting sequences similar to both species and taken as evidence of heterogeneity in ITS2.

3.4.3. Systematics of Animal Flukes

Unlike the literature on species of medical and economic importance, molecular systematic literature on the majority of digeneans is less focused taxonomically and consists typically of isolated studies or series of studies stemming from individual research groups. Thus, other than being united by resolving questions of taxonomic boundaries and patterns of evolution, there are few common themes to unite them. Among the first papers dealing with the molecular differentiation of digeneans of (non-human) animals was the work of Luton et al. (1992) on two species of Dolichosaccus in Australia. Sorensen et al. (1998) reported their results on the intraspecific variation in the ITS region of 37-collar-spined echinostomes from North America. Jousson et al. (2000) and Jousson and Bartoli (2001, 2002) investigated cryptic speciation in digeneans of the genera Macvicaria, Monorchis and Cainocreadium parasitic in marine fishes and found a pair of morphologically similar species in each case, prompting the description of a new species of Monorchis. In another investigation combining morphological, molecular and life cycle data, Overstreet et al. (2002) described a new species of Bolbophorus from the American white pelican and channel catfishes in the south-eastern United States. Their data set included sequences from a mixture of four nuclear and mitochondrial genes making their taxonomic conclusions well corroborated. Levy et al. (2002) and Dzikowski (2003) also addressed the problem of differentiating among Bolbophorus species, whose metacercariae cause significant losses to channel catfish farming in the Mississippi River delta. In these works, analysis of 18S as well as morphology were used to show that B. damnificus, B. levantinus and B. confusus were distinct species. Platt and Tkach (2003) used 18S, ITS and 28S in addition to morphological characters, to differentiate species of Choanocotyle from Australian turtles. Recently, Dzikowski et al. (2004b) used 18S and ITS to demonstrate the validity of two Clinostomum species, C. marginatum and C. complanatum, parasitic in aquatic birds in the Old and New Worlds, respectively.

Bell and Sommerville (2002) compared ITS and COI sequences between metacercariae of *Apatemon annuligerum* and *A. gracilis* originating from different localities and fish hosts. The authors concluded that the species should be synonymized due to the lack of genetic variability, finding only a short repeat motif in ITS1. Bell *et al.* (2001) and Bell and Sommerville (2002) reached the same conclusion regarding synonymy of two strigeid species, *Ichthyocotylurus erraticus* and *I. pileatus*. Bray *et al.* (1999) examined two fellodistomid genera from deep sea fishes, *Lepidapedon* and *Steringophorus*, and despite inconsistency among trees obtained using different DNA fragments, as well as apparent host-switching in the evolutionary history of genus *Steringophorus*, were able to conclude that the genera have most likely radiated in the deeper waters off the continental shelf.

Galazzo *et al.* (2002) showed that *Diplostomum* species from North America and Europe form two clades, and that species identified as *D. baeri* on both continents most likely represent distinct species. Niewiadomska and Laskowski (2002) attempted to differentiate among six species of *Diplostomum* using ITS and morphology, but found inconsistency among the phylogenetic analyses based on molecules as well as the morphology of different life cycle stages. Given the widespread and economically important nature of the genus, there is a clear need for additional sampling and greater taxonomic resolution. Tkach *et al.* (2000b) examined morphological and molecular differences among three species of the genus *Plagiorchis* parasitic in European bats. Molecular and morphological characteristics show reliable differences between the recently described *Plagiorchis muelleri* and the type species of this large cosmopolitan genus, *P. vespertilionis*, which has now been re-described and its neotype established.

Echinostoma and related genera have been traditional models in digenean studies due to their ubiquity and impact on our health and economy; 16 species of the family Echinostomidae have been reported from man (Ashford and Crewe, 2003). Nevertheless, the taxonomy of echinostomids remains unclear, especially among species belonging to the 37-collar-spine group. Morgan and Blair (1995, 1998a, b, 2000) have published a series of works on the interrelationships of *Echinostoma* species using sequences of several mitochondrial and nuclear DNA regions. They demonstrated that Australian species are more diverse than was previously thought, analysed the relative merits of various DNA regions for phylogenetic inference and differentiation, and provided a useful review on the molecular biology of the group.

The common frog lung flukes (family Haematoloechidae) have also been the subject of a number of recent studies as their cosmopolitan distribution, and parasitism of some of the best studied vertebrates (frogs) makes them an interesting and convenient model for studies in phylogenetics and historical biogeography. Leon-Regagnon *et al.* (1999) used partial ITS and 28S to examine the taxonomy and interrelationships of Mexican species of Haematoloechus, and Snyder and Tkach (2001) demonstrated the presence of three distinct evolutionary lineages within the Holarctic Haematoloechus of North America and Europe. The latter results confirmed the taxonomic validity of Haematoloechus abbreviatus and demonstrated that the presence or absence of extracecal uterine loops is labile, and therefore a poor character for the differentiation of genera. Two of three clades revealed by phylogenetic analysis were comprised of both European and North American species, indicating that lineages of Haematoloechus arose before the breakup of Laurasia and radiated after Eurasia and North America split. Later, Leon-Regagnon and colleagues (2001, 2002, 2003) used molecular markers to support the differentiation of two new species, H. meridionalis and H. danbrooksi, and presented an updated molecular phylogeny of the genus including several additional North American and two African species. Their study generally supported the conclusions of Snyder and Tkach (2001) and further revealed that African Haematoloechus appears to have evolved after the separation of Gondwana and Laurasia.

Growing concern regarding amphibian population declines and correlation of some of these events with limb deformities caused by metacercariae of the psilostomid digenean *Ribeiroia* has provoked interest in the taxonomy and systematic position of the genus. In the taxonomic part of their review of *Ribeiroia*, Johnson *et al.* (2004) used sequences of ITS2 to compare isolates from multiple localities in the USA, Puerto Rico, Guadeloupe and Kenya. Their results suggest the genus comprises three species, one of which (*R. marini*) was represented by two subspecies.

Casey et al. (2003) explored differences among green- and brownbanded sporocysts within the genus *Leucochloridium* occurring in Europe. They showed that each sporocyst colour morph is species specific (*L. paradoxum* or *L. variae*) with no intraspecific differences across samples from different European countries. Criscione and Blouin (2004) chose three species of digeneans parasitic as adults (*Deropegus aspina, Plagioporus shawi*) or metacercariae (*Nanophyetus salmincola*) in salmonids in the north-western United States as model taxa to investigate the effect of life cycle patterns on the distribution of genetic variation within and among populations. The authors demonstrated that species with entirely aquatic life cycles had more structured populations with lower gene flow than did species with both aquatic and terrestrial phases in their life cycles, owing presumably to the higher dispersion ability of the latter. In the course of the same study, they were able to differentiate a genetically distinct form of *Deropegus aspina* that probably represents a cryptic species.

4. MOLECULAR SYSTEMATICS OF THE MONOGENEA

The Monogenea is the smallest of the three parasitic groups, encompassing less than half the diversity of the Cestoda and roughly one tenth that of the Digenea based on the number of described genera (Caira and Littlewood, 2001), although estimates suggest they may be far more diverse than appreciated at present (Whittington, 1998). They are primarily ectoparasites of fishes and, with notable exceptions, only rarely produce significant pathological effects to their hosts. Human beings are not hosts of monogeneans. Characteristically, they are skin parasites that erode the epidermis using proteolytic enzymes (Monopisthocotylea), or have become specialized to feed on blood (Polyopisthocotylea). However, a fascinating array of endoparasitic species have colonized the various internal cavities of their hosts that open to the exterior (Kearn, 1994). Perhaps their most fundamental distinction from the other parasitic flatworms is their reproduction, exhibiting both direct life cycles and viviparity. The best-known genus, Gyrodactylus, is responsible for enormous economic loss to fish farming, particularly in northern Europe, and has been the subject of intense study; almost half of the reports dealing with the molecular systematics of monogeneans concern this genus solely. From this work has evolved an implicitly DNA-based system of taxonomy now widely employed to help discriminate among the hundreds of described congeners. Outside the family Gyrodactylidae, the taxonomic focus of research has reflected both the varied interests of the workers themselves, as well as the need to establish a molecularly based ground plan for the class and its two constituent groups.

Recent multi-authored taxonomic keys for the Cestoda (Khalil *et al.*, 1994) and Digenea (Gibson *et al.*, 2002) have helped to guide molecular phylogenetic investigations by providing up-to-date working classifications, and thus circumscriptions of higher taxa (e.g. orders, families and genera). This has allowed greater consistency by ensuring that authors using the same taxonomic names are indeed describing the same entities when phylogenetic hypotheses are tested, whereas studies preceding such keys did not have this advantage. Unfortunately, such a key is neither available nor underway for the Monogenea.

4.1. Non-Monophyly of the Monogenea

Molecular data have not generally supported the monophyly of the Monogenea. From the earliest reports to the present (Baverstock et al., 1991; Blair, 1993b; Mollaret et al., 1997; Campos et al., 1998; Littlewood et al., 1999b; Litvaitis and Rohde, 1999; Littlewood and Olson, 2001), two monophyletic lineages representing the Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea were shown to have evolved independently, with one or the other lineage sharing a more recent common ancestor with either the cestodes or trematodes. Relative positions of the two lineages and their relationship to the cestodes and trematodes vary relative to the data analysed, yielding little consensus among data sets (Justine, 1998; Lockyer et al., 2003a). A notable exception was found by Lockyer et al. (2003a) who showed support for monophyly using the combination of complete 18S and 28S rDNA (Figure 1). However, results from independent analyses of the two genes and from different methods of analysis showed inconsistencies in relation to their monophyly. In general, molecular evidence against recognition of the 'Monogenea' has been a consistent finding despite the lack of support for alternate positions of the two independent lineages.

Few authors had previously questioned the validity of the Monogenea and the traditional classification can no doubt still be found in any current textbook of parasitology. However, significant differences in the morphology and ultrastructure, behaviour, nutrition and ecology of the Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea have been mooted previously (Justine, 1991, 1998; Euzet and Combes, 2003) and it is likely that most authors have, as expressed by Euzet and Combes (2003), simply chosen to emphasize the similarities rather than the differences between the two groups. Indeed, the weight of available evidence strongly favours paraphyly of the 'Monogenea' and thus now, in our opinion, the burden of proof is on the side supporting monophyly. See Justine (1998) for an excellent account of the molecular (and other) studies leading to this conclusion, and Euzet and Combes (2003) for detailed and compelling arguments based on fundamental differences in their biology.

4.2. Interrelationships of the Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea

Only a handful of studies to date have sought to resolve the broader interrelationships of the Monopisthocotylea or Polyopisthocotylea using molecular data (e.g. Mollaret et al., 2000a; Jovelin and Justine, 2001; Olson and Littlewood, 2002; Simková et al., 2003), although numerous studies have addressed selected groups within these lineages (see below). Initial studies (e.g. Mollaret et al., 1997) relied on partial (~500 bp) 28S data and this trend was continued by Mollaret et al. (2000a) and Jovelin and Justine (2001), the latter of whom also examined COI data but determined the gene to be saturated for such levels of comparison. Olson and Littlewood (2002) consolidated and augmented the different fragments of available 28S data (domains D1, D2, or both), as well as complete 18S data, in an attempt to provide more comprehensive estimates (see Figure 4). Their work illustrated the highly fragmentary nature of the available data, necessitating analysis of subsets of the taxa that taken together represented roughly half of the described families sensu Boeger and Kritsky (2001). Consistent patterns have emerged from these data that also provide independent support for inferences made on the basis of morphology (i.e. Boeger and Kritsky, 1993, 1997, 2001). For example, the general pattern of evolution in the Polyopisthocotylea reveals a basal split between radiations in tetrapods (i.e. Polystomatidae) and in fishes (Littlewood et al., 1998b; Mollaret et al., 2000a; Olson and Littlewood,



Figure 4 Phylogenetic hypotheses of the monopisthocotylean and polyopisthocotylean 'monogeneans' and a selection of available phylogenetic hypotheses for constituent groups. Taxa found to be paraphyletic indicated in bold type.

2002), with the latter clade showing a progressive series of lineages starting with polyopisthocotylean parasites of holocephalans (i.e. Chimaerocolidae), higher elasmobranchs (Hexabothriidae) and those of teleosts (Jovelin and Justine, 2001; see Figure 4).

Whereas the interrelationships of the Polyopisthocotylea may be described as largely pectinate (i.e. a hierarchy of nested clades), the Monopisthocotylea tends to show a bifurcating pattern (i.e. a series of splits). Thus, the Gyrocotylidae (plus Udonella, see below) is the sister group to the Capsalidae, which together form a sister group to the Monocotylidae, and these in turn form a sister group to the Dactylogyridae + Diplectanidae (Mollaret et al., 2000a; Olson and Littlewood, 2002; Simková et al., 2003). Beyond this, a more significant (and perhaps not entirely independent) difference is seen in the average divergence rate of the Monopisthocotylea, which is four times faster than that of the Polyopisthocotylea (as inferred from 18S rDNA; Olson and Littlewood, 2002). This increased divergence is also correlated with at least two cases of explosive radiation in the monopisthocotyleans, namely in the genera Dactylogyrus and Gyrodactylus. Such large differences in divergence rates can be problematic for parsimony and statistically based analyses alike and may be confounding our ability to resolve the 'Monogenea' as monophyletic using rDNA. However, given the many fundamental differences between the two groups, it is more likely a reflection of their independent evolutionary trajectories.

4.3. Systematics of Select Groups

A number of papers has used molecular data to examine the positions of poorly known or enigmatic taxa, some building on the comparative data resulting from the studies discussed in the preceding section and others necessarily generating data specific to the level of inference required. Mollaret *et al.* (2000b), for example, examined the positions of the genera *Sundanonchus, Thaparocleidus* and *Cichlidogyrus* and showed the validity of the Sundanonchidae. Justine *et al.* (2002) later added members of the Bothitrematidae and Neocalceostomatidae and found a strong association among *Bothitrema, Anoplodiscus* and *Sundanonchus*, each representing different families, whereas the position of the Neocalceostomatidae remained labile. Bentz *et al.* (2003) examined the position of *Euzetrema*, a monopisthocotylean genus unusually found in tetrapods, but found its position relative to the taxa parasitizing actinopterygian and chondrichthyan fishes equivocal with regard to arbitrating between the possibilities of host capture or co-evolution. Desdevises *et al.* (2000) examined species-level genetic variation and host associations in the relatively large genus *Lamellodiscus* and showed an interesting example of morphological variation in the absence of genetic variation. Desdevises (2001) later showed through molecular analysis that the monotypic genus *Furnestinia* was invalid and should be synonymized with *Lamellodiscus*. Matejusová *et al.* (2001b) were able to differentiate genera and species of the unique Diplozoidae, but were subsequently unable to correlate differences in morphology in species of *Paradiplozoon* with variation in ITS2. Restriction digests of ITS2 were used subsequently to differentiate European species of diplozoids (Matejusová *et al.*, 2004).

Congruence between morphological and molecular estimates of phylogeny in the Monocotylidae (parasites of chondrichthyans; sharks, rays and chimaeras) was examined by Chisholm et al. (2001a, b; see Figure 4) whose revised classification (Chisholm et al., 1995) was generally supported by partial 28S data. Within the family, comparison of Calicotyle species using 28S (Chisholm et al., 2001c) suggested that species in the genus are not strictly host specific, although phylogenetic analysis showed that species clades reflected associations at least to the level of host genus. The commonly reported C. kroyeri was suggested to represent a convenient identity for members of the genus found in the cloaca of skates (Raja spp.), as divergences among species from different host species were in some cases greater than those among separate parasite species. Also using 28S, Whittington et al. (2004) provided a preliminary investigation of the interrelationships of the Capsalidae (see Whittington, 2004 for a recent review of the group) and showed that the genus Neobenedenia was closer to the Encotyllabe and Trochopus than to Benedenia, thus showing the Benedeniinae to be a paraphyletic subfamily (see Figure 4).

4.3.1. Udonella as a Monopisthocotylean Monogenean

An important question readily resolved through analysis of molecular data was the phylogenetic position of *Udonella*, a small genus of flatworm hyperparasites of caligid copepods that in turn parasitize marine fishes. To some, the genus represented a potentially pivotal position in the evolution of the parasitic Platyhelminthes (e.g. the sister group to the Neodermata), whereas others considered it an aberrant monopisthocotylean whose phylogenetic position therefore had little bearing on the origin of parasitism in the phylum (Little-wood *et al.*, 1998b). Its position was first examined using rDNA by Littlewood *et al.* (1998b) who clearly showed its affinities to the Gyrocotylidae within the Monopisthocotylea, and this result has been supported by all subsequent analyses including members of both of these taxa (e.g. Olson and Littlewood, 2002; Simková *et al.*, 2003). Hypothesizing a position of *Udonella* outside the Monopisthocotylea (let alone outside the Neodermata, e.g. Zamparo *et al.*, 2001), in light of the data accumulated in recent years is simply unfounded.

4.3.2. Systematics of the Dactylogyridae

Simková *et al.* (2003, 2004) examined the position and speciation of the extraordinarily diverse Dactylogyridae. Their work (Simková *et al.*, 2003; Figure 4) showed that the group is recently derived within the Monopisthocotylea and tested the validity of the subdivisions of the family, rejecting the Ancyrocephalinae as paraphyletic. Subsequent work (Simková *et al.*, 2004) examined the intrageneric relationships of *Dactylogyrus*, suggesting that members of the Cyprininae were the original hosts and that the diversification of the genus was the result of sympatric speciation with some (albeit seemingly minor) degree of niche specialization/separation on the gills. A very different situation regarding mode of speciation and niche specialization appears to be the case in the polystomes.

4.3.3. Systematics of the Polystomatidae

The Polystomatidae is the sole family of monogeneans to parasitize tetrapod hosts (primarily freshwater anurans and chelonians) and thus presents an interesting case in the evolution of the Polyopisthocotylea (Kearn, 1994), which has been addressed by a handful of molecular investigations. Verneau *et al.* (2002; see Figure 4) estimated

their interrelationships based on partial 18S using a large sampling of taxa and showed that the polystomes had strong affinities to their hosts groups, with those of chelonians forming a sister group to an anuran clade split between archaeobatrichian and neobatrician hosts. According to the authors, molecular clock estimates of the nodes corresponded well with the divergence of the major host groups and suggested an origin of the Polystomatidae (sensu stricto) of \sim 353 mya. The position of the unique Sphyranura (a parasite of caudate amphibians) appeared embedded within the clade including anuran parasites, and thus did not support recognition of a separate family (i.e. Sphyranuridae). Their results agreed with the findings of Sinnappah et al. (2001) who postulated that Sphvranura was a neotenic genus restricted (partly) to neotenic hosts and in fact represented the pleisiomorphic condition of the group (a 'missing link'). The position of Concinnocotyla, a parasite of Australian lungfish, was also examined by Verneau et al. (2002) but it fell outside the group altogether. However, support for the positions of both of these genera has been weak and requires additional study. Within the speciose genus Polystoma, Bentz et al. (2001) showed a single colonization event of Africa from European stock (Figure 4). Embedded within the African clade of Polystoma species was the genus Metapolystoma from Madagascar, the validity of which was therefore rejected. Earlier, Littlewood et al. (1997) had studied speciation in Polystoma and related genera in order to test whether the species infecting different sites of the same host (e.g. oral cavity vs. urinary bladder, etc.) resulted from sympatric speciation. Analysis of 28S and COI strongly supported allopatric speciation and showed that site specificity was a stronger predictor of relatedness than was host specificity.

4.4. Systematics and Diagnostics in Gyrodactylus

Gyrodactylus is the most intensively studied group of monogeneans due to their economic importance in aquaculture, species richness and ubiquity. Members of the Gyrodactylidae, and particularly *Gyrodactylus*, create an enormous economic strain on fish farming in the UK, Scandinavia and elsewhere, and not surprisingly, much of the work on gyrodactylids therefore involves differentiating pathogenic from non-pathogenic forms; a non-trivial task with over 400 described species in the genus (Harris et al., 2004) and 50-fold more species predicted to be undescribed (Bakke et al., 2002). Morphological diagnoses are based on subtle quantitative and qualitative differences of the sclerotized elements of the haptor, making it both difficult and potentially unreliable (but see the morphometric methods of Shinn et al., 2001, 2004). Early efforts to characterize and differentiate gyrodactylids molecularly employed RFLP analysis of 5.8S and ITS sequences (Cunningham et al., 1995b, c; Cunningham and Mo, 1997), although the 18S (Cunningham et al., 1995a), the intergenic spacer region between ribosomal gene arrays (Collins and Cunningham, 2000), the 28S (Cunningham et al., 2000; Matejusová and Cunningham, 2004), and more recently the cox1 gene (Meinilä et al., 2002, 2004) have also been investigated for their utility in discriminating among species of Gyrodactylus. Among these genes and gene regions, the ITS1-5.8S-ITS2 between the 18S and 28S genes has proven to be the target of choice for inter- and intraspecific diagnosis, particularly because of the number of comparative sequences now available (e.g. Cable et al., 1999; Harris et al., 1999; Harris and Cable, 2000; Zietara et al., 2000; Bruno et al., 2001; Matejusová et al., 2001a, 2003; Huyse and Volckaert, 2002; Zietara et al., 2002; Zietara and Lumme, 2002; Huyse et al., 2003; Lindenstrøm et al., 2003; Zietara and Lumme, 2003; Huyse and Malmberg, 2004; Meinilä et al., 2004). Differences in the models of nucleotide substitution employed by various authors make genetic divergence estimates difficult to compare, but in general, variability in the region is highest in the ITS1, followed by ITS2 and 5.8S (the short 5.8S is often found to be invariant at the inter- and intra-specific levels, but has been shown to be useful for sub-generic diagnosis; Zietara et al., 2002). In addition, minor geographic, as well as intra-specific variation has been shown through comparison of this region among disjunct populations (e.g. Matejusová et al., 2001a).

To a certain extent, the reliance on DNA for species discrimination has meant that an implicit system of DNA taxonomy based on ITS data has become the standard for species circumscription of gyrodactylids (e.g. Harris and Cable, 2000; Bruno *et al.*, 2001; Cunningham *et al.*, 2001; Lindenstrøm *et al.*, 2003; Zietara and Lumme, 2003; Huyse and Malmberg, 2004; Huyse *et al.*, 2004). While not explicit in the use of 'DNA taxonomy', the necessity and justification for such a system in *Gyrodactylus* (Zietara and Lumme, 2003) is effectively the same as that proposed by researchers studying other groups of organisms (e.g. Tautz *et al.*, 2003). Using DNA, both morphologically distinguishable, as well as 'cryptic' (Huyse and Volckaert, 2002; Zietara and Lumme, 2002) species have been described and variation in the ITS region is frequently guiding the re-examination of morphology, rather than being used simply to confirm morphological differences previously observed.

Species circumscription based on DNA has been widely applied to the salmonid parasite Gyrodactylus salaris, which has been a known cause of mortality in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) in Norway since the 1970s and remains a significant economic problem to the region (Mo, 1994). Distinguishing the variants of G. salaris and the documentation of the pathological differences among these strains or species and the various fish species they infect has been studied intensively in a number of laboratories. Sterud et al. (2002), for example, documented significant pathological differences between G. salaris and the nominal species G. thymalli, and Lindenstrøm et al. (2003) showed host preference in controlled infection experiments between G. salaris and a laboratory variant founded from a single individual. In both cases, morphology of the variants fell within ranges exhibited by G. salaris sensu Malmberg, 1957, and genetic distances based on the ITS region failed to show marked differences. Indeed, attempts to discriminate G. salaris from G. thymalli based on a variety of methods and gene regions have shown insufficient variation to support the specific status of G. thymalli (Cunningham, 1997; Cunningham et al., 2003; Hansen et al., 2003; Meinilä et al., 2004). Using cox1 data, for example, Hansen et al. (2003) found 12 haplotypes among 76 specimens of G. salaris and G. thymalli from 32 host populations. Phylogenetic analysis of the haplotypes showed no support for reciprocal monophyly of the two 'species'. Thus, by the standards established by these and other monogenan researchers, the use of DNA taxonomy in the case of G. salaris/thymalli may result in a species definition that fails to reflect significant differences in host response and pathology, a situation that is unlikely to be readily accepted by workers whose concerns involve the recognition of the highly pathogenic strains (e.g. Sterud *et al.*, 2002). It remains to be seen if more sensitive methods will yield support for the recognition of *G. thymalli*.

A number of recent reports have built on and contributed to the growing number of characterized gyrodactylid sequences in order to address large-scale patterns of speciation in the genus, as well as the mechanisms that explain these patterns and account for their enormous radiation. In populations of both G. salaris as well as other species of Gyrodactylus studied, host-switching appears to be the predominant mode of speciation (Zietara and Lumme, 2002; Huyse et al., 2003; Meinilä et al., 2004), which in turn may be driving further speciation events (Zietara et al., 2002). Host-switching between families (Zietara et al., 2002) as well orders (Huyse et al., 2003) of fishes has been shown, as have instances of sympatric speciation, although speciation through allopatry is more commonly implied by the patterns observed (Huyse et al., 2003; Meinilä et al., 2004). New phylogenies have also allowed a reassessment of the systematics and nomenclature of the Gyrodactylidae. For example, the well-established sub-generic divisions of the group based on features of the excretory system (Malmberg, 1970) is rejected by both 5.8S (Zietara et al., 2002; Huyse et al., 2003) and ITS (Huyse et al., 2003; Matejusová et al., 2003) data, although such nomenclatural problems are hardly surprising in a species group of this size. Taxonomic issues aside, the studies above demonstrate that Gyrodactylus may be used as an interesting model system for studying speciation in animal systems generally.

5. BEYOND SYSTEMATICS: MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTICS

The complexity and variation of life history strategies in cestodes and digeneans remain among the most compelling and intriguing aspects of the biology of these parasites. Elucidating their life cycles was a cornerstone of the field for much of the early part of the twentieth

century, by which time the basic ontogenetic and host sequences had been worked out for most major groups. Since then, new information on life cycles diminished as parasitologists turned first to experimental, and later molecular questions and approaches. Today, it would be difficult to justify the labour and expense involved in a trial-and-error approach to life cycle elucidation using in vivo systems or in vitro cultivation (e.g. Chambers et al., 2000). However, the accumulation of molecular data, or 'barcodes' (Besansky et al., 2003; Hebert et al., 2003; Moritz and Cicero, 2004), of adult sequences has enabled a direct and efficient means of identifying larval ontogenetic stages and thus inferring complete life cycles (see also McManus and Bowles, 1996 for an early review including other approaches to molecular diagnostics). Coupled with phylogenetic analysis, broader affinities may be discerned even in cases where exact matches are not attainable through direct sequence comparison. 'Barcoding' and its use in diagnostics is a new and somewhat contentious field, if only because it may be confounded in practice by issues of 'DNA taxonomy' (see Section 1.1, also Moritz and Cicero, 2004). Although its application to the parasitic Platyhelminthes is limited at present, in the coming years we anticipate the method to produce a rapid acceleration in studies of host associations and life cycles.

Precise identification of larval flatworm parasites is generally not possible on the basis of comparative morphology alone. At present, our knowledge of host utilization and specificity is restricted largely to the definitive host, and fully elucidated life cycles are exceptionally few in comparison to the number of adult species described. In the Cestoda, at the family level, and at the ordinal level in some groups, a single complete life cycle is unknown (Beveridge, 2001), and in the Digenea, perhaps half of the groups remain in a similar state of ignorance (Cribb et al., 2003). Obviously, the utility of molecular diagnostics is directly proportional to the number of species for which sequence data have been characterized, and workers interested in diagnosing cestode or digenean parasites should concentrate on the 18S and 28S genes in order to maximize the number of species for which comparative sequences are currently available (e.g. Mariaux, 1998; Olson et al., 1999, 2001, 2003a; Tkach et al., 2001b; Lockyer et al., 2003b; de Chambrier et al., 2004). The extraordinary growth of

publicly available genetic repositories and linked databases dedicated to biodiversity (e.g. the Global Biodiversity Information Facility, www.gbif.org; Consortium for the Barcode of Life, barcoding.si.edu) will rapidly increase our understanding of helminth life history, host associations and trophic interactions by making identifications simple and efficient, and thus making large-scale biotic survey and inventory of both larval and adult helminths feasible for the first time.

5.1. Ecological Diagnostics and Life Cycle Studies

5.1.1. Cestoda

In the Cestoda, Brickle et al. (2001) identified larval tetraphyllidean parasites of an important commercial squid fishery using partial 28S sequences and found that they differed from the adult species infecting the local skate population, the only elasmobranches endemic to the Falkland Islands. These data were used subsequently by Agustí et al. (2005) who examined the larval cestodes of dolphins in the Mediterranean. Like Brickle et al. (2001), they found larval worm sequences exceedingly similar to that of *Clistobothrium montaukensis*, a tetraphyllidean cestode of lamniform sharks, suggesting that members of this genus are widespread both in terms of geography and intermediate host range. Dezfuli et al. (2002) used partial sequencing of 18S to match procercoids with adults of the spathebothriid Cvathocephalus truncatus, and to discriminate between these procercoids and cysticercoids of Microsomacanthus pachycephala (Hyamphipods menolepididae) in co-infected (Echinogammarus stammeri) in Northern Italy. They stressed the importance of using such data where co-infection of hosts may confound the identities (albeit larval discrimination between caryophyllidean and cyclophyllidean cestodes could be readily done on the basis of morphology). Revda and Olson (2003) used partial 28S rDNA data to verify the identity of proteocephalidean tapeworms encysted within the parenchyma of adult tetraphyllidean worms in freshwater rays in Peru. Although a handful of similar reports of cestode-cestode hyperparasitism in South America had been published previously, molecular data provided the first independent evidence that proteocephalidean 'hyperparasites' could infect other groups of cestodes. Moreover, thanks to a large reference database stemming from previous works on the phylogeny of the Proteocephalidea (Zehnder and Mariaux, 1999), a far more precise identification of the cysts was made than would have been possible based on their morphology alone.

5.1.2. Digenea

The complexity of digenean life cycles makes their elucidation via molecular diagnostics of even greater utility than for the cestodes, and the earliest and most abundant of such works have been in the Digenea. Life cycles in the digeneans of marine animals have been especially difficult to elucidate due to the expense and difficulties of the animal husbandry required. With the accumulation of sequence data on adult forms, identification of cercariae found in snails and metacercariae from second intermediate or paratenic hosts is now as easy for marine species as it is for freshwater or terrestrial (save perhaps the collection of specimens themselves). For example, Cribb et al. (1998) demonstrated a three-host life cycle in the unusual Bivesiculidae, and Anderson (1999) used DNA to identify metacercariae of Indodidymozoon pearsoni, a member of the Didymozoidae. Schulenburg and Wägele (1998) examined digenean metacercia in the isopod Cyathura carinata using ITS1 and 18S, but were unable to identify these precisely due to a lack of available comparative data at the time. Jousson et al. (1998, 1999), Jousson and Bartoli (2000), Bartoli et al. (2000) and Bartoli and Jousson (2003) demonstrated the life cycles of a number of marine digeneans belonging to the families Monorchidae and Opecoeloidae. Mone et al. (2003) detected larval stages of S. mansoni for the first time in Oman using RAPD. Recently, Hertel et al. (2003, 2004) used tandemly repeated DNA sequences characterized in Echinostoma and Schistosoma in order to differentiate among congeneric species. Similarly, Hust et al. (2004) compared ITS region sequences of cercariae belonging to two microphallid species (Maritrema subdolum and an undetermined species)

and designed species-specific primers enabling their reliable differentiation. Dzikowski et al. (2004a) identified different life cycle stages of several species belonging to the family Heterophyidae and outlined their phylogenetic position using newly obtained and previously published sequences of 18S. Their work resolved the life cycle of a widely distributed heterophyid, Pvaidiopsis genata. The works on the molecular and morphological differentiation among species of Bolbophorus discussed previously (i.e. Levy et al., 2002; Overstreet et al., 2002; Dzikowski et al., 2003), also included comparative analysis of DNA sequences obtained from both adult and larval stages of the parasites. Galazzo et al. (2002) identified metacercarial stages of the genus Diplostomum, a genus most commonly encountered as metacercariae, and as a result, rarely identified to species. Donald et al. (2004) obtained ITS2 sequences from digenean larvae recovered from topshells (Mollusca: Trochidae) and found that they represented a mixture of species whose taxonomic positions could not be discerned due to a lack of comparative data. Fortunately, such reports can be readily re-investigated once the appropriate data become available.

5.2. Clinical Diagnostics

In clinical situations, identification of helminths may be problematic despite recognition of disease agents and the numerous methods that continue to be developed for diagnosing species of medical and economic importance (see review by Ito, 2002). Under some circumstances, conditions may be present that result in aberrant parasite development and/or unrecognized pathology, and that create opportunity for rare or unknown zoonotic diseases to establish. Such was the case in an early report of a 'possible mutated sparganum' (Conner *et al.*, 1976) in a Hodgkin's patient being treated with a regime of immunosuppressive drugs. A more recent case involving an AIDS patient (Santamaría-Fríes *et al.*, 1996) was similarly difficult to diagnosis due to a metastatic disease process that showed no morphological indication of having resulted from a metazoan parasite. Both cases were subsequently re-investigated using molecular sequencing techniques (Olson *et al.*, 2003b), demonstrating that the common, and

generally benign human dwarf tapeworm, *H. nana*, was capable of producing lethal pathological consequences in the case of the AIDS patient, and that the Hodgkin's patient's disease was the result not of an infection with a sparganum, but with a cyclophyllidean cestode *not* belonging to one of the well-known genera previously reported from man. These applications show the immediate utility of genetically characterized animal helminths, and the need for such data in identifying the aetiological agents of emerging diseases. We necessarily spend the greatest resources on those species known to be a threat to our health and economy, but it is difficult to predict which parasite species may become the cause of zoonotic disease when conditions for such infections become favourable. Thus, the broader our knowledge and characterization of helminth biodiversity, the more likely we will be to identify the agents of opportunistic, rare and emerging disease.

6. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

6.1. Taxonomic Considerations

Early molecular phylogenetic studies of the parasitic flatworms, as in other taxa, have tended to address questions from the bottom up; that is, from the basal divergences among major lineages to subsequent investigations of divergences in more restricted and recent clades. The result is that we have a phylogenetic framework, based on one or more genes, for the phylum, the Neodermata, and for each of the major neodermatan groups. While these hypotheses require further corroboration, effort is increasingly needed to fill out the branches of the trees by providing significantly greater representation of the diversity encompassed by the constituent groups. In the Cestoda, only the order Proteocephalidea has received such comprehensive treatment (e.g. Zehnder and Mariaux, 1999; de Chambrier et al., 2004), although molecular phylogenetic investigations of other orders are presently underway. Priority areas must be seen to include the Cyclophyllidea, which not only contains the most important cestode pathogens of man, but also a greater diversity than all other cestode orders combined. Moreover, the diversity of life cycles
(including the transition to terrestrial cycles), host associations and biogeographic patterns provide a large number of interesting questions yet to be addressed in a molecular phylogenetic context. Other priority areas include the circumscription of a monophyletic Tetraphyllidea, resolving interrelationships among difossate groups, and corroborating the positions of basal taxa.

Although the recent analysis by Olson et al. (2003a) included representatives of 77 digenean families, a large number of omissions remain; according to Gibson et al. (2002) the Digenea comprises 140 families. Among unattended taxa there are many smaller families with unknown phylogenetic affinities, including the Mesotretidae, Rhytidodidae and Urotrematidae, as well as families crucial to the full elucidation of digenean evolution such as the Allocreadiidae, Gymnophallidae, Liolopidae, Paramphistomidae and Ptychogonimidae. The basal clade formed by the superfamilies Brachylaimoidea, Diplostomoidea and Schistosomatoidea merits further support in order to verify existing hypotheses on the evolution of their life cycles. Also needed in future investigations are detailed studies of the internal phylogenies of families, clarification of their taxonomic content, and the allocation of numerous genera with presently unclear affinities. The Aspidogastrea (see Figure 1) is routinely confirmed as the sister group to the Digenea, but has otherwise yet to be examined in detail with molecular tools. Although small in number, they are equal in age to the Digenea and have left an interesting suite of host associations that should be investigated in a molecular phylogenetic context.

Work on monogeneans remains dominated by studies on *Gyrodactylus*, and unusually, the broader interrelationships of the group have been arguably studied more intensively with morphology than molecules (e.g. Boeger and Kritsky, 1993, 1997, 2001). While a number of groups outside of the Gyrodactylidae have also been studied in some detail (see Section 4.3), few comprehensive treatments have been published and the work of Olson and Littlewood (2002) illustrates the fragmented nature of the available molecular data for the group as a whole. A more coordinated effort within the monogenean research community would help to establish the phylogenetic groundplan of the group(s) and thus link together the more restricted clades (e.g. monocotylids, polystomatids, etc.) in which interrelationships have been studied. Equally important is firmly establishing the relative positions of the monopisthocotylean and polyopisthocotylean lineages relative to the cestode and digenean clades, a problem that has yet to yield to analyses of rDNA. It also remains to be seen to what extent a formal DNA-based taxonomy will be adopted in the genus *Gyrodactylus* and whether or not such criteria can be extended to other groups of monogeneans.

6.2. Analytical Considerations

Ancient divergences, rapid diversification and convergent evolution are all potential sources of error that confound phylogenetic estimation. Being cumulative, these effects become more pronounced with the age of divergence. Thus, future studies, particularly at higher taxonomic levels, should aim not only to increase the number of taxa and gene loci, but to become increasingly mindful that multiple substitutions in the sequence data must be compensated for. Statistical methods in phylogenetic reconstruction such as maximum likelihood and Bayesian inference necessarily incorporate various models of nucleotide or amino acid substitution and thereby allow for more realistic treatment of the data (Huelsenbeck et al., 2001; Holder and Lewis, 2003). Fortunately, Bayesian analysis has proven computationally feasible even with large datasets (e.g. Olson et al., 2003a). Statistical methods are also available for choosing an appropriate model based on the data to be analysed (Posada and Crandall, 1998; Posada and Buckley, 2004), with the selection criterion being the minimization of the number of estimated parameters. Incorporating complex substitution cost matrices in parsimony analysis is significantly more difficult, whereas unweighted parsimony makes no attempt to account for multiple substitutions and its greatest utility is in providing a leastchange estimation. Given advances in statistical methods, distance analyses (e.g. neighbour joining, minimum evolution), despite the ability to incorporate substitution models into pair wise distance estimates, are phenetic and should be avoided when the estimation of phylogeny, rather than overall genetic similarity, is sought. The development and refinement of analytical techniques in molecular systematics continues rapidly and reviews on current practices abound (e.g. Lewis, 2001; Whelan *et al.*, 2001; Holder and Lewis, 2003).

6.3. Molecular Targets

Ribosomal data have provided the basis for molecular phylogenetic investigations of animals, protists and prokarvotes since some of the earliest works in the field (botanists have favoured the *rbcl* (rubisco large subunit) gene from the chloroplast genome); the current basis of animal interrelationships rests largely on 18S data alone (e.g. Aguinaldo et al., 1997). As in other taxonomic groups and as this review shows, 18S, and later 28S, have been widely employed in studies of the parasitic platyhelminths and now provide the most diverse reference database of molecular characters. The ITS regions have been used widely as well in cases requiring high levels of variation, albeit the highly variable regions of the 18S and 28S genes may be equally suited to such analyses. The mitochondrial genes tend to be faster evolving than those of the nuclear genome (Simon et al., 1994) and, with exceptions, are generally not useful for studies of the parasitic platyhelminths due to the presumed antiquity of the group. Reliance on ribosomal and mitochondrial genes in light of questions left unresolved has led eventually to a search for additional nuclear protein-coding markers and a corresponding weariness of the utility of rDNA. However, comparative analysis of additional such genes has failed to produce alternative markers with wide utility, and thus the rDNA genes have, for better and for worse, continued to be the most popular markers for making phylogenetic inferences at a variety of taxonomic levels. New markers, and perhaps new classes of data, will surely come to light as the emerging field of genomics matures.

6.4. Genomics

6.4.1. Mitochondrial Genomes

Technical advances in PCR, cloning and automated sequencing technology have made large-scale sequencing projects feasible even in

modestly sized and funded laboratories. No complete genome of a platyhelminth has been characterized to date, but a multi-national effort has been underway for some time that will make S. mansoni the first flatworm for which this is achieved (see http://www.nhm.ac.uk/ hosted sites/schisto/). On the other hand, mitochondrial genomes (Figure 5), which average $\sim 14\ 000$ bp in flatworms (Le *et al.*, 2002a), have been completed for a handful of cestodes and digeneans, but a wider representation will be published in the near future (D.T.J. Littlewood, pers. comm.). Characterized mitochondrial genomes in the cestodes include E. granulosus (Le et al., 2002b), H. diminuta (von Nickisch-Rosenegk et al., 2001; see Figure 5), T. crassiceps (Le et al., 2000) and T. solium (Nakao et al., 2003). In the Digenea, a number of shistosome species (Blair et al., 1999a; Le et al., 2001b), Fasciola hepatica (Le et al., 2001a) and Paragonimus westermani (Le et al., 2000) have all been completed (see recent review by McManus et al., 2004). Although largely similar to other metazoan mitochondrial genomes, the atp8 gene is missing (Le et al., 2002a) and minor differences are known to exist in their genetic code (Nakao et al., 2000; Telford et al., 2000). These data will have many uses, especially in diagnostics and strain differentiation. The phylogenetic utility of large-scale changes such as gene order seems dubious (Le et al., 2000) but it remains to be seen if the large number of potentially conserved amino acid changes will help elucidate early divergences in platyhelminth evolution.

6.4.2. Nuclear Genomes and Transcriptomes

There can be little doubt that in due course the characterization and, more importantly, understanding of nuclear genomes, as well as their expressed products (transcriptomes), will have a profound impact on our concept of species, and thus on systematics. In the short term, a seemingly limitless number of new targets will be revealed that may be useful for phylogenetic studies (e.g. Philippe *et al.*, 2004), and access to a suite of targets will allow for the generation of datasets better tailored to the question at hand. In the longer term, it is easy to see genomics affecting the practice of systematics more profoundly, in



Figure 5 Mitochondrial genome of *H. diminuta*, adapted from von Nickisch-Rosenegk *et al.* (2001). Mitochondrial gene order in *H. diminuta* appears to be typical of mtDNA in the parasitic Platyhelminthes generally. (Note: All genes are encoded on the same strand and the direction of transcription is clockwise.)

a manner similar to the advent of molecular systematics which required the development and adoption of new analytical and theoretical tools, and which stands to change the practice of systematics more profoundly still through DNA-based taxonomy. At present, however, the impact of genomics on the field of systematics, and certainly on platyhelminth systematics, is marginal. Instead, we see phylogenetic techniques being used to better understand the genome (Hardison, 2004), rather than platyhelminth genomes being used to understand organismal relationships. Among the parasitic Platyhelminthes, *Schistosoma* is the only taxon for which a complete genome project has been initiated, although EST (expressed sequence tag) projects aiming to characterize site or stage-specific transcripts are ongoing for a number of medically important digeneans. In the cestodes and monogeneans, no genome project has been initiated, but a large-scale EST project for *Echinococcus* is underway (see www.sanger.ac.uk/Projects/Helminths). The full fruits of these endeavours, and the ways in which they will contribute to our understanding of platyhelminth evolution is yet on the horizon.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

PDO was supported by the Wellcome Trust through a senior fellowship (043965/Z/95/Z) to D.T.J. Littlewood (The Natural History Museum, UK) and VVT was supported by the National Science Foundation through North Dakota EPSCoR (Grant No 0132289). We are grateful to I. Beveridge, T. Littlewood and T. Huyse for their time and suggestions.

REFERENCES

- Adlard, R.D., Barker, S.C., Blair, D. and Cribb, T.H. (1993). Comparison of the second internal transcribed spacer (ribosomal DNA) from populations and species of Fasciolidae (Digenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* 23, 423–425.
- Agatsuma, T. (1981). Electrophoretic demonstration of polymorphism of glucosephosphate isomerase in natural populations of *Paragonimus mi-yazakii*. Journal of Parasitology **67**, 452–454.
- Agatsuma, T. (2003). Origin and evolution of *Schistosoma japonicum*. Parasitology International **52**, 335–340.
- Agatsuma, T. and Habe, S. (1986). Genetic variability and differentiation of natural populations in three Japanese lung flukes, *Paragonimus ohirai*, *Paragonimus iloktsuenensis* and *Paragonimus sadoensis* (Digenea: Troglotrematidae). *Journal of Parasitology* 72, 417–433.
- Agatsuma, T., Habe, S., Kawashima, K. and Blas, B.L. (1988). Population genetic studies on isozymes in *Paragonimus westermani* from the Philippines. *Japanese Journal of Parasitology* 37, 195–202.
- Agatsuma, T., Iwagami, M., Sato, Y., Iwashita, J., Hong, S.J., Kang, S.Y., Ho, L.Y., Su, K.E., Kawashima, K. and Abe, T. (2003). The origin of the triploid in *Paragonimus westermani* on the basis of variable regions in the mitochondrial DNA. *Journal of Helminthology* **77**, 279–285.

- Agatsuma, T., Ketudat, P., Thaithong, S., Shibahara, T., Sugiyama, H., Habe, S., Terasaki, K. and Kawashima, K. (1992). Electrophoretic analysis of a natural population of the Thai *Paragonimus heterotremus* and its genetic relationship to the three Japanese species *P. miyazakii*, *P. ohirai* and *P. westermani*. *Parasitology Research* 78, 463–468.
- Agatsuma, T. and Suzuki, N. (1981). Electrophoretic studies on enzymes in Paragonimus spp. 1. Comparison of isozyme patterns between *P. ohirai* and *P. miyazakii. Japanese Journal of Parasitology* **30**, 37–43.
- Agatsuma, T., Terasaki, K., Yang, L. and Blair, D. (1994a). Genetic variation in the triploids of Japanese *Fasciola* species, and relationships with other species in the genus. *Journal of Helminthology* 68, 181–186.
- Agatsuma, T., Yang, L., Kim, D. and Yonekawa, H. (1994b). Mitochondrial DNA differentiation of Japanese diploid and triploid *Para*gonimus westermanni. Journal of Helminthology 68, 7–11.
- Aguinaldo, A.A., Turbeville, J.M., Linford, L.S., Rivera, M.C., Garey, J.R., Raff, R.A. and Lake, J.A. (1997). Evidence for a clade of nematodes, arthropods and other moulting animals. *Nature* **387**, 489–493.
- Agustí, C., Aznar, F.J., Olson, P.D., Littlewood, D.T.J., Kostadinova, A. and Raga, J.A. (2005). Morphological and molecular characterization of tetraphyllidean merocercoids (Platyhelminthes: Cestoda) of striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) from the Western Mediterranean. *Parasitology* **130**, 461–474.
- Anderson, G.R. (1999). Identifications and maturation of the metacercaria of *Indodidymozoon pearsoni* (Digenea: Didymozoidae). *Journal of Helminthology* 73, 21–26.
- Anderson, G.R. and Barker, S.C. (1993). Species differentiation in the Didymozoidae (Digenea) restriction fragment length differences in internal transcribed spacer and 5.8s ribosomal DNA. *International Journal for Parasitology* 23, 133–136.
- Anderson, G.R. and Barker, S.C. (1998). Inference of phylogeny and taxonomy within the Didymozoidae (Digenea) from the second internal transcribed spacer (ITS2) of ribosomal DNA. *Systematic Parasitology* 41, 87–94.
- Andrews, R.H. and Chilton, N.B. (1999). Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis: a valuable technique for providing answers to problems in parasite systematics. *International Journal for Parasitology* 29, 213–253.
- Ashford, R.W. and Crewe, W. (2003). *The Parasites of Homo Sapiens. An Annotated Checklist of the Protozoa, Helminths and Arthropods for Which We are Home*, 2nd Edn. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Bailey, J.R. and Fried, B. (1977). Thin layer chromatographic analyses of amino acids in *Echinostoma revolutum* (Trematoda) adults. *International Journal for Parasitology* 7, 497–499.
- Bakke, T.A., Harris, P.D. and Cable, J. (2002). Host specificity dynamics: observations on gyrodactylid monogeneans. *International Journal for Parasitology* 32, 281–308.

- Barker, S.C., Blair, D., Cribb, T.H. and Tonion, K. (1993). Phylogenetic position of *Heronimus mollis* (Digenea): evidence from 18S ribosomal RNA. *International Journal for Parasitology* 23, 533–536.
- Barral, V., This, P., Imbert Establet, D., Combes, C. and Delseny, M. (1993). Genetic variability and evolution of the *Schistosoma* genome analysed by using random amplified polymorphic DNA markers. *Molecular* and Biochemical Parasitology 59, 211–221.
- Bartoli, P., Jousson, O. and Russell-Pinto, F. (2000). The life cycle of *Monorchis parvus* (Digenea: Monorchiidae) demonstrated by developmental and molecular data. *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 479–489.
- Bartoli, P. and Jousson, O. (2003). The life-cycle of *Podocotyle scorpaenae* (Opecoelidae: Digenea) demonstrated by comparative analysis of ribosomal DNA sequences. In: *Taxonomy, écologie et évolution des métazoaires parasites: Livre-hommage à Louis Euzet* (C. Combes and J. Jourdane, eds), Vol. 1, pp. 17–28. Perpignan: Presses Universitaires de Perpignan.
- Baverstock, P.R., Fielke, R., Johnson, A.M., Bray, R.A. and Beveridge, I. (1991). Conflicting phylogenetic hypotheses for the parasitic platyhelminths tested by partial sequencing of 18S ribosomal RNA. *International Journal for Parasitology* 21, 329–339.
- Bell, A.S. and Sommerville, C. (2002). Molecular evidence for the synonymy of two species of *Apatemon* Szidat, 1928, *A. gracilis* (Rudolphi, 1819) and *A. annuligerum* (von Nordmann, 1832) (Digenea: Strigeidae) parasitic as metacercariae in British fishes. *Journal of Helminthology* 76, 193–198.
- Bell, A.S., Sommerville, C. and Valtonen, E.T. (2001). A molecular phylogeny of the genus *Ichthyocotylurus* (Digenea, Strigeidae). *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 833–842.
- Bentz, S., Combes, C., Euzet, L., Riutord, J.J. and Verneau, O. (2003). Evolution of monogenean parasites across vertebrate hosts illuminated by the phylogenetic position of *Euzetrema* Combes, 1965 within the Monopisthocotylea. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **80**, 727–734.
- Bentz, S., Leroy, S., du Preez, L., Mariaux, J., Vaucher, C. and Verneau, O. (2001). Origin and evolution of African *Polystoma* (Monogenea: Polystomatidae) assessed by molecular methods. *International Journal for Parasitology* **31**, 697–705.
- Besansky, N.J., Severson, D.W. and Ferdig, M.T. (2003). DNA barcoding of parasites and invertebrate disease vectors: what you don't know can hurt you. *Trends in Parasitology* **19**, 545–546.
- Beveridge, I. (2001). The use of life-cycle characters in studies of the evolution of the cestodes. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 250–256. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Blair, D. (1993a). Molecular variation in fasciolids and *Paragonimus*. Acta Tropica 53, 277–289.

- Blair, D. (1993b). The phylogenetic position of the Aspidobothrea within the parasitic flatworms inferred from ribosomal RNA sequence data. *International Journal for Parasitology* **23**, 169–178.
- Blair, D., Agatsuma, T. and Watanabe, T. (1997b). Molecular evidence for the synonymy of three species of *Paragonimus*, *P. ohirai* Miyazaki, 1939, *P. iloktsuenensis* Chen, 1940 and *P. sadoensis* Miyazaki *et al.*, 1968. *Journal of Helminthology* **71**, 305–310.
- Blair, D., Agatsuma, T., Watanabe, K., Okamoto, M. and Ito, A. (1997a). Geographical genetic structure within the human lung fluke, *Paragonimus westermani*, detected from DNA sequences. *Parasitology* 115, 411–417.
- Blair, D. and Barker, S.C. (1993). Affinities of the Gyliauchenidae: utility of the 18S rRNA gene for phylogenetic inference in the Digenea (Platyhelminthes). *International Journal for Parasitology* 23, 527–532.
- Blair, D., Bray, R.A. and Barker, S.C. (1998). Molecules and morphology in phylogenetic studies of the Hemiuroidea (Digenea: Trematoda: Platyhelminthes). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 9, 15–25.
- Blair, D., Le, T.H., Després, L. and McManus, D.P. (1999a). Mitochondrial genes of *Schistosoma mansoni*. *Parasitology* 119, 303–313.
- Blair, D. and McManus, D.P. (1989). Restriction enzyme mapping of ribosomal DNA can distinguish between fasciolid (liver fluke) species. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 36, 201–208.
- Blair, D., Wu, B., Chang, Z.S., Gong, X., Agatsuma, T., Zhang, Y.N., Chen, S.H., Lin, J.X., Chen, M.G., Waikagul, J., Guevara, A.G., Feng, Z. and Davis, G.M. (1999b). A molecular perspective on the genera *Paragonimus* Braun, *Euparagonimus* Chen and *Pagumogonimus* Chen. *Journal of Helminthology* **73**, 295–300.
- Blaxter, M. and Floyd, R. (2003). Molecular taxonomics for biodiversity surveys: already a reality. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **18**, 268–296.
- Bobek, L.A., Rekosh, D.M. and Loverde, P.T. (1991). Schistosoma japonicum: analysis of eggshell protein genes, their expression, and comparison with similar genes from other schistosomes. Experimental Parasitology 72, 381–390.
- Boeger, W.A. and Kritsky, D.C. (1993). Phylogeny and a revised classification of the Monogenoidea Bychowsky, 1937 (Platyhelminthes). Systematic Parasitology 26, 1–32.
- Boeger, W.A. and Kritsky, D.C. (1997). Coevolution of the Monogenoidea (Platyhelminthes) based on a revised hypothesis of parasite phylogeny. *International Journal for Parasitology* **27**, 1495–1511.
- Boeger, W.A. and Kritsky, D.C. (2001). Phylogenetic relationships of the Monogenoidea. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 92–102. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Bowles, J., Blair, D. and McManus, D.P. (1995). A molecular phylogeny of the human schistosomes. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 4, 103–109.

- Bowles, J., Hope, M., Tiu, W.U. and McManus, D.P. (1993). Nuclear and mitochondrial genetic markers highly conserved between Chinese and Phillipine *Schistosoma japonicum*. *Acta Tropica* **55**, 217–229.
- Bray, R.A., Littlewood, D.T.J., Herniou, E.A., Williams, B. and Henderson, R.E. (1999). Digenean parasites of deep-sea teleosts: a review and case studies of intrageneric phylogenies. *Parasitology* **119**, 125–144.
- Brickle, P., Olson, P.D., Littlewood, D.T.J., Bishop, A. and Arkhipkin, A. (2001). Parasites of *Loligo gahi* from waters off the Falkland Islands with a molecular-based identification of their cestode larvae. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **79**, 2289–2296.
- Brooks, D.R. (1989). The phylogeny of the Cercomeria (Platyhelminthes: Rhabdocoela) and general evolutionary principles. *The Journal of Parasitology* **75**, 606–616.
- Brooks, D.R., Bandoni, S.M., MacDonald, C.A. and O'Grady, R.T. (1989). Aspects of the phylogeny of the Trematoda Rudolphi, 1808 (Platyhelminthes: Cercomeria). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 67, 2609–2624.
- Brooks, D.R. and McLennan, D.A. (1993). *Parascript: Parasites and the Language of Evolution*. Washington: Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Brooks, D.R., O'Grady, R.T. and Glen, D.R. (1985). Phylogenetic analysis of the Digenea (Platyhelminthes: Cercomeria) with comments on their adaptive radiation. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **63**, 411–443.
- Bruno, D.W., Collins, C.M., Cunningham, C.O. and MacKenzie, K. (2001). *Gyrodactyloides bychowskii* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from seacaged Atlantic salmon Salmo salar in Scotland: occurrence and ribosomal RNA sequence analysis. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 45, 191–196.
- Bychowsky, B.E. (1937). Ontogenesis and phylogenetic interrelations of parasitic flatworms. *News of the Academy of Science, USSR Department of Mathematics and Natural Science* **4**, 1354–1383.
- Cable, J., Harris, P.D., Tinsley, R.C. and Lazarus, C.M. (1999). Phylogenetic analysis of *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) using ribosomal DNA sequences. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 77, 1439–1449.
- Caira, J.N. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2001). Worms, Platyhelminthes. In: *Encyclopedia of Biodiversity* (S.A. Levin, ed.), Vol. 5, pp. 863–899. New York: Academic Press.
- Caira, J.N., Mega, J. and Ruhnke, T.R. (in press). An unusual blood sequestering tapeworm (*Sanguilevator yearsleyi* n. gen., n. sp.) from Borneo with description of *Cathetocephalus resendezi* n. sp. from Mexico and discussion of the status of the Cathetocephalidea. *International Journal for Parasitology*.
- Campos, A., Cummings, M.P., Reyes, J.L. and Laclette, J.P. (1998). Phylogenetic relationships of Platyhelminthes based on 18S ribosomal gene sequences. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **10**, 1–10.

- Carranza, S., Baguñà, J. and Riutort, M. (1997). Are the Platyhelminthes a monophyletic primitive group? An assessment using 18S rDNA sequences. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 14, 485–497.
- Casanova, J.C., Santalla, F., Durand, P., Vaucher, C., Feliu, C. and Renaud, F. (2001). Morphological and genetic differentiation of *Rodent-olepis straminea* (Goeze, 1752) and *Rodentolepis microstoma* (Dujardin, 1845) (Hymenolepididae). *Parasitological Research* 87, 439–444.
- Casey, S.P., Bakke, T.A., Harris, P.D. and Cable, J. (2003). Use of ITS rDNA for discrimination of European green- and brown-banded sporocysts within the genus *Leucochloridium* Carus, 1835 (Digenea: Leucochloridae). *Systematic Parasitology* **56**, 163–168.
- Chambers, C.B., Cribb, T.H. and Jones, M.K. (2000). Tetraphyllidean metacestodes of teleosts of the Great Barrier Reef, and the use of *in vitro* cultivation to identify them. *Folia Parasitologica* **47**, 285–292.
- Chen, M.G., Chang, Z.S., Cui, A.L., Blair, D., Zhang, Y.N., Chen, S.H. and Feng, Z. (2004). DNA sequences of *Paragonimus skrjabini* populations from five provinces in China. *Chinese Medical Journal* 117, 219–224.
- Chisholm, L.A., Morgan, J.A.T., Adlard, R.D. and Whittington, I.D. (2001a). Phylogenetic analysis of the Monocotylidae (Monogenea) inferred from 28S rDNA sequences. *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 1253–1263.
- Chisholm, L.A., Morgan, J.A.T., Adlard, R.D. and Whittington, I.D. (2001b). Erratum to "Phylogenetic analysis of the Monocotylidae (Monogenea) inferred from 28S rDNA sequences". *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 1535.
- Chisholm, L.A., Wheeler, T.A. and Beverley-Burton, M. (1995). A phylogenetic analysis and revised classification of the Monocotylidae Taschenberg, 1879 (Monogenea). *Systematic Parasitology* 32, 159–191.
- Chisholm, L.A., Whittington, I.D., Morgan, J.A.T. and Adlard, R.D. (2001c). The *Calicotyle* conundrum: do molecules reveal more than morphology? *Systematic Parasitology* 49, 81–87.
- Collins, C.M. and Cunningham, C.O. (2000). Characterization of the *Gyro*dactylus salaris Malmberg, 1957 (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) ribosomal intergenic spacer (IGS) DNA. Parasitology 121, 555–563.
- Combes, C., Després, L., Barral, V. and Charrier-Ferrara, S. (1992). *Molecular approaches to the phylogeny and evolution of schistosomes*. International Symposium on Schistosomiasis, Beijing, China.
- Conner, D.H., Sparks, A.K., Strano, A.J., Neafie, R.C. and Juvelier, B. (1976). Disseminated parasitosis in an immunosuppressed patient. Possibly a mutated sparganum. *Archives of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine* 100, 65–68.
- Cook, C.E., Jiménez, E., Akam, M. and Saló, E. (2004). The Hox gene complement of acoel flatworms, a basal bilaterian clade. *Evolution and Development* 6, 154–163.

- Cribb, T.H., Anderson, G.R., Adlard, R.D. and Bray, R.A. (1998). A DNA-based demonstration of a three-host life cycle for the Bivesiculidae (Platyhelminthes: Digenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1791–1795.
- Cribb, T.H., Bray, R.A., Littlewood, D.T.J., Pichelin, S.P. and Herniou, E.A. (2001). The Digenea. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 168–185. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Cribb, T.H., Bray, R.A., Olson, P.D. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003). Life cycle evolution in the Digenea: a new perspective from phylogeny. *Advances in Parasitology* **54**, 197–254.
- Criscione, C.D. and Blouin, M.S. (2004). Life cycles shape parasite evolution: comparative population genetics of salmon trematodes. *Evolution* 58, 198–202.
- Crosbie, P.R., Nadler, S.A., Platzer, E.G., Kerner, C., Mariaux, J. and Boyce, W.M. (2000). Molecular systematics of *Mesocestoides* spp. (Cestoda: Mesocestoididae) from domestic dogs and coyotes (*Canis latrans*). *The Journal of Parasitology* 86, 350–357.
- Cui, A., Chang, Z., Chen, M., Blair, D., Zhang, Y., Chen, S. and Feng, Z. (2003a). Study on DNA sequences of *Paragonimus skrjabini* populations from five provinces in China. *Chinese Journal of Parasitology and Parasitic Diseases* 21, 71–75.
- Cui, A.L., Chang, Z.S., Chen, M.G., Blair, D., Chen, S.H., Zhang, Y.N. and Feng, Z. (2003b). Taxonomic status in DNA sequences of five species of genus *Paragonimus*. *Zhongguo Ji Sheng Chong Xue Yu Ji Sheng Chong Bing Za Zhi* 21, 27–30.
- Cunningham, C.O. (1997). Species variation within the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) ribosomal RNA genes. *Journal of Parasitology* 83, 215–219.
- Cunningham, C.O., Aliesky, H. and Collins, C.M. (2000). Sequence and secondary structure variation in the *Gyrodactylus* (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) ribosomal RNA gene array. *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 567–576.
- Cunningham, C.O., Collins, C.M., Malmberg, G. and Mo, T.A. (2003). Analysis of ribosomal RNA intergenic spacer (IGS) sequences in species and populations of *Gyrodactylus* (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) from salmonid fish in northern Europe. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 57, 237–246.
- Cunningham, C.O., McGillivray, D.M. and MacKenzie, K. (1995a). Phylogenetic analysis of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 based on the small subunit (18S) ribosomal RNA gene. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 71, 139–142.
- Cunningham, C.O., McGillivray, D.M., Mackenzie, K. and Melvin, W.T. (1995b). Discrimination between *Gyrodactylus salaris*, *G. derjavini* and

G. truttae (Platyhelminthes, Monogenea) using restriction-fragment-length-polymorphisms and an oligonucleotide probe within the small-subunit ribosomal-RNA gene. *Parasitology* **111**, 87–94.

- Cunningham, C.O., Mcgillivray, D.M., MacKenzie, K. and Melvin, W.T. (1995c). Identification of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea) species parasitizing salmonid fish using DNA probes. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 18, 539–544.
- Cunningham, C.O. and Mo, T.A. (1997). Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis of three Norwegian *Gyrodactylus salaris* populations (Monogenea; Gyrodactylidae). *Journal of Parasitology* 83, 311–314.
- Cunningham, C.O., Mo, T.A., Collins, C.M., Buchmann, K., Thiery, R., Blanc, G. and Lautraite, A. (2001). Redescription of *Gyrodactylus teuchis* Lautraite, Blanc, Thiery, Daniel & Vigneulle, 1999 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae); a species identified by ribosomal RNA sequence. *Systematic Parasitology* 48, 141–150.
- Curtis, J., Sorensen, R.E. and Minchella, D.J. (2002). Schistosome genetic diversity: the implications of population structure as detected with microsatellite markers. *Parasitology* 125, S51–S59.
- de Chambrier, A., Zehnder, M., Vaucher, C. and Mariaux, J. (2004). The evolution of the Proteocephalidea (Platyhelminthes, Eucestoda) based on an enlarged molecular phylogeny, with comments on their uterine development. *Systematic Parasitology* **57**, 159–171.
- Desdevises, Y. (2001). The phylogenetic position of *Furnestinia echeneis* (Monogenea, Diplectanidae) based on molecular data: a case of morphological adaptation? *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 205–208.
- Desdevises, Y., Jovelin, R., Jousson, O. and Morand, S. (2000). Comparison of ribosomal DNA sequences of *Lamellodiscus* spp., (Monogenea, Diplectanidae) parasitising *Pagellus* (Sparidae, Teleostei) in the North Mediterranean Sea: species divergence and coevolutionary interactions. *International Journal for Parasitology* **30**, 741–746.
- Després, L., Imbert-Establet, D., Combes, C. and Bonhomme, F. (1992). Molecular evidence linking hominid evolution to recent radiation of schistosomes (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 1, 295–304.
- Després, L., Imbert-Establet, D. and Monnerot, M. (1993). Molecular characterization of mitochondrial DNA provides evidence for the recent introduction of *Schistosoma mansoni* into America. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **60**, 221–230.
- Després, L., Kruger, F.J., Imbert-Establet, D. and Adamson, M.L. (1995). ITS2 ribosomal RNA indicates *Schistosoma hippopotami* is a distinct species. *International Journal for Parasitology* 25, 1509–1514.

- Dezfuli, B.S., Capuano, S. and Congiu, L. (2002). Identification of life cycle stages of *Cyathocephalus truncatus* (Cestoda: Spathebothriidea) using molecular techniques. *The Journal of Parasitology* 88, 632–634.
- Donald, K.M., Kennedy, M., Poulin, R. and Spencer, H.G. (2004). Host specificity and molecular phylogeny of larval Digenea isolated from New Zealand and Australian topshells (Gastropoda: Trochidae). *International Journal for Parasitology* 34, 557–568.
- Dvorak, J., Vanacova, S., Hampl, V., Flegr, J. and Horak, P. (2002). Comparison of European *Trichobilharzia* species based on ITS1 and ITS2 sequences. *Parasitology* 124, 307–313.
- Dzikowski, R., Levy, M.G., Poore, M.F., Flowers, M.F. and Paperna, I. (2003). Genetic and morphologic differentiation of *Bolbophorus confusus* and *B. levantinus* (Digenea: Diplostomatidae), based on rDNA SSU polymorphism and SEM. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 57, 231–235.
- Dzikowski, R., Levy, M.G., Poore, M.F., Flowers, J.R. and Paperna, I. (2004a). Use of rDNA polymorphism for identification of heterophyidae infecting freshwater fishes. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* **59**, 35–41.
- Dzikowski, R., Levy, M.G., Poore, M.F., Flowers, M.F. and Paperna, I. (2004b). *Clinostomum complanatum* and *Clinostomum marginatum* (Rudolphi, 1819) (Digenea: Clinostomidae) are separate species based on differences in ribosomal DNA. *Journal of Parasitology* **90**, 413–414.
- Eernisse, D.J. and Peterson, K.J. (2004). The history of animals. In: Assembling the Tree of Life (J. Cracraft and M.J. Donoghue, eds), pp. 197–208. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ehlers, U. (1984). Phylogenetisches System der Platyhelminthes. *Verhandlungen der Naturwissenschaftlichen Vereins in Hamburg* 27, 291–294.
- Eom, K.S., Jeon, H.-K., Kong, Y., Hwang, U.W., Yang, Y., Li, X., Xu, L., Feng, Z., Pawlowski, Z.S. and Rim, H.-J. (2002). Identification of *Taenia asiatica* in China: molecular, morphological, and epidemiological analysis of a Luzhai isolate. *Journal of Parasitology* 88, 758–764.
- Euzet, L. (1994). Order Tetraphyllidea Carus, 1863. In: Keys to the Cestode Parasites of Vertebrates (L.F. Khalil, A. Jones and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 149–194. Wallingford, UK: CAB International.
- Euzet, L. and Combes, C. (2003). Some controversial questions regarding monogenea. In: *Taxonomy, écologie et évolution des métazoaires parasites: Livre-hommage à Louis Euzet* (C. Combes and J. Jourdane, eds), Vol. 1, pp. 303–320. Perpignan: Presses Universitaires de Perpignan.
- Fernández, M., Aznar, F.J., Latorre, A. and Raga, J.A. (1998a). Molecular phylogeny of the families Campulidae and Nasitrematidae (Trematoda) based on mtDNA sequence comparison. *International Journal for Para*sitology 28, 767–775.

- Fernández, M., Aznar, F.J., Raga, J.A. and Latorre, A. (2000). The origin of *Lecithodesmus* (Digenea: Campulidae) based on ND3 gene comparison. *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 850–852.
- Fernández, M., Littlewood, D.T.J., Latorre, A., Raga, J.A. and Rollinson, D. (1998b). Phylogenetic relationships of the family Campulidae (Trematoda) based on 18S rRNA sequences. *Parasitology* 117, 383–391.
- Fletcher, M., Woodruff, D.S., LoVerde, P.T. and Asch, H.L. (1980). Genetic differentation between *Schistosoma mekongi* and *S. japonicum*: an electrophoretic study. *Malacological Review Supplement* 2, 113–122.
- Foronda, P., Casanova, J.C., Valladares, B., Martinez, E. and Feliu, C. (2004). Molecular systematics of several cyclophyllid families (Cestoda) based on the analysis of 18S ribosomal DNA gene sequences. *Para*sitology Research 93, 279–282.
- Galazzo, D.E., Dayanandan, S., Marcogliese, D.J. and McLaughlin, J.D. (2002). Molecular systematics of some North American species of *Dip-lostomum* (Digenea) based on rDNA-sequence data and comparisons with European congeners. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 80, 2207–2217.
- Georgiev, B.B. (2003). Cestoda (tapeworms). In: *Grzimek's Animal Life Encyclopedia* (N. Schlager, ed.), Vol. 1, pp. 225–243. New York City: Thompson Gale.
- Gibson, D.I. (1987). Questions in digenean systematics and evolution. *Parasitology* **95**, 429–460.
- Gibson, D.I., Jones, A. and Bray, R.A., eds (2002). *Keys to the Trematoda*, Vol. 1. Wallingford: CAB International.
- Giribet, G. (2003). Molecules, development and fossils in the study of metazoan evolution: Articulata versus Ecdysozoa revisited. *Zoology* **106**, 303–326.
- Goater, M., Mulvey, M. and Esch, G.W. (1990). Electrophoretic differentiation of two *Halipegus* (Trematoda: Hemiuridae) congeners in an amphibian population. *Journal of Parasitology* **76**, 431–434.
- Gonzalez, L.M., Montero, E., Morakote, N., Puente, S., De Tuesta, J.L.D., Serra, T., Lopez-Velez, R., McManus, D.P., Harrison, L.J.S., Parkhouse, R.M.E. and Garate, T. (2004). Differential diagnosis of *Taenia saginata* and *Taenia saginata asiatica* taeniasis through PCR. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease* 49, 183–188.
- Grabda-Kazubska, B., Borsuk, P., Laskowski, Z. and Mone, H. (1998). A phylogenetic analysis of trematodes of the genus *Echinoparyphium* and related genera based on sequencing of internal transcribed spacer region of rDNA. *Acta Parasitologica* **43**, 116–121.
- Grove, D.I. (1990). *A History of Human Helminthology*. Wallingford, UK: CAB International.
- Halanych, K.M., Bacheller, J.D., Aguinaldo, A.M.A., Liva, S.M., Hillis, D.M. and Lake, J.A. (1995). Evidence from 18S ribosomal DNA that the lophophorates are protostome animals. *Science* 267, 1641–1643.

- Hall, K.A., Cribb, T.H. and Barker, S.C. (1999). V4 region of small subunit rDNA indicates polyphyly of the Fellodistomidae (Digenea) which is supported by morphology and life-cycle data. *Systematic Parasitology* **43**, 81–92.
- Hansen, H., Bachmann, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2003). Mitochondrial DNA variation of *Gyrodactylus* spp. (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) populations infecting Atlantic salmon, grayling, and rainbow trout in Norway and Sweden. *International Journal for Parasitology* 33, 1471–1478.
- Hardison, R.C. (2004). Comparative genomics. Public Library of Science Biology 1, 156–160.
- Harris, P.D. and Cable, J. (2000). Gyrodactylus poeciliae n. sp. and G. milleri n. sp. (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) from Poecilia caucana (Steindachner) in Venezuela. Systematic Parasitology 47, 79–85.
- Harris, P.D., Cable, J., Tinsley, R.C. and Lazarus, C.M. (1999). Combined ribosomal DNA and morphological analysis of individual gyrodactylid monogeneans. *Journal of Parasitology* 85, 188–191.
- Harris, P.D., Shinn, A.P., Cable, J. and Bakke, T.A. (2004). Nominal species of the genus *Gyrodactylus* von Nordmann 1832 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae), with a list of principal host species. *Systematic Parasitology* 59, 1–27.
- Hashimoto, K., Watanobe, T., Liu, C.X., Init, I., Blair, D., Ohnishi, S. and Agatsuma, T. (1997). Mitochondrial DNA and nuclear DNA indicate that the Japanese *Fasciola* species is *F. gigantica. Parasitology Research* 83, 220–225.
- Haukisalmi, V., Wickström, L.M., Hantula, J. and Henttonen, H. (2001). Taxonomy, genetic differentiation and Holarctic biogeography of *Para-noplocephala* spp. (Cestoda, Anoplocephalidae) in collared lemmings (*Dicrostonyx*; Arvicolinae). *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 74, 171–196.
- Haukisalmi, V., Wickström, L.M., Henttonen, H., Hantula, J. and Gubányi, A. (2004). Molecular and morphological evidence for multiple species within *Paranoplocephala omphalodes* (Cestoda, Anoplocephalidae) in *Microtus* voles (Arvicolinae). *Zoologica Scripta* 33, 277–290.
- Hebert, P.D.N., Ratnasingham, S. and deWaard, J.R. (2003). Barcoding animal life: cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 divergences among closely related species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series-B Biological Sciences* 270, supplement 1, S96–S99.
- Hertel, J., Haberl, B., Hamburger, J. and Haas, W. (2003). Description of a tandem repeated DNA sequence of *Echinostoma caproni* and methods for its detection in snail and plankton samples. *Parasitology* **126**, 443–449.
- Hertel, J., Kedves, K., Hassan, A.H.M., Haberl, B. and Haas, W. (2004). Detection of *Schistosoma mansoni* cercariae in plankton samples. *Acta Tropica* **91**, 43–46.

- Hoberg, E.P., Mariaux, J. and Brooks, D.R. (2001). Phylogeny among orders of the Eucestoda (Cercomeromorphae): integrating morphology, molecules and total evidence. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 112–126. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Holder, M. and Lewis, P.O. (2003). Phylogenetic estimation: traditional and Bayesian approaches. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **4**, 275–284.
- Horak, P., Kolarova, L. and Adema, C.M. (2002). Biology of the schistosome genus *Trichobilharzia*. Advances in Parasitology 52, 155–233.
- Hu, M., Gasser, R.B., Chilton, N.B. and Beveridge, I. (2005). Genetic variation in the mitochondrial cytochrome *c* oxidase subunit 1 within three species of *Progamotaenia* (Csetoda: Anoplocephalidae) from macropodid marsupials. *Parasitology* **130**, 117–129.
- Huang, W.Y., He, B., Wang, C.R. and Zhu, X.Q. (2004). Characterisation of *Fasciola* species from Mainland China by ITS-2 ribosomal DNA sequence. *Verterinary Parasitology* 120, 75–83.
- Huelsenbeck, J.P., Ronquist, F., Nielsen, R. and Bollback, J.P. (2001). Bayesian inference of phylogeny and its impact on evolutionary biology. *Science* **294**, 2310–2314.
- Hust, J., Frydenberg, J., Sauriau, P.G., Le Gall, P., Mouritsen, K.N. and Jensen, K.T. (2004). Use of ITS rDNA for discriminating of larval stages of two microphallid (Digenea) species using *Hydrobia ulvae* (Pennant, 1777) and *Corophium volutator* (Pallas, 1766) as intermediate hosts. *Parasitology Research* **93**, 304–310.
- Huyse, T., Audenaert, V. and Voickaert, F.A.M. (2003). Speciation and host-parasite relationships in the parasite genus *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea, Platyhelminthes) infecting gobies of the genus *Pomatoschistus* (Gobiidae, Teleostei). *International Journal for Parasitology* 33, 1679–1689.
- Huyse, T. and Malmberg, G. (2004). Molecular and morphological comparisons between *Gyrodactylus ostendicus* n. sp (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae) on *Pomatoschistus microps* (Kroyer) and *G. harengi* Malmberg, 1957 on *Clupea harengus membras* L. *Systematic Parasitology* 58, 105–113.
- Huyse, T., Malmberg, G. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2004). Four new species of *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae) on gobiid fish: combined DNA and morphological analyses. *Systematic Parasitology* 59, 103–120.
- Huyse, T. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2002). Identification of a host-associated species complex using molecular and morphometric analyses, with the description of *Gyrodactylus rugiensoides* n. sp (Gyrodactylidae, Monogenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* **32**, 907–919.
- Hyman, L.H. (1951). Platyhelminthes and Rhynchocoela. The Acoelomate Bilateria. The Invertebrates, Vol. 2. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc.

- Hypsa, V., Skeríková, A. and Scholz, T. (2005). Phylogeny, evolution and host-parasite relationships of the order Proteocephalidea (Eucestoda) as revealed by combined analysis and secondary structure characters. *Parasitology* **130**, 359–371.
- Ito, A. (2002). Serologic and molecular diagnosis of zoonotic larval cestode infections. *Parasitology International* **51**, 221–235.
- Iwagami, M., Ho, L.Y., Su, K., Lai, P.F., Fukushima, M., Nakano, M., Blair, D., Kawashima, K. and Agatsuma, T. (2000). Molecular phylogeographic studies on *Paragonimus westermani* in Asia. *Journal of Helminthology* 74, 315–322.
- Iwagami, M., Monroy, C., Rosas, M.A., Pinto, M.R., Guevara, A.G., Vieira, J.C., Agatsuma, Y. and Agatsuma, T. (2003a). A molecular phylogeographic study based on DNA sequences from individual metacercariae of *Paragonimus mexicanus* from Guatemala and Ecuador. *Journal of Helminthology* 77, 33–38.
- Iwagami, M., Rajapakse, R.P., Paranagama, W. and Agatsuma, T. (2003b). Identities of two *Paragonimus* species from Sri Lanka inferred from molecular sequences. *Journal of Helminthology* 77, 239–245.
- Janicki, C. (1920). Grundinien einer "Cercomer Theorie" zur Morphologie der Trematoden und Cestoden. *Festschrift für Zschokke* **30**, 1–22.
- Johnson, P.T.J., Sutherland, D.R., Kinsella, J.M. and Lunde, K.B. (2004). Review of the trematode genus *Ribeiroia* (Psilostomidae): ecology, life history and pathogenesis with special emphasis on the amphibian malformation problem. *Advances in Parasitology* 57, 191–253.
- Jondelius, U., Ruiz-Trillo, I., Baguñà, J. and Riutort, M. (2002). The Nemertodermatida are basal bilaterians and not members of the Platyhelminthes. *Zoologica Scripta* 31, 201–215.
- Jousson, O. and Bartoli, P. (2000). The life-cycle of *Opecoeloides columbellae* (Pagenstecher, 1863) n. comb. (Digenea, Opecoelidae): evidence from molecules and morphology. *International Journal for Parasitology* **30**, 747–760.
- Jousson, O. and Bartoli, P. (2001). Molecules, morphology and morphometrics of *Cainocreadium labracis* and *Cainocreadium dentecis* n. sp. (Digenea: Opecoelidae) parasitic in marine fishes. *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 706–714.
- Jousson, O. and Bartoli, P. (2002). Species diversity among the genus Monorchis (Digenea: Monorchiidae) parasitic in marine teleosts: molecular morphological and morphometrical studies with a description of Monorchis bleanii n. sp. Parasitology Research 88, 230–241.
- Jousson, O., Bartoli, P. and Pawlowski, J. (1999). Molecular identification of developmental stages in Opecoelidae (Digenea). *International Journal* for Parasitology 29, 1853–1858.
- Jousson, O., Bartoli, P. and Pawlowski, J. (2000). Cryptic speciation among intestinal parasites (Trematoda: Digenea) infecting sympatric host fishes (Sparidae). *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 13, 778–785.

- Jousson, O., Bartoli, P., Zaninetti, L. and Pawlowski, J. (1998). Use of the ITS rDNA for elucidation of some life-cycles of Mesometridae (Trematoda, Digenea). *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1403–1411.
- Jovelin, R. and Justine, J.-L. (2001). Phylogenetic relationships within the polyopisthocotylean monogeneans (Platyhelminthes) inferred from partial 28S rDNA sequences. *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 393–401.
- Justine, J.-L. (1991). Cladistic study in the Monogenea (Platyhelminthes) based upon a parsimony analysis of spermiogenetic and spermatozoal ultrastructural characters. *International Journal for Parasitology* **21**, 821–838.
- Justine, J.-L. (1998). Non-monophyly of the monogeneans? *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1653–1657.
- Justine, J.-L. (2001). Spermatozoa as phylogenetic characters for the Platyhelminthes. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 231–238. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Justine, J.-L., Jovelin, R., Neifar, L., Mollaret, I., Lim, L.H.S., Hendrix, S.S. and Euzet, L. (2002). Phylogenetic positions of the Bothitrematidae and Neocalceostomatidae (Monopisthocotylean monogeneans) inferred from 28S rDNA sequences. *Comparative Parasitology* 69, 20–25.
- Kamenetzky, L., Canova, S.G., Guarnera, E.A. and Rosenzvit, M.C. (2000). *Echinococcus granulosus*: DNA extraction from germinal layers allows strain differentiation in fertile and nonfertile hydatid cysts. *Experimental Parasitology* **95**, 122–127.
- Kaukas, A., Neto, E.D., Simpson, A.J.G., Southgate, V.R. and Rollinson, D. (1994). A phylogenetic analysis of *Schistosoma haematobium* group species based on randomly amplified polymorphic DNA. *International Journal for Parasitology* 24, 285–290.
- Kearn, G.C. (1994). Evolutionary expansion of the Monogenea. International Journal for Parasitology 24, 1227–1271.
- Kędra, H.A., Świderski, Z., Tkach, V.V., Dubinski, P., Pawlowski, Z., Stefaniak, J. and Pawlowski, J. (1999). Genetic analysis of *Echinococcus* granulosus from humans and pigs in Poland, Slovakia and Ukraine. A multicenter study. Acta Parasitologica 44, 248–254.
- Kędra, H.A., Swiderski, Z., Tkach, V., Rocki, B., Pawlowski, Z. and Pawlowski, J. (2000a). Variability within NADH dehydrogenase sequences of *Echinococcus multilocularis*. Acta Parasitologica 45, 353–355.
- Kędra, H.A., Tkach, V., Swiderski, Z. and Pawlowski, Z. (2001). Intraspecific variability among NADH dehydrogenase subunit 1 sequences of *Taenia hydatigena. Parasitology International* **50**, 145–148.
- Kędra, H.A., Tkach, V., Swiderski, Z., Pawlowski, Z., Emets, A. and Pawlowski, J. (2000b). Molecular characterization of *Echinococcus granulosus* from a wild boar. *Acta Parasitologica* 45, 121–122.
- Khalil, L.F., Jones, A. and Bray, R.A., eds. (1994). Keys to the Cestode *Parasites of Vertebrates*. Wallingford: CAB International.

- Kodedová, I., Dolezel, D., Broucková, M., Jirku, M., Hypsa, V., Lukes, J. and Scholz, T. (2000). On the phylogenetic positions of the Caryophyllidea, Pseudophyllidea and Proteocephalidea (Eucestoda) inferred from 18S rRNA. *International Journal for Parasitology* **30**, 1109–1113.
- Kostadinova, A., Herniou, E.A., Barrett, J. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003). Phylogenetic relationships of *Echinostoma* Rudolphi, 1809 (Digenea: Echinostomatidae) and related genera re-assessed via DNA and morphological analyses. *Systematic Parasitology* 54, 159–176.
- Král'ová, I. (1996). A total DNA characterization in *Proteocephalus exiguus* and *P. percae* (Cestoda: Proteocephalidae): random amplified polymorphic DNA and hybridization techniques. *Parasitology Research* 82, 668–671.
- Král'ová, I., Hanzelová, V., Scholz, T., Gerdeaux, D. and Spakulová, M. (2001). A comparison of the internal transcribed spacer of the ribosomal DNA for *Eubothrium crassum* and *Eubothrium salvelini* (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea), parasites of salmonid fish. *International Journal for Parasitology* **31**, 93–96.
- Král'ová, I. and Spakulová, M. (1996). Intraspecific variability of *Proteocephalus exiguus* La Rue, 1991 (Cestoda: Proteocephalidae) as studied by the random amplified polymorphic DNA method. *Parasitology Research* 82, 542–545.
- Král'ová, I., Van de Peer, Y., Jirku, M., Van Ranst, M., Scholz, T. and Lukes, J. (1997). Phylogenetic analysis of a fish tapeworm, *Proteocephalus exiguus*, based on the small subunit rRNA gene. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 84, 263–266.
- Král'ová-Hromadová, I., Scholz, T., Shinn, A.P., Cunningham, C.O., Wooten, R., Hanzelová, V. and Sommerville, C. (2003). A molecular study of *Eubothrium rugosum* (Batsch, 1786) (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea) using ITS rDNA sequences, with notes on the distribution and intraspecific sequence variation of *Eubothrium crassum* (Bloch, 1779). *Parasitological Research* **89**, 473–479.
- Laskowski, Z. (1996). Species identification of *Diplostomum pseudo-spathaceum* Niewiadomska, 1984 and *D. paracaudum* (Iles, 1959) metacercariae using DNA polymorphism amplified by arbitrary primers. *Acta Parasitologica* **41**, 26–29.
- Le, T.H., Blair, D., Agatsuma, T., Humair, P.-F., Campbell, N.J.H., Iwagami, M., Littlewood, D.T.J., Peacock, B., Johnston, D.A., Bartley, J., Rollinson, D., Herniou, E.A., Zarlenga, D.S. and McManus, D.P. (2000). Phylogenies inferred from mitochondrial gene orders—a cautionary tale from the parasitic flatworms. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 17, 1123–1125.
- Le, T.H., Blair, D. and McManus, D.P. (2001a). Complete DNA sequence and gene organization of the mitochondrial genome of the liverfluke, *Fasciola hepatica* L. (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda). *Parasitology* 123, 609–621.
- Le, T.H., Blair, D. and McManus, D.P. (2002a). Mitochondrial genomes of parasitic flatworms. *Trends in Parasitology* 18, 206–213.

- Le, T.H., Humair, P.-F., Blair, D., Agatsuma, T., Littlewood, D.T.J. and McManus, D.P. (2001b). Mitochondrial gene content, arrangement and composition compared in African and Asian schistosomes. *Molecular & Biochemical Parasitology* 117, 61–71.
- Le, T.H., Pearson, M.S., Blair, D., Dai, N., Zhang, L.H. and McManus, D.P. (2002b). Complete mitochondrial genomes confirm the distinctiveness of the horse-dog and sheep-dog strains of *Echinococcus granulosus*. *Parasitology* **124**, 97–112.
- Leon-Regagnon, V. and Brooks, D.R. (2003). Molecular phylogeny of *Haematoloechus* Looss, 1899 (Digenea: Plagiorchiidae), with emphasis on North American species. *Journal of Parasitology* 89, 1206–1211.
- Leon-Regagnon, V., Brooks, D.R. and Perez-Ponce de Leon, G. (1999). Differentiation of Mexican species of *Haematoloechus* Looss 1899 (Digenea: Plagiorchiformes): molecular and morphological evidence. *Journal* of *Parasitology* 85, 935–946.
- Leon-Regagnon, V., Brooks, D.R. and Zelmer, D.A. (2001). Morphological and molecular description of *Haematoloechus meridionalis* n. sp. (Digenea: Plagiorchioidea: Haematoloechidae) from *Rana vaillanti brocchi* of Guanacaste, Costa Rica. *Journal of Parasitology* 87, 1423–1427.
- Leon-Regagnon, V. and Paredes-Calderon, E.L. (2002). Haematoloechus danbrooksi n. sp (Digenea: Plagiorchioidea) from Rana vaillanti from Los Tuxtlas, Veracruz, Mexico. Journal of Parasitology 88, 1215–1221.
- Levy, M.G., Flowers, M.F., Poore, M.F., Khoo, L., Pote, L.M., Mullen, J.E., Paperna, I., Dzikowski, R. and Litaker, R.W. (2002). Morphologic, pathologic, and genetic investigations of *Bolbophorus* spp. (Diplostomatida, Trematoda) affecting cultured *Ictalurus punctatus* in the Mississippi delta. *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health* 14, 235–246.
- Lewis, P.O. (2001). Phylogenetic systematics turns over a new leaf. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 16, 30–37.
- Li, J.J. and Liao, X.H. (2003). The taxonomic status of *Digramma* (Pseudophyllidea: Ligulidae) inferred from DNA sequences. *Journal of Parasitology* 89, 792–799.
- Lindenstrøm, T., Collins, C.M., Bresciani, J., Cunningham, C.O. and Buchmann, K. (2003). Characterization of a *Gyrodactylus salaris* variant: infection biology, morphology and molecular genetics. *Parasitology* 127, 165–177.
- Lipscomb, D., Platnick, N. and Wheeler, Q. (2003). The intellectual content of taxonomy: a comment on DNA taxonomy. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **18**, 65–66.
- Littlewood, D.T.J., Bray, R.A. and Clough, K.A. (1998a). A phylogeny of the Platyhelminthes: towards a total-evidence solution. *Hydrobiologia* 383, 155–160.
- Littlewood, D.T.J., Rohde, K., Bray, R.A. and Herniou, E. (1999a). Phylogeny of the Platyhelminthes and the evolution of parasitism. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **68**, 257–287.

- Littlewood, D.T.J., Rohde, K. and Clough, K.A. (1997). Parasite speciation within or between host species? Phylogenetic evidence from site-specific polystome monogeneans. *International Journal for Parasitology* 27, 1289–1297.
- Littlewood, D.T.J., Rohde, K. and Clough, K.A. (1998b). The phylogenetic position of *Udonella* (Platyhelminthes). *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1241–1250.
- Littlewood, D.T.J., Rohde, K. and Clough, K.A. (1999b). The interrelationships of all major groups of Platyhelminthes: phylogenetic evidence from morphology and molecules. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 66, 75–114.
- Littlewood, D.T.J. and Olson, P.D. (2001). Small subunit rDNA and the Platyhelminthes: signal, noise, conflict and compromise. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 262–278. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Litvaitis, M.K. and Rohde, K. (1999). A molecular test of platyhelminth phylogeny: inferences from partial 28S rDNA sequences. *Invertebrate Biology* **118**, 42–56.
- Lockyer, A.E., Olson, P.D. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003a). Utility of complete large and small subunit rRNA genes in resolving the phylogeny of the Platyhelminthes: implications and a review of the cercomer theory. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **78**, 155–171.
- Lockyer, A.E., Olson, P.D., Østergaard, P., Rollinson, D., Johnston, D.A., Attwood, S.W., Southgate, V.R., Horak, P., Snyder, S.D., Le, T.H., Agatsuma, T., McManus, D.P., Charmichael, A.C., Naem, S. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003b). A phylogeny of the Schistosomatidae based on three genes with emphasis on the genus *Schistosoma* Weinland, 1858. *Parasitology* 126, 203–224.
- Logan, F.J., Horak, A., Stefka, J., Aydogdu, A. and Scholz, T. (2004). The phylogeny of diphyllobothriid tapeworms (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea) based on ITS-2 rDNA sequences. *Parasitology Research* 94, 10–15.
- Lumb, S.M., Bray, R.A. and Rollinson, D. (1993). Partial small subunit (18S) rRNA gene sequences from fish parasites of the families Lepocreadiidae and Fellodistomidae (Digenea) and their use in phylogenetic analyses. *Systematic Parasitology* 26, 141–149.
- Luo, H.Y., Nie, P., Yao, W.J., Wang, G.T. and Gao, Q. (2003a). Is the genus *Digramma* synonymous to the genus *Ligula* (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea)? *Parasitology Research* 89, 419–421.
- Luo, H.Y., Nie, P., Zhang, Y.A., Wang, G.T. and Yao, W.J. (2002). Molecular variation of *Bothriocephalus acheilognathi* Yamaguti, 1934 (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea) in different fish host species based on ITS rDNA sequences. *Systematic Parasitology* 52, 159–166.
- Luo, H.Y., Nie, P., Zhang, Y.A., Yao, W.J. and Wang, G.T. (2003b). Genetic differentiation in populations of the cestode *Bothriocephalus*

acheilognathi (Cestoda, Pseudophyllidea) as revealed by eight microsatellite markers. *Parasitology* **126**, 493–501.

- Luton, K., Walker, D. and Blair, D. (1992). Comparisons of ribosomal internal transcribed spacers from two congeneric species of flukes (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda: Digenea). *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 56, 323–327.
- Macnish, M.G., Morgan, U.M., Behnke, J.M. and Thompson, R.C.A. (2002a). Failure to infect laboratory rodent hosts with human isolates of *Rodentolepis* (= Hymenolepis) nana. Journal of Helminthology 76, 37–43.
- Macnish, M.G., Morgan-Ryan, U.M., Monis, P.T., Behnke, J.M. and Thompson, R.C.A. (2002b). A molecular phylogeny of nuclear and mitochondrial sequences in *Hymenolepis nana* (Cestoda) supports the existence of a cryptic species. *Parasitology* 125, 567–575.
- Malmberg, G. (1970). The excretory systems and the marginal hooks as basis for the systematics of *Gyrodactylus* (Trematoda, Monogenea). *Arkiv för Zoolgi* **23**, 1–235.
- Mariaux, J. (1998). A molecular phylogeny of the Eucestoda. *The Journal of Parasitology* 84, 114–124.
- Mariaux, J. and Olson, P.D. (2001). Cestode systematics in the molecular era. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 127–134. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Matejusová, I. and Cunningham, C.O. (2004). The first complete monogenean ribosomal RNA gene operon: sequence and secondary structure of the *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957, large subunit ribosomal RNA gene. *Journal of Parasitology* **90**, 146–151.
- Matejusová, I., Gelnar, M., McBeath, A.J.A., Collins, C.M. and Cunningham, C.O. (2001a). Molecular markers for gyrodactylids (Gyrodactylidae: Monogenea) from five fish families (Teleostei). *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 738–745.
- Matejusová, I., Gelnar, M., Verneau, O., Cunningham, C.O. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003). Molecular phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Gyrodactylus* (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea) inferred from rDNA ITS region: subgenera versus species groups. *Parasitology* 127, 603–611.
- Matejusová, I., Koubková, B. and Cunningham, C.O. (2004). Identification of European diplozoids (Monogenea, Diplozoinae) by restriction digestion of the ribosomal RNA internal transcribed spacer. *Journal of Parasitology* **90**, 817–822.
- Matejusová, I., Koubkova, B., D'Amelio, S. and Cunningham, C.O. (2001b). Genetic characterization of six species of diplozoids (Monogenea; Diplozoidae). *Parasitology* **123**, 465–474.
- McManus, D.P. and Bowles, J. (1996). Molecular genetic approaches to parasite identification: their value in diagnostic parasitology and systematics. *International Journal for Parasitology* **26**, 687–704.

- McManus, D.P., Le, T.H. and Blair, D. (2004). Genomics of parasitic flatworms. *International Journal for Parasitology* 34, 153–158.
- Meinilä, M., Kuusela, J., Zietara, M. and Lumme, J. (2002). Brief report— Primers for amplifying not similar to 820 bp of highly polymorphic mitochondrial COI gene of *Gyrodactylus salaris*. *Hereditas* 137, 72–74.
- Meinilä, M., Kuusela, J., Zietara, M.S. and Lumme, J. (2004). Initial steps of speciation by geographic isolation and host switch in salmonid pathogen *Gyrodactylus salaris* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *International Journal for Parasitology* 34, 515–526.
- Mo, T.A. (1994). Status of *Gyrodactylus salaris* problems and research in Norway. In: *Parasitic Diseases of Fish* (A.W. Pike and J.W. Lewis, eds), pp. 43–56. Dyfed: Samara Publishing.
- Mollaret, I., Jamieson, B.G.M., Adlard, R.D., Hugall, A., Lecointre, G., Chombard, C. and Justine, J.-L. (1997). Phylogenetic analysis of the Monogenea and their relationships with Digenea and Eucestoda inferred from 28S rDNA sequences. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 90, 433–438.
- Mollaret, I., Jamieson, B.G.M. and Justine, J.-L. (2000a). Phylogeny of the Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea (Platyhelminthes) inferred from 28S rDNA sequences. *International Journal for Parasitology* 30, 171–185.
- Mollaret, I., Lim, L.H.S. and Justine, J.-L. (2000b). Phylogenetic position of the monogeneans *Sundanonchus*, *Thaparocleidus*, and *Cichlidogyrus* inferred from 28S rDNA sequences. *International Journal for Parasitology* 30, 659–662.
- Mone, H., Mouahid, G., Shaban, M.A., Al Jabri, A.A., Boissier, J., Ruppel, A. and Idris, M.A. (2003). Ecological and molecular studies on emerging schistosomiasis mansoni in Dhofar Governorate, Sultanate of Oman. *Tropical Medicine and Internal Health* 8, 269–276.
- Morgan, J.A.T. and Blair, D. (1995). Nuclear rDNA ITS sequence variation in the trematode genus *Echinostoma*: an aid to establishing relationships within the 37-collar-spine group. *Parasitology* **111**, 609–615.
- Morgan, J.A.T. and Blair, D. (1998a). Mitochondrial ND1 gene sequences used to identify echinostome isolates from Australia and New Zealand. *International Journal for Parasitology* **28**, 493–502.
- Morgan, J.A.T. and Blair, D. (1998b). Relative merits of nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacers and mitochondrial COI and NDI genes for distinguishing among *Echinostoma* species (Trematoda). *Parasitology* 116, 289–297.
- Morgan, J.A.T. and Blair, D. (2000). Molecular biology of echinostomes. In: *Echinostomes as Experimental Models for Biological Research* (B. Fried and T.K. Graczyk, eds), pp. 245–266. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

- Morgan, J.A.T., DeJong, R.J., Kazibwe, F., Mkoji, G.M. and Loker, E.S. (2003). A newly identified lineage of Schistosoma. *International Journal* for Parasitology 33, 977–985.
- Moritz, C. and Cicero, C. (2004). DNA barcoding: promises and pitfalls. *Public Library of Science Biology* 2, e354.
- Morozova, E.V., Ryskov, A.P. and Semyenova, S.K. (2002). RAPD variation in two trematode species (*Fasciola hepatica* and *Dicrocoelium dendriticum*) from a single cattle population. *Genetika* **38**, 1155–1162.
- Nakao, M., Sako, Y. and Ito, A. (2003). The mitochondrial genome of the tapeworm *Taenia solium*: a finding of the abbreviated stop codon U. *Journal of Parasitology* 89, 633–635.
- Nakao, M., Sako, Y., Yokoyama, N., Fukunaga, M. and Ito, A. (2000). Mitochondrial genetic code in cestodes. *Molecular and Biochemical Para*sitology 111, 415–424.
- Neefs, J.-M., Van de Peer, Y., Hendriks, L. and De Wachter, R. (1990). Compilation of small ribosomal subunit RNA sequences. *Nucleic Acids Research* 18, 2237–2317.
- Niewiadomska, K. and Laskowski, Z. (2002). Systematic relationships among six species of *Diplostomum* Nordmann, 1832 (Digenea) based on morphological and molecular data. *Acta Parasitologica* 47, 20–28.
- Nolan, M. and Cribb, T.H. (this volume). The genetic basis for the recognition of digenean species. *Advances in Parasitology*,
- Obwaller, A., Schneider, R., Walochnik, J., Gollackner, B., Deutz, A., Janitschke, K., Aspock, H. and Auer, H. (2004). *Echinococcus granulosus* strain differentiation based on sequence heterogeneity in mitochondrial genes of cytochrome *c* oxidase-1 and NADH dehydrogenase-1. *Parasitology* **128**, 569–575.
- Okamoto, M., Bessho, Y., Kamiya, M., Kurosawa, T. and Horii, T. (1995). Phylogenetic relationships within *Taenia taeniaformis* variants and other taeniid cestodes inferred from the nucleotide sequence of the cytochrome *c* oxidase subunit 1 gene. *Parasitolgical Research* **81**, 451–458.
- Olson, P.D. and Caira, J.N. (1999). Evolution of the major lineages of tapeworms (Platyhelminthes: Cestoidea) inferred from 18S ribosomal DNA and elongation factor-1α. *The Journal of Parasitology* **85**, 1134–1159.
- Olson, P.D., Cribb, T.H., Tkach, V.V., Bray, R.A. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003a). Phylogeny and classification of the Digenea (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda). *International Journal for Parasitology* **33**, 733–755.
- Olson, P.D. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2002). Phylogenetics of the Monogenea—evidence from a medley of molecules. *International Journal for Parasitology* **32**, 233–244.
- Olson, P.D., Littlewood, D.T.J., Bray, R.A. and Mariaux, J. (2001). Interrelationships and evolution of the tapeworms (Platyhelminthes: Cestoda). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **19**, 443–467.

- Olson, P.D., Littlewood, D.T.J., Griffiths, D., Kennedy, C.R. and Arme, C. (2002). Evidence for the co-existence of separate strains or species of *Ligula* in Lough Neagh, Northern Ireland. *Journal of Helminthology* 76, 171–174.
- Olson, P.D., Ruhnke, T.R., Sanney, J. and Hudson, T. (1999). Evidence for host-specific clades of tetraphyllidean tapeworms (Platyhelminthes: Eucestoda) revealed by analysis of 18S ssrDNA. *International Journal* for Parasitology 29, 1465–1476.
- Olson, P.D., Yoder, K., Fajardo L-G, L.F., Marty, A.M., van de Pas, S., Olivier, C. and Relman, D.A. (2003b). Lethal invasive cestodiasis in immunosuppressed patients. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 187, 1962–1966.
- Overstreet, R.M., Curran, S.S., Pote, L.M., King, D.T., Blend, C.K. and Grater, W.D. (2002). Bolbophorus damnificus n. sp (Digenea: Bolbophoridae) from the channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus and American white pelican Pelecanus erythrorhynchos in the USA based on life-cycle and molecular data. Systematic Parasitology 52, 81–96.
- Park, G.M., Im, K.I. and Yong, T.S. (2003). Phylogenetic relationship of ribosomal ITS2 and mitochondrial COI among diploid and triploid *Paragonimus westermani* isolates. *Journal of Parasitology* **41**, 47–55.
- Pauly, A., Schuster, R. and Steuber, S. (2003). Molecular characterization and differentiation of opisthorchiid trematodes of the species *Opisthorchis felineus* (Rivolta, 1884) and *Metorchis bilis* (Braun, 1790) using polymerase chain reaction. *Parasitology Research* **90**, 409–414.
- Pearson, J.C. (1992). On the position of the digenean family Heronimidae: an inquiry into a cladistic classification of the Digenea. *Systematic Parasitology* **21**, 81–166.
- Petkeviciute, R. (2003). Comparative karyological analysis of three species of *Bothriocephalus* Rudolphi 1808 (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea). *Parasitology Research* 89, 358–363.
- Philippe, H., Snell, E.A., Bapteste, E., Lopez, P., Holland, P.W.H. and Casane, D. (2004). Phylogenomics of eukaryotes: impact of missing data on large alignments. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 21, 1740–1752.
- Picard, D. and Jousson, O. (2001). Genetic variability among cercariae of the Schistosomatidae (Trematoda: Digenea) causing swimmer's itch in Europe. *Parasite* 8, 237–242.
- Platt, T.R., Blair, D., Purdie, J. and Melville, L. (1991). Gryphobilharzia amaena n. gen., n. sp. (Digenea: Schistosomatidae), a parasite of the freshwater crocodile, Crocodylus johnstoni (Reptilia: Crocodylidae) from Australia, with the erection of a new subfamily, Gryphobilharzinae. Journal of Parasitology 77, 65–69.
- Platt, T.R. and Tkach, V.V. (2003). Two new species of *Choanocotyle* Jue Sue and Platt, 1998 (Digenea: Choanocotylidae) from an Australian freshwater turtle (Testudines: Pleurodira: Chelidae). *Journal of Parasitology* 89, 145–150.

- Posada, D. and Buckley, T.R. (2004). Model selection and model averaging in phylogenetics: advantages of the AIC and Bayesian approaches over likelihood ratio tests. *Systematic Biology* 53, 793–808.
- Posada, D. and Crandall, K.A. (1998). Modeltest: testing the model of DNA substitution. *Bioinformatics* 14, 817–818.
- Reyda, F.B. and Olson, P.D. (2003). Cestodes of cestodes of Peruvian freshwater stingrays. *Journal of Parasitology* **89**, 1018–1024.
- Rivera, M.C. and Lake, J.A. (2004). The ring of life provides evidence for a genome fusion origin of eukaryotes. *Nature* 431, 152–155.
- Rohde, K., Hefford, C., Ellis, J.T., Baverstock, P.R., Johnson, A.M., Watson, N.A. and Dittmann, S. (1993). Contributions to the phylogeny of Platyhelminthes based on partial sequencing of 18S ribosomal DNA. *International Journal for Parasitology* 23, 705–724.
- Rohde, K., Johnson, A.M., Baverstock, P.R. and Watson, N.A. (1995). Aspects of the phylogeny of Platyhelminthes based on 18S ribosomal DNA and protonephridial ultrastructure. *Hydrobiologia* 305, 27–35.
- Rollinson, D., Kaukas, A., Johnston, D.A., Simpson, A.J.G. and Tanaka, M. (1997). Some molecular insights into schistosome evolution. *International Journal for Parasitology* 27, 11–28.
- Rosas-Valdez, R., Choudhury, A. and Pérez-Ponce de León, G. (2004). Phylogenetic analysis on genera of Corallobothriinae (Cestoda: Proteocephalidea) from North American ictalurid fishes, using partial sequences of the 28S ribosomal gene. *Journal of Parasitology* 90, 1123–1127.
- Ruiz-Trillo, I., Paps, J., Loukota, M., Ribera, C., Jondelius, U., Baguna, J. and Riutort, M. (2002). A phylogenetic analysis of the myosin heavy chain type II sequences corroborates that Acoela and Nemertodermatida are basal bilaterians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA 99, 11246–11251.
- Ruiz-Trillo, I., Riutort, M., Littlewood, D.T.J., Herniou, E.A. and Baguñà, J. (1999). Acoel flatworms: earliest extant bilaterian metazoans, not members of Platyhelminthes. *Science* 283, 1919–1923.
- Ryu, J.S., Hwang, U.W., Min, D.Y., Shin, K.S., Nam, S.J. and Lee, O.R. (2000). Molecular identification of *Paragonimus ohirai* and *P. westermani* from Anhui Province, China. *Parasite* 7, 305–309.
- Santalla, F., Casanova, J.C., Durand, P., Voucher, C., Renaud, F. and Feliu, C. (2002). Morphometric and genetic variability of *Rodentolepis* asymmetrica (Hymenolepididae) from the Pyrenean mountains. Journal of Parasitology 88, 983–988.
- Santamaría-Fríes, M., Fajardo L-G, L.F., Sogin, M., Olson, P.D. and Relman, D.A. (1996). Lethal infection by a previously unrecognised parasite. *The Lancet* 347, 1797–1801.
- Schmidt, G.D. (1986). *Handbook of Tapeworm Identification*. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.

- Schulenburg, J.H.G. and Wägele, J.-W. (1998). Molecular characterization of digenetic trematodes associated with *Cyathura carinata* (Crustacea: Isopoda) with a note on the utility of 18S ribosomal DNA for phylogenetic analysis in the Digenea (Platyhelminthes: Trematoda). *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1425–1428.
- Seberg, O., Humphries, C.J., Knapp, S., Stevenson, D.W., Petersen, G., Scharff, N. and Andersen, N.M. (2003). Shortcuts in systematics? A commentary on DNA-based taxonomy. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 18, 63–65.
- Semyenova, S.K., Morozova, E.V., Chrisanfova, G.G., Asatrian, A.M., Movsessian, S.O. and Ryskov, A.P. (2003). RAPD variability and genetic diversity in two populations of liver fluke, *Fasciola hepatica*. *Acta Parasitologica* 48, 125–130.
- Shinn, A.P., Gibson, D.I. and Sommerville, C. (2001). Morphometric discrimination of *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg (Monogenea) from species of *Gyrodactylus* parasitising British salmonids using novel parameters. *Journal of Fish Diseases* 24, 83–97.
- Shinn, A.P., Hansen, H., Olstad, K., Bachmann, L. and Bakke, T.A. (2004). The use of morphometric characters to discriminate specimens of laboratory-reared and wild populations of *Gyrodactylus salaris* and *G. thymalli* (Monogenea). *Folia Parasitologica* 51, 239–252.
- Simon, C., Frati, F., Beckenback, B., Crespi, B., Liu, H. and Flook, P. (1994). Evolution, weighting, and phylogenetic utility of mitochondrial gene sequences and a compilation of conserved PCR primers. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 87, 651–701.
- Simková, A., Morand, S., Jobet, E., Gelnar, M. and Verneau, O. (2004). Molecular phylogeny of congeneric monogenean parasites (*Da-ctylogyrus*): a case of intrahost speciation. *Evolution* 58, 1001–1018.
- Simková, A., Plaisance, L., Matejusová, I., Morand, S. and Verneau, O. (2003). Phylogenetic relationships of the Dactylogyridae Bychowsky, 1933 (Monogenea: Dactylogyridea): the need for the systematic revision of the Ancyrocephalinae Bychowsky, 1937. Systematic Parasitology 54, 1–11.
- Sinnappah, N.D., Lim, L.-H.S., Rohde, K., Tinsley, R., Combes, C. and Verneau, O. (2001). A paedomorphic parasite association with a neotenic amphibian host: phylogenetic evidence suggests a revised systematic position for Sphyranuridae with anuran and turtle polystomoineans. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 18, 189–201.
- Skeríková, A., Hypsa, V. and Scholz, T. (2001). Phylogenetic analysis of European species of *Proteocephalus* (Cestoda: Proteocephalidea): compatibility of molecular and morphological data, and host-parasite coevolution. *International Journal for Parasitology* **31**, 1121–1128.
- Skeríková, A., Hypsa, V. and Scholz, T. (2004). A paraphyly of the genus *Bothriocephalus* Rudolphi, 1808 (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea) inferred

from internal transcribed spacer-2 and 18S ribosomal DNA sequences. *Journal of Parasitology* **90**, 612–617.

- Snábel, V., Hanzelová, V., Scholz, T., Gerdeaux, D. and Cabaret, J. (2004). Allozyme analysis of genetic variation and polymorphism in *Eubothrium* salvelini and *E. crassum* (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea) from alpine lakes. *Parasitology Research* **93**, 290–295.
- Snyder, S.D. (2004). Phylogeny and paraphyly among tetrapod blood flukes (Digenea: Schistosomatidae and Spirorchiidae). *International Journal for Parasitology* 34, 1385–1392.
- Snyder, S.D. and Loker, E.S. (2000). Evolutionary relationships among the Schistosomatidae (Platyhelminthes: Digenea) and an Asian origin for Schistosoma. Journal of Parasitology 86, 283–288.
- Snyder, S.D., Loker, E.S., Johnston, D.A. and Rollinson, D. (2001). The Schistosomatidae: advances in phylogenetics and genomics. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 194–199. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Snyder, S.D. and Tkach, V.V. (2001). Phylogenetic and biogeographical relationships among some holarctic frog lung flukes (Digenea: Haematoloechidae). *Journal of Parasitology* 87, 1433–1440.
- Sorensen, R.E., Curtis, J. and Minchella, D.J. (1998). Intraspecific variation in the rDNA ITS loci of 37-collar-spined echinostomes from North America: implications for sequence-based diagnoses and phylogenetics. *Journal of Parasitology* 84, 992–997.
- Spakulová, M. (2002). Current problems of helminth taxonomy: species level reflections. *Helminthologia* **39**, 111–118.
- Sterud, E., Mo, T.A., Collins, C.M. and Cunningham, C.O. (2002). The use of host specificity, pathogenicity, and molecular markers to differentiate between *Gyrodactylus salaris* Malmberg, 1957 and *G. thymalli* Zitnan, 1960 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *Parasitology* 124, 203–213.
- Sugiyama, H., Morishima, Y., Kameoka, Y. and Kawanaka, M. (2002). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based molecular discrimination between *Paragonimus westermani* and *P. miyazakii* at the metacercarial stage. *Molecular and Cellular Probes* 16, 231–236.
- Tautz, D., Arctander, P., Minelli, A., Thomas, R.H. and Vogler, A.P. (2003). A plea for DNA taxonomy. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 18, 70–74.
- Telford, M.J., Herniou, E.A., Russell, R.B. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2000). Changes in mitochondrial genetic codes as phylogenetic characters: two examples from the flatworms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 97, 11359–11364.
- Telford, M.J., Lockyer, A.E., Cartwright-Finch, C. and Littlewood, D.T.J. (2003). Combined large and small subunit ribosomal RNA phylogenies support a basal position of the acoelomorph flatworms. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series-B Biological Sciences* 270, 1077–1083.

- Tkach, V.V., Grabda-Kazubska, B., Pawlowski, J. and Świderski, Z. (1999). Molecular and morphological evidence for close phylogenetic affinities of the genera *Macrodera*, *Leptophallus*, *Metaleptophallus* and *Paralepoderma* (Digenea, Plagiorchiata). *Acta Parasitologica* 44, 170–179.
- Tkach, V.V., Grabda-Kazubska, B. and Świderski, Z. (2001a). Systematic position and phylogenetic relationships of the family Omphalometridae Odening, 1959 (Digenea, Plagiorchiida) inferred from the partial lsrDNA sequences. *International Journal for Parasitology* 31, 81–85.
- Tkach, V.V., Littlewood, D.T.J., Olson, P.D., Kinsella, J.M. and Swiderski, Z. (2003). Molecular phylogenetic analysis of the Microphalloidea Ward, 1901 (Trematoda: Digenea). *Systematic Parasitology* 56, 1–15.
- Tkach, V.V., Lotz, J.M., Swiderski, Z. and Esteban, J.G. (2002a). On the systematic position of *Ophiosacculus* Macy, 1935 (Digenea: Lecithodendriidae), with the erection of the Ophiosacculinae n. subfam. *Systematic Parasitology* 53, 159–167.
- Tkach, V.V., Pawlowski, J. and Mariaux, J. (2000a). Phylogenetic analysis of the suborder Plagiorchiata (Platyhelminthes, Digenea) based on partial lsrDNA sequences. *International Journal for Parasitology* **30**, 89–93.
- Tkach, V.V., Pawlowski, J., Mariaux, J. and Swiderski, Z. (2001b). Molecular phylogeny of the suborder Plagiorchiata and its position in the system of Digenea. In: *Interrelationships of the Platyhelminthes* (D.T.J. Littlewood and R.A. Bray, eds), pp. 186–193. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Tkach, V.V., Pawlowski, J. and Sharpilo, V.P. (2000b). Molecular and morphological differentiation between species of the *Plagiorchis vespertilionis* group (Digenea, Plagiorchiidae) occurring in European bats, with a re-description of *P. vespertilionis* (Muller, 1780). Systematic Parasitology 47, 9–22.
- Tkach, V.V., Snyder, S.D. and Świderski, Z. (2001c). On the phylogenetic relationships of some members of Macroderoididae and Ochetosomatidae (Digenea, Plagiorchioidea). Acta Parasitologica 46, 267–275.
- Tkach, V.V., Świderski, Z., Dróżdż, J. and Demiaszkiewicz, A. (2002b). Molecular identification of *Echinococcus granulosus* from wild European beaver, *Castor fiber* (L.) from North-Eastern Poland. *Acta Parasitologica* 47, 173–176.
- van Herwerden, L., Blair, D. and Agatsuma, T. (1999). Intra- and interindividual variation in ITS1 of *Paragonimus westermani* (Trematoda: Digenea) and related species: implications for phylogenetic studies. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 12, 67–73.
- van Herwerden, L., Blair, D. and Agatsuma, T. (2000). Multiple lineages of the mitochondrial gene NADH dehydrogenase subunit 1 (ND1) in parasitic helminths: implications for molecular evolutionary studies of facultatively anaerobic eukaryotes. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 51, 339–352.
- van Herwerden, L., Blair, D., Agatsuma, T. and Van, H.L. (1998). Intraand inter-specific variation in nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed

spacer 1 of the *Schistosoma japonicum* species complex. *Parasitology* **116**, 311–317.

- Verneau, O., Bentz, S., Sinnappah, N.D., du Preez, L., Whittington, I. and Combes, C. (2002). A view of early vertebrate evolution inferred from the phylogeny of polystome parasites (Monogenea: Polystomatidae). Proceedings of the Royal Society Biological Sciences Series B 269, 535–543.
- Vilas, R., Paniagua, E., Outeiral, S. and Sanmartin, M.L. (2002a). Electrophoretic and morphological differentiation of three sympatric species of the genus *Lecithochirium* (Trematoda: Hemiuridae), parasites of marine fishes. *Parasitology Research* 88, 1055–1060.
- Vilas, R., Paniagua, E., Sanles, D.G. and Sanmartin, M.L. (2000). Allozyme analysis of two polymorphic enzymes in a natural population of *Lecithochirium musculus*. *Parasitology Research* 86, 419–421.
- Vilas, R., Paniagua, E. and Sanmartin, M.L. (2002b). Difficulties in the genetic interpretation of isozyme patterns of *Lecithochirium* spp. (Trematoda: Digenea). *Parasitology Research* 88, 311–314.
- Vilas, R., Paniagua, E. and Sanmartin, M.L. (2002c). Allozyme markers for the identification of *Lecithochirium rufoviride* and *Lecithochirium furcolabiatum* (Trematoda: Hemiuridae), parasites of *Conger conger* and *Anguilla anguilla* from Atlantic Spanish waters. *Journal of Parasitology* 88, 822–825.
- Vilas, R., Paniagua, E. and Sanmartin, M.L. (2003a). Genetic variation within and among infrapopulations of the marine digenetic trematode *Lecithochirium fusiforme. Parasitology* **126**, 465–472.
- Vilas, R., Paniagua, E. and Sanmartin, M.L. (2003b). Extensive allozyme polymorphism for phosphoglucomutase in a natural population of *Lecithochirium fusiforme* (Digenea) occurring in *Conger conger. Helminthologia* 40, 131–134.
- Vilas, R., Sanmartin, M.L. and Paniagua, E. (2004a). Temporal allozyme divergence in infrapopulations of the hemiurid fluke *Lecithochirium fusiforme. Journal of Parasitology* **90**, 198–201.
- Vilas, R., Sanmartin, M.L. and Paniagua, E. (2004b). Genetic variability of natural populations of trematodes of the genus *Lecithochirium* parasites of eels. *Parasitology* 129, 191–201.
- Viyanant, V. and Upatham, E.S. (1985). Isoenzyme analyses of Malaysian Schistosoma, S. mekongi and S. japonicum by isoelectric focusing in a polyacrylamide gel. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health 16, 539–545.
- Voltz, A., Richard, J., Pesson, B. and Jourdane, J. (1988). Isoenzyme analysis of *Echinostoma liei*: comparison and hybridization with other African species. *Experimental Parasitology* **66**, 13–17.
- von Nickisch-Rosenegk, M., Brown, W.M. and Boore, J.L. (2001). Complete sequences of the mitochondrial genome of the tapeworm *Hymenolepis diminuta*: gene arrangements indicate that platyhelminths are eutrochozoans. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **18**, 721–730.

- von Nickisch-Rosenegk, M., Lucius, R. and Loos-Frank, B. (1999). Contributions to the phylogeny of the Cyclophyllidea (Cestoda) inferred from mitochondrial 12S rDNA. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 48, 586–596.
- Walker, T.K., Rollinson, D. and Simpson, A.J.G. (1986). Differentiation of Schistosoma haematobium from related species using cloned ribosomal RNA gene probes. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology 20, 123–131.
- Walker, T.K., Rollinson, D. and Simpson, A.J.G. (1989a). A DNA probe from *Schistosoma mansoni* allows rapid determination of the sex of larval parasites. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 33, 93–100.
- Walker, T., Simpson, A.J.G., Knight, M. and Rollinson, D. (1985). Use of cloned DNA probes for identification of schistosomes. *Transactions of* the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 79, 731.
- Walker, T.K., Simpson, A.J.G. and Rollinson, D. (1989b). Differentiation of *Schistosoma mansoni* from *Schistosoma rodhaini* using cloned DNA probes. *Parasitology* 98, 75–80.
- Webster, B.L., Southgate, V.R., Tchuente, L.A.T. and Jourdane, J. (2003). Isoenzyme analysis of *Schistosoma haematobium*, *S. intercalatum* and their hybrids and occurrences of natural hybridization in Cameroon. *Journal of Helminthology* **77**, 269–274.
- Whelan, S., Liò, P. and Goldman, N. (2001). Molecular phylogenetics: state of the art methods for looking into the past. *Trends in Genetics* **17**, 262–272.
- Whittington, I. (1998). Diversity 'down under': monogeneans in the Antipodes (Australia) with a prediction of monogenean diversity worldwide. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1481–1493.
- Whittington, I.D. (2004). The Capsalidae (Monogenea: Monopisthocotylea): a review of diversity, classification and phylogeny with a note about species complexes. *Folia Parasitologica* **51**, 109–122.
- Whittington, I.D., Deveney, M.R., Morgan, J.A.T., Chisholm, L.A. and Adlard, R.D. (2004). A preliminary phylogenetic analysis of the Capsalidae (Platyhelminthes: Monogenea: Monopisthocotylea) inferred from large subunit rDNA sequences. *Parasitology* **128**, 511–519.
- Wickström, L.M., Hantula, J., Haukisalmi, V. and Henttonen, H. (2001). Genetic and morphometric variation in the Holarctic helminth parasite *Andrya arctica* (Cestoda, Anoplocephalidae) in relation to the divergence of its lemming hosts (*Dicrostonyx* spp.). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* 131, 443–457.
- Wickström, L.M., Haukisalmi, V., Varis, S., Hantula, J., Fedorov, V.B. and Henttonen, H. (2003). Phylogeography of the circumpolar *Para-noplocephala arctica* species complex (Cestoda: Anoplocephalidae) parasitizing collared lemmings (*Dicrostonyx* spp.). *Molecular Ecology* 12, 3359–3371.
- Woodruff, D.S., Merenlender, A.M., Upatham, E.S. and Viyanant, V. (1985). Genetic variation and differentiation of three *Schistosoma* species

from the Phillipines, Laos and Peninsular Malaysia. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **36**, 345–354.

- Write, C.A. and Ross, G.C. (1980). Hybrids between Schistosoma haematobium and S. mattheei and their indentification by isoelectric focusing of enzymes. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 74, 326–332.
- Yamaguti, S. (1959). Systema Helminthum. The Cestodes of Vertebrates, Vol. 2. New York: Interscience Publishers, Inc.
- Yamaguti, S. (1975). A Synoptical Review of Life Histories of Digenetic Trematodes of Vertebrates with Special References to the Morphology of Their Larval Forms. Japan: Keigaku Publishing Co. Ltd.
- Yamasaki, H., Nakao, M., Sako, Y., Nakaya, K., Sato, O.M., Mamuti, W., Okamoto, M. and Ito, A. (2002). DNA differential diagnosis of human taeniid cestodes by base excision sequence scanning T-base reader analysis with mitochondrial genes. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 40, 3818–3821.
- Yong, H.S., Greer, G.J. and Ow-Yang, C.K. (1985). Genetic diversity and differentiation of four taxa of asiatic blood flukes (Trematoda, Schistosomatidae). *Tropical Biomedicine* 2, 17–23.
- Zamparo, D., Brooks, D.R., Hoberg, E.P. and McLennan, D.A. (2001). Phylogenetic analysis of the Rhabdocoela (Platyhelminthes) with emphasis on the Neodermata and relatives. *Zoologica Scripta* **30**, 59–77.
- Zehnder, M.P. and de Chambrier, A. (2000). Morphological and molecular analyses of the genera *Peltidocotyle* Diesing 1850 and *Othinoscolex* Woodland 1933, and morphological study of *Woodlandiella* Freze, 1965 (Eucestoda, Proteocephalidea), parasites of South American siluriform fishes (Pimelodidae). *Systematic Parasitology* **46**, 33–43.
- Zehnder, M.P., de Chambrier, A., Vaucher, C. and Mariaux, J. (2000). Nomimoscolex suspectus n. sp. (Eucestoda: Proteocephalidea: Zygobothriinae) with morphological and molecular phylogenetic analysis of the genus. Systematic Parasitology 47, 157–172.
- Zehnder, M.P. and Mariaux, J. (1999). Molecular systematic analysis of the order Proteocephalidea Mola, 1928 (Eucestoda) based on mitochondrial and nuclear rDNA sequences. *International Journal for Parasitology* 29, 1841–1852.
- Zhu, X.Q., Beveridge, I., Berger, L., Barton, D. and Gasser, R.B. (2002). Single-strand conformation polymorphism-based analysis reveals genetic variation within *Spirometra erinacei* (Cestoda: Pseudophyllidea) from Australia. *Molecular and Cellular Probes* 16, 159–165.
- Zietara, M.S., Arndt, A., Geets, A., Hellemans, B. and Volckaert, F.A.M. (2000). The nuclear rDNA region of *Gyrodactylus arcuatus* and *G. branchicus* (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *Journal of Parasitology* 86, 1368–1373.
- Zietara, M.S., Huyse, T., Lumme, J. and Volckaert, F.A. (2002). Deep divergence among subgenera of *Gyrodactylus* inferred from rDNA ITS region. *Parasitology* 124, 39–52.

- Zietara, M.S. and Lumme, J. (2002). Speciation by host switch and adaptive radiation in a fish parasite genus *Gyrodactylus* (Monogenea, Gyrodactylidae). *Evolution* **56**, 2445–2458.
- Zietara, M.S. and Lumme, J. (2003). The crossroads of molecular, typological and biological species concepts: two new species of *Gyrodactylus* Nordmann, 1832 (Monogenea: Gyrodactylidae). *Systematic Parasitology* 55, 39–52.

Wolbachia Bacterial Endosymbionts of Filarial Nematodes

Mark J. Taylor¹, Claudio Bandi² and Achim Hoerauf³

 ¹Filariasis Research Laboratory, Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, Liverpool, L3 5QA, UK
²DIPAV, Sezione di Patologia Generale e Parassitologia, Università degli Studi di Milano, Via Celoria 10, 20133 Milano, Italy
³Institute of Medical Parasitology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Bonn, Sigmund Freud Str. 25, 53105 Bonn, Germany

	Abstract	246
1.	The Cellular Environment of Wolbachia in Nematodes	246
	1.1. Habitat	246
	1.2. Growth and Population Dynamics	248
2.	Taxonomy and Diversity of the Genus Wolbachia	249
	2.1. Wolbachia in Arthropods	252
	2.2. Wolbachia in Nematodes	252
	2.3. Distribution and Phylogeny of Wolbachia in the	
	Onchocercinae and Dirofilarinae	256
3.	Evidence for Dependence	258
	3.1. Indirect Evidence	258
	3.2. Direct Evidence	260
	3.3. Antibiotic Therapy as a New Treatment for Human	
	Filariasis	263
	3.4. Genomic Insights into the Nature of the Symbiosis	266
4.	Wolbachia-Mediated Activation of Inflammation	268
	4.1. Lymphatic Filariasis.	268
	4.2. Onchocerciasis	270
	4.3. Dirofilariasis.	271
_	4.4. Wolbachia Serology	272
5.	Future Advances/Concluding Remarks	273
	References	274

ABSTRACT

Filarial nematodes are important helminth parasites of the tropics and a leading cause of global disability. They include species responsible for onchocerciasis, lymphatic filariasis and dirofilariasis. A unique feature of these nematodes is their dependency upon a symbiotic intracellular bacterium, *Wolbachia*, which is essential for normal development and fertility. Advances in our understanding of the symbiosis of *Wolbachia* bacteria with filarial nematodes have made rapid progress in recent years. Here we summarise our current understanding of the evolution of the symbiotic association together with insights into the functional basis of the interaction derived from genomic analysis. Also we discuss the contribution of *Wolbachia* to inflammatory-mediated pathogenesis and adverse reactions to antifilarial drugs and describe the outcome of recent field trials using antibiotics as a promising new tool for the treatment of filarial infection and disease.

1. THE CELLULAR ENVIRONMENT OF *WOLBACHIA* IN NEMATODES

1.1. Habitat

Initial descriptions of bacterial-like structures using electron microscopy and more recent studies by immuno-histology have provided a comprehensive description of the distribution of *Wolbachia* in nematode tissues (McLaren *et al.*, 1975; Kozek, 1977; Kozek and Figueroa, 1977; Taylor *et al.*, 1999; Peixoto *et al.*, 2001; Hoerauf *et al.*, 2003a; Kramer *et al.*, 2003; McGarry *et al.*, 2004). They are found throughout all the stages of the life cycle of the nematode although they occur in varying proportions between individual worms and different developmental stages (Kozek, 1977; Kozek and Figueroa, 1977; McGarry *et al.*, 2004). In adult nematodes, *Wolbachia* is predominantly found throughout the hypodermal cells of the lateral cords (Figure 1). The bacteria occur within host-derived vacuoles in variously sized discrete groups ranging from a few organisms, often


Figure 1 Wolbachia (stained red) distributed throughout the lateral hypodermal cord cells and embryos within the uterus of *Onchocerca volvulus*. (Image courtesy of D.W. Büttner.)

clustered around hypodermal nuclei, to areas where they almost completely fill the cellular environment reminiscent of bacteriocytelike structures. In females, *Wolbachia* is also present in the ovaries, oocytes and developing embryonic stages within the uteri, whereas they have not been demonstrated in the male reproductive system (Taylor and Hoerauf, 1999; Sacchi *et al.*, 2002; Kozek, 2005). This suggests that the bacterium is vertically transmitted through the cytoplasm of the egg and not through the sperm (Kozek, 1977; Kozek and Figueroa, 1977; Taylor *et al.*, 1999). The concomitant phylogeny of *Wolbachia* with that of the host filariae (Casiraghi *et al.*, 2001) provides indirect evidence that transmission has been at least predominantly vertical.

1.2. Growth and Population Dynamics

We know little of the mechanisms of reproduction and growth of the bacteria but structural observations and studies on the population dynamics of the bacteria within different developmental stages of the nematode have unravelled a more complex pattern of cell division at the individual and population level (McGarry et al., 2004; Kozek, 2005). The bacterial cells are plieomorphic and range in size from 0.2to 4µm in length (Kozek, 2005). In addition to the typical binary fission commonly used by bacteria, an alternative more complex cycle has been suggested in the form of small dense coccoid stages, which appear to form in the parent organism through condensation of the cytosol with features similar to the formation of elemental bodies in the Chlamydiae (Kozek, 2005). At the population level, quantification of bacterial numbers in different developmental stages has been studied in Brugia malayi (McGarry et al., 2004; Fenn and Blaxter, 2004). The numbers of bacteria remain static in microfilariae and the mosquito-borne larval stages (L2 and L3), with the lowest ratios of Wolbachia/nematode DNA. However, within the first week of infection of the mammalian host, bacteria numbers increase dramatically and the bacteria/worm ratio is the highest of all life-cycle stages. The rapid multiplication continues throughout L4 development, so that the major period of bacterial population growth occurs within the first month of infection of the definitive host. Microscopy confirms that there are few bacteria in mosquito-derived L3 but many, in large groups, in L4 collected 1-3 weeks after infection. It appears that the large clusters of bacteria observed throughout the hypodermal cord of adult worms originate from this rapid period of division, which thereafter are maintained at that level as demonstrated in adult male worms up to 15 months of age. In females, bacterial numbers increase further as the worms mature and as the ovary and embryonic larval

stages become infected (McGarry *et al.*, 2004). Further studies on the dynamics of population levels in other filarial species are going on and should serve to further define the key features of the symbiotic association. Individual worms appear to vary widely in their bacterial load, which may reflect a dynamic change of population size over time or if constant the potential for a selective advantage in terms of longevity or fecundity in worms carrying more bacteria. A recent study comparing the different 'forest' and 'savanna' strains of *O. volvulus* of West Africa found a significantly greater ratio of *Wolbachia* DNA to nuclear DNA in the severe, ocular disease causing 'savanna' strain, supporting the role of the bacteria in the pathogenesis of ocular onchocerciasis (Higazi *et al.*, 2005).

One might predict that an obligate symbiont that provides a continuous essential resource for its host would show a constant regulated population. The changes in the dynamics of Wolbachia populations throughout the life cycle may therefore illustrate the points at which the symbiotic relationship is critical. The rapid increase in bacterial numbers during the period of larval and embryonic development is consistent with a role for the bacteria in these processes, two processes compromised by antibiotic treatment. The pattern of population growth would also be compatible with a role in evasion of mammalian immunity and for the long-term survival of adult worms. It also can explain the differential activity of bacteriostatic antibiotic treatment on distinct developmental stages, in which larval and embryonic development are associated with rapidly dividing bacteria and are affected soon after antibiotic treatment, whereas the more slowly dividing populations in adults take longer to deplete and for the consequences to show. This is a feature observed following doxycycline treatment of Wuchereria bancrofti (see Section 3.3).

2. TAXONOMY AND DIVERSITY OF THE GENUS WOLBACHIA

The genus *Wolbachia* includes a group of intracellular bacteria found in arthropods (insects, spiders, mites and crustaceans) and in filarial nematodes (Werren, 1997; Taylor and Hoerauf, 1999; Bandi *et al.*, 2001a, b; Stevens *et al.*, 2001). This genus belongs to the family Anaplasmataceae in the order Rickettsiales (alphaproteobacteria). Presently there is a single valid species in the genus *Wolbachia*, i.e. *Wolbachia pipientis*. The other species previously assigned to this genus (*W. persica* and *W. pipentis*) do not belong to the alphaproteobacteria and should be removed from the genus *Wolbachia* (Dumler *et al.*, 2001; La Scola *et al.*, 2005).

Despite the existence of a single valid *Wolbachia* species, this genus encompasses a wide variety of molecular diversity. Based on the analysis of different genes (16S rDNA; ftsZ; dnaA; wsp), six main phylogenetic lineages of *Wolbachia* have been described (Lo *et al.*, 2002; Casiraghi *et al.*, 2003), which are provisionally indicated as supergroups A–F (Figure 2). Supergroups A and B include most of



Figure 2 Wolbachia phylogeny based on ftsZ gene sequences. The unrooted tree was obtained using the maximum likelihood (ML) approach. Species names at the nodes are those of the host species. Representatives of *Wolbachia* supergroups A–F are shown (Lo *et al.*, 2002). In addition, *Wolbachia* from a flea (*Ctenocephalides felis*) and from a recently examined filarial species (*Dipetalonema gracile*) are included, since these bacteria cannot be assigned to the above supergroups (Fischer *et al.*, 2002a; Casiraghi *et al.*, 2004). The branch leading to *Wolbachia* from *D. gracile* is broken, since the ftsZ gene sequence is not available for this bacterium (the positioning is based on Casiraghi *et al.*, (2004) and on unpublished GroEL gene sequences; M. Casiraghi, pers. comm.).

the wolbachiae thus far detected in arthropods, while supergroups C and D include most of those found in filarial nematodes. The remaining two supergroups are less well known. Supergroup E encompasses wolbachiae from collembola; supergroup F includes those found in termites and in the filarial nematode *Mansonella ozzardi*. In addition, unpublished results indicate that further main lineages of *Wolbachia* may be described in the future, collecting wolbachiae found in both arthropods (e.g. some flea species) and filarial nematodes (M. Casiraghi *et al.*, unpublished).

Which taxonomic status should be attributed to the above supergroups of Wolbachia? Bacterial strains showing over 3% nucleotide differences in their 16S rDNA genes are frequently assigned to different species (Stackebrandt and Goebel, 1994). The level of divergence between the six main supergroups of Wolbachia is around 3%. This might suggest that the six main lineages could be elevated at the species rank. However, the overall molecular diversity observed in the genus Wolbachia is probably still to be uncovered. The overall phylogeny of Wolbachia that currently appears as a tree with six main branches might become saturated in the future as a result of the detection and characterization of new Wolbachia lines found in new host species. Should Wolbachia tree become a bush, definition of the species boundaries might become more difficult. Based on this reason and in the absence of a firm reconstruction of the branching order of the main lineages, there is a general consensus of the Wolbachia community to maintain a single species name (Bandi et al., 2003), until new data are generated in different research areas (comparative genomics; molecular phylogenetics; screening for Wolbachia in new hosts, etc.).

Besides the issue of whether the different lineages of *Wolbachia* should be elevated to the species rank or maintained in the same species, the divergences between these lineages are certainly not negligible. For example, at the 16S rDNA level, the *Wolbachia* found in the mosquito *Culex pipiens* (supergroup B) and in the filarial nematodes *W. bancrofti* (supergroup C) are more different than rickettsiae assigned to different species (e.g. *Rickettsia ricketsii* vs *R. conorii; R. prowazekii* vs *R. ricketsii*). It should also be noted that, based on the rates of molecular evolution estimated for bacteria, the

evolutionary separation between the main lineages of *Wolbachia* may have occurred 50–100 million years ago (Werren *et al.*, 1995a; Bandi *et al.*, 1998).

2.1. Wolbachia in Arthropods

Wolbachia has been detected in most of the insect orders thus far screened, as well as in a variety of other arthropods (mites, crustaceans, spiders). Particularly in insects this bacterium appears widespread, with estimated proportions of infected species ranging from ~ 20 to $\sim 75\%$ (Werren *et al.*, 1995b; Jeyaprakash and Hoy, 2000). These estimates have been obtained through polymerase chain reaction (PCR) screening of field-collected insect specimens, and phenotypic effects associated with the presence of Wolbachia had usually not been determined in the context of these prevalence studies. However, in most of the host-Wolbachia system thus far characterized, the presence of this bacterium is usually associated with various kinds of alterations of the host reproduction: parthenogenesis, killing of male embryos, feminization of genetic males and cytoplasmic incompatibility (CI) (Stouthamer et al., 1999). In addition, there is a strain of Wolbachia, which appears needed for host reproduction (Dedeine et al., 2001), and another one whose behaviour is more similar to that of "traditional" pathogens, with invasion of the host tissues and, eventually, the death of the host (Min and Benzer, 1997). The kind and strength of effect that Wolbachia will determine on the host is linked to the genotypes of the bacterium and the host, on the density of the bacteria and on the interaction between the different strains coinfecting a given host (Bordenstein et al., 2003b; Ikeda et al., 2003).

2.2. Wolbachia in Nematodes

Before we discuss the distribution of *Wolbachia* among filarial species, we should briefly summarize the classification of these nematodes. Filarial nematodes belong to the order Spirurida. The common names "filariae" and "filarial nematodes" are generally used to refer to a coherent group of spirurid nematodes that Anderson and Bain (1976)

have collected into the superfamily Filarioidea, composed of the families Filariidae and Onchocercidae. These families encompass, respectively, two and eight subfamilies (Filarinae and Stephanofilarinae; Waltonellinae, Setariinae, Oswaldofilariinae, Icosiellinae, Splendidofilariinae, Lemdaninae, Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae). Within the order Spirurida, the groups that appear more closely related to the Filarioidea are the Thelaziodiea and Habronematoidea (Anderson, 2000). The relationships among the 10 subfamilies of the Filarioidea are not firmly established, even though there is some evidence for a deep branching of the Filariidae (Anderson, 2000; Casiraghi et al., 2004). Within the Onchocercidae, the lineages leading to the Setarinae, and Waltonellinae appear deep (Figure 3), while the evolutionary radiation of the subfamilies Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae might have occurred after the splits of these two lineages (Casiraghi et al., 2004). It must be emphasized that the Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae do not form monophyletic lineages. The genera in these subfamilies are frequently intermixed, and might be collected into a single subfamily (Casiraghi et al., 2004). It is also important to note that all the filariae that cause known diseases in humans are members of these two subfamilies.

Based on the data thus far obtained, the presence of Wolbachia in filarial nematodes appears restricted to the subfamilies Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae, with 16 positive species out of the 21 examined (Table 1). Even though only a limited number of specimens and species have been examined for the remaining subfamilies of filarial nematodes and for the closely related superfamily Thelazioidea, these groups have consistently been found negative. Within the Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae, there are both positive and negative species. Negative species are thus both outside the group encompassing the positive ones, as well as inside this group. Based on the available information, two different scenarios can be hypothesized: (1) the association between Wolbachia and filarial nematodes was established after a single infection along the lineage leading to the Onchocercinae/Dirofilariinae, and current negative species in these subfamilies are the results of secondary losses; (2) the association between Wolbachia and filarial nematodes was established several times along various lineages of the Onchocercinae/Dirofilariinae; in



A hypothetical scenario of the evolution of Wolbachia infection Fiaure 3 in filarial nematodes. The tree represents the phylogeny of filarial nematodes (Filarioidea) reconstructed in Casiraghi et al. (2004). Wolbachia could have been ancestrally absent in the sister groups of filarial nematodes (represented in the tree by *Thelazia* spp.) and in the deep-branching filarial lineage Filariidae. Within the family Onchocercidae, Wolbachia could also have been ancestrally absent in the lineages Setariinae and Waltonellinae. During the evolution of the family Onchocercidae, Wolbachia could have been acquired on the lineage leading to the subfamilies Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae, and then lost along the lineages leading to Acanthocheilonema spp., Loa loa, Onchocerca flexuosa, Litomosoides yutajensis, Mansonella perstans (outlined in boxes). The positions of Mansonella spp. and Onchocerca flexuosa are based only on their taxonomic affiliations and are thus indicated by dashed lines (gene sequence from these species have not yet been used in phylogenetic analyses). Classification of filarial nematodes is based on Anderson and Bain (1976) and Bain et al. (1982). (Reproduced from Casiraghi et al., 2004.)

Present ^a	Absent
Brugia malayi ^{1,2}	Acanthocheilonema viteae ^{1,6}
Brugia pahangi ^{1,2}	Acanthocheilonema reconditum ⁴
Brugia timori ³	Filaria martis ⁴
Dipetalonema gracile ⁴	Foleyella furcata ⁴
Dirofilaria immitis ⁵	Litomosoides yutajensis ⁴
Dirofilaria repens ⁵	Loa loa ^{4,11–13}
Litomosa westi ⁴	Mansonella perstans ¹²
Litomosoides sigmodontis ^{1,6}	Ochoterenella sp. ⁴
Litomosoides brasileiensis ⁴	Onchocerca flexuosa ^{8,14}
Litomosoides galizai ⁴	Setaria equina, ^{4,15}
Litomosoides hamletti ⁴	Setaria labiatopapillosa ⁴
Mansonella ozzardi ⁷	Setaria tundra ⁴
Onchocerca volvulus ⁸	
Onchocerca ochengi ¹	
Onchocerca gutturosa ¹	
Onchocerca gibsoni ¹	
Onchocerca lupi ⁹	
Onchocerca cervicalis ¹⁰	
Wuchereria bancrofti ^{1,2}	

Table 1 Presence or absence of Wolbachia from filarial nematodes

Source: 1, Bandi et al. (1998); 2, Taylor et al. (1999); 3, Fischer et al. (2002b); 4, Casiraghi et al. (2004); 5, Sironi et al. (1995); 6, Hoerauf et al. (1999); 7, Casiraghi et al. (2001); 8, Henkle-Dührsen et al. (1998); 9, Egyed et al. (2002); 10, GeneBank accession AY095210; 11, Büttner et al. (2003) 12, Grobusch et al. (2003); 13, McGarry et al. (2003); 14, Plenge-Bönig et al. (1995) 15, Chirgwin et al. (2002).

^aThe species listed as positive for *Wolbachia* are those for which positive PCR and gene sequence data have been obtained (see references below); in addition, there is microscopical evidence (electron microscopy and/or immunohistochemical staining) that further filarial species of the genus *Onchocerca* harbour *Wolbachia*: *O. armillata*, *O. dukei, O. fasciata, O. tarsicola, O. jakutensis, O. lienalis* (Franz *et al.*, 1987; Franz and Copeman 1988; Plenge-Bönig *et al.*, 1995; Determann *et al.*, 1997; Henkle-Dührsen *et al.*, 1998; M. J. Taylor and D.W. Büttner, unpublished).

this case, negative species in this subfamilies could represent either a primitive absence of the symbiosis or the effect of a secondary loss. Even though the available information does not allow one to choose one of the two scenarios, the close relationship of some positive and negative species in the Onchocercinae/Dirofilariinae supports the hypothesis that at least in a few occasions the association with Wolost during evolution. Outside lbachia was the subfamily Onchocercinae/Dirofilariinae, there are no other nematodes in which Wolbachia has thus far been found (e.g. Bordenstein et al., 2003a). The results of only one screening for Wolbachia in nematodes outside the Spirurida has been published, but the examination of non-filarid nematode species has been performed in several laboratories with no evidence for the presence of *Wolbachia* (C. Bandi, unpublished; T.J.C. Anderson, pers. comm.; G. Favia, pers. comm.).

The apparent singularity of the Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae among all the other nematodes, i.e. the high prevalence of species infected by Wolbachia, seems to support the hypothesis of a single acquisition of the association with this bacterium. However, phylogenetic analysis splits the Wolbachia of filarial nematodes into three different supergroup, C, D and F (Figure 1). The branching order of Wolbachia supergroups is still to be established; should future analyses show that the supergroups encompassing nematode Wolbachia form a monophyletic lineage, the hypothesis of a single acquisition would be supported; should the origin of these supergroups be polyphyletic, this hypothesis would be weakened (even though, in this case, one might also suggest a single acquisition of Wolbachia by filarial nematodes, followed by some events of horizontal transmission to arthropods). In this respect, there is only one result of phylogenetic analyses, which appears firmly established: the F supergroup encompasses Wolbachia from both filarial nematodes (i.e. Mansonella spp.) and arthropods (i.e. termites), and this result is supported by the analysis of all of the genes thus far examined (M. Casiraghi et al., unpublished). The relatively close relationship between Wolbachia from Mansonella spp. and termites suggests that a further event of horizontal transmission of Wolbachia between nematodes and arthropods might have occurred, in addition to the original transmission event that presumably established the association in nematodes.

2.3. Distribution and Phylogeny of *Wolbachia* in the Onchocercinae and Dirofilarinae

Among the Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae, *Wolbachia* occur in the main agents of human and animal filariases. Examples of filariae with *Wolbachia* are *Onchocerca volvulus* (the agent of river blindness) *W. bancrofti* and *Brugia malayi* (agents of lymphatic filariasis), and *Dirofilaria immitis* (the agent of canine and feline heartworm disease).

Remarkable exceptions among the filariae of humans are Loa loa and Mansonella perstans (Brouqui et al., 2001; Büttner et al., 2003; Grobusch et al., 2003; McGarry et al., 2003). In species harbouring Wolbachia, the prevalence appears to be 100% (i.e. all the individuals examined have been shown to be positive). Moreover, the symbiosis appears stable along evolutionary times: main branches of filarial evolution are composed of species harbouring Wolbachia (Casiraghi et al., 2001). This is shown for example by the phylogenetic lineage encompassing the genera Onchocerca and Dirofilaria, in which there is only one negative species (Onchocerca flexuosa) out of the numerous species thus far examined (Casiraghi et al., 2004). It is also noteworthy that there are no indications for multiple infection of a single host, or for the presence of different "types" of Wolbachia in a given filarial species. In summary, there is overall evidence that Wolbachia symbiosis with filarial nematodes has been stable and species-specific for long evolutionary periods, while there is evidence for only sporadic losses of the symbiosis during the evolution of a few species.

With few exceptions, the distribution and phylogenetic patterns of Wolbachia infection in arthropods is in general remarkably different from the one observed in filarial nematodes. In general, not all populations within a species, and not all individuals within a population are infected by Wolbachia. In addition, at the high taxonomic level, the phylogeny of Wolbachia usually does not match that of the host species. There are indeed several examples of distantly related insect species whose wolbachiae are closely related. In addition, several studies have provided evidence for the horizontal transmission of Wolbachia between insect species. Multiple Wolbachia infections are also known to occur in insects. The distribution and phylogeny of Wolbachia in arthropods thus indicate that the infection is less species-specific than in nematodes, with frequent events of horizontal transmission. Finally, in arthropod Wolbachia there is strong evidence for the occurrence of genetic recombination (Werren and Bartos, 2001; Jiggins et al., 2001). The pattern is again different in nematode Wolbachia, in which genetic recombination does not appear to occur (Jiggins, 2002; Casiraghi et al., 2003). An absence of recombination among strains of symbiotic bacteria might be a

consequence of an absence of horizontal transmission and multiple infections. Under this perspective, there is an overall consistency of the information available about the population structure of *Wolbachia* in nematodes.

3. EVIDENCE FOR DEPENDENCE

3.1. Indirect Evidence

Vertical transmission can lead to the establishment of different kinds of host-symbiont relationships, or specializations (Werren and O'Neill, 1997; Bandi et al., 2001a; Dedeine et al., 2003). An obvious pathway is towards mutualistic symbiosis: the symbiont will increase its own fitness by increasing the fitness of the host that is involved in its transmission. Another possible outcome is to become a reproductive parasite: by manipulating host reproduction, the symbiont can reduce the fitness of those members of the host species, which are not involved in its transmission. There is however no intrinsic conflict between mutualistic symbiosis and reproductive parasitism: for example, a maternally inherited microorganism could be beneficial towards females (the host sex, which is responsible for transmission to the offspring) while being detrimental towards males (which are not involved in transmission). In arthropods, Wolbachia appears in most of the known cases to act as a reproductive parasite. There are however examples of arthropods in which Wolbachia is needed for host reproduction (i.e. in the parasitic wasp Asobara tabida; Dedeine et al., 2001) and where reproductive parasitism and mutualism coexist (i.e. in the mosquito Aedes albopictus, where a CI-inducing Wolbachia strain also increases female fecundity; Dobson et al., 2002). Which kind of role could we expect for Wolbachia in filarial nematodes? In this section we will discuss the indirect evidence, which suggests that the association between Wolbachia and filarial nematodes is obligatory.

There are three main aspects in which nematode and arthropod *Wolbachia* appear different, suggesting that this bacterium in the two hosts should have adopted different evolutionary strategies: (1) the

different rate of horizontal transmission, (2) the efficiency of vertical transmission and (3) the prevalence of multiple infection. In general, the pattern observed in arthropods indicates that the association is less stable and species-specific than in nematodes, with evidence for horizontal transmission, multiple infection and recombination between strains. The patchy distribution of *Wolbachia* in arthropods also suggests that losses of the association with this bacterium could be more frequent than in nematodes.

In nematodes, the distribution and phylogenetic patterns of Wolbachia appear more similar to those generally observed in obligatory symbionts (100% prevalence; consistency of host-symbiont phylogenies; main phylogenetic branches in which the association is observed in all-or almost all-species; no evidence for multiple infections). It must be highlighted that current hypotheses on the evolution of virulence of microorganisms suggest that multiple infections hamper the evolution of obligatory/mutualistic symbiosis (mainly for the competition for the host resource among unrelated strains/clones), while a strict vertical symbiont transmission, with no chances for multiple infections, should lead to virulence reduction via kin-selection (Herre et al., 1999). In conclusion, in addition to the above resemblances between nematode Wolbachia and the most wellknown obligatory bacterial symbionts of insects (e.g. Buchnera in aphids and Blattabacterium in cockroaches; Baumann et al., 1995 and Lo et al., 2003), also from the theoretical point of view the association between Wolbachia and filarial nematodes might be expected to be obligatory or, at least, not parasitic.

Gene sequence analysis has provided a further indication that the association between *Wolbachia* and filarial nematodes is not parasitic. A comparison of the rates of nucleotide substitutions of the *Wolbachia* surface protein (WSP) has evidenced an excess of non-synonymous substitutions in the symbiont of arthropods (Baldo *et al.*, 2002; Jiggins *et al.*, 2002). Selective pressures for variation of symbiont proteins interacting with the host cells/tissues/fluids are expected to occur in those cases in which the symbiont has some detrimental effect on the host (i.e. it is a parasite), and indicate that the host and the symbiont are engaged in an arms race. It is intriguing that no bias towards non-synonymous substitutions is observed in

nematode WSP. This lack of evidence for an arms race in nematode *Wolbachia* seems to suggest that the association with the host is more "peaceful" than in arthropods. According to some authors this might also be suggestive of a mutualistic interaction (Jiggins *et al.*, 2002; Baldo *et al.*, 2002).

3.2. Direct Evidence

As discussed above, the information available on the distribution. phylogeny and molecular evolution of Wolbachia suggests that filarial nematodes and their endosymbionts are reciprocally dependent. Experimental work using antibiotics have provided direct evidence for the existence of this dependence. Indeed, tetracycline and derivates, which are effective against bacteria of the order Rickettsiales, have been shown to have detrimental effects on filarial nematodes, which harbour Wolbachia, and no effects on the Wolbachia-free filaria Acanthocheilonema viteae (Hoerauf et al., 1999; McCall et al., 1999). Papers suggesting that tetracycline might have anti-filarial activity have been published earlier (Bosshardt et al., 1993), even though the possibility that these anti-filarial properties were mediated by effects on Wolbachia has been discussed only recently (Genchi et al., 1998; Bandi et al., 1999; Hoerauf et al., 1999, 2003a; McCall et al., 1999; Langworthy et al., 2000; Taylor and Hoerauf, 2001). More recently, other antibiotics with anti-rickettsial properties have been demonstrated to also have anti-filarial properties (see Table 2 and Section 3.3).

Various antibiotics have been tested for their anti-filarial activity, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The studies have involved various filarial species and hosts, with different effects depending mainly on the developmental stage of the filaria (Table 2). In most cases, the effects are sublethal with inhibition of embryogenesis and infertility (*Brugia pahangi, Dirofilaria immitis, Litomosoides sigmodontis, Onchocerca volvulus*—Bosshardt *et al.*, 1993; Genchi *et al.*, 1998; Bandi *et al.*, 1999; Hoerauf *et al.*, 1999, 2000a, b; Townson *et al.*, 2000), inhibition of third-stage larval development and *in vivo* prophylaxis (*B. pahangi, L. sigmodontis*—Bosshardt *et al.*, 1993; Hoerauf *et al.*, 1999; McCall

Species	Host/model	Antibiotic	Parasitological effects	Reference
Acanthocheilonema viteae ^a	Jird/Mastomys	Tetracycline	None	1, 2
Brugia malayi	In vitro	Tetracycline/ Rifampicin	Reduced motility, viability and microfilarial release Inhibits L3/L4 moult and motility	3, 4, 5
Brugia pahangi	Jird/in vitro	Tetracycline	Inhibits larval development, embryotoxic, prophylactic, macrofilaricidal	2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9
	In vitro	Rifampicin	Reduced adult viability and microfilarial release, embryotoxic, macrofilaricidal	6
Dirofilaria immitis	Dog/in vitro	Tetracycline	Embryotoxic, inhibits L3/L4 moult and transovarial transmission	5, 7
Litomosoides sigmodontis	Mouse/Cotton rat	Tetracycline/ Rifampicin	Inhibits larval development Infertility and stunted growth	1, 10
Onchocerca gutturosa	In vitro	Tetracycline/ Rifampicin	Reduced motility and viability	6
Onchocerca lienalis	Mouse	Tetracycline/ Rifampicin	Reduced microfiladermia	6
Onchocerca ochengi	Cow	Oxytetracycline	Embryotoxic, macrofilaricidal	11
Onchocerca volvulus	Human	Doxycycline	Embryotoxic, sustained amicrofiladermia following ivermectin treatment	12
Wuchereria bancrofti	Human	Doxycycline	Amicrofilaremia, macrofilaricidal	13

<i>Tuble 2</i> The checks of antibiotics on marial hematou	Table 2	The effects	of antibiotics	on filarial	nematode
--	---------	-------------	----------------	-------------	----------

Source: 1, Hoerauf *et al.* (1999); 2, McCall *et al.* (1999); 3, Rao and Weil (2002); 4, Rao *et al.* (2002); 5, Smith and Rajan (2000); 6, Townson *et al.* (2000); 7, Bandi *et al.* (1999); 8, Casiraghi *et al.* (2002); 9, Chirgwin *et al.* (2003a, b); 10, Volkmann *et al.* (2003); 11, Langworthy *et al.* (2000); 12, Hoerauf *et al.* (2000a, b, 2003a); 13, Taylor *et al.* (2005).

^aFree of Wolbachia.

et al., 1999), stunting of adult worm growth (*L. sigmodontis*—Hoerauf et al., 1999). However, in Onchocerca ochengi-infected cattle, protracted treatment has been shown to be macrofilaricidal (Langworthy et al., 2000) and shorter term treatment of humans infected with O. volvulus showed a trend towards frequent degeneration or death of adult worms (Hoerauf et al., 2003a). Recent data from trials with W. bancrofti, infected humans also provide evidence for a strong macrofilaricidal effect (Taylor et al., 2005).

There is general agreement that the anti-filarial effects of antibiotic therapy are a result of activity against Wolbachia because antibiotics have no effect on the Wolbachia-negative filaria A. viteae (Hoerauf et al., 1999; McCall et al., 1999) and because the anti-bacterial effect precedes the anti-filarial effects (Langworthy et al., 2000; Hoerauf et al., 2003a). Interestingly, a recent study found that irradiation of B. malayi leads to reductions in bacterial populations with dosedependent effects on worm motility, viability and arrested development of embryogenesis in a similar manner to treatment with antibiotics, potentially attributing the effects of irradiation to the loss of the endosymbionts (Rao et al., 2005). Other studies have suggested that a chemically modified tetracycline maintains the capacity of blocking the L3–L4 moult in *B. malayi* without apparent depletion of Wolbachia (Rajan, 2004). However, the activity of this modified compound against Wolbachia was monitored only with non-quantitative PCR (other studies have shown that real time PCR has to be used to assess the extent of reduction of Wolbachia, Hoerauf et al., 2003b). If this compound did indeed not show activity against Wolbachia, it may indicate that the in vitro moulting assay may also be sensitive to effects by tetracyclines that are independent from their activity against *Wolbachia*, as the duration of treatment (<2 weeks) is too short to reduce Wolbachia beyond the threshold where they become undetectable by immunohistology, and are reduced by >95%before anti-parasitic effects occur (Hoerauf et al., 2003a, b). Alternatively, the activity may inhibit Wolbachia dependent processes (e.g. through inhibition of protein synthesis), which occur independently of the depletion of bacteria. Further studies using aposymbiotic species and more precise measures of bacterial viability would be required to address these issues. In general, the activity of antibiotics

against filarial nematodes *in vitro* often appear to induce effects more rapidly than can be achieved *in vivo* (e.g. Townson *et al.*, 2000; Rao and Weil, 2002; Rao *et al.*, 2002).

3.3. Antibiotic Therapy as a New Treatment for Human Filariasis

Initial trials using a six-week course of doxycycline treatment against O. volvulus were effective at depleting the bacteria and resulted in a block of embryogenesis, which persists for up to two years after the start of treatment. The apparent permanent block in embryogenesis was reflected in sustained reductions in skin microfilariae, the cause of onchocercal disease (Hoerauf et al., 2000a, 2001, 2003a). Depletion of Wolbachia by doxycycline has also been demonstrated in human lymphatic filariasis patients infected with W. bancrofti. Doxycycline administered for 6 weeks at 200 mg/day resulted in a reduction of >95% of Wolbachia levels, assessed from blood microfilariae, compared to pre-treatment levels (Hoerauf et al., 2003b). This treatment led to a chronic decline in microfilarial loads, followed by an amicrofilaremia, which was highly significant at 12 months (Hoerauf et al., 2003b) and sustained for almost 2 years (A. Hoerauf et al., unpublished), in contrast to the control treatment with ivermectin. Although direct proof is lacking owing to the unavailability of adult worms, these data suggest that the mode of action of doxycycline is equivalent to that observed in animal models and human onchocerciasis, namely a block in embryogenesis in the adult female worms when Wolbachia are absent or at least below a certain threshold.

Importantly, a recent placebo-controlled trial in humans infected with *W. bancrofti* has demonstrated a clear macrofilaricidal effect of doxycycline (Taylor *et al.*, 2005). When administered for 8 weeks at 200 mg/day, the treatment resulted in a complete amicrofilaremia in 28/32 patients assessed and a lack of scrotal worm nests as determined by ultrasonography in 21/27 patients (also known as 'filarial dance sign', Dreyer *et al.*, 1994; Mand *et al.*, 2003). In the other patients, the number of worm nests declined. This was significantly different from placebo patients where lack of worm nests was only observed in 3/27. Since published (Dreyer *et al.*, 2002a, b) and unpublished (S. Mand and A. Hoerauf) data demonstrate that scrotal worm nests are stable over time and only a small number of male patients do not show scrotal worm nests, the lack of worm nests in doxycycline-treated patients are highly unlikely to be due to a spontaneous loss. The observed loss of worm nests, suggesting death of adult worms, was corroborated by a significant decline in circulating filarial antigen levels as a second measure of adult worm loss in doxycycline-treated individuals compared to no change in placebo groups (Taylor *et al.*, 2005).

Loss of worm nests was observed at 14 months after the onset of treatment in this study, and this fits well with the fact that circulating filarial antigen levels continuously declined over this time. This suggests that macrofilaricidal effects induced by doxycycline need more than a year to manifest. This is underscored also by the above-mentioned study of 6-week doxycycline treatment, where we failed to observe a significant loss of worm nests after 12 months, but could easily detect it after 18 and 22 months, accompanied by stronger reduction in circulating filarial antigen levels and lymphatic vessel dilation (A. Hoerauf et al., unpublished). New, placebo-controlled studies where doxycycline was administered for 6 weeks at 200 mg/ day confirm the above data and prove for the first time by a longitudinal observation using ultrasonography that worm nests that were detected pre-treatment disappeared by 18 months after doxycycline, while nests in placebo patients remain stable (S. Mand and A. Hoerauf et al., unpublished observation). Again, this was corroborated by an even higher reduction in circulating filarial antigen levels after 24 months. A three-week course of doxycycline also abolishes microfilaremia for over a year and reduced the severity of adverse reactions to ivermectin and albendazole, but failed to show macrofilaricidal effects even after 24 months (J. Turner et al., unpublished observation). Since real-time PCR showed a higher residual Wolbachia gene copy number per microfilaria than did the 6 weeks course, the data suggest that embryogenesis may be blocked at a lower degree of Wolbachia reduction than required for macrofilaricidal effects.

The results obtained from human trials so far have unequivocally demonstrated the superior efficacy of doxycycline both for onchocerciasis and lymphatic filariasis. The major difficulty at present is the required length of treatment, as well as the known contra-indications of doxycycline (not to be given to children <9 years of age and pregnant or breast-feeding women), which makes this approach currently unsuitable for mass treatment. Nevertheless, the trial outcomes argue clearly for the use of doxycycline for selected indications including (i) treatment of individuals that leave an endemic area for a long period, because the filarial stages that are causative for pathology (microfilariae in onchocerciasis, adult worms in bancroftian filariasis) will be depleted (onchocerciasis) or at least dramatically reduced (bancroftian filariasis); and (ii) hyperreactivity to microfilariae, as observed in the 'Sowda' form of onchocerciasis and in tropical pulmonary eosinophilia, where the re-appearance of microfilariae following microfilaricidal therapy with ivermectin dietor hylcarbamazine (DEC), respectively, is particularly undesirable.

More indications are likely to appear on completion of current trials. Studies are underway in Indonesia that indicate a similar success of doxycycline against brugian filariasis, as predicted from animal models and for the treatment of onchocerciasis in populations co-infected with *Loa loa* currently excluded from mass drug administration due to rare encephalopathy reactions to ivermectin. In addition, our pilot studies have shown a beneficial effect on lymphatic pathology in bancroftian filariasis: thus, supratesticular lymphoceles induced by the adult worms have shown to be significantly reduced in size (A. Hoerauf and M.J. Taylor, unpublished), and lymphedema patients treated with doxycycline showed reduced degrees of their pathologies (grading according to Dreyer *et al.*, 2002a, b) compared to placebo patients who were only supervised to perform standard lymphedema management (Dreyer *et al.*, 2002). Currently, larger studies are underway to add proof to these preliminary findings.

Finally, a growing concern is the apparent existence of *O. volvulus* worms that show a "suboptimal response" to ivermectin (Awadzi *et al.*, 2004a, b). While a clear resistance mechanism has not yet been established, there is plenty of evidence for resistance of gastro-intestinal helminths of livestock against ivermectin (Wolstenholme *et al.*,

2004). Treatment with ivermectin is known to cause a loss of polymorphism at certain loci of the β -tubulin. γ -aminobutvric-acid-receptor, glutamate-gated chloride channel and ATP-binding-cassette (ABC) transporter genes of ivermectin-resistant Haemonchus contortus. Intriguingly, a loss of polymorphisms at some of these loci, notably ABC transporter genes, P-glycoprotein and β -tubulin, has also been observed after treatment of O. volvulus with ivermectin (Ardelli and Prichard, 2004; Eng and Prichard, 2005). If resistance to O. volvulus did indeed occur during the envisaged 30 year + mass treatment for onchocerciasis, there is currently no real alternative drug to use, given that suramin is not an option in a field setting and DEC has known contra-indications (Awadzi, 2003). Since new developments may take up to 10 years from the first high-throughput screens, waiting for short-term breakthroughs in this field is highly unrealistic. Thus, while no one hopes that this scenario will happen, it cannot be excluded that one may have to consider early application of an antiwolbachial treatment against the spread of resistance. Again, studies are being planned to formally prove that anti-wolbachial treatment is an option for worms with a suboptimal response to ivermectin. In the context of lymphatic filariasis, similar concerns exist not only for ivermectin resistance but also for albendazole and DEC. A recent study has identified single nucleotide polymorphisms of β -tubulin associated with benzimidazole resistance in populations of bancroftian filariasis from Ghana and Burkina Faso (Schwab et al., in press). The putative resistance alleles occur in $\sim 26\%$ in untreated populations rising to 60% after one round of treatment and 86% after two rounds, suggesting the selection for resistance in these populations.

3.4. Genomic Insights into the Nature of the Symbiosis

The recent completion of genome sequencing and annotation of the metabolic pathways of *Wolbachia* from *B. malayi* have identified important candidates for the dependency of the symbiosis (Foster *et al.*, 2005). In comparison with insect *Wolbachia* and related *Rickettsia*, the genome of *Wolbachia* from *B. malayi* is drastically reduced in size,

a feature common to the lifestyle of other endosymbiotic bacteria. However, Wolbachia contain more intact metabolic pathways, which may be important in contributing to the welfare and fecundity of its host. The ability to provide riboflavin, flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD), haem and nucleotides are likely to be the bacterial contribution, whereas the host nematode provides amino acids required for bacterial growth with the exception of the only amino acid synthesized by the bacteria, meso-diaminopimelate, a major component of peptidoglycan. The cell wall biosynthesis pathways are devoid of genes required for the biosynthesis of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in common with the related Wolbachia from Drosophila (Wu et al., 2004) and Ehrlicha and Anaplasma sp. (Lin and Rikihisa, 2003). In addition, an unusual peptidoglycan structure is suggested with some possible similarities to peptidoglycan-derived bacterial cytotoxins. Other features include a common type IV secretion system and an abundance of ankyrin domain-containing proteins, which could regulate host gene expression as suggested for Ehrlichia phagocytophilia AnkA (Park et al., 2004). Glutathione biosynthesis genes may be a source of glutathione for the protection of the host nematode from oxidative stress or immunological effector molecules. Haem from Wolbachia could be vital to worm embryogenesis as there is evidence that moulting and reproduction are controlled by ecdysteroid-like hormones (Warbrick et al., 1993), whose synthesis requires haem. Depletion of Wolbachia might therefore halt production of these hormones and block embryogenesis. Alternatively, or in addition, Wolbachia may be an essential source of nucleotides during embryogenesis. Thus, the completion of the wBm genome offers a wealth of information, which may help to understand the molecular basis for the endosymbiosis between filarial nematodes and Wolbachia. We now know which metabolites might be provided by Wolbachia to the nematode and which are required by the endobacteria from the nematode. This may open up the exciting possibility to find and test drugs already registered for use in humans, which might inhibit key biochemical pathways in the Wolbachia that could lead to sterility or killing of the adult worms.

Genomic sequencing has also been useful in re-analysing the origin of a catalase gene, previously attributed to *Wolbachia* from

Onchocerca sp. (Henkle-Duhrsen *et al.*, 1998), but which instead derives from pseudomonad contamination of the cDNA libraries from which it was originally cloned (Foster *et al.*, 2004). The multiple effects of antibiotic depletion on the nematode and the dynamics of bacterial populations in different developmental stages suggest the worms have become dependent on the bacteria for a diverse range of biological processes and may have distinct stage-specific function. Further studies incorporating biochemical and functional genomic approaches should help unravel the role of these different metabolic pathways throughout the nematode life cycle and identify those suitable as targets for novel anti-symbiotic therapy.

4. WOLBACHIA-MEDIATED ACTIVATION OF INFLAMMATION

4.1. Lymphatic Filariasis

Soluble extracts of *B. malayi* adults or microfilariae induce a potent innate inflammatory response *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Taylor *et al.*, 2000, Saint-André *et al.*, 2002, Gillette-Ferguson *et al.*, 2004). The activation of innate inflammation requires CD14 and Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) pattern recognition receptors and the activity is lost following antibiotic depletion of bacteria and absent from soluble extracts derived from aposymbiotic species (*A. viteae* and *L. loa*, Taylor *et al.*, 2000 and unpublished).

Inflammatory responses also occur following anti-filarial drug treatment particularly in patients with high parasite burdens. Severe adverse reactions are associated with the increase in systemic proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory mediators (Haarbrink *et al.*, 2000). PCR and immunoelectron microscopy analysis of plasma samples following the treatment of *B. malayi* with DEC showed the persistent presence of *Wolbachia* in patients with severe systemic inflammation (Cross *et al.*, 2001). In animal models the production of TNF α following the chemotherapy of *B. malayi* microfilariae only occurred in mice with an intact TLR-4 receptor, suggesting that the release of *Wolbachia* is responsible for this inflammation (Taylor *et al.*, 2000). Recently, clinical trials have provided further evidence to support the role of *Wolbachia* in the presentation of adverse reactions. In patients infected with *W. bancrofti*, prior treatment with a 3-week course of doxycycline to deplete *Wolbachia* prevented moderate adverse reactions to albendazole and ivermectin, whereas in individuals in the placebo group levels of *Wolbachia* released into plasma were related to the incidence of adverse reactions, levels of plasma pro-inflammatory cytokines and pre-treatment microfilarial load (J. Turner *et al.*, unpublished observation).

Further effects of TLR-4 mediated responses have been reported following infection of mice with Litomosoides sigmodontis (Pfarr et al., 2003). In C3H/HeN mice infection results in adult female worm development including females containing mature microfilariae, although free microfilariae are not detected. Infection of TLR-4 mutant C3H/HeJ mice produced worms with an increased fertility and the production of microfilariae. These observations suggest TLR-4-mediated immune responses regulate worm fertility either by inhibiting embryogenesis (a process dependent on Wolbachia) or direct killing of released microfilariae. Therefore, the inflammatory stimulatory activity released by dead worms is derived from endosymbiotic Wolbachia bacteria, rather than the nematode. This finding led to a proposed mechanism by which repeated exposure to Wolbachia-mediated inflammation may lead to damage of the infected lymphatics and tolerization of innate immunity, leading to susceptibility to the opportunistic infections commonly associated with lymphoedema and elephantiasis (Taylor et al., 2001). Indeed, experimental infections of monkeys with B. malayi have been reported, in which antibody responses to WSP develop prior to and throughout episodes of lymphoedema (Punkosdy et al., 2001). Moreover, human antibody responses to WSP are elevated in individuals with hydrocoele and lymphoedema suggesting acquired immune responses to Wolbachia maybe associated with the development of chronic pathology (Punkosdy et al., 2003). The pilot studies mentioned above in human lymphoedema patients benefiting from doxycycline treatment further underscore these findings and suggest that anti-wolbachial chemotherapy, in addition to its anti-parasitic activity, may also have a beneficial effect on pathology.

4.2. Onchocerciasis

Inflammatory activity derived from *Wolbachia* has also been demonstrated in *Onchocerca* sp. (Brattig *et al.*, 2000, Saint-André *et al.*, 2002). As with lymphatic filariasis, *Wolbachia* are released into the blood following anti-filarial chemotherapy, with peak DNA levels correlating with clinical reaction scores and increased levels of TNF α , neutrophils and anti-bacterial peptides (Keiser *et al.*, 2002). *Wolbachia* are also responsible for the recruitment and activation of neutrophils in the granulomatous response infiltrating adult worm subcutaneous nodules and disappear when *Wolbachia* are cleared using doxycycline (Brattig *et al.*, 2001; Volkmann *et al.*, 2003). These studies suggest that living worms may release *Wolbachia* and/or their products, possibly from uterine debris (Kozek, 2005), which promote inflammatory responses adjacent to the worms.

Neutrophil-mediated inflammation is also a feature of ocular pathology following death of microfilariae in the cornea. In a mouse model of ocular inflammation, increases in stromal thickness and haze and neutrophil-mediated keratitis developed in response to O. volvulus and B. malayi extracts containing Wolbachia, but was reduced or absent when parasite extracts derived from doxycyclinetreated O. volvulus or Wolbachia-free species (A. viteae) were used (Saint-André et al., 2002). The recruitment of neutrophils into the cornea was also dependent on TLR-4 together with reduced expression of platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM) and the chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein-2 and keratinocytederived chemokine (KC), suggesting their upregulation by Wolbachia stimulates the recruitment of neutrophils to the cornea. Further studies in this model show that microfilariae injected into the cornea become surrounded by neutrophils after 18h (Gillette-Ferguson et al., 2004). Immuno-electron microscopy revealed that the major WSP was prominent within neutrophil phagolysomes and associated with activation. Moreover, whole bacteria were shown to directly stimulate purified neutrophils to secrete $TNF\alpha$ and chemokines. Studies in TLR-2,-4,-9 and MyD88 knockout mice showed that stromal haze and neutrophil-mediated inflammation induced by whole bacteria and soluble extracts of O. volvulus in wild-type mice

were abolished in the absence of MyD88 and partially dependent on TLR-2 and -4 but unaffected by the absence of TLR-9 (E. Pearlmann *et al.*, unpublished observation). Intriguingly, a recent finding that strains of *O. volvulus* responsible for severe ocular disease contain higher levels of *Wolbachia* than the mild form, which results in little ocular disease, further supports the association of *Wolbachia* with ocular pathology (Higazi *et al.*, 2005).

4.3. Dirofilariasis

Genomic sequencing has shown that Wolbachia lack the genes required for LPS biosynthesis (Wu et al., 2004; Foster et al., 2005). The search for the molecular nature of the stimulatory activity has therefore focused on other candidate molecules found on the surface membrane of the bacteria. A series of experiments using purified recombinant WSP from *D. immitis Wolbachia* have shown that it can activate innate inflammatory activity. WSP activates IL-8 transcription and stimulates chemokinesis in canine neutrophils (Bazzocchi et al., 2003). Further studies showed that WSP induces pro-inflammatory cytokine production from murine macrophages and dendritic cells and human whole blood cell cultures (Brattig et al., 2004). The stimulation of innate responses was dependent upon both TLR-2 and TLR-4 in transfected human fibroblastoid cells and murine gene knockout and mutant cells. WSP also stimulated anti-inflammatory IL-10 and prostaglandin E_2 responses and IFNy production from peripheral blood cells together with IgG1 antibody responses from onchocerciasis-infected individuals. These experiments suggest WSP is a major inducer of the inflammatory activity of Wolbachia. Whether it is the exclusive inflammatory molecule from Wolbachia is the subject of ongoing studies in this and other filarial species.

Taken together, these studies show *Wolbachia* are intrinsically proinflammatory, as demonstrated by the ability to activate innate cellular immunity. Whole bacteria or their products induce activation of macrophages and monocytes, neutrophils or dendritic cells leading to the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, through TLR-2, TLR-4 and MyD88 dependent signalling pathways. Evidence to suggest that *Wolbachia* stimulates inflammatory activity in people infected with filariasis comes from studies on the systemic inflammatory adverse reactions to anti-filarial chemotherapy.

4.4. Wolbachia Serology

Antibody responses to a number of *Wolbachia* antigens have been observed in both human and animal filariasis, including the major surface protein (WSP), HSP60, HtrA-type serine protease and aspartate aminotransferase (Bazzocchi *et al.*, 2000; Punkosdy *et al.*, 2001, 2003; Simon *et al.*, 2003; Morchon *et al.*, 2004; Brattig *et al.*, 2004; Lamb *et al.*, 2004; Kramer *et al.*, 2005, in press). These studies illustrate the exposure of *Wolbachia* to the acquired immune system and suggest both these and additional antigens, both specific to *Wolbachia* and cross-reactive to other bacterial antigens are a feature of the immune response to filarial infection.

In dogs and cats infected with *D. immitis, Wolbachia* has been detected in a number of organs and tissues including the glomerular capillaries of the kidney and within inflammatory cells of the lungs and liver (Kramer *et al.*, 2005, in press) and raise antibody responses to WSP (Bazzocchi *et al.*, 2000; Morchon *et al.*, 2004; Kramer *et al.*, 2005, in press). Also in people diagnosed with pulmonary dirofilariasis, IgG responses to WSP are elevated in clinical cases compared with *D. immitis* sero-positive 'healthy' individuals and donors from non-endemic areas, suggesting a possible sero-diagnostic test for pulmonary dirofilariasis (Simon *et al.*, 2003).

Studies on WSP serology in human filariasis show an intriguing association with the presentation and duration of chronic disease in lymphatic filariasis (Punkosdy *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, longitudinal analysis in both primate and human cases show a transient elevation in WSP reactivity is temporally associated with the onset of lymphoedema and suggests immune responses evoked by *Wolbachia* may trigger the development of disease (Punkosdy *et al.*, 2001, 2003). The death of adult worms, a critical factor in the development of chronic disease, is associated with the release of endosymbionts into the blood, an event likely to lead to the activation of WSP immune

reactivity. Depletion of *Wolbachia* by antibiotic treatment had no effect on lymphatic granulomatous lesions in a primary infection of *B. pahangi* in jirds and was associated with the lack of appreciable WSP antibody reactivity (Chirgwin *et al.*, 2003). These findings are not unexpected as multiple exposures to infective larvae are associated with the development of WSP reactivity related to clinical lesions (Punkosdy *et al.*, 2001, 2003). Additional studies have shown that exposure to infective larvae in particular also stimulate and maintain WSP responses, suggesting the death of developing larvae may also trigger disease progression (Lamb *et al.*, 2004). A concept supported by epidemiological studies showing the level of exposure to transmission is associated with acute and chronic disease (Kazura *et al.*, 1997; Michael *et al.*, 2001). Therefore, further analysis of the antigens and regulation of acquired immune responses to *Wolbachia* is important in order to understand their role in disease pathogenesis.

5. FUTURE ADVANCES/CONCLUDING REMARKS

Over the past six years, there has been a considerable increase in our knowledge of the biological significance of *Wolbachia* for their filarial hosts. We now know a great deal about their role in parasite fertility and survival and in the induction of immune responses associated with pathology and adverse reactions to classical microfilaricidal drugs. Most importantly, the proof of principle for a new chemotherapeutical approach, i.e. doxycycline against onchocerciasis and bancroftian filariasis, has been established. This advance has seen rapid progress from animal studies into use for humans in only a few years, and without the enormous costs usually necessary for the development of novel drugs.

Much more remains to be learned about the molecular basis of this fascinating interaction. The sequencing and annotation of the genome of the *Wolbachia* endosymbiont in *B. malayi* has provided us with a wealth of information for future definition of the essential components in this symbiosis. Targeting *Wolbachia* for treatment will allow exploitation of critical bacterial pathways with the potential to identify drugs that have fewer adverse reactions than those directed

against eukaryotic pathways. It may also circumvent one of the inherent problems of tropical medicine, the lack of a drug market that drives drug development, because drugs may already exist that can be predicted to act against *Wolbachia*, once we have learned what makes them so essential for their host.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, R.C. (2000). Nematode Parasites of Vertebrates-Their Development and Transmission. Wallingford, Oxon, UK: CAB International.
- Anderson, R.C. and Bain, O. (1976). Keys to genera of the order Spirurida.
 In: *CIH Keys to the Nematode Parasites of Vertebrates* (R.C. Anderson, A.G. Chabaud and S. Willmott, eds), number 3, pp. 59–116. London: Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux.
- Ardelli, B.F. and Prichard, R.K. (2004). Identification of variant ABCtransporter genes among Onchocerca volvulus collected from ivermectintreated and untreated patients in Ghana, West Africa. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* 98(4), 371–384.
- Awadzi, K. (2003). Clinical picture and outcome of serious adverse events in the treatment of Onchocerciasis. *Filaria Journal* **2**(Suppl. 1), S6.
- Awadzi, K., Attah, S.K., Addy, E.T., Opoku, N.O., Quartey, B.T., Lazdins-Helds, J.K., Ahmed, K., Boatin, B.A., Boakye, D.A. and Edwards, G. (2004a). Thirty-month follow-up of sub-optimal responders to multiple treatments with ivermectin, in two onchocerciasis-endemic foci in Ghana. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* **98**, 359–370.
- Awadzi, K., Boakye, D.A., Edwards, G., Opoku, N.O., Attah, S.K., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y., Lazdins-Helds, J.K., Ardrey, A.E., Addy, E.T., Quartey, B.T., Ahmed, K., Boatin, B.A. and Soumbey-Alley, E.W. (2004b). An investigation of persistent microfilaridermias despite multiple treatments with ivermectin, in two onchocerciasis-endemic foci in Ghana. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* **98**, 231–249.
- Bain, O., Baker, M. and Chabaud, A.G. (1982). Nouvelles données sur la lignée Dipetalonema. Annales de Parasitologie Humaine et Comparee 57, 593–620.
- Baldo, L., Bartos, J.D., Werren, J.H., Bazzocchi, C., Casiraghi, M. and Panelli, S. (2002). Different rates of nucleotide substitutions in *Wolbachia* endosymbionts of arthropods and nematodes: arms race or host shifts? *Parassitologia* 44, 179–187.
- Bandi, C., Anderson, T.J., Genchi, C. and Blaxter, M.L. (1998). Phylogeny of Wolbachia in filarial nematodes. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences 265, 2407–2413.

- Bandi, C., Bourtzis, K., Braig, H., Lo, N., O'Neill, S., Stouthamer, R., Vandekerckove, T.T.M., & Werren, J.H. (2003). Towards a nomenclatural system for intracellular *Wolbachia* bacteria infecting arthropods and nematodes—a discussion paper. Published on the *Wolbachia* web site at: http://www.wolbachia.sols.uq.edu.au/index.html>
- Bandi, C., Dunn, A.M., Hurst, G.D.D. and Rigaud, T. (2001a). Inherited microorganisms, sex-specific virulence and reproductive parasitism. *Trends in Parasitology* 17, 88–94.
- Bandi, C., McCall, J.W., Genchi, C., Corona, S., Venco, L. and Sacchi, L. (1999). Effects of tetracycline on the filarial worms *Brugia pahangi* and *Dirofilaria immitis* and their bacterial endosymbionts *Wolbachia*. *International Journal for Parasitology* 29, 357–364.
- Bandi, C., Trees, A.J. and Brattig, N.W. (2001b). Wolbachia in filarial nematodes: evolutionary aspects and implications for the pathogenesis and treatment of filarial diseases. Veterinary Parasitology 98, 215–238.
- Baumann, P., Baumann, L., Lai, C.Y., Rouhbakhsh, D., Moran, N.A. and Clark, M.A. (1995). Genetics, physiology, and evolutionary relationships of the genus *Buchnera*: intracellular symbionts of aphids. *Annual Review* of Microbiology 49, 55–94.
- Bazzocchi, C., Ceciliani, F., McCall, J.W., Ricci, I., Genchi, C. and Bandi, C. (2000). Antigenic role of the endosymbionts of filarial nematodes: IgG response against the *Wolbachia* surface protein in cats infected with *Di*rofilaria immitis. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 267, 2511–2516.
- Bazzocchi, C., Genchi, C., Paltrinieri, S., Lecchi, C., Mortarino, M. and Bandi, C. (2003). Immunological role of the endosymbionts of *Dirofilaria immitis*: the *Wolbachia* surface protein activates canine neutrophils with production of IL-8. *Veterinary Parasitology* **117**, 73–83.
- Bordenstein, S.R., Fitch, D.H.A. and Werren, J.H. (2003a). Absence of Wolbachia in nonfilariid nematodes. Journal of Nematology 35, 266–270.
- Bordenstein, S.R., Uy, J.J. and Werren, J.H. (2003b). Host genotype determines cytoplasmic incompatibility type in the haplodiploid genus *Nasonia. Genetics* **164**, 223–233.
- Bosshardt, S.C., McCall, J.W., Coleman, S.H., Jones, K.L., Petit, T.A. and Klei, T.L. (1993). Prophylactic activity of tetracycline against *Brugia pahangi* infection in Jirds (*Meriones unguiculatus*). *Journal of Parasitology* 79, 775–777.
- Brattig, N.W., Bazzocchi, C., Kirshing, C.J., Reiling, N., Büttner, D.W., Ceciliani, F., Geisinger, F., Hochrein, H., Ernst, M., Wagner, H., Bandi, C. and Hoerauf, A. (2004). The major surface protein of *Wolbachia* endosymbionts in filarial nematodes elicits immune responses through TLR2 and TLR4. *The Journal of Immunology* 173, 437–445.
- Brattig, N.W., Büttner, D.W. and Hoerauf, A. (2001). Neutrophil accumulation around *Onchocerca* worms and chemotaxis of neutrophils are dependent on *Wolbachia* endobacteria. *Microbes and Infection* 3, 439–446.

- Brattig, N.W., Rathjens, U., Ernst, M., Geisinger, F., Renz, A. and Tischendorf, F.W. (2000). Lipolysaccharide-like molecules derived from *Wolbachia* endobacteria of the filaria *Onchocerca volvulus* are candidate mediators in the sequence of inflammatory and antiinflammatory responses in human monocytes. *Microbes and Infections* 2, 1147–1157.
- Brouqui, P., Fournier, P.E. and Raoult, D. (2001). Doxycycline and eradication of microfilaremia in patients with loiasis. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 7(Suppl.), 604–605.
- Büttner, D.W., Wanji, S., Bazzocchi, C., Bain, O. and Fischer, P. (2003). Obligatory symbiotic *Wolbachia* endobacteria are absent from *Loa loa*. *Filaria Journal* **2**, 10.
- Casiraghi, M., Anderson, T.J.C., Bandi, C., Bazzocchi, C. and Genchi, C. (2001). A phylogenetic analysis of filarial nematodes: comparison with the phylogeny of *Wolbachia* endosymbionts. *Parasitology* **122**, 93–103.
- Casiraghi, M., Bain, O., Guerrero, R., Martin, C., Pocacqua, V., Gardner, S.L., Franceschi, A. and Bandi, C. (2004). Mapping the presence of *Wo-lbachia pipientis* on the phylogeny of filarial nematodes: evidence for symbiont loss during evolution. *International Journal of Parasitology* 34, 191–203.
- Casiraghi, M., McCall, J.W., Simoncini, L., Kramer, L.H., Sacchi, L., Genchi, C. and Werren, J.H. (2002). Tetracycline treatment and sex-ratio distortion: a role for *Wolbachia* in the moulting of filarial nematodes? *International Journal for Parasitology* 32, 1457–1468.
- Casiraghi, M., Werren, J.H., Bazzocchi, C., Biserni, A. and Bandi, C. (2003). *dnaA* gene sequences from *Wolbachia pipientis* support subdivision into supergroups and provide no evidence for recombination in the lineages infecting nematodes. *Parassitologia* 45, 13–18.
- Chirgwin, S.R., Nowling, J.M., Coleman, S.U. and Klei, T.R. (2003a). Brugia pahangi and Wolbachia: the kinetics of bacteria elimination, worm viability, and host responses following tetracycline treatment. Experimental Parasitology 103, 16–26.
- Chirgwin, S.R., Coleman, S.U., Porthouse, K.H., Nowling, J.M., Punkosdy, G.A. and Klei, T.R. (2003b). Removal of *Wolbachia* from *Brugia pahangi* is closely linked to worm death and fecundity but does not result in altered lymphatic lesion formation in Mongolian gerbils (*Meriones unguiculatus*). *Infection and Immunity* 71, 6986–6994.
- Chirgwin, S.R., Porthouse, K.H., Nowling, J.M. and Klei, T.R. (2002). The filarial endosymbiont *Wolbachia* sp. is absent from Setaria equina. *Journal of Parasitology* **88**, 1248–1250.
- Cross, H.F., Haarbrink, M., Egerton, G., Yazdanbakhsh, M. and Taylor, M.J. (2001). Severe adverse reactions to filarial chemotherapy are associated with the release of *Wolbachia* endosymbionts into the blood. *Lancet* 358, 1873–1875.

- Dedeine, F., Bandi, C., Bouletreau, M. and Kramer, L.H. (2003). Insights into *Wolbachia* obligatory symbiosis. In: *Insect Symbiosis* (K. Bourtzis and T.A. Miller, eds), pp. 267–282. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Dedeine, F., Vavre, F., Fleury, F., Loppin, B., Hochberg, M.E. and Boulétreau, M. (2001). Removing symbiotic Wolbachia bacteria specifically inhibits oogenesis in a parasitic wasp. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 98, 6247–6252.
- Determann, A., Mehlhorn, H. and Ghaffar, F.A. (1997). Electron microscope observations on Onchocerca ochengi and O. fasciata (Nematoda: Filarioidea). Parasitology Research 83, 591–603.
- Dobson, S.L., Marsland, E.J. and Rattanadechakul, W. (2002). Mutualistic Wolbachia infection in Aedes albopictus: accelerating cytoplasmic drive. Genetics 160, 1087–1094.
- Dreyer, G., Addiss, D., Dreyer, P. and Noroes, J. (2002a). *Basic Lymphoedema Management. Treatment and Prevention of Problems Associated with Lymphatic Filariasis.* Hollis, NH: Hollis Publishing Company.
- Dreyer, G., Addiss, D., Roberts, J. and Noroes, J. (2002b). Progression of lymphatic vessel dilatation in the presence of living adult *Wuchereria* bancrofti. Transactions of the Royal Society for Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 96, 157–161.
- Dreyer, G., Amaral, F., Noroes, J. and Medeiros, Z. (1994). Ultrasonographic evidence for stability of adult worm location in bancroftian filariasis. *Transactions of the Royal Society for Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **88**, 558.
- Dumler, J.S., Barbet, A.F., Baker, C.P.J., Dasch, G.A., Palmer, G.H., Ray, S.C., Rikihisa, Y. and Rurangirwa, F.R. (2001). Reorganization of the genera in the families *Rickettsiaceae* and *Anaplasmataceae* in the order *Rickettsiales*: unification of some species of *Ehrlichia* with *Anaplasma Cowdria* with *Ehrlichia* and *Ehrlichia* with *Neorickettsia*, description of six new species combinations and designation of *Ehrlichia equi* and "HGE agent" as subjective synonyms of *Ehrlichia phagocytophila*. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 51, 2145–2165.
- Egyed, Z., Sréter, T., Széll, Z., Nyirö, G., Dobos-Kovács, M., Márialigeti, K. and Varga, I. (2002). Electron microscopic and molecular identification of *Wolbachia* endosymbionts from *Onchocerca lupi*: implications for therapy. *Veterinary Parasitology* **106**, 75–82.
- Eng, J.K. and Prichard, R.K. (2005). A comparison of genetic polymorphism in populations of Onchocerca volvulus from untreated- and ivermectin-treated patients. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 142, 193–202.
- Fenn, K. and Blaxter, M. (2004). Quantification of Wolbachia bacteria in Brugia malayi through the nematode lifecycle. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology 137, 361–364.

- Fischer, P., Schmetz, C., Bandi, C., Bonow, I., Mand, S., Fischer, K. and Büttner, D.W. (2002a). *Tunga penetrans*: molecular identification of *Wo-lbachia* endobacteria and their recognition by antibodies against proteins of endobacteria from filarial parasites. *Experimental Parasitology* **102**, 201–211.
- Fischer, P., Wibowo, H., Pischke, S., Ruckert, P., Liebau, E., Ismid, I.S. and Supali, T. (2002b). PCR-based detection and identification of the filarial parasite *Brugia timori* from Alor Island, Indonesia. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology* **96**, 809–821.
- Foster, J., Baldo, L., Blaxter, M., Henkle-Duhrsen, K., Whitton, C., Slatko, B. and Bandi, C. (2004). The bacterial catalase from filarial DNA preparations derives from common pseudomonad contaminants and not from *Wolbachia* endosymbionts. *Parasitology Research* 94, 141–146.
- Foster, J., Ganatra, M., Kamal, I., Ware, J., Makarova, K., Ivanova, N., Bhattacharyya, A., Kapatral, V., Kumar, S., Posfai, J., Vincze, T., Ingram, J., Moran, L., Lapidus, A., Omelchenko, M., Kyrpides, N., Ghedin, E., Wang, S., Goltsman, E., Joukov, V., Ostrovskaya, O., Tsukerman, K., Mazur, M., Comb, D., Koonin, E. and Slatko, B. (2005). The *Wolbachia* genome of *Brugia malayi*: endosymbiont evolution within a human pathogenic nematode. *PLoS Biology* 3, 121.
- Franz, M. and Copeman, D.B. (1988). The fine structure of male and female Onchocerca gibsoni. Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 39(suppl. 4), 466–468.
- Franz, M., Schulz-Key, H. and Copeman, D.B. (1987). Electron-microscopic observations on the female worms of six *Onchocerca* species from cattle and red deer. *Parasitology Research* 74, 73–83.
- Genchi, C., Sacchi, L., Bandi, C. and Venco, L. (1998). Preliminary results on the effect of tetracycline on the embryogenesis and symbiotic bacteria (*Wolbachia*) of *Dirofilaria immitis*. An update and discussion. *Parassitologia* **40**, 247–249.
- Gillette-Ferguson, I., Hise, A.G., McGarry, H.F., Turner, J., Esposito, A., Sun, Y., Diaconu, E., Taylor, M.J. and Pearlman, E. (2004). *Wolbachia*induced neutrophil activation in a mouse model of ocular onchocerciasis (river blindness). *Infection and Immunity* **72**, 5687–5692.
- Grobusch, M.P., Kombila, M., Autenrieth, I., Mehlhorn, H. and Kremsner, P.G. (2003). No evidence of *Wolbachia* endosymbiosis with *Loa loa* and *Mansonella perstans*. *Parasitology Research* **90**, 405–408.
- Haarbrink, M., Abadi, G.K., Buurman, W.A., Dentener, W.A., Terhell, A.J. and Yazdanbakhsh, M. (2000). Strong association of IL-6 and LBP with severity of adverse reactions following diethylcarbamazine (DEC) treatment of microfilaraemic patients. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **182**, 564–569.
- Henkle-Duhrsen, K., Eckelt, V.H., Wildenburg, G., Blaxter, M. and Walter, R.D. (1998). Gene structure, activity and localization of a catalase from

intracellular bacteria in Onchocerca volvulus. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology **96**, 69–81.

- Herre, E.A., Knowlton, N., Mueller, U.G. and Rehner, S.A. (1999). The evolution of mutualisms: exploring the paths between conflict and cooperation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **14**, 49–53.
- Higazi, T.B., Filiano, A., Katholi, C.R., Dadzie, Y., Remme, J.H. and Unnash, T.R. (2005). *Wolbachia* endosymbiont levels in severe and mild strains of *Onchocerca volvulus*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 141, 109–112.
- Hoerauf, A., Nissen-Pahle, K., Schmetz, C., Henkle-Duhrsen, K., Blaxter, M.L., Büttner, D.W., Gallin, M.Y., Al-Quaoud, K.M., Lucius, R. and Fleisher, B. (1999). Tetracycline therapy targets intracellular bacteria in the filarial nematode *Litomosoides sigmodontis* and results in filarial infertility. *Journal of Clinical Investigations* 103, 11–18.
- Hoerauf, A., Mand, S., Adjei, O., Fleisher, B. and Büttner, D.W. (2001). Depletion of *Wolbachia* endobacteria in *Onchocerca volvulus* by doxycycline and microfilaridermia after ivermectin treatment. *Lancet* 357, 1415–1416.
- Hoerauf, A., Mand, S., Volkmann, L., Büttner, M., Marfo-Debrekyei, Y., Taylor, M., Adjei, O. and Büttner, D.W. (2003a). Doxycycline in the treatment of human onchocerciasis: kinetics of *Wolbachia* endobacteria reduction and inhibition of embryogenesis in female *Onchocerca* worms. *Microbes and Infections* 5, 261–273.
- Hoerauf, A., Manid, S., Fischer, K., Kruppa, T., Marfo-Debrekyei, Y., Debrah, A.Y., Pfarr, K.M., Adjei, O. and Büttner, D.W. (2003b). Doxycycline as a novel strategy against bancroftian filariasis-depletion of *Wolbachia* endosymbionts from *Wuchereria bancrofti* and stop of microfilaria production. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology* 192, 211–216.
- Hoerauf, A., Volkmann, L., Hamelmann, C., Adjei, O., Autenrieth, I.B., Fleischer, B. and Büttner, D.W. (2000a). Endosymbiotic bacteria in worms as targets for a novel chemotherapy in filariasis. *Lancet* 355, 1242–1243.
- Hoerauf, A., Volkmann, L., Nissen-Paehle, K., Schmetz, C., Autenrieth, I., Büttner, D.W. and Fleischer, B. (2000b). Targeting of *Wolbachia* endobacteria in *Litomosoides sigmodontis*: comparison of tetracyclines with chloramphenicol, macrolides and ciprofloxacin. *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 5, 275–279.
- Ikeda, T., Ishikawa, H. and Sasaki, T. (2003). Infection density of Wolbachia and level of cytoplasmic incompatibility in the Mediterranean flour moth, Ephestia kuehniella. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 84, 1–5.
- Jeyaprakash, A. and Hoy, M.A. (2000). Long PCR improves Wolbachia DNA amplification: wsp sequences found in 76% of sixty-three arthropod species. Insect Molecular Biology 9, 393–405.

- Jiggins, F.M. (2002). The rate of recombination in *Wolbachia* bacteria. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **19**, 1640–1643.
- Jiggins, F.M., Hurst, G.D. and Yang, Z. (2002). Host-symbiont conflicts: positive selection on an outer membrane protein of parasitic but not mutualistic Rickettsiaceae. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 19, 1341–1349.
- Jiggins, F.M., Von Der Schulenberg, J.H., Hurst, G.D.D. and Majerus, M.E.N. (2001). Recombination confounds interpretations of *Wolbachia* evolution. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B* 268, 1423–1427.
- Kazura, J.W., Bockarie, M., Alexander, N., Perry, R., Bockarie, F., Dagoro, H., Dimber, Z., Hyun, P. and Alpers, M.P. (1997). Transmission intensity and its relationship to infection and disease due to *Wuchereria bancrofti* in Papua New guinea. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 176, 242–246.
- Keiser, P.B., Reynolds, S.M., Awadzi, K., Ottesen, E.A., Taylor, M.J. and Nutman, T.B. (2002). Bacterial endosymbionts of *Onchocerca volvulus* in the pathogenesis of posttreatment reactions. *The Journal Infectious of Diseases* 185, 805–811.
- Kozek, W.J. (1977). Transovarially-transmitted intracellular microorganisms in adult and larval stages of *Brugia malayi*. *Journal of Parasitology* 63, 992–1000.
- Kozek, W. J. (2005). What is new in the *Wolbachia/Dirofilaria* interaction? *Veterinary Parasitology* (in press).
- Kozek, W.J. and Figueroa, M.H. (1977). Intracytoplasmic bacteria in Onchocerca volvulus. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 26, 663–678.
- Kramer, L., Passeri, B., Corona, S., Simoncini, L. and Casiraghi, M. (2003). Immunohistochemical/immunogold detection and distribution of the endosymbiont *Wolbachia* of *Dirofilaria immitis* and *Brugia pahangi* using a polyclonal antiserum raised against WSP (*Wolbachia* surface protein). *Parasitology Research* 89, 381–386.
- Kramer, L.H., Tamarozzi, F., Morchon, R., Lopez-Belmonte, J., Marcos-Atxutegi, C., Martin-Pacho, R. and Simon, F. (2005). Immune response to and tissue localization of the Wolbachia surface protein (WSP) in dogs with natural heartworm (Dirofilaria immitis) infection. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* **106**, 303–308.
- La Scola, B., Bandi, C. and Raoult, D. (2005). Wolbachia. In: The Proteobacteria, Part C, Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bateriology (D.J. Brenner, N.R. Krieg, J.T. Staley and G.M. Garrity, eds), Vol. 2, 2nd ed., pp. 138–143. New York, NY: Springer.
- Lamb, T.J., Le Goff, L., Kurniawan, A., Guiliano, D.B., Fenn, K., Blaxter, M.L., Read, A.F. and Allen, J.E. (2004). Most of the response elicited against *Wolbachia* surface protein in filarial nematode infection is due to the infective larval stage. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 189, 120–127.

- Langworthy, N., Renz, A., Meckenstedr, U., Henkle-Duhrsen, K., Bronvoort, M., Tanya, V., Donnelly, M. and Trees, A.J. (2000). Macrofilaricidal activity of tetracycline against the filarial nematode Onchocerca ochengi: elimination of Wolbachia precedes worm death and suggests a dependent relationship. Proceedings of the Royal Society London Series B Biological Sciences 267, 1063–1069.
- Lin, M. and Rikihisa, Y. (2003). *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* and *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* lack genes for lipid A biosynthesis and incorporate cholesterol for their survival. *Infection and Immunity* **71**, 5324–5331.
- Lo, N., Bandi, C., Watanabe, H., Nalepa, C. and Beninati, T. (2003). Evidence for cocladogenesis between diverse dictyopteran lineages and their intracellular endosymbionts. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 20, 907–913.
- Lo, N., Casiraghi, M., Salati, E., Bazzocchi, C. and Bandi, C. (2002). How many *Wolbachia* supergroups exist? *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 19, 341–346.
- Mand, S., Marfo-Debrekyei, Y., Dittrich, M., Fischer, K., Adjei, O. and Hoerauf, A. (2003). Animated documentation of the filaria dance sign (FDS) in bancroftian filariasis. *Filaria Journal* **2**, 3.
- McCall, J.W., Jun, J.J. and Bandi, C. (1999). *Wolbachia* and the antifilarial properties of tetracycline. An untold story. *Italian Journal of Zoology* **66**, 7–10.
- McGarry, H.F., Egerton, G. and Taylor, M.J. (2004). Population dynamics of *Wolbachia* bacterial endosymbionts in *Brugia malayi*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **135**, 57–67.
- McGarry, H.F., Pfarr, K., Egerton, G., Hoerauf, A., Akue, J.P., Enyong, P., Wanji, S., Klager, S.L., Bianco, A.E., Beeching, N.J. and Taylor, M.J. (2003). Evidence against *Wolbachia* symbiosis in *Loa loa. Filaria Journal* 2, 9.
- McLaren, D.J., Worms, M.J., Laurence, B.R. and Simpson, M.G. (1975). Micro-organisms in filarial larvae (Nematoda). *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 69, 509–514.
- Michael, E., Simonsen, P.E., Malecela, M., Jaoko, W.G., Pedersen, E.M., Mukoko, D., Rwegoshora, R.T. and Meyrowitsch, D.W. (2001). Transmission intensity and the immunoepidemiology of bancroftian filariasis in East Africa. *Parasite Immunology* 23, 373–388.
- Min, K.T. and Benzer, S. (1997). *Wolbachia* normally a symbiont of *Drosophila* can be virulent causing degeneration and early death. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences USA **94**, 10792–10796.
- Morchon, R., Ferreira, A.C., Martin-Pacho, J.R., Montoya, A., Mortarino, C., Genchi, C. and Simon, F. (2004). Specific IgG antibody response against antigens of *Dirofilaria immitis* and its *Wolbachia* endosymbiont bacterium in cats with natural and experimental infections. *Veterinary Parasitology* 125, 313–321.

- Park, J., Kim, K.J., Choi, K.S., Grab, D.J. and Dumler, J.S. (2004). Anaplasma phagocytophilum AnkA binds to granulocyte DNA and nuclear proteins. Cellular Microbiology 6, 743–751.
- Peixoto, C.A., Silva, L.F., Teixeira, K.M. and Rocha, A. (2001). Ultrastructural characterization of intracellular bacteria of *Wuchereria ban*crofti. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 95, 566–568.
- Pfarr, K.M., Fischer, K. and Hoerauf, A. (2003). Involvement of Toll-like receptor 4 in the embryogenesis of the rodent filaria *Litomosoides si*gmodontis. Medical Microbiology and Immunology **192**, 53–56.
- Plenge-Bönig, A., Kromer, M. and Büttner, D.W. (1995). Light and electron microscopy studies on *Onchocerca jakutensis* and *O. flexuosa* of red deer show different host-parasite interactions. *Parasitology Research* 81, 66–73.
- Punkosdy, G.A., Addiss, D.G. and Lammie, P.J. (2003). Characterization of antibody responses to *Wolbachia* surface protein in humans with lymphatic filariasis. *Infection and Immunity* 71, 5104–5114.
- Punkosdy, G.A., Dennis, V.A., Lasater, B.L., Tzertzinis, G., Foster, J.M. and Lammie, P.J. (2001). Detection of serum IgG antibodies specific for *Wolbachia* surface protein in rhesus monkeys infected with *Brugia malayi*. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 184, 385–389.
- Rao, R.U., Atkinson, L.J., Vanderwall, R.P. and Weil, G.J. (2005). Brugia malayi: effects of gamma radiation on adult worms and their intracellular Wolbachia bacteria. Experimental Parasitology 109, 87–93.
- Rao, R.U., Moussa, H. and Weil, G.J. (2002). *Brugia malayi*: effects of antibacterial agents on larval viability and development *in vitro*. *Experimental Parasitology* **101**, 77–81.
- Rao, R.U. and Weil, G.J. (2002). In vitro effects of antibiotics on Brugia malayi worm survival and reproduction. Journal of Parasitology 88, 605–611.
- Rajan, T.V. (2004). Relationship of anti-microbial activity of tetracyclines to their ability to block the L3 to L4 molt of the human filarial parasite *Brugia malayi. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 71, 24–28.
- Sacchi, L., Corona, S., Casiraghi, M. and Bandi, C. (2002). Does fertilization in the filarial nematode *Dirofilaria immitis* occur through endocytosis of spermatozoa? *Parasitology* 124, 87–95.
- Saint-André, A., Blackwell, N.M., Hall, L.R., Hoerauf, A., Brattig, N.W., Volkmann, L., Taylor, M.J., Ford, L., Hise, A.G., Lass, J.H., Diaconu, E. and Pearlman, E. (2002). The role of endosymbiotic *Wolbachia* bacteria in the pathogenesis of river blindness. *Science* 295, 1892–1895.
- Schwab, A.E., Boakye, D.A., Kylem, D. and Prichard, R.K. (2005). Detection of benzimidazole resistance-associated mutations in the filarial nematode *Wuchereria bancrofti* and evidence for selection by albendazole
WOLBACHIA BACTERIAL ENDOSYMBIONTS

and ivermectin combination treatment. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* (in press).

- Simon, F., Prieto, G., Morchon, R., Bazzocchi, C., Bandi, C. and Genchi, C. (2003). Immunoglobulin G antibodies against the endosymbionts of filarial nematodes (Wolbachia) in patients with pulmonary dirofilariasis. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology* 10, 180–181.
- Sironi, M., Bandi, C., Sacchi, L., Di Sacco, B., Damiani, G. and Genchi, C. (1995). Molecular evidence for a close relative of the arthropod endosymbiont *Wolbachia* in a filarial worm. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 74, 223–227.
- Smith, H.L. and Rajan, T.V. (2000). Tetracycline inhibits development of the infective-stage larvae of filarial nematodes *in vitro*. *Experimental Parasitology* 95, 265–270.
- Stackebrandt, E. and Goebel, B.M. (1994). Taxonomic note: a place for DNA-DNA reassociation and 16S rRNA sequence analysis in the present species definition in bacteriology. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* 44, 846–849.
- Stevens, L., Giordano, R. and Fialho, R.F. (2001). Male-killing, nematode infections, bacteriophage infection and virulence of cytoplasmic bacteria in the genus *Wolbachia*. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 32, 519–545.
- Stouthamer, R., Breeuwer, J.A. and Hurst, G.D. (1999). Wolbachia pipientis: microbial manipulator of arthropod reproduction. Annual Review of Microbiology 53, 71–102.
- Taylor, M.J., Bilo, K., Cross, H.F., Archer, J.P. and Underwood, A. (1999). 16S rDNA phylogeny and ultrastructural characterization of *Wolbachia* intracellular bacteria of the filarial nematodes *Brugia malayi*, *B. pahangi*, and *Wucheria bancrofti. Experimental Parasitology* 91, 356–361.
- Taylor, M.J., Cross, H.F. and Bilo, K. (2000). Inflammatory responses induced by the filarial nematode *Brugia malayi* are mediated by lipopolysaccharide-like activity from endosymbiotic *Wolbachia* bacteria. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 191, 1429–1436.
- Taylor, M.J., Cross, H.F., Ford, L., Makunde, W.H., Prasad, G.B. and Bilo, K. (2001). *Wolbachia* bacteria in filarial immunity and disease. *Parasite Immunology* 23, 401–409.
- Taylor, M.J. and Hoerauf, A. (1999). *Wolbachia* bacteria of filarial nematodes. *Parasitology Today* 15, 437–442.
- Taylor, M.J. and Hoerauf, A. (2001). A new approach to the treatment of filariasis. *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases* 14, 727–731.
- Taylor, M.J., Makunde, W.H., McGarry, H.F., Turner, J.D., Mand, S. and Hoerauf, A. (2005). Macrofilaricidal activity after doxycycline treatment of Wuchereria bancrofti: a double-blind, randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 365, 2116–2121.

- Townson, S., Hutton, D., Siemienska, J., Hollick, L., Scanlon, T., Tagboto, S.K. and Taylor, M.J. (2000). Antibiotics and *Wolbachia* in filarial nematodes: antifilarial activity of rifampicin, oxytetracycline and chloramphenicol against *Onchocerca gutturosa*, *Onchocerca lienalis* and *Brugia pahangi*. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology 94, 801–816.
- Volkmann, L., Fischer, K., Taylor, M. and Hoerauf, A. (2003). Antibiotic therapy in murine filariasis (*Litomosoides sigmodontis*): comparative effects of doxycycline and rifampicin on *Wolbachia* and filarial viability. *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 8, 392–401.
- Warbrick, E.V., Barker, G.C., Rees, H.H. and Howells, R.E. (1993). The effect of invertebrate hormones and potential hormone inhibitors on the third larval moult of the filarial nematode, *Dirofilaria immitis, in vitro*. *Parasitology* **107**, 459–463.
- Werren, J.H. (1997). Biology of *Wolbachia*. Annual Review of Entomology **42**, 587–609.
- Werren, J.H. and Bartos, J.D. (2001). Recombination in Wolbachia. Current Biology 11, 431–435.
- Werren, J.H., Guo, L.R. and Windsor, D.W. (1995b). Distribution of *Wolbachia* in neotropical arthropods. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 262, 197–204.
- Werren, J.H. and O'Neill, S.L. (1997). The evolution of heritable symbionts. In: *Influencial Passengers* (S.L. O'Neill, J.H. Werren and A.A. Hoffmann, eds), pp. 1–41. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Werren, J.H., Zhang, W. and Guo, L.R. (1995a). Evolution and phylogeny of *Wolbachia*: reproductive parasites of arthropods. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 261, 55–71.
- Wolstenholme, A.J., Fairweather, I., Prichard, R., von Samson-Himmelstjerna, G. and Sangster, N.C. (2004). Drug resistance in veterinary helminthes. *Trends in Parasitology* 20, 469–476.
- Wu, M., Sun, L.V., Vamathevan, J., Riegler, M., Deboy, R., Brownlie, J.C., McGraw, E.A., Martin, W., Esser, C., Ahmadinejad, N., Wiegand, C., Madupu, R., Beanan, M.J., Brinkac, L.M., Daugherty, S.C., Durkin, A.S., Kolonay, J.F., Nelson, W.C., Mohamoud, Y., Lee, P., Berry, K., Young, M.B., Utterback, T., Weidman, J., Nierman, W.C., Paulsen, I.T., Nelson, K.E., Tettelin, H., O'Neill, S.L. and Eisen, J.A. (2004). Phylogenomics of the reproductive parasite *Wolbachia pipientis* wMel: a streamlined genome overrun by mobile genetic elements. *PLoS Biology* 2, 69.

The Biology of Avian *Eimeria* with an Emphasis on their Control by Vaccination

Martin W. Shirley*, Adrian L. Smith and Fiona M. Tomley

Institute for Animal Health, Compton Laboratory, Compton Nr Newbury, Berks RG20 7NN, UK

	Abstract	. 286
1.		.287
	1.1. <i>Eimeria</i> spp. and the Need for their Control.	.287
	1.2 Life Cycles of <i>Fimeria</i> spp. Including the Belevance of	
	Different Endogenous Stages to the Induction of	
	Protective Immunity	280
S		203
۷.	2.1 The Immunological Deletionship between the Heat and	. 292
		000
		. 292
-		.294
З.		.297
	3.1. Live Vaccines	. 297
	3.2. Wild-type Strains of <i>Eimeria</i> spp	. 297
	3.3. Live-Attenuated Vaccines	. 299
	3.4. Use and Efficacy of Live Vaccines	. 303
	3.5. Antigenic Diversity.	. 307
	3.6. Maternal Immunisation—Transmission Blocking	
	Immunity.	.310
4.	Prospects for the Development of Novel Vaccines	.311
	4.1. Becent Advances that have Belevance to Vaccine	
	Development	311
	4.2 Testing of Recombinant-Expressed Antigens as	
	Vaccines	314
	4.3 DNA Vaccination	215
5	Conducione	216
Э.		. 310
		. 318

^{*}Corresponding author. E-mail: shirley@bbsrc.ac.uk

ABSTRACT

Studies on the biology of the avian species of *Eimeria* are currently benefiting from the availability of a comprehensive sequence for the nuclear genome of *Eimeria tenella*. Allied to some recent advances in transgenic technologies and genetic approaches to identify protective antigens, some elements are now being assembled that should be helpful for the development of a new generation of vaccines. In the meantime, control of avian coccidiosis by vaccination represents a major success in the fight against infections caused by parasitic protozoa. Live vaccines that comprise defined populations of oocysts are used routinely and this form of vaccination is based upon the long-established fact that chickens infected with coccidial parasites rapidly develop protective immunity against challenge infections with the same species. Populations of wild-type *Eimeria* parasites were the basis of the first live vaccines introduced around 50 years ago and the more recent introduction of safer, live-attenuated, vaccines has had a significant impact on coccidiosis control in many areas of the world. In Europe the introduction of vaccination has coincided with declining drug efficacy (on account of drug resistance) and increasing concerns by consumers about the inclusion of in-feed medication and prospects for drug residues in meat. The use of attenuated vaccines throughout the world has also stimulated a greater interest in the vaccines that comprise wild-type parasites and, during the past 3 vears worldwide, around 3×10^9 doses of each type of vaccine have been used. The need for only small numbers of live parasites to induce effective protective immunity and the recognition that *Eimeria* spp. are generally very potent immunogens has stimulated efforts to develop other types of vaccines. None has succeeded except for the licensing, within several countries in 2002, of a vaccine (CoxAbic vaccine; Abic, Israel) that protects via the maternal transfer of immunoglobulin to the young chick. Building on the success of viral vaccines that are delivered via the embryonating egg, an *in ovo* coccidiosis vaccine (InovocoxTM, Embrex Inc.) is currently in development. Following successful field trials in 2001, the product will be ready for Food and Drug Administration approval in 2005 and a manufacturing plant will begin production for sale in late 2005.

Limited progress has been achieved towards the development of subunit or recombinant vaccines. No products are available and studies to identify potential antigens remain compromised by an absence of effective *in vitro* assays that correlate with the induction of protective immunity in the host. To date, only a relatively small portfolio of molecules has been evaluated for an ability to induce protection *in vivo*. Although *Eimeria* are effective immunogens, it is probable that to date none of the antigens that induce potent protective immune responses during the course of natural infection has been isolated.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Eimeria spp. and the Need for their Control

Coccidiosis, an intestinal disease of intensively reared livestock, is caused by coccidial parasites of the genus *Eimeria*; protozoa within the taxonomic family Eimeriidae (Levine, 1982) and the phylum Apicomplexa (Levine, 1970). This phylum contains many other protozoa of medical and/or veterinary importance including the malarial parasites *Plasmodium* spp., the zoonotic organisms *Cryptosporidium parvum* and *Toxoplasma gondii* and the more recently described *Neospora caninum*, which is an important cause of abortion in cattle. Most apicomplexans are obligate intracellular parasites that are transmitted to new host cells by invasive extracellular stages, which are equipped with a specialised array of cytoskeletal elements and secretory organelles known as the apical complex, after which the phylum is named.

Economically, the most important members of the genus *Eimeria* are the seven species that infect the \sim 30 billion chickens reared annually worldwide, viz. *Eimeria acervulina*, *E. brunetti*, *E. maxima*, *E. mitis*, *E. praecox*, *E. necatrix* and *E. tenella*. Infections with *E. acervulina*, *E. maxima* and *E. tenella* are diagnosed frequently in intensively reared poultry (McDougald *et al.*, 1997) and their control is usually accorded a higher priority over the other four species, especially in chickens raised for meat (broilers). Accurate figures for the costs associated with clinical and subclinical coccidiosis and their

control are not generally available. However recent calculations of the financial impact of prophylaxis and estimates of production losses due to disease, put the costs of coccidiosis to the poultry industry in Great Britain to at least £38 millions per annum (Williams, 1999). By extrapolation, the costs worldwide could be expected to be around £1500 million (equal to US\$2400 million) per annum.

Control of the avian coccidia is essential to the poultry industry because, for the most part, large flocks of chickens are kept on the floor at high stocking densities (often more than 25 000 chickens in a single building) in warm environments. These conditions are highly favourable for the transmission, replication and accumulation of *Eimeria* spp. in very large numbers. Organisationally, the poultry industry comprises both broiler and egg production and the two sectors have different requirements for the control of *Eimeria* spp. The biggest and most intensive sector is the production of broilers, which are reared to around six weeks of age before slaughter. Control of *Eimeria* in these birds can be achieved without an absolute need for the host to develop a protective immune response and prophylactic chemotherapy has generally been the sole method of control for the past 50 years. Virtually all broiler chickens reared throughout the world are given anticoccidial drugs from the time of hatch until a few days before slaughter.

In the egg-production sector, the situation is quite different. Prophylactic anticoccidial drugs must be withdrawn once hens approach the point of lay to prevent any carryover of drugs into eggs destined for consumers. While prevention of coccidiosis during the initial period of rearing has always been comparatively easy, through the use of anticoccidial drugs, a greater difficulty has been to ensure that hens develop immunity to each of the major species of *Eimeria* by the time they come into lay and anticoccidial drugs are removed. Thus for many years, poultry producers used strategies of husbandry during the initial rearing period that were intended to expose flocks to limited infections with *Eimeria* spp. so that immunity could develop and protect the birds against parasite challenge during the (anticoccidial drug-free) laying period. Historically, this balance between infection and immunity has been difficult to achieve without attendant risks of clinical disease. Strategies to achieve this balance have included the administration of suboptimal concentrations of effective drugs, the use of drugs that are not totally effective or even no prophylactic control at all (with a need for rapid drug therapy if disease occurred). With most of these approaches, there was an ever-present risk that birds would eventually succumb to severe disease (e.g. McDougald *et al.*, 1990) and this remained a difficult issue to resolve satisfactorily until the introduction of live-attenuated vaccines. These products have provided an excellent remedy to the problem and the attenuated populations of *Eimeria* that are now used provide a margin of safety that eliminates any risk of disease.

While the impact and rapid uptake of attenuated coccidiosis vaccines was immediate in the egg-production sector (both in flocks kept for breeding and eggs for consumption), the increasing use of vaccines in broiler chickens has generally been more gradual. However, in the past few years some broiler-specific products have been introduced and it is highly probable that sales of these vaccines will continue to rise considerably over the next few years.

1.2. Life Cycles of *Eimeria* spp., Including the Relevance of Different Endogenous Stages to the Induction of Protective Immunity

Eimeria species are transmitted between hosts by the faecal–oral route. The developmental life cycle consists of an exogenous phase in the environment during which oocysts excreted from the chicken undergo differentiation (sporulation) and become infective, and an endogenous phase in the chicken intestine during which three or four discrete and expansive rounds of asexual reproduction (schizogony), depending on the species, are followed by sexual differentiation (gametogony), fertilisation and, finally, shedding of the unsporulated oocysts (Figure 1).

During the endogenous phase of the life cycle, each successive developmental stage of the parasite expresses a wide spectrum of antigens that are presented to the immune system of the host (McDonald *et al.*, 1988; Tomley, 1994). The earlier endogenous life cycle stages are the most important for the induction of protective immune responses as shown from several independent lines of



Figure 1 Life cycle of a species of Eimeria with four generations of schizogony

research including exposure of animals to partial infections by transferring infected mucosa between hosts, e.g. E. maxima (Rose and Hesketh, 1976); the potent immunogenicity of parasite lines that have an absence or depletion of the terminal two schizont generations, e.g. E. maxima (McDonald et al., 1986b; Shirley and Bellatti, 1988;) and E. tenella (McDonald et al., 1986a); protection against challenge following oral vaccination with oocysts subjected to a level of gamma irradiation that allows sporozoites to invade host cells and begin development but not to undergo schizogony, e.g. E. tenella (Jenkins et al., 1993) and E. acervulina (Jenkins et al., 1991) and the technically simple and elegant demonstration that drug-arrested sporozoites of E. tenella induce substantial protection against the body-weightdepressing effects of a challenge infection with a drug-resistant challenge strain (Jeffers and Long, 1985). Thus, immunoprotective antigens capable of inducing complete protection against reinfection appear to be presented by, or within, the sporozoite-infected host cell. The identity of these antigens is not known, but a focus on the early events in the life cycle of the parasites now underpins much of the work being done in the search for antigens that could be included in future generations of subunit or recombinant vaccines.

Infection in the intestine is initiated by sporozoites, which are liberated from sporocysts in the lumen of the upper intestine and which migrate to their preferred sites of development where they invade villus enterocytes. E. brunetti and E. praecox undergo the whole of the endogenous phase of their life cycles within enterocytes of the villi whereas the remaining five species begin intracellular development within enterocytes of the crypts and usually locate to more superficial enterocytes with successive phases of schizogony. The mechanism by which sporozoites arrive at the crypts is not known precisely, but it is believed that they are transported from the villus within host intraepithelial lymphocytes (Fernando et al., 1987), most probably CD8 + T cells, and possibly macrophages (Trout and Lillehoj, 1993, 1995). It is not clear, however, whether sporozoite transport within host cells is essential, since free sporozoites of a reference strain of E. tenella not examined by Fernando et al. (1987) have also been visualised in the tissue spaces (Vervelde and Jeurissen, 1995; Vervelde et al., 1995). Whatever the means by which sporozoites reach the enterocytes in which they develop, soon after the ingestion of oocysts it is possible to transmit infection to naïve hosts using blood, spleen and liver from the infected host, even for *E. brunetti* and *E. praecox*, which suggests that a brief extra-intestinal phase is common for all species, (e.g. Fernando *et al.*, 1987; Perry and Long, 1987; Riley and Fernando, 1988).

Thus, in the early part of the life cycle, when immunity to reinfection is induced most potently, the sporozoite may invade a number of different host cells (villus enterocyte, intraepithelial lymphocyte/macrophage, crypt enterocyte) and any or all of these host–parasite interactions could be critical for the induction of protective immune responses.

The role of the sexual stages in the induction of immunity during natural infection is almost certainly of lesser importance, but they have also been shown to be the target of immune inhibition (Rose and Hesketh, 1976). Moreover, the only vaccine against avian coccidiosis that does not rely on the administration of live oocysts is based on the delivery of sexual stage antigens into laying hens and the attendant generation and transfer of antibody *via* the egg to protect the hatchlings, (e.g. Wallach, 1997), and see below.

2. IMMUNITY TO EIMERIA SPP.

Host immunity is pivotal in determining both the outcome of primary infection and any subsequent reinfection with *Eimeria* parasites, and the mechanisms that operate to limit parasite replication differ in the naïve and immune hosts. Several articles have recently reviewed comprehensively the immune responses to *Eimeria* (e.g. Lillehoj and Trout, 1996; Smith and Hayday, 1998; Allen and Fetterer, 2002) and we will limit our discussion here to some of the broader issues that come within the context of vaccination strategies.

2.1. The Immunological Relationship between the Host and *Eimeria* spp.

The immunological relationship between the host and *Eimeria* spp. is complex and changes with factors such as host genetic background,

parasite species/strain and the infection history of the host (e.g. Rose and Long, 1962; Joyner and Norton, 1976; Smith *et al.*, 2002). While all *Eimeria* spp. are immunogenic, there is a hierarchy with *E. maxima*, *E. brunetti* and *E. praecox* regarded as the most immunogenic species (Rose, 1976, 1987) and *E. tenella* and *E. necatrix* as the least. This variation is a factor in the composition of live vaccines and the numbers of oocysts of each species that are included may vary considerably.

Many parasite products are recognised by the infected host, with substantial cross-reactivity in both the B- and T-cell responses. Many immunoglobulin responses are specific to *Eimeria* antigens but react to antigen preparations from heterologous species as indicated by ELISA and Western blotting (e.g. Uchida *et al.*, 1994; Danforth *et al.*, 1994), and lymphocytes from *Eimeria*-immunised animals included in proliferation assays may be stimulated with complex preparations of oocyst antigens (Prowse, 1991). When set against the species-specificity of protective immunity, these data collectively suggest that the adaptive immune response recognises many parasite antigens and that in general the species-cross-reactive epitopes are non-protective.

The number of parasite antigens that are protective is unknown. As the 55 Mb Eimeria genome could encode 5-8000+ gene products (Shirley et al., 2004) and no predictive assays have yet been developed, the identification or isolation of 'protective' antigens expressed during natural infection has proved elusive. While some attempts have been made to utilise in vitro assays that might be predictive of function in vivo (Bumstead et al., 1995) even work with the most immunogenic species (E. maxima) has been disappointing, because the assays were limited to parasite proteins that were accessible from extracellular stages and because of an absence of any protection from those proteins that were identified as being potentially useful (Bumstead et al., 1995). However, such problems are not restricted to infections with *Eimeria* spp. as the antigenic complexity of many other pathogens, including large viruses, bacteria, parasitic protozoa and helminths, has similarly hindered the development of subunit vaccines. Work currently underway in our laboratory with E. maxima is directed to the rational identification of loci within the genome of the parasite that encode immunoprotective antigens (Blake et al., 2004). The strategy uses a novel combination of parasite genetics, DNA fingerprinting, drug-resistance and strain-specific immunity and centres on two strains of E. maxima that each induce a lethal (to the parasite), strain-specific, protective immune response in the host and show a differential response to chemotherapy. Through classical mating studies with these strains the loci responsible for strain-specific protective immunity or resistance to the anticoccidial drug robenidine have been found to segregate independently. Most interestingly, passage of recombinant parasites in the face of killing in the immune host was accompanied by the elimination of some polymorphic DNA markers that defined the parent strain used to immunise the host, i.e. markers that may reside close to the genes that encode protective antigens. Moreover, consideration of the numbers of parasites recombinant for the two traits suggested that very few loci encode protective antigens.

2.2. Protective Immune Responses

Since vaccination requires the generation of immunological memory against subsequent challenge infection it is appropriate to consider the mechanisms by which the host kills the eimerian parasite. It is now becoming apparent that the host responses that are most critically important in terms of protective immunity may differ between *Eimeria* spp. and reflect subtle variations in the overall host-parasite relationship (e.g. Rose *et al.*, 1991, 1992; Schito *et al.*, 1996). While our understanding of immune function in the chicken has improved considerably in the past few years, many recent data derive from the use of murine models. In this section we will give a broad overview of the types of protective mechanisms that operate against *Eimeria* spp., drawing examples from both murine and avian systems.

Innate natural killer (NK) cell, macrophage and granulocyte responses, as well as adaptive, antigen-specific T- and B-cell activation, have all been described during infections with *Eimeria* spp. (Rose *et al.*, 1990, 1996; Lillehoj and Choi, 1998). The precise timings of the responses by the host differ according to host genetics and the species of *Eimeria* used (Rose *et al.*, 1984, 1990; Rothwell *et al.*, 1995, 2000; Yun *et al.*, 2000), with the most consistent finding being that the more resistant hosts mount more rapid responses to infection than do the more susceptible hosts. Since the eimerian life cycle progresses serially in the absence of indefinite recycling of asexual or sexual stages, the host will be totally clear of parasites within \sim 14 days after infection.

Infection of mice with targeted gene disruption (TGD) of T-cell receptor genes (Roberts *et al.*, 1996; Smith and Hayday, 1998) has shown that TCR $\alpha\beta$ + T cells are essential for immune-mediated resistance to primary infection and immunity to subsequent reinfection with *E. vermiformis*. Similar studies in other T cell-deficient models have also demonstrated the importance of T cells during primary infection (most *Eimeria* spp.) and secondary infection (all *Eimeria* spp.) (Rose and Hesketh, 1979; Rose *et al.*, 1984; Trout and Lillehoj, 1996; Schito *et al.*, 1996). Although specific immunoglobulin (IgM, IgG and IgA) is induced by infection, studies with *E. vermiformis* in B cell-deficient mice (Smith and Hayday, 1998) and *E. maxima* in bursectomised chickens (Rose and Hesketh, 1979) suggest that B cells play a minor role during primary infection and are not essential for expression of complete immunity to re-challenge infection.

Depletion of specific T-cell subsets and adoptive transfer strategies showed that CD4+ but not CD8+ cells were essential for resistance to primary infection with E. vermiformis (Rose et al., 1988, 1992). Similarly, studies using TGD mice that are deficient in presentation of peptide via MHC class I or class II pathways also indicated the overriding importance of MHC class II-restricted T cells (presumably CD4+) (Smith and Hayday, 1998, 2000). Anti-CD4 depletion studies in chickens demonstrated a role for CD4+ T cells in primary infection with E. tenella but not E. acervulina (Trout and Lillehoj, 1996). With E. papillata, primary infection is limited by the activity of NK cells (Schito et al., 1996) rather than the CD4 + T cells responsible for control of E. vermiformis (Smith and Hayday, 1998). Mechanistically, the major mediator of immune-mediated resistance to primary infection with both E. vermiformis and E. papillata is interferon gamma (IFN γ) although the source of effective IFN γ differs between these two eimerian parasites (Rose et al., 1989; Schito and Barta, 1997; Smith and Hayday, 2000).

Recent advances in avian immunology have been driven by the availability of the chicken genome sequence (Hillier et al., 2004) and related tools such as more expression sequence tag (EST) libraries (Min et al., 2005), which allows the identification of many orthologues of mammalian immune genes of known function. Most studies have relied upon the quantitative analysis of mRNA encoded by restricted sets of genes (reviewed in Dalloul and Lillehoj, 2005) although a 400-cDNA microarray was applied to infections with E. maxima and E. acervulina (Min et al., 2003). The microarray analysis indicated that a broad range of mRNA was upregulated during infection, which is not surprising bearing in mind the large-scale changes in immune cell populations and activity in the gut. Comparison of the cytokine levels in genetically resistant and susceptible lines of chicken during primary infection with E. maxima revealed a correlation between high resting levels of IL-10 and susceptibility to infection (Rothwell et al., 2004). Taken together with the knowledge that the Th1-cytokine, IFN γ is a major effector molecule in killing *Eimeria* spp., that IFN γ levels increase during infection and that IL-10 is a negative regulator of Th1 responses the IL-10 findings provide an attractive basis for genetic resistance to *E. maxima* in the chicken.

The essential requirements for immunity to secondary infection appear to be less stringent than those required for immune-mediated resistance to primary infection. For example, although mice that lacked TCR $\alpha\beta$ + T cells remained completely susceptible to secondary infection with *E. vermiformis* those that were deficient in antigen processing to the two major TCR $\alpha\beta$ + T-cell subsets were either completely protected (class I-deficient/CD8 + T cells) or 95% protected (MHC class II-deficient/CD4 + T cells) (Smith and Hayday, 1998, 2000). Similarly, depletion of CD4 + or CD8 + T-cell subsets at the time of reinfection had no, or very little, effect upon the expression of immunity to secondary infection (Rose *et al.*, 1992). Depletion with anti-TCR $\alpha\beta_1$ or anti-CD8 exacerbated secondary infection with either *E. tenella* or *E. acervulina* infections in chickens (Trout and Lillehoj, 1996).

Although IFN γ is an essential component of immune-mediated resistance to primary infections, depletion of IFN γ or TGD of the IFN γ gene did not affect the complete immunity seen during

secondary infection with *E. vermiformis* (Caron *et al.*, 1997; Smith and Hayday, 1998, 2000). A wide range of mice with TGD in other 'effector' loci, including those encoding other cytokines and the cellular cytolytic pathways, were also completely immune to secondary infection with *E. vermiformis* (Smith and Hayday, 1998, 2000). In the cases where a primary infection does not engender complete immunity to reinfection there may be less redundancy in the requirement for cell subsets or effector mechanisms during secondary infections (Schito and Barta, 1997; Schito *et al.*, 1998). Collectively these data indicate that both TCR $\alpha\beta$ CD4+ and TCR $\alpha\beta$ CD8+ cells can be targeted by vaccination and that multiple immune effector mechanisms operate in the immunised animal.

3. VACCINE STRATEGIES

3.1. Live Vaccines

These vaccines consist of formulations of sporulated oocysts of several or all of the avian species of *Eimeria*. Administration is a key factor in the success of live vaccines and the ideal outcome is that each bird (or the vast majority of birds) in a flock is infected concurrently with just small numbers of oocysts of each component species.

3.2. Wild-type Strains of Eimeria spp.

Immunity induced by natural infections with *Eimeria* spp. is so effective at protecting against challenge with homologous parasites that live vaccines, based on wild-type parasites, have been available to the poultry industry for around 50 years. They continue to be successful commercial products and are now used extensively within all of the major poultry-producing regions of the world including the USA and Canada, Brazil and other countries of South America, Europe and many countries in Asia and Africa, (reviewed in Shirley, 1989). Sales of Coccivac[®] (Schering-Plough) and Immucox[®] (Vetech Laboratories) vaccines during 2001–2004 were close to 2500 million doses

(Marcelo Lang, Schering-Plough Animal Health and Eng-Hong Lee, Vetech Laboratories, personal communications). Live wild-type vaccines are also available for the control of coccidiosis in turkeys. Although sales of these are small in comparison to the chicken vaccines, their use is increasing such that around 50% of the turkeys reared in Ontario, Canada are now vaccinated (Eng-Hong Lee, Vetech Labs., pers. comm.).

Vaccines based on wild-type strains continue to be introduced, and some of the latest have included ADVENT[®] (Novus International) and Nobilis®COX ATM (Intervet; Schetters et al., 1999). AD-VENT[®] is a microbiologically sterile product approved by the USDA for hatchling spray cabinet or application via feed and is differentiated from other live vaccines through a pre-sales DNA staining assay that is used to ensure inclusion of the correct numbers of viable oocysts for each species. Nobilis®COX ATM comprises ionophore-resistant strains of E. acervulina, E. maxima and E. tenella isolated from the field, and thus it can be used alongside ionophore treatment, which may offer advantages for protecting birds in the early period when immunity to Eimeria species is developing and could also be valuable if ionophores are required to control Clostridium perfringens, a pathogen that causes necrotic enteritis. While this particular concept is new, the use of anticoccidial drugs in combination with a live vaccine ('Vac M', Elanco Products Company) was described earlier (Bafundo and Jeffers, 1988). Vac M, which was not widely used and is no longer available, contained oocysts of an ionophore-sensitive strain of E. maxima. It was used specifically to control ionophore-resistant strains of E. maxima that were causing disease outbreaks in ionophore-medicated flocks on the east coast of the USA. The vaccine was given by mouth to newly hatched chicks about 2-4h before they had access to food medicated with ionophores. In this way the drug-sensitive parasites entered epithelial cells, began intracellular development and initiated the protective immune response before the consumption of anticoccidial drugs killed the vaccinal oocysts and provided protection against subsequent natural infection with the other species.

A crucial aspect for the success of vaccines composed of wild-type strains is the method by which they are delivered. Any uneven uptake of vaccinal oocysts by individual birds within a large flock can lead to a series of asynchronous infections during the first three to five weeks of the rearing period. A failure to infect all, or certainly most, birds at the same time with wild-type parasites can lead to outbreaks of disease when the progeny of the vaccinal oocysts are ingested subsequently in large numbers by birds that were not immunised in the initial vaccination. The use of vaccines that contain wild-type parasites is thus associated with the greatest risk of disease as a direct consequence of vaccination, but such risks may be minimised by the administration of oocysts in ways that best ensure all birds are exposed concurrently to vaccinal oocysts (see below).

3.3. Live-Attenuated Vaccines

Most live-attenuated vaccines contain novel populations of *Eimeria* that were derived in the laboratory by controlled passage through chickens with repeated selection for the first oocysts to be produced during infection. These 'precocious' lines of parasites (Jeffers, 1974) are characterised by abbreviated endogenous life cycles in which the terminal generations of schizogony are either deleted or depleted (e.g. McDougald and Jeffers 1976; McDonald *et al.*, 1982, 1986b, c; McDonald and Shirley, 1984; Shirley and Bellatti, 1984, 1988; Shirley *et al.*, 1984, 1986 and Figure 2 and compare with Figure 1). This loss of one or two generations of schizogony has a profound effect on the numbers of gametes produced, and hence the numbers of oocysts formed, during an infection (Table 1).

Thus, in comparison to wild-type strains, each precocious line has a significantly lower reproductive capacity (e.g. Shirley, 1989), which, in turn, confers a marked attenuation of virulence in comparison to the parent parasite (Shirley, 1989; Montes *et al.*, 1998 and Figure 3). Whereas dramatic losses of weight and high rates of mortality of the host may result from infections with wild-type strains of some species, there are few pathological consequences from infections with precocious lines, even those derived from highly pathogenic species such as *E. necatrix* (Shirley and Bellatti, 1984). Despite such dramatic changes to the terminal phases of asexual reproduction, the immunogenicity



Figure 2 Life cycle of a typical precocious line derived from a species of Eimeria with four generations of schizogony

Vaccine	Manufacturer	Principal recipients	Parasites, species, route	Country of derivation	
Coccivac [®] D	Schering Plough Animal Health	Breeders/lavers	Wild type, seven species, oral	USA	
Coccivac [®] B	Schering Plough Animal Health	Broilers	Wild type, four species, oral	USA	
Immucox [®]	Vetech Laboratories	Breeders/layers	Wild type, five species, oral	Canada	
Immucox [®]	Vetech Laboratories	Broilers	Wild type, four species, oral	Canada	
ADVENT®	Novus International	Broilers	Wild type, three species, oral	USA	
Nobilis [®] COX-ATM	Intervet International	Broilers	Wild type, ionophore resistant, three species, oral	Netherlands	
Livacox [®] Q	Biopharm	Breeders/layers	Attenuated, four species, oral	Czech Republic	
Livacox [®] T	Biopharm	Broilers	Attenuated, three species, oral	Czech Republic	
Paracox [®]	Schering Plough Animal Health	Breeders/layers	Attenuated, seven species, oral	UK	
Paracox [®] 5	Schering Plough Animal Health	Broilers	Attenuated, four species, oral	UK	
Eimervax [®] 4m	Bioproperties Pty	Breeders/layers/broilers	Attenuated, four species, oral	Australia	
Eimerivac [®] Plus	Guangdong Academy of Agricultural Sciences	Breeders/layers/broilers	Attenuated, three species, oral	China	
Inmuner [®] Gel-Coc	Vacunas Inmuner	Breeders/layers/broilers	Wild type and attenuated, three species, oral	Argentina	
CoxAbic®	Abic	Breeders (to protect hatchlings)	Killed antigen, one species, intramuscular injection	Israel	
Inovocox	Embrex	Broilers	Wild type, three species, <i>in ovo</i> injection	USA	

Table 1 Some coccidiosis vaccines that are in use or being registered for use in chickens

301



Figure 3 Pathogenicity of wild-type parent strain of *E. necatrix* and a precocious line derived from it

of the precocious line generally remains similar to that of their wild-type parents (e.g. McDonald *et al.*, 1986c; Shirley and Millard 1986; Shirley *et al.*, 1986 and see below).

The trait of precocious development from wild-type strains is a dynamic process, such that the pre-patent time, which reflects the extent of schizogony and time of transition from an asexual to a sexual phase of the life cycle, decreases progressively as more rounds of selection are applied. At the Institute of Animal Health (IAH), none of the precocious lines destined for inclusion within Paracox[®] vaccine could be selected during the course of a single passage for faster completion of the life cycle. Instead it proved necessary to passage each line many times with increasing selection before parasites could be recovered with the required combination of reproduction, attenuation and immunogenicity. While increasing selection for precocious development yields lines with greater attenuation of virulence, two other important factors must be considered. Firstly, the low rates of reproduction associated with elimination of asexual stages make the production of vaccinal oocysts more difficult and, secondly, loss of early life cycle stages increases the risk that the lines will be less immunogenic (e.g. McDonald et al., 1986b). In practice, it has proved relatively straightforward to derive precocious lines with the desired combinations of traits so that they are effective as vaccines and can be produced on a large cost-effective scale.

The genetic stability of attenuated lines has to be taken into account by vaccine manufacturers. Once precocious lines with the desired traits had been selected at the IAH as candidates for inclusion within Paracox[®] vaccine, sublines were established from infections with single oocysts as a step towards minimising the risks of reversion to wild type. Ideally, clonal populations each derived from a single sporocyst or sporozoite (e.g. Shirley and Millard, 1976, 1989) were sought, but the comparatively poor reproduction of the precocious lines mitigated against this. Instead, each population of parasites included within Paracox[®] vaccine was re-established from infection with a single oocyst once the precocious line with the desired characteristics had been selected and each of these new populations was subsequently shown to meet the genetic stability required (Shirley and Bellatti, 1988).

To date, precocious lines of *Eimeria* have provided the major source of attenuated parasites and are now incorporated into most of the live-attenuated vaccines (Table 2). No other attenuation strategy has offered such a successfully broad utility for work with *Eimeria* spp., although an attenuated egg-adapted line of *E. tenella* has proven efficacy with Livacox[®] vaccines (Shirley and Bedrnik, 1997).

3.4. Use and Efficacy of Live Vaccines

Although the composition of individual live vaccines varies, all include oocysts of *E. acervulina*, *E. maxima* and *E. tenella* as there is an absolute need to control these species (see above, Table 2). Vaccines intended for use in broiler chickens that are reared for only 6–7 weeks are likely to contain only these three species, whereas vaccines for laying birds are inevitably more comprehensive and may contain all seven species of *Eimeria*. A critical inclusion for laying birds is *E. necatrix*, which can be a major cause of coccidiosis around the time when egg laying commences (McDougald *et al.*, 1990). The final formulation of any live vaccine is ultimately a matter of judgement for

Species	Strain	Outputs of oocysts (millions)	Percentage output compared to relevant parent strain		
E. acervulina	НР	1.1	7.7		
	H (parent)	14.3	100		
E. brunetti	HP	3.5	8.4		
	H (parent)	41.8	100		
E. maxima	CP	1.6	4.1		
	C (parent)	39.3	100		
E. maxima	MFP	1.9	8.8		
	MF (parent)	21.6	100		
E. mitis	HP	0.7	2.6		
	H (parent)	27.0	100		
E. necatrix	HP	2.1	24.7		
	H (parent)	6.5	100		
E. praecox	HP	5.2	8.5		
-	H (parent)	61.1	100		
E. tenella	HP	28.2	27.9		
	H (parent)	101.1	100		

Table 2 Reproduction of precocious lines in comparison to that of wild-type parents

Note: Doses of oocysts given were 2×10^2 for all species except *E. brunetti* (1×10^2) and *E. tenella* (5×10^2) . Codes 'H'; 'MF' and 'C' refer to parent, virulent strains and addition of 'P' suffix refers to precocious lines.

the manufacturer and factors taken into account may include the costs of producing oocysts, any knowledge (or perception) of the epidemiology of *Eimeria* spp. in different systems of poultry husbandry in different regions of the world, and requirements for product registration, etc. The dose of oocysts intended for each bird varies between vaccine formulations but generally is around 50–100 oocysts for highly immunogenic species such as *E. maxima* and 1000 oocysts for species such as *E. acervulina* and *E. tenella*. As discussed in more detail below, antigenic diversity characterises populations of *E. maxima* encountered in the field and the incorporation of two immunologically distinct strains of this species within a vaccine provides a greater spectrum of protection.

Live-attenuated vaccines have had a major impact on the egg-laying and breeding sectors since their introduction about 15 years ago and in countries such as the UK virtually all breeding and laying flocks are now vaccinated. Unfortunately, few data are available on

the efficacy of vaccines in laving birds as the poultry industry tends not to publish the outcomes of vaccination programmes and, moreover, birds are usually moved between farms around the point of lay which makes difficult the recovery of specific information on coccidiosis control. Not withstanding this general paucity of data, some trials with flocks destined for broiler (Williams et al., 1999; Williams and Gobbi 2002) or egg production have been monitored (Shirley et al., 1995). A clear feature of live vaccines is that they prevent disease very effectively but they do not eliminate subsequent infections per se (Shirley, 1989). Throughout the rearing period of poultry, oocysts may accumulate in the litter in comparatively large numbers (up to 50 000 per gram litter), but absolute numbers are generally smaller than those associated with control flocks medicated with anticoccidial drugs (Williams et al., 1999). Thus the occurrence of litter oocysts after successful vaccination contrasts dramatically with the expectations of chemotherapy. In this case effective drugs significantly limit the numbers of oocysts to ~ 1000 per gram litter (Long et al., 1975; Long and Millard, 1978) whereas drug resistance and potentially poor control of *Eimeria* spp. is associated with up to 60 000 oocysts per gram of litter.

An interesting parasitological benefit of using live vaccines that contain drug-sensitive parasites is a reduction in, or even replacement of, the resident drug-resistant parasites within a poultry house. The principle was first established by Jeffers (1976) who showed that a massive introduction of a drug-sensitive precocious line of E. tenella into birds reared in a pen heavily contaminated with a drug-resistant strain produced a marked reduction in the proportion of drug-resistant oocysts in the litter. Whilst the study by Jeffers (1976) made use of unrealistic numbers of vaccinal oocysts, subsequent studies have been done with conditions more relevant to current husbandry practices. Chapman (1994) found that control of Eimeria spp. by the anticoccidial drug monensin was improved substantially after just a single interval of vaccination with Coccivac[®] vaccine that comprises drug-sensitive strains. No further improvement in the efficacy of the drug was noted after use of the vaccine in five successive flocks of chickens. Replacement of the resident parasites with drug-sensitive parasites might be expected to occur less rapidly with precocious lines in view of their poorer replication, but the sexual phase of the parasite life cycle and the opportunity that it presents for genetic exchange may ensure that parasites with wild-type life cycles rapidly gain genes for drug sensitivity. The re-introduction in to the field of genes for drug sensitivity within *Eimeria* spp. appears to be a unique outcome anywhere within the area of microbiology.

Little mention will be made of the methods by which live vaccines may be delivered to chickens as this specialist area of coccidiosis vaccinology has been considered in detailed elsewhere (Chapman, 2000; Williams, 2002). Many different approaches are used to administer coccidiosis vaccines, but the ultimate consideration is that oocysts must be ingested with high efficiency. This is usually achieved over a relatively short period of time (hours) to fit in with vaccination practice and, for practical reasons, most live vaccines are given once only, most commonly on the feed, e.g. by spraying oocysts onto food or placing oocysts within gels that can be pecked (Danforth et al., 1997; Danforth, 1998) or in the water with a viscous agent that serves to keep the oocysts in suspension for longer (e.g. Williams et al., 1999). Alternative routes for administering live vaccines include spraying onto the bodies of chickens within a few hours after hatching so that oocysts are ingested during preening (Andrews et al., 2001) or via eye-drop inoculation at the hatchery (Chapman, 1996). The efficiency of administration should be as high as possible, both to avoid wastage of oocysts and to ensure a broad coverage of individual birds within a flock. Uniform coverage is especially important for live wild-type vaccines in order to ensure that no birds remain fully susceptible to a heavy challenge infection around one week later with the progeny of the virulent vaccinal oocysts.

Much of the poultry industry (especially in the USA) makes use of *in ovo* injection around the 18th day of egg incubation to deliver some major viral vaccines. Such an approach is attractive for the mass administration of an *Eimeria* vaccine (Watkins *et al.*, 1995) but the need to introduce complex, sterile, cysts (oocysts or sporocysts) as a prelude to the (presumed) release of sporozoites in the intestine of the foetus clearly could pose special technical problems. Nevertheless, proof of principle of this approach was achieved, initially using oocysts, sporocysts and sporozoites of *E. tenella* (Weber and Evans,

2003) and more recently with oocysts of *E. acervulina*, *E. maxima*, *E. mitis*, *E. praecox* and *E. brunetti* (Weber *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly in the latter study it was found that infectivity of sporozoites for 18-day-old chick embryos varied depending on the species of *Eimeria* and on the diluent used to suspend the parasites. Attempts to develop a practical *in ovo* delivery system for *Eimeria* spp. based upon the Embrex Inovoject[®] have been ongoing for some time and the product InovocoxTM, which comprises wild-type oocysts of *E. acervulina*, *E. maxima* and *E. tenella* is currently at the 'pre-launch' stage (www.embrex.com).

Experimentally, a highly effective method to confer protection efficiently is to administer a daily delivery of a small number of oocysts (i.e. 'trickle infections' (Joyner and Norton, 1976). Such infections confer greater levels of immunity than infection with the same total number of parasites administered on a single occasion. A trickle strategy may also improve the efficacy of vaccination with the less immunogenic species where 'complete' immunity develops only after multiple exposures. However, the costs and inconvenience associated with multiple administrations of a coccidiosis vaccine mitigate against the incorporation of this strategy.

3.5. Antigenic Diversity

It is axiomatic that, to be effective, any coccidiosis vaccine should protect against a wide range of field strains that are defined by potentially very different characteristics. Thus the marked immunological diversity found between strains of *E. maxima* (e.g. Long, 1974; Norton and Hein, 1976; Long and Millard, 1979; Martin *et al.*, 1997; Barta *et al.*, 1998; Smith *et al.*, 2002) poses one of the biggest practical concerns about the use of coccidiosis vaccines. Experimentally, a spectrum of immunological relatedness has been demonstrated, with cross-protection between individual strains ranging from as little as $\sim 10-15$ to $\sim 70\%$ based on such parameters such as the outputs of oocysts and lesion scores in challenged chickens (e.g. Long, 1974; Norton and Hein, 1976; Shirley and Bellatti, 1988; Martin *et al.*, 1997). Smith *et al.* (2002) most recently showed a complete absence of cross-protection between the Houghton (H) and Weybridge (W) reference strains in some inbred lines of chickens. Against such a background of immunological diversity it is therefore not surprising that chickens vaccinated with one strain of E. maxima may not be adequately protected if they encounter an immunologically divergent strain of *E. maxima*. This type of problem has indeed been reported (Lee, 1993) and resolved in an *ad hoc* manner whereby small numbers of oocvsts of the immunologically variant strain of E. maxima were added to the vaccine. However, such a 'local solution' may not be compatible with the worldwide use of a vaccine, and is not approved within the EU as part of the registration process. The most effective solution so far to the problem of immunological diversity in E. maxima is based upon the finding that chickens given a mixture of up to six different strains of E. maxima were almost completely protected against subsequent challenge with each of the strains given separately (Long and Millard, 1979). While the notion of including many strains of *E. maxima* within a live vaccine has merit, the production of such a highly complex vaccine would be prohibitively expensive. In fact, the inclusion of only two populations of E. maxima is needed if they are chosen to represent extremes of immunological diversity. Shirley and Bellatti (1988), for example, found that the C strain was only poorly controlled by vaccination with the MF precocious line and Paracox[®] was formulated to include precocious lines derived from both the MF and C strains. Two immunologically diverse strains of E. maxima are also used in Nobilis[®] COX ATM (Table 3).

The type of immunological diversity that characterises populations of *E. maxima* is different from the rapid and dynamic form of antigenic variation that occurs within individual parasites of other protozoan such as *Plasmodium* (e.g. Brown and Brown, 1965; Biggs *et al.*, 1991; Newbold, 1999) and trypanosomes (e.g. Gray, 1965; Donelson and Rice-Ficht, 1985; Rudenko, 1999) during the course of infection. It is reasonable to speculate that this difference reflects the types of survival strategies that are required by a parasite that has a short 'in:all-out' life cycle in the host but persists as a transmission stage (oocyst) in the external environment (*Eimeria*), or a far greater dependency upon staying longer in the host (*Plasmodium* and *Trypanosoma*). While immunological diversity in the avian *Eimeria* spp.

	Paracox®		Livacox®		Nobilis [®]	Coccivac®		Immucox [®]		Eimeriavax®	ADVENT [®] , Gelcox [®] ,
	8	5	Q++	T+	Cox AIM	D	В	Breeders	Broilers		Elmenvac ^o , Inovocox ^o
E. acervulina	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
E. brunetti	Yes					Yes		Yes			
E. maxima (1)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
E. maxima (2)	Yes	Yes			Yes						
E. mitis	Yes	Yes				Yes ^a	Yes ^a				
E. praecox	Yes					Yes					
E. necatrix	Yes		Yes			Yes		Yes	Yes	Yes	
E. tenella	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table 3 Composition of some live vaccines

^aListed as containing *E. mivati* and *E. hagani*, but *E. mitis* is the most likely species in view of the uncertain taxonomy of the two former species (Shirley *et al.*, 1983).

is almost certainly greatest with *E. maxima*, detailed intra-specific comparisons within the other species have not been done.

3.6. Maternal Immunisation—Transmission Blocking Immunity

CoxAbic[®] (Wallach, 1997) is produced to confer maternal immunisation and comprises a preparation of purified, killed *E. maxima* gametocytes, which is administered intramuscularly to the breeding (laying) hen. Antibodies produced are passed into the egg yolk and subsequently to the hatchlings, which are passively protected against a challenge infection (e.g. Pugatsch *et al.*, 1989; Wallach *et al.*, 1990, 1995). Substantial data are not available on the identity of the endogenous stages of a challenge infection of *Eimeria* killed, although it is probable that sexual life cycle stages are targeted. Interestingly, immunisation of laying hens with gametocyte antigens from *E. maxima* protects chickens against challenge with other *Eimeria* species (Wallach, 1997) and increases the usefulness of the vaccination concept.

Floor pen and field trials involving several thousand vaccinated breeder hens and their offspring have been undertaken to assess the practical and commercial feasibility of the maternal vaccination approach. Some of these trials showed that peak litter oocyst counts in broiler chickens (hatched from the vaccinated hens) were reduced by about 60–70% (Wallach and Waldenstedt, 1999) compared to unvaccinated control groups. The vaccine is now registered for use in several countries including Argentina, Israel, South Africa and Thailand, and was introduced in to the marketplace formally in June 2002.

Few other data are available on the potency of protection induced by the maternal route of immunisation. However, from the available studies it seems probable that this vaccination approach will enable young chickens to control low-grade infections effectively during the early period of rearing, although some oocysts will probably complete their life cycles and induce active immunisation, which will boost that gained passively. A great attraction of the maternal immunisation strategy is that each breeding hen lays around 130 eggs during its lifetime, so the successful vaccination of a single layer would protect a large number of young birds without any additional effort or cost.

4. PROSPECTS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL VACCINES

In the much longer term, the availability of coccidiosis vaccines that are simpler to manufacture, but are of equivalent potency to live vaccines will be needed. New vaccines will possibly be based on the small subset(s) of protective antigens that characterise *Eimeria* spp. and, ideally, the manufacture of the new generation of vaccines should not require the use of chickens. Clearly this scenario raises many scientific issues that need to be addressed, not least being the development of novel approaches to identify the crucial protective antigens and the construction of robust and effective delivery systems to immunise the chickens. These are just some of the probable challenges that will have to be met if sustainable vaccine strategies are to be available far in to the future.

4.1. Recent Advances that have Relevance to Vaccine Development

To date a small number of parasite antigens have been studied in terms of their ability to induce 'protective' immune responses (see below) and these represent a tiny proportion of the potential antigens encoded by the parasite genome (Shirley *et al.*, 2004). Work on the assembly and annotation of the genome of *E. tenella* is expected to continue until 2007 and all the data are made freely available to the public through the *Eimeria* genome consortium (all participants in the genome sequencing projects can be contacted through http://www.sanger.ac.uk/Projects/E_tenella/consortium.shtml). As annotation goes forward, gene predictions and associated information are stored in a specialised, curated GeneDB database, which is regularly updated and again is freely available to the public (http://www.genedb.org/genedb/etenella/).

The availability of a full genome sequence is dramatically increasing our knowledge of the parasite and projects are already in progress using high-throughput global approaches for protein identification (Bromley *et al.*, 2003; deVenevelles *et al.*, 2004) concentrating initially on the sporozoite stage of *E. tenella*.

As discussed in Section 1.2, the early part of the *Eimeria* life cycle can induce potent protective immunity against challenge and considerable efforts are ongoing to characterise parasite molecules that mediate early interactions with the host. *Eimeria* spp. share many features with other apicomplexan parasites, including a specialised mode of invasion, which is distinct from the entry of other intracellular pathogens (Sibley and Andrews, 2000). Two types of parasite molecules are implicated in invasion: GPI-linked surface antigens (SAGs) and proteins secreted from the microneme, rhoptry and dense-granule organelles during invasion of the host cell (reviewed by Tomley and Soldati, 2001; Soldati *et al.*, 2001; Carruthers, 2002).

Until recently, little was known about GPI-linked SAGs in Eimeria, but examination of ESTs from sporozoites and second-generation merozoites revealed two families of transcripts encoding potential GPI-linked variant surface proteins (Tabares et al., 2004). Using bioinformatics and wet-lab work 23 genes were shown to be differentially expressed during the parasite life cycle and confirmed to be surface-localised and GPI-anchored (Tabares et al., 2004). Genomic analysis indicates that the parasite encodes >60 intact SAG genes plus a considerable number of pseudogenes (Fiona Tomley and colleagues, unpublished). The stage-specific expression of repertoires of variant SAGs in Eimeria spp. is perhaps surprising since factors that drive SAG diversity in other parasites, such as persistence in the face of host immunity or infection of a wide range of hosts/cell types do not apply in Eimeria. Although the biological function of the SAGs is not yet defined, there are clear implications for any vaccine strategy that targets the parasite surface since it is most likely that many gene products may be required to induce full protection.

The use of subcellular fractionation to isolate microneme and rhoptry organelles (Kawazoe *et al.*, 1992; Tomley, 1997) combined with molecular cloning and sequencing has made a major contribution to understanding the role of *Eimeria* proteins during invasion (Tomley

et al., 1991, 1996, 2001; Brown et al., 2000, 2001, 2003; Labbe et al., 2005; Periz et al., 2005). Micronemes are the smallest of the secretory organelles and they contain complexes of transmembrane and soluble protein (MICs) that are dischared from the apical tip early in invasion (Carruthers and Sibley, 1999; Bumstead and Tomley, 2000; Rabenau et al., 2001). MICs encode adhesive motifs such as thrombospondin type I domains, epidermal growth factor-like domains, Apple domains and integrin type A domains (Tomley and Soldati, 2001) and during invasion they bind the parasite surface, becoming concentrated at the point of invasion (Tomley et al., 1996) and eventually released from the posterior end. Work in other apicomplexans has shown that this release is mediated by specific proteolytic cleavage of the transmembrane MICs that occurs within their conserved membrane-spanning domains (Opitz et al., 2002). MICs are essential for parasite motility and compounds that interfere with their secretion are extremely effective at blocking parasite attachment and invasion in vitro and parasite infectivity in vivo (Wiersma et al., 2004), making them attractive targets for therapy. The discovery that the cytosolic tail domain of a malarial MIC protein, PfTRAP, is essential for parasite motility (Kappe et al., 1999) suggested that transmembrane MICs may provide a crucial bridge between the parasite/host adhesive interface and the parasite actinomyosin motor. Proof of this came with independent demonstrations that the cytoplasmic domains of TRAP and of the T. gondii microneme protein MIC2 each bind a protein complex that includes the glycolytic protein aldolase, a tetrameric cytoplasmic enzyme that cross-links actin filaments, and moreover that the C-domain/aldolase complexes can recruit actin (Buscaglia et al., 2003; Jewett and Sibley, 2004).

In *E. tenella*, five MIC proteins have been described in detail so far and many more, together with rhoptry and dense-granule proteins are emerging from proteomics studies (Bromley *et al.*, 2003, unpublished). EtMIC1 (Tomley *et al.*, 1991) and EtMIC4 (Tomley *et al.*, 2001) belong to the transmembrane TRAP family; EtMIC2 (Tomley *et al.*, 1996) is a soluble protein that forms an 'escorter' complex with EtMIC1 (Rabenau *et al.*, 2001), which is functionally analogous to the TgMIC2/TgM2AP complex of *T. gondii* (Huynh *et al.*, 2004). EtMIC3, first described alongside EtMIC2 as a regulated secretory protein (Bumstead and Tomley, 2000), is a soluble MIC that consists of seven tandem repeats of a core TSP-1 motif and several other conserved residues (Tomley and Soldati, 2001; Labbe *et al.*, 2005). EtMIC5 (Brown *et al.*, 2001) is a soluble protein that contains eleven tandem apple domains, the structure of which closely resembles that of other members of the PAN superfamily (Brown *et al.*, 2003). The transcription of these five *EtMIC* genes is co-ordinately regulated (Ryan *et al.*, 2000).

4.2. Testing of Recombinant-Expressed Antigens as Vaccines

During the 1980s and 1990s there were many attempts to develop new coccidial vaccines based on the delivery to chickens of a handful of recombinant-expressed parasite antigens derived from the surface of invasive sporozoite or merozoites stages (e.g. Brothers et al., 1988; Jenkins et al., 1988, 1989), from the secretory apical organelles (e.g. Danforth et al., 1989) or from the internal refractile body organelles (e.g. Miller et al., 1989; Crane et al., 1991). This work was undertaken with great optimism due to early promising results that demonstrated partial protection against coccidial challenge after parenteral vaccination with a mixture of proteins extracted from parasites (Murray et al., 1986). Antigens were expressed in a variety of different prokaryotic and eukaryotic vectors, including Salmonella typhimurium (Pogonka et al., 2003), fowlpoxvirus and herpes virus of turkeys and delivered either as killed, recombinant protein or as live, replicating vector vaccines (reviewed by Vermeulen, 1998; Vermeulen et al., 2001; Jenkins, 1998, 2001; Lillehoj et al., 2000). Nevertheless these studies were universally disappointing in that immunisation only ever elicited partial protection against oocyst challenge and in most cases the results obtained were highly variable.

In the past few years, there has been a small resurgence of activity surrounding 'vaccinology' work on coccidia, due largely to the availability of genomic and cDNA sequences of several chicken cytokines and to progress in understanding how components of the host immune response can be modulated by cytokines, nucleic acids and other immunomodulatory substances such as probiotics and vitamins (reviewed by Dalloul and Lillehoj, 2005). This has led to further attempts to vaccinate chickens with a small number of target antigens, either as recombinant-expressed proteins or via DNA immunisation, in some cases accompanied by cytokines. Although no marked improvements in overall protection against coccidiosis have emerged so far, there has been some success in demonstrating the effective delivery of recombinant proteins to chicks by in ovo vaccination (into the amniotic sac), with a dose-dependent partial protection using a recombinant surface protein from E. acervulina designated 3-1E (Ding et al., 2004). Coinjection in ovo of plasmid DNAs encoding various chicken cytokines had some modulatory effects on the (partially) protective immune response to vaccination with 3-1E protein but there was little consistency between the measured parameters of oocysts outputs, body weight gains and circulation IgG antibody titres, making it difficult to draw firm conclusions. A subsequent study, this time using the secretory MIC2 protein from E. tenella to vaccinate chicks in ovo, alongside an evaluation of the adjuvant effect of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides, (Dalloul et al., 2005) also conferred some partial protection of the hatched chicks to oocysts challenge.

4.3. DNA Vaccination

Work on DNA vaccines against *Eimeria* spp. is in its early stages, but a comparative account of the efficacy of different immunising forms of the same antigen reported that naked DNA vaccination with a construct from the gene encoding a refractile body antigen (designated SO7) protected chickens against a challenge infection with *E. tenella* (as measured by lesion scores and growth rates), whereas no protection accrued from administration of the native or recombinant antigen (Kopko *et al.*, 2000). However, significant protection against challenge was obtained only following injection of 25 µg of naked DNA and not from other doses of DNA (from 12.5 to 100 µg). Similar variability in protection from coccidial challenge following naked DNA vaccination was seen in studies examining the immunoprotective properties of the SAGs TA4 (Wu *et al.*, 2004) and 3-1E (Song et al., 2001), the latter being extensively tested alongside the delivery of a battery of avian cytokines (Lillehoj et al., 2005; Min et al., 2002), and of the secreted microneme protein MIC2 (Ding et al., 2005). Despite these variations, which suggest that protection by this method may be difficult to achieve uniformly, this clutch of papers does serve to demonstrate a 'proof-of-principle' that DNA vaccination could be an effective strategy, provided that the right antigens can be identified. Most recently, the concept of using S. typhimurium as a live replicating vector, to deliver to the chicken gut a pcDNA plasmid-based vaccine against coccidiosis, was tested (Du and Wang, 2005) using the C-terminal region of the microneme secreted protein EtMIC4 (also called 5401, Danforth et al., 1989; Tomley et al., 2001). The use of bacteria as carrier vehicles for DNA vaccination was developed to overcome the low efficiency and high DNA concentrations that are required in naked DNA vaccination (Donnelly et al., 1997) and the results for the 5401 antigen look promising with good vector stability, the induction of consistent, dosedependent immune responses and induction of dose-dependent and consistent partial protection following challenge (Du and Wang, 2005).

5. CONCLUSIONS

Future directions for the development of coccidiosis vaccines remain a paradox. On the one hand, some new products will be introduced, but on the other the level of investment in new strategies is uncertain and may depend upon the role to be played by anticoccidial drugs. Debates for and against the use of coccidiosis vaccines and/or anticoccidial drugs will continue and be wide ranging, but the specificity of immunoprophylaxis as compared to the additional (and very important) antibacterial effects of the ionophorous anticoccidial drugs is an important practical issue.

The ease with which precocious (attenuated) lines can be selected in the laboratory and live oocyst vaccines assembled *per se*, both point towards the introduction of further vaccines that work empirically. The market for vaccines is likely to expand considerably further and many opportunities may exist both for live vaccines manufactured a large scale and those produced on a small and a local scale ('bijoux' vaccine plants). It is most likely that some live coccidiosis vaccines will command worldwide sales but even those produced on large scales will only be able to supply a small fraction of the total potential market. The manufacture of high-quality live vaccines is not a trivial under-taking and can probably only be achieved at costs that are greater than those associated with the manufacture of existing anticoccidial drugs.

Maternal immunisation offers a potentially cheaper means of vaccination and its utility will become clearer with the availability of more field data. However, complex manufacturing facilities that incorporate infections of chickens are also required both to produce gametocyte antigens—although the development of a recombinant form of the vaccine may be feasible and perhaps the most realistic genetically engineered vaccine approach in the short term.

In the much longer term, one objective will remain the availability of simpler vaccines that require fewer or no chickens for their manufacture. With the exception of the strategy described above, all other possibilities, including the development of subunit, live-vector or DNA vaccines, will require considerable research.

One crucially important element is missing from any evaluation of candidate vaccine molecules, viz. a method of administration that has been proven to be appropriate. Thus the present scenario for the identification of putative immunogenic molecules of Eimeria represents a classic 'Catch 22' situation in which protective antigens may not be identified until a suitable method of delivery has been identified and a suitable method of delivery may not be recognised until protective antigens have been isolated. If the (obviously very potent) molecules responsible for the induction of protective immunity during natural infection with the different *Eimeria* spp. could be identified, one logical step would be the derivation of an attenuated line of Eimeria that contains and expresses a portfolio of genes encoding protective antigens from each of the major species of Eimeria. Such a step is becoming closer with recent developments in Eimeria-transfection technology (Kelleher and Tomley, 1998, unpublished). A more desirable product would be the delivery of a cocktail of antigens without the need for a live Eimeria vector, but the complexity of the host-parasite relationship may mitigate against this in the short term.

In summary, the coccidia cannot go about their life style of parasitism without the host declaring immunological war. Understanding, and then utilising, the rapid and effective immune responses of the host should therefore always provide a real and predictive means by which to control coccidial parasites, even in hosts that are the most intensively farmed livestock on the planet.

REFERENCES

- Allen, P.C. and Fetterer, R.H. (2002). Recent advances in biology and immunobiology of *Eimeria* species and in diagnosis and control of infection with these coccidian parasites of poultry. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 15, 58–65.
- Andrews, S.J., Crouch, C.F. and Francis, M.J. (2001). Administration of an attenuated *Eimeria* vaccine to newly hatched chicks by spray within the hatchery. *Proceedings of the VIII International Coccidiosis Conference* 71.
- Bafundo, K.W. and Jeffers, T.K. (1988). Anticoccidial method. USA patent, Application Number 284227.
- Barta, J.R., Coles, B.A., Schito, M.L., Fernando, M.A., Martin, A. and Danforth, H.D. (1998). Analysis of infraspecific variation among five strains of *Eimeria maxima* from North America. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 485–492.
- Biggs, B.A., Gooze, L., Wycherley, K., Wollish, W., Southwell, B., Leech, J.H. and Brown, G.V. (1991). Antigenic variation in *Plasmodium falciparum. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 88, 9171–9174.
- Blake, D.P., Hesketh, P., Archer, A., Carroll, F., Smith, A.L. and Shirley, M.W. (2004). Parasite genetics and the immune host: recombination between antigenic types of *Eimeria maxima* is an entrée to the identification of immunoprotective antigens. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 138, 143–152.
- Bromley, E., Leeds, N., Clark, J., McGregor, E., Ward, M., Dunn, M.J. and Tomley, F.M. (2003). Defining the protein repertoire of microneme secretory organelles in the apicomplexan parasite *Eimeria tenella*. *Proteomics* 3, 1553–1561.
- Brothers, V.M., Kuhn, I., Paul, L.S., Gabe, J.D., Andrews, W.H., Sias, S.R., McCaman, M.T., Dragon, E.A. and Files, J.G. (1988). Characterization of a surface antigen of *Eimeria tenella* sporozoites and synthesis from a cloned cDNA in *Escherichia coli*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 28, 235–247.
- Brown, K.N. and Brown, I.N. (1965). Immunity to malaria: antigenic variation in chronic infections of *Plasmodium knowlesi*. *Nature* **208**, 1286–1288.
- Brown, P.J., Billington, K.J., Bumstead, J.M., Clark, J.D. and Tomley, F.M. (2000). A microneme protein from *Eimeria tenella* with homology to the Apple domains of coagulation factor XI and plasma pre-kallikrein. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **107**, 91–102.
- Brown, P.J., Gill, A., Nugent, P., McVey, J.H. and Tomley, F.M. (2001). Domains of invasion organelle proteins from apicomplexan parasites are homologous with the apple domains of blood coagulation factor XI and plasma prekallikrein and are members of the PAN-module superfamily. *FEBS Letters* 497, 31–38.
- Brown, P.J., Mulvey, D., Potts, J.R., Tomley, F.M. and Campbell, I.D. (2003). Solution structure of a PAN module from the apicomplexan parasite *Eimeria tenella*. *Journal of Structural and Functional Genomics* **4**, 227–234.
- Bumstead, J.M., Bumstead, N., Rothwell, L. and Tomley, F.M. (1995). Comparison of immune responses in inbred lines of chickens to *Eimeria* maxima and *Eimeria tenella*. Parasitology 111, 143–151.
- Bumstead, J.M. and Tomley, F.M. (2000). Induction of secretion and surface capping of microneme proteins in *Eimeria tenella*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **110**, 311–321.
- Buscaglia, C.A., Coppens, I., Hol, W.G. and Nussenzweig, V. (2003). Sites of interaction between aldolase and thrombospondin-related anonymous protein in plasmodium. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 14, 4947–4957.
- Caron, L.A., Abplanalp, H. and Taylor, R.L., Jr. (1997). Resistance, susceptibility, and immunity to *Eimeria tenella* in major histocompatibility (B) complex congenic lines. *Poultry Science* 76, 677–682.
- Carruthers, V.B. (2002). Host cell invasion by the opportunistic pathogen *Toxoplasma gondii. Acta Tropica* **81**, 111–122.
- Carruthers, V.B. and Sibley, L.D. (1999). Mobilisation of intracellular calcium stimulated microneme discharge in *Toxoplasma gondii*. *Molecular Microbiology* 31, 421–428.
- Chapman, H.D. (1994). Sensitivity of field isolates of *Eimeria* to monensin following the use of a coccidiosis vaccine in broiler chickens. *Poultry Science* **73**, 476–478.
- Chapman, H.D. (1996). Administration of a coccidiosis vaccine to day-old turkeys *via* the eye and development of immunity to *Eimeria* species. *Poultry Science* **75**, 1496–1497.
- Chapman, H.D. (2000). Practical use of vaccines for the control of coccidiosis in chickens. *World's Poultry Science Journal* 56, 7–20.
- Crane, M.S.J., Goggin, B., Pellegrino, R.M., Ravino, O.J., Lange, C., Karkhanis, Y.D., Kirk, K.E. and Chakroborty, P.R. (1991). Cross-protection against four species of chicken coccidia with a single recombinant antigen. *Infection and Immunity* **59**, 1271–1277.
- Dalloul, R.A. and Lillehoj, H.S. (2005). Recent advances in immunomodulation and vaccination strategies against coccidiosis. *Avian Diseases* 49, 1–8.

- Dalloul, R.A., Lillehoj, H.S., Klinman, D.M., Ding, X., Min, W., Heckert, R.A. and Lillehoj, E.P. (2005). *In ovo* administration of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides and the recombinant microneme protein MIC2 protects against *Eimeria* infections. *Vaccine* 23, 3108–3113.
- Danforth, H.D. (1998). Use of live oocyst vaccines in the control of avian coccidiosis: experimental studies and field trials. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1099–1109.
- Danforth, H.D., Augustine, P.C., Barta, J.R. and Jenkins, M.C. (1994). *In vitro* and *in vivo* immunolabeling of sporozoites, schizonts, and sexual stages of *Eimeria acervulina* and *Eimeria tenella* by a species- and stagecross-reactive monoclonal antibody. *Parasitology Research* 80, 594–599.
- Danforth, H.D., Augustine, P.C., Ruff, M.D., McCandliss, R., Strausberg, R.L. and Likel, M. (1989). Genetically engineered antigen confers partial protection against avian coccidial parasites. *Poultry Science* 68, 1643–1652.
- Danforth, H.D., Lee, E.H., Martin, A. and Dekich, M. (1997). Evaluation of a gel-immunization technique used with two different Immucox vaccine formulations in battery and floor-pen trials with broiler chickens. *Parasitology Research* **83**, 445–451.
- deVenevelles, P., Chich, J.F., Faigle, W., Loew, D., Labbe, M., Girard-Misguich, F. and Pery, P. (2004). Towards a reference map of *Eimeria tenella* sporozoite proteins by two-dimensional electrophoresis and mass spectrometry. *International Journal for Parasitology* 34, 1321–1331.
- Ding, X., Lillehoj, H.S., Dalloul, R.A., Min, W., Sato, T., Yasuda, A. and Lillehoj, E. (2005). *In ovo* vaccination with the *Eimeria tenella* EtMIC2 gene induces protective immunity against coccidiosis. *Vaccine* 23, 3733–3740.
- Ding, X., Lillehoj, H.S., Quiroz, M.A., Bevensee, E. and Lillehoh, E.P. (2004). Protective immunity against *Eimeria acervulina* following *in ovo* immunization with a recombinant subunit vaccine and cytokine genes. *Infection and Immunity* **72**, 6939–6944.
- Donelson, J.E. and Rice-Ficht, A.C. (1985). Molecular biology of trypanosome antigenic variation. *Microbiological Reviews* 49, 107–125.
- Donnelly, J.J., Ulmer, J.B., Shiver, J.W. and Liu, M.A. (1997). DNA vaccines. Annual Review of Immunology 15, 617–648.
- Du, A. and Wang, S. (2005). Efficacy of a DNA vaccine delivered in attenuated Salmonella typhimurium against Eimeria tenella infection in chickens. International Journal for Parasitology 35, 777–785.
- Fernando, M.A., Rose, M.E. and Millard, B.J. (1987). *Eimeria* spp. of domestic fowl: the migration of sporozoites intra- and extra-enterically. *Journal of Parasitology* 73, 561–567.
- Gray, A.R. (1965). Antigenic variation in a strain of *Trypanosoma brucei* transmitted by *Glossina morsitans* and *G. palpalis. Journal of General Microbiology* **41**, 195–214.

- Hillier, L.W., Miller, W., Birney, E., Warren, W., Hardison, R.C., Ponting, C.P., Bork, P., Burt, D.W., Groenen, M.A., Delany, M.E., Dodgson, J.B., Chinwalla, A.T., Cliften, P.F., Clifton, S.W., Delehaunty, K.D., Fronick, C., Fulton, R.S., Graves, T.A., Kremitzki, C., Lavman, D., Magrini, V., McPherson, J.D., Miner, T.L., Minx, P., Nash, W.E., Nhan, M.N., Nelson, J.O., Oddy, L.G., Pohl, C.S., Randall-Maher, J., Smith, S.M., Wallis, J.W., Yang, S.P., Romanov, M.N., Rondelli, C.M., Paton, B., Smith, J., Morrice, D., Daniels, L., Tempest, H.G., Robertson, L., Masabanda, J.S., Griffin, D.K., Vignal, A., Fillon, V., Jacobbson, L., Kerje, S., Andersson, L., Crooijmans, R.P., Aerts, J., van der Poel, J.J., Ellegren, H., Caldwell, R.B., Hubbard, S.J., Grafham, D.V., Kierzek, A.M., McLaren, S.R., Overton, I.M., Arakawa, H., Beattie, K.J., Bezzubov, Y., Boardman, P.E., Bonfield, J.K., Croning, M.D., Davies, R.M., Francis, M.D., Humphray, S.J., Scott, C.E., Taylor, R.G., Tickle, C., Brown, W.R., Rogers, J., Buerstedde, J.M., Wilson, S.A., Stubbs, L., Ovcharenko, I., Gordon, L., Lucas, S., Miller, M.M., Inoko, H., Shiina, T., Kaufman, J., Salomonsen, J., Skjoedt, K., Wong, G.K., Wang, J., Liu, B., Yu, J., Yang, H., Nefedov, M., Koriabine, M., Dejong, P.J., Goodstadt, L., Webber, C., Dickens, N.J., Letunic, I., Suyama, M., Torrents, D., von Mering, C., Zdobnov, E.M., et al. (2004). Sequence and comparative analysis of the chicken genome provide unique perspectives on vertebrate evolution. Nature 432, 695-716.
- Huynh, M.-H., Opitz, C., Kwok, L.-Y., Tomley, F.M., Carruthers, V.B. and Soldati, D. (2004). Trans-genera reconstitution and complementation of an adhesion complex in *Toxoplasma gondii*. *Cellular Microbiology* 6, 771–782.
- Jeffers, T.K. (1974). Immunization against *Eimeria tenella* using an attenuated strain. *World's Poultry Congress Proceedings*, 105–107.
- Jeffers, T.K. (1976). Reduction of anticoccidial drug resistance by massive introduction of drug-sensitive coccidia. *Avian Diseases* **20**, 649–653.
- Jeffers, T.K. and Long, P.L. (1985). *Eimeria tenella*: immunogenicity of arrested sporozoites in chickens. *Experimental Parasitology* **60**, 175–180.
- Jenkins, M.C. (1998). Progress of developing a recombinant coccidiosis vaccine. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1111–1119.
- Jenkins, M.C. (2001). Advances and prospects for subunit vaccines against protozoa of veterinary importance. *Veterinary Parasitology* 101, 291–310.
- Jenkins, M.C., Augustine, P.C., Barta, J.R., Castle, M.D. and Danforth, H.D. (1991). Development of resistance to coccidiosis in the absence of merogonic development using X-irradiated *Eimeria acervulina* oocysts. *Experimental Parasitology* 72, 285–293.
- Jenkins, M.C., Danforth, H.D., Lillehoj, H.S. and Fetterer, R.H. (1989). cDNA encoding an immunogenic region of a 22 kilodalton surface protein of *Eimeria acervulina* sporozoites. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 32, 153–161.

- Jenkins, M.C., Lillehoj, H.S. and Dame, J.B. (1988). *Eimeria acervulina*: DNA cloning and characterization of recombinant sporozoite and merozoite antigens. *Experimental Parasitology* 66, 96–107.
- Jenkins, M.C., Seferian, P.G., Augustine, P.C. and Danforth, H.D. (1993). Protective immunity against coccidiosis elicited by radiation-attenuated *Eimeria maxima* sporozoites that are incapable of asexual development. *Avian Diseases* **37**, 74–82.
- Jewett, T.J. and Sibley, L.D. (2004). The toxoplasma proteins MIC2 and M2AP form a hexameric complex necessary for intracellular survival. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**, 9362–9369.
- Joyner, L.P. and Norton, C.C. (1976). The immunity arising from continuous low-level infection with *Eimeria maxima* and *Eimeria acervulina*. *Parasitology* 72, 115–125.
- Kappe, S., Bruderer, T., Gantt, S., Fujioka, H., Nussenzweig, V. and Menard, R. (1999). Conservation of a gliding motility and cell invasion machinery in apicomplexan parasites. *Journal of Cell Biology* 147, 937–944.
- Kawazoe, U., Tomley, F.M. and Frazier, J. (1992). Fractionation and antigenic characterisation of organelles of *Eimeria tenella* sporozoites. *Parasitology* **104**, 1–9.
- Kelleher, M. and Tomley, F.M. (1998). Transient expression of beta-galactosidase in differentiating sporozoites of *Eimeria tenella*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 97, 21–31.
- Kopko, S.H., Martin, D.S. and Barta, J.R. (2000). Responses of chickens to a recombinant refractile body antigen of *Eimeria tenella* administered using various immunizing strategies. *Poultry Science* **79**, 336–342.
- Labbe, M., de Venevelles, P., Girard-Misguich, F., Bourdieu, C., Guillaume, A. and Pery, P. (2005). *Eimeria tenella* microneme protein EtMIC3: identification, localisation and role in host cell infection. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 140, 43–53.
- Lee, E.-H. (1993). Immune variants in live coccidiosis vaccines. *Proceedings* of the VIth International Coccidiosis Conference, Guelph, Canada (J.R. Barta and M.A. Fernando, eds), pp. 118–121. Canada: University of Guelph Press.
- Levine, N.D. (1970). Taxonomy of the coccidia. *Journal of Parasitology* 56, 208–209.
- Levine, N.D. (1982). Taxonomy and life cycles of coccidia. In: *The Biology* of the Coccidia (P.L. Long, ed.), pp. 1–33. Baltimore, USA: University Park Press.
- Lillehoj, E.P., Yun, C.H. and Lillehoj, H.S. (2000). Vaccines against the avian enteropathogens *Eimeria*, *Cryptosporidium* and *Salmonella*. *Animal Health Research Reviews* 1, 47–65.
- Lillehoj, H.D., Ding, X., Quiroz, M.A., Bevensee, E. and Lillehoj, E.P. (2005). Resistance to intestinal coccidiosis following DNA immunization

with the cloned 3-1E *Eimeria* gene plus IL-2, IL-15 and IFN-γ. Avian Diseases **49**, 112–117.

- Lillehoj, H.S. and Choi, K.D. (1998). Recombinant chicken interferongamma-mediated inhibition of *Eimeria tenella* development *in vitro* and reduction of oocyst production and body weight loss following *Eimeria acervulina* challenge infection. *Avian Diseases* 42, 307–314.
- Lillehoj, H.S. and Trout, J.M. (1996). Avian gut-associated lymphoid tissues and intestinal immune responses to *Eimeria* parasites. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 9, 349–360.
- Long, P.L. (1974). Experimental infection of chickens with two species of *Eimeria* isolated from the Malaysian jungle fowl. *Parasitology* **69**, 337–347.
- Long, P.L. and Millard, B.J. (1978). Coccidiosis in broilers: the effect of monensin and other anticocidial drug treatments on oocyst output. *Avian Pathology* 7, 373–381.
- Long, P.L. and Millard, B.J. (1979). Immunological differences in *Eimeria maxima*: effect of a mixed immunizing inoculum on heterologous challenge. *Parasitology* **79**, 451–457.
- Long, P.L., Tompkins, R.V. and Millard, B.J. (1975). Coccidiosis in broilers: evaluation of infection by the examination of broiler house litter for oocysts. *Avian Pathology* 4, 287–294.
- Martin, A.G., Danforth, H.D., Barta, J.R. and Fernando, M.A. (1997). Analysis of immunological cross-protection and sensitivities to anticoccidial drugs among five geographical and temporal strains of *Eimeria maxima*. *International Journal for Parasitology* 27, 527–533.
- McDonald, V., Ballingall, S. and Shirley, M.W. (1982). A preliminary study of the nature of infection and immunity in chickens given an attenuated line of *Eimeria acervulina*. *Parasitology* 84, 21–30.
- McDonald, V., Rose, M.E. and Jeffers, T.K. (1986a). Eimeria tenella: immunogenicity of the first generation of schizogony. Parasitology 93, 1–7.
- McDonald, V. and Shirley, M.W. (1984). *Eimeria mitis*: a comparison of the endogenous developmental stages of a line selected for early maturation and the parent strain. *Parasitology* **88**, 37–44.
- McDonald, V., Shirley, M.W. and Bellatti, M.A. (1986b). *Eimeria maxima*: characteristics of attenuated lines obtained by selection for precocious development in the chicken. *Experimental Parasitology* **61**, 192–200.
- McDonald, V., Shirley, M.W. and Millard, B.J. (1986c). A comparative study of two lines of *Eimeria tenella* attenuated either by selection for precocious development in the chicken or by growth in chicken embryos. *Avian Pathology* **15**, 629–638.
- McDonald, V., Wisher, M.H., Rose, M.E. and Jeffers, T.K. (1988). *Eimeria tenella*: immunological diversity between asexual generations. *Parasite Immunology* **10**, 649–660.

- McDougald, L.R., Fuller, A.L. and McMurray, B.L. (1990). An outbreak of *Eimeria necatrix* coccidiosis in breeder pullets: analysis of immediate and possible long-term effects on performance. *Avian Diseases* 34, 485–487.
- McDougald, L.R., Fuller, L. and Mattiello, R. (1997). A survey of coccidia on 43 poultry farms in Argentina. *Avian Diseases* **41**, 923–929.
- McDougald, L.R. and Jeffers, T.K. (1976). *Eimeria tenella* (sporozoa, coccidia): gametogony following a single asexual generation. *Science* **192**, 258–259.
- Miller, G.A., Bhogal, B.S., Anderson, A.C., Jessee, E.J., McCandliss, R., Likel, M., Strasser, J., Strausberg, S. and Strausberg, R. (1989). Application of a novel recombinant *Eimeria tenella* antigen in a vaccine to protect broiler chickens from coccidiosis. *Progress in Clinical and Biological Research* 307, 117–130.
- Min, W., Lillehoj, H.S., Ashwell, C.M., van Tassell, C.P., Dalloul, R.A., Matukumalli, L.K., Han, J.Y. and Lillehoj, E.P. (2005). Expressed sequence tag analysis of eimeria-stimulated intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes in chickens. *Molecular Biotechnology* 30, 143–150.
- Min, W., Lillehoj, H.S., Burnside, J., Weining, K.C., Staehili, P. and Zhu, J.J. (2002). Adjuvant effects of *IL-1β*, *IL-2*, *IL-8*, *IL-15*, *IFN-α*, *IFN-γ*, *TGF-β4* and lymphotactin on DNA vaccination against Eimeria acervulina. Vaccine 20, 267–274.
- Min, W., Lillehoj, H.S., Kim, S., Zhu, J.J., Beard, H., Alkharouf, N. and Matthews, B.F. (2003). Profiling local gene expression changes associated with *Eimeria maxima* and *Eimeria acervulina* using cDNA microarray. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 62, 392–399.
- Montes, C., Rojo, F., Hidalgo, R., Ferre, I. and Badiola, C. (1998). Selection and development of a Spanish precocious strain of *Eimeria necatrix*. *Veterinary Parasitology* 78, 169–183.
- Murray, P.K., Bhogal, B.S., Crane, M.S.J. and MacDonald, T.T. (1986). Eimeria tenella – in vivo immunization studies with sporozoite antigen. In: Research in Avian Coccidiosis: Proceedings of the Georgia Coccidiosis Conference, 1985 (L.R. McDougald, L.P. Joyner and P.L. Long, eds), pp. 564–573. Athens, Georgia: University of Georgia.
- Newbold, C.I. (1999). Antigenic variation in *Plasmodium falciparum*: mechanisms and consequences. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* **2**, 420–425.
- Norton, C.C. and Hein, H.E. (1976). *Eimeria maxima*: a comparison of two laboratory strains with a fresh isolate. *Parasitology* **72**, 345–354.
- Opitz, C., Di Cristina, M., Reiss, M., Ruppert, T., Crisanti, A. and Soldati, D. (2002). Intramembrane cleavage of microneme proteins at the surface of the apicomplexan parasite *Toxoplasma gondii*. *EMBO Journal* 21, 1577–1585.
- Periz, J., Gill, A.C., Knott, V., Handford, P.A. and Tomley, F.M. (2005). Calcium binding activity of the epidermal growth factor-like domains of

the apicomplexan microneme protein EtMIC4. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, in the press.

- Perry, E.A. and Long, P.L. (1987). The extraintestinal stages of *Eimeria* tenella and *E. maxima* in the chicken. *Veterinary Parasitology* 25, 9–17.
- Pogonka, T., Klotz, C., Kovacs, F. and Lucius, R. (2003). A single dose of recombinant Salmonella typhimurium induces specific humoral immune responses against heterologous Eimeria tenella antigens in chicken. International Journal for Parasitology 33, 81–88.
- Prowse, S.J. (1991). Cell-mediated immunity to *Eimeria* in the fowl: the absence of cross-species protection is not due to the lack of cross-reactive T cells. *International Journal for Parasitology* **21**, 133–135.
- Pugatsch, T., Mencher, D. and Wallach, M. (1989). *Eimeria maxima*: isolation of gametocytes and their immunogenicity in mice, rabbits, and chickens. *Experimental Parasitology* **68**, 127–134.
- Rabenau, K.E., Tripathy, A., Reitter, C., Ajioka, J.W., Tomley, F.M. and Carruthers, V.B. (2001). TgM2AP is a novel protein that participates in *Toxoplasma gondii* invasion of host cells and is tightly associated with the adhesive protein TgMIC2. *Molecular Microbiology* **41**, 537–547.
- Riley, D. and Fernando, M.A. (1988). *Eimeria maxima* (Apicomplexa): a comparison of sporozoite transport in naive and immune chickens. *Journal of Parasitology* 74, 103–110.
- Roberts, S.J., Smith, A.L., West, A.B., Wen, L., Findly, R.C., Owen, M.J. and Hayday, A.C. (1996). T-cell alpha beta + and gamma delta + deficient mice display abnormal but distinct phenotypes toward a natural, widespread infection of the intestinal epithelium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 93, 11774–11779.
- Rose, M.E. (1976). Coccidiosis: immunity and the prospects for prophylactic immunisation. *Veterinary Record* **98**, 481–484.
- Rose, M.E. (1987). Immunity to *Eimeria* infections. *Veterinary Immunology* and *Immunopathology* **17**, 333–343.
- Rose, M.E. and Hesketh, P. (1976). Immunity to coccidiosis: stages of the life-cycle of *Eimeria maxima* which induce, and are affected, by the response of the host. *Parasitology* 73, 25–57.
- Rose, M.E. and Hesketh, P. (1979). Immunity to coccidiosis: T-lymphocyte- or B-lymphocyte-deficient animals. *Infection and Immunity* **26**, 630–637.
- Rose, M.E., Hesketh, P., Rothwell, L. and Gramzinski, R.A. (1996). T-cell receptor gamma-delta lymphocytes and *Eimeria vermiformis* infection. *Infection and Immunity* **64**, 4854–4858.
- Rose, M.E., Hesketh, P. and Wakelin, D. (1992). Immune control of murine coccidiosis: CD4 + and CD8 + T lymphocytes contribute differentially in resistance to primary and secondary infections. *Parasitology* 105, 349–354.

- Rose, M.E., Joysey, H.S., Hesketh, P., Grencis, R.K. and Wakelin, D. (1988). Mediation of immunity to *Eimeria vermiformis* in mice by L3T4+ T cells. *Infection and Immunity* 56, 1760–1765.
- Rose, M.E. and Long, P.L. (1962). Immunity to four species of *Eimeria* in fowls. *Immunology* 5, 79–92.
- Rose, M.E., Owen, D.G. and Hesketh, P. (1984). Susceptibility to coccidiosis: effect of strain of mouse on reproduction of *Eimeria vermiformis*. *Parasitology* 88, 45–54.
- Rose, M.E., Wakelin, D. and Hesketh, P. (1989). Gamma interferon controls *Eimeria vermiformis* primary infection in BALB/c mice. *Infection* and *Immunity* 57, 1599–1603.
- Rose, M.E., Wakelin, D. and Hesketh, P. (1990). *Eimeria vermiformis*: differences in the course of primary infection can be correlated with lymphocyte responsiveness in the BALB/c and C57BL/6 mouse, *Mus musculus*. *Experimental Parasitology* **71**, 276–283.
- Rose, M.E., Wakelin, D. and Hesketh, P. (1991). Interferon-gamma-mediated effects upon immunity to coccidial infections in the mouse. *Parasite Immunology* 13, 63–74.
- Rothwell, L., Gramzinski, R.A., Rose, M.E. and Kaiser, P. (1995). Avian coccidiosis: changes in intestinal lymphocyte populations associated with the development of immunity to *Eimeria maxima*. *Parasite Immunology* 17, 525–533.
- Rothwell, L., Muir, W. and Kaiser, P. (2000). Interferon-gamma is expressed in both gut and spleen during *Eimeria tenella* infection. *Avian Pathology* **29**, 333–342.
- Rothwell, L., Young, J.R., Zoorob, R., Whittaker, C.A., Hesketh, P., Archer, A., Smith, A.L. and Kaiser, P. (2004). Cloning and characterization of chicken IL-10 and its role in the immune response to *Eimeria maxima*. Journal of Immunology **173**, 2675–2682.
- Rudenko, G. (1999). Mechanisms mediating antigenic variation in Trypanosoma brucei. Memoirs of the Institute Oswaldo Cruz 94, 235–237.
- Ryan, R., Shirley, M.W. and Tomley, F.M. (2000). Mapping and expression of microneme genes in *Eimeria tenella*. *International Journal for Parasitology* 30, 1493–1499.
- Schetters, T.P.M., Janssen, H.A.J.M. and Vermeulen, A.N. (1999). A new vaccination concept against coccidiosis in poultry. In: *Misset World Poultry. Coccidiosis Special*, Reed Business Information, The Netherlands, December 1999, pp. 26–27.
- Schito, M.L. and Barta, J.R. (1997). Nonspecific immune responses and mechanisms of resistance to *Eimeria papillata* infections in mice. *Infection* and *Immunity* 65, 3165–3170.
- Schito, M.L., Barta, J.R. and Chobotar, B. (1996). Comparison of four murine *Eimeria* species in immunocompetent and immunodeficient mice. *Journal of Parasitology* 82, 255–262.

- Schito, M.L., Chobotar, B. and Barta, J.R. (1998). Major histocompatibility complex class I- and II-deficient knock-out mice are resistant to primary but susceptible to secondary *Eimeria papillata* infections. *Parasitology Research* 84, 394–398.
- Shirley, M.W. (1989). Development of a live attenuated vaccine against coccidiosis of poultry. *Parasite Immunology* **11**, 117–124.
- Shirley, M.W. and Bedrnik, P. (1997). Live attenuated vaccines against avian coccidiosis: success with precocious and egg-adapted lines of *Eimeria*. *Parasitology Today* 13, 481–484.
- Shirley, M.W. and Bellatti, M.A. (1984). *Eimeria necatrix*: selection and characteristics of a precocious (and attenuated) line. *Avian Pathology* **13**, 669–682.
- Shirley, M.W. and Bellatti, M.A. (1988). Live attenuated coccidiosis vaccine: selection of a second precocious line of *Eimeria maxima*. *Research in Veterinary Science* 44, 25–28.
- Shirley, M.W., Bushell, A.C., Bushell, J.E., McDonald, V. and Roberts, B. (1995). A live attenuated vaccine for the control of avian coccidiosis: trials in broiler breeders and replacement layer flocks in the United Kingdom. *Veterinary Record* 137, 453–457.
- Shirley, M.W., Ivens, A., Gruber, A., Madeira, A.M.B., Wan, K-L., Dear, P.H. and Tomley, F. (2004). The *Eimeria* genome projects: a sequence of events. *Trends in Parasitology* 20, 199–201.
- Shirley, M.W., Jeffers, T.K. and Long, P.L. (1983). Studies to determine the taxonomic status of *Eimeria mitis*, Tyzzer 1929 and *E. mivati*, Edgar and Seibold 1964. *Parasitology* 87, 185–198.
- Shirley, M.W., McDonald, V. and Bellatti, M.A. (1986). *Eimeria brunetti*: selection and characteristics of a precocious (and attenuated) line. *Avian Pathology* **15**, 705–717.
- Shirley, M.W., McDonald, V., Chapman, H.D. and Millard, B.J. (1984). *Eimeria praecox:* selection and characteristics of precocious lines. *Avian Pathology* 13, 669–682.
- Shirley, M.W. and Millard, B.J. (1976). Some observations on the sexual differentiation of *Eimeria tenella* using single sporozoite infections in chicken embryos. *Parasitology* **73**, 337–341.
- Shirley, M.W. and Millard, B.J. (1986). Studies on the immunogenicity of seven attenuated lines of *Eimeria* given as a mixture to chickens. *Avian Pathology* 15, 629–638.
- Shirley, M.W. and Millard, B.J. (1989). A novel method for cloning *Eimeria* praecox in the chicken. Journal of Parasitology **75**, 324–325.
- Sibley, L.D. and Andrews, N.W. (2000). Cell invasion by un-palatable parasites. *Traffic* **1**, 100–106.
- Smith, A.L. and Hayday, A.C. (1998). Genetic analysis of the essential components of the immunoprotective response to infection with *Eimeria* vermiformis. International Journal for Parasitology 28, 1061–1069.

- Smith, A.L. and Hayday, A.C. (2000). Genetic dissection of primary and secondary responses to a widespread natural pathogen of the gut, *Eimeria* vermiformis. Infection and Immunity 68, 6273–6280.
- Smith, A.L., Hesketh, P., Archer, A. and Shirley, M.W. (2002). Antigenic diversity in *Eimeria maxima* and the influence of host genetics and immunization schedule on cross-protective immunity. *Infection and Immunity* **70**, 2472–2479.
- Soldati, D., Dubremetz, J.F. and Leburn, M. (2001). Microneme proteins: structural and functional requirements to promote adhesion and invasion by the apicomplexan parasite *Toxoplasma gondii*. *International Journal for Parasitology* **31**, 1293–1302.
- Song, K.D., Lillehoj, H.S., Choi, K.D., Yun, C.H., Parcells, M.S., Huynh, J.T. and Han, J.Y. (2001). A DNA vaccine encoding a conserved *Eimeria* protein induces protective immunity against live *Eimeria acervulina* challenge. *Vaccine* 19, 243–252.
- Tabares, E., Ferguson, D., Clark, J., Soon, P.E., Wan, K-L. and Tomley, F.M. (2004). *Eimeria tenella* sporozoites and merozoites differentially express glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored variant surface proteins. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 135, 123–132.
- Tomley, F.M. (1994). Antigenic diversity of the asexual developmental stages of *Eimeria tenella*. *Parasite Immunology* **16**, 407–413.
- Tomley, F.M. (1997). Techniques for isolation and characterization of apical organelles from *Eimeria tenella* sporozoites. *Methods: A companion to Methods in Enzymology* 13, 171–176.
- Tomley, F.M., Billington, K.J., Bumstead, J.M., Clark, J.D. and Monaghan, P. (2001). A microneme protein from *Eimeria tenella* that contains tandem arrays of epidermal growth factor-like repeats and thrombospondin type-I repeats. *International Journal for Parasitology* **31**, 1303–1310.
- Tomley, F.M., Bumstead, J.M., Billington, K.J. and Dunn, P.P.J. (1996). Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel acidic microneme protein of *Eimeria tenella*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 79, 195–206.
- Tomley, F.M., Clarke, L.E., Kawazoe, U., Dijkema, R. and Kok, J.J. (1991). Sequence of the gene encoding an immunodominant microneme protein of *Eimeria tenella*. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* 49, 277–288.
- Tomley, F.M. and Soldati, D.S. (2001). Mix and match modules: structure and function of micronemes from apicomplexan parasites. *Trends in Parasitology* **17**, 81–88.
- Trout, J.M. and Lillehoj, H. (1993). Evidence of a role for intestinal CD8+ lymphocytes and macrophages in transport of *Eimeria acervulina* sporozoites. *Journal of Parasitology* **79**, 790–792.

- Trout, J.M. and Lillehoj, H.S. (1995). *Eimeria acervulina* infection: evidence for the involvement of CD8 + T lymphocytes in sporozoite transport and host protection. *Poultry Science* **74**, 1117–1125.
- Trout, J.M. and Lillehoj, H.S. (1996). T lymphocyte roles during *Eimeria* acervulina and *Eimeria tenella* infections. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* **53**, 163–172.
- Uchida, T., Nakamura, T., Nakai, Y. and Ogimoto, K. (1994). Cross reactivity of serum antibodies from chickens immunized with three eimerian species. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine and Science* **56**, 1021–1023.
- Vermeulen, A.N. (1998). Progress in recombinant vaccine development against coccidiosis. A review and prospects into the next millennium. *International Journal for Parasitology* 28, 1121–1130.
- Vermeulen, A.N., Schaap, D.C. and Schetters, T.P. (2001). Control of coccidiosis in chickens by vaccination. *Veterinary Parasitology* 100, 13–20.
- Vervelde, L. and Jeurissen, S.H. (1995). The role of intra-epithelial and lamina propria leucocytes during infection with *Eimeria tenella*. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 371B, 953–958.
- Vervelde, L., Vermeulen, A.N. and Jeurissen, S. (1995). *Eimeria tenella*: sporozoites rarely enter leukocytes in the cecal epithelium of the chicken (*Gallus domesticus*). *Experimental Parasitology* 81, 29–38.
- Wallach, M. (1997). The importance of transmission-blocking immunity in the control of infections by apicomplexan parasites. *International Journal for Parasitology* **27**, 1159–1167.
- Wallach, M., Pillemer, G., Yarus, S., Halabi, A., Pugatsch, T. and Mencher, D. (1990). Passive immunization of chickens against *Eimeria maxima* infection with a monoclonal antibody developed against a gametocyte antigen. *Infection and Immunity* 58, 557–562.
- Wallach, M., Smith, N.C., Petracca, M., Miller, C.M., Eckert, J. and Braun, R. (1995). *Eimeria maxima* gametocyte antigens: potential use in a subunit maternal vaccine against coccidiosis in chickens. *Vaccine* 13, 347–354.
- Wallach, M. and Waldenstedt, L. (1999). Immunity and the effects of removing coccidioststs from poultry feed. In: *Misset World Poultry. Coccidiosis Special*, Reed Business Information, The Netherlands, December 1999, pp. 12–15.
- Watkins, K.L., Brooks, M.A., Jeffers, T.K., Phelps, P.V. and Ricks, C.A. (1995). The effect of *in ovo* oocyst or sporocyst inoculation on response to subsequent coccidial challenge. *Poultry Science* 74, 1597–1602.
- Weber, F.H. and Evans, N.A. (2003). Immunization of broiler chicks by *in ovo* injection of *Eimeria tenella* sporozoites, sporocysts, or oocysts. *Poultry Science* 82, 1701–1707.

- Weber, F.H., Genteman, K.C., LeMay, M.A., Lewis, D.O., Sr. and Evans, N.A. (2004). Immunization of broiler chicks by *in ovo* injection of infective stages of *Eimeria*. *Poultry Science* 83, 392–399.
- Wiersma, H.I., Galuska, S.S., Tomley, F.M., Sibley, L.D., Liberator, P.A. and Donald, R.G.K. (2004). A role for coccidian parasite cGMP-dependent protein kinase in parasite motility and invasion. *International Journal for Parasitology* 34, 369–380.
- Williams, R.B. (1999). A compartmentalised model for the estimation of the cost of coccidiosis to the world's chicken production industry. *International Journal for Parasitology* 29, 1209–1229.
- Williams, R.B. (2002). Anticoccidial vaccines for broiler chickens: pathways to success. *Avian Pathology* **31**, 317–353.
- Williams, R.B., Carlyle, W.W., Bond, D.R. and Brown, I.A. (1999). The efficacy and economic benefits of Paracox[®], a live attenuated anticoccidial vaccine, in commercial trials with standard broiler chickens in the United Kingdom. *International Journal for Parasitology* **29**, 341–355.
- Williams, R.B. and Gobbi, L. (2002). Comparison of an attenuated anticoccidial vaccine and an anticoccidial drug programme in commercial broiler chickens in Italy. *Avian Pathology* **31**, 253–265.
- Wu, S.-Q., Wang, M., Liu, Q., Zhu, Y.-J., Suo, X. and Jiang, J.-S. (2004). Construction of DNA vaccines and their induced protective immunity against experimental *Eimeria tenella* infection. *Parasitology Research* 94, 332–336.
- Yun, C.H., Lillehoj, H.S. and Choi, K.D. (2000). *Eimeria tenella* infection induces local gamma interferon production and intestinal lymphocyte subpopulation changes. *Infection and Immunity* 68, 1282–1288.

Index

Abbreviations, molecular systematics, 171 - 172"ab" suprepeats, ITS sequence data, paragonimid species, 121-125 Acetyl coenzyme A (CoA) cysteine biosynthetic pathway, drug development and, 44 cysteine precursor, 8 MGL function in anaerobic protozoa, 48-49 Acoelomorph flatworms, DNA taxonomy, 169–170 Adenine, MTAN hydrolysis in, 18 Adenosine analogs, as SAHH inhibitors, 25 S-adenosylhomocysteine (Ado-Hcy) drug targeting in parasitic protozoa, 24 - 25homocysteine production, 15-18 sulfur-containing amino acid degradation, 45-46 Administrative techniques, Eimeria spp. vaccines, 317–318 AdoMet functions of, 8-10 methionine adenosyltransferase insensitivity to, 20-24 methionine metabolism, 14-15 salvaging and reverse transsulfuration, 15-18 sulfur-containing amino acid degradation and, 45 transporters in trypanosomes, 25 - 26

ADVANCES IN PARASITOLOGY VOL 60 ISSN: 0065-308X \$35.00 DOI: 10.1016/S0065-308X(05)60010-3 AdoMetDC chemotherapeutic targeting in trypanosomiasis, 30-31 MDL 73811 inhibition of, 21 methionine activation, 14-15 MTA cycle and, 18, 27-28 in protozoan parasites, 29-31 ADVENT vaccine, Eimeria spp. infection, 298-299 Alloenzyme electrophoresis, digenean analysis, 181-182 [Z-4-Amino-2-butenyl]methylamino-5'deoxyadenosine (MDL73811) AdoMetDC chemotherapeutic exploitation, 30-31 development of, 21-24 1-Aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC), MTA cycle and, 9, 18 Aminotransferases, MTA recycling and, 18 Anaerobic protozoa extracellular cysteine requirements, 11 MGL function in, 48-49 MGL peculiarities and distribution in, 47 - 48Ananthrum spp., molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 180 Anaplasmataceae, Wolbachia in filarial nematodes, taxonomic structure. 250 - 252Acanthocheilonema viteae. Wolbachia bacterial endosymbiont

independence, 260-263

Andrva arctica, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations. 178 Animal flukes, molecular systematics, 190 - 194Animals, transsulfuration pathways, 32-33 Antibiotics human filariasis, 263-266 Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, 260 - 263serology, 272-273 Antigen characteristics Eimeria species, recombinantexpressed antigens, 314-315 Eimeria spp. diversity, 307-310 to *Eimeria* spp. immunological relationship, 292-294 Antimalarial agents, SAHH inhibitors as. 25 Antioxidants, in cysteine, 11-12 biosynthetic pathways, 40–42 Apatemon annuligerum molecular systematics, 191-194 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 131-132 Apatemon gracilis molecular systematics, 191-194 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 131 - 132Apocreadiidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 112 Arabidopsis thaliana, sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genomewide survey, 20 Arthropods, Wolbachia in taxonomic structure, 252 Aspidogastrea, taxonomy of, 210-211 Austrobilharzia, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variation, 188 - 189

Brugia malayi inflammatory resposne, 268–269 Wolbachia symbiosis, 266–268

Backward transsulfuration pathway, terminology and description, 31–32 **B**acteria serine metabolic pathways in Entamoeba and Trichomonas and. 63-64 transsulfuration pathway in, 33 Wolbachia symbiosis and, 266-268 Bayesian inference, molecular systematics analytical limits, 211-212 digenean lineages, 183-185 Betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase, methionine synthesis in mammals, 16–17 Bifunctional AdoMetDC/ODC, in Plasmodium, 29-31 Bilateria, platyhelminthes as, 169–170 Biological data, morphological taxonomy and, 156 **Bivesiculidae** ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, 207–208 molecular systematics, digenean lineages, 183-185 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 112 Bivitellobilharzia nairi, ITS2 sequencing, 130 Blood flukes, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variation, 187-189 Bolbophorus spp. ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies. 208 molecular systematics, 191–194 Bothitrematidae, molecular systematics, 198-199 Bothriocephalus acheilognathi, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 179-180

Cainocreadium spp., molecular systematics, 191–194 Calicotyle spp., molecular systematics, 199

Campulidae, molecular systematics, genera-family interrelationships. 186 - 187Capsalidae, molecular systematics, 198 Caryophyllidea, molecular systematics, cestode interrelationships, 172-173 CD4+ cells, protective immune response, to Eimeria spp., 295-297 CD14 receptors, lymphatic filariasis, 268-269 "Cercomeromorphae" classification, Neodermata interrelationships, 171 Cestoda spp. ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies. 206-207 molecular diagnostics, 205-209 molecular systematics, 172-180 inter- and intraspecific variations, 176 - 180lineage interrelationships, 172 - 176taxonomic structure, 209-211 Chemokines dirofilariasis mediation, 271-272 onchocerciasis mediation, 270-271 Chemotherapeutic agents AdoMetDC targeting, 30-31 biosynthetic pathways and, 70 Cladorchiidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 112 Clestobothrium spp., molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 180 Clinical diagnostics, platyhelminthes, 208-209 Clinostomum spp., molecular systematics, 191-194 Clostridium perfringens, Eimeria spp. vaccine development, 298-299 Clostridium sporogenes, MGL peculiarities and distribution in, 46-48 Coccidiosis Eimeria necatrix infection, 303-307 Eimeria spp. and, 287-289 Coccivac vaccine, efficacy assessment, 305-307

COI mitochondrial genes ITS2 sequences, 123-125 molecular systematics digenean genera-family interrelationships, 186-187 inter- and intraspecific cestode variations, 177-180 Paragonimidae sequencing, species variation, 135 Strigeidae, 131–132 Concinnocotyla, molecular systematics, 201 Contamination, ribosomal DNA sequencing, intraspecific variation, 136 - 137CoxAbic, Eimeria species, maternal immunisation, 310-311 COX ATM vaccine, Eimeria spp. infection. 298-299 Cox1 gene, molecular systematics inter- and intraspecific variations, 178 - 180Taeniidae inter- and intraspecific variations, 176-180 Crithidia fasciculata, MTA cycle in, 27 - 29Cryptosporidium parvum de novo cysteine synthesis in, 38 methionine adenosyltransferase in, 21 - 24reverse transsulfuration pathway, 34 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms developmental stage regulation, 67-69 genome-wide survey, 19-20 Culex pipiens, Wolbachia in taxonomic structure, 251-252 Cyclophillidea molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 176-180 taxonomic structure, 209-211 Cyprininae, Dactylogyridae molecular systematics, 200 Cystathionine β -synthase (CBS) developmental stage regulation of, 66-67

multiplicity and biochemical features, 35 transsulfuration pathways, in animals, 32 - 33in Trypanosoma cruzi, 34-35 Cysteine anaerobic or macroaerophilic protozoa, extracellular requirements, 11 antioxidant properties, in parasitic protozoa, 11-12 de novo biosynthetic pathway in Entamoeba and Trypanosoma, 39-44 antioxidative defense mechanisms and ISC biosynthesis, 40-42 drug development applications, 43-44 presence contradicted by requirements, 39-40 in Trypanosoma cruzi, 42-43 general scheme, 36-37 parasitic protozoa, limited range in, 37 - 39general functions, 6-8 serine metabolic pathways and regulation of, 64-66 transsulfuration pathway in bacteria, fungi and plants, 33 in Trypanosoma and Leishmania, 12 - 13Cysteine dioxygenase (CDO), sulfurcontaining amino acid degradation, 45-46 Cytokines dirofilariasis mediation, 270-271 onchocerciasis mediation, 270-271 protective immune response, to Eimeria spp., 295-297 Cytoplasmic incompatibility (CI), Wolbachia in filarial nematodes, in arthropods, 252 Cytosolic serine hydroxymethyltransferase (cSHMT) developmental stage regulation of, 67 - 69glycine conversion, 54-55

in parasitic protozoa, 56–59 serine metabolic pathways in *Entamoeba* and *Trichomonas* 60–64

Dactylogyridae, molecular systematics, 200 Degradative pathways, sulfur-containing amino acids, 45-50 anaerobic protozoan parasites, 48-49 drug development, MGL targeting, 50 in mammals, 45-46 MGL peculiarities and distribution in parasitic protozoa, 46-48 De novo synthesis cysteine biosynthetic pathway in Entamoeba and Trypanosoma, 39 - 44antioxidative defense mechanisms and ISC biosynthesis, 40-42 drug development applications, 43 - 44presence contradicted by requirements, 39-40 in Trypanosoma cruzi, 42-43 general scheme, 36-37 parasitic protozoa, limited range in, 37 - 39developmental stage regulation of, 66 - 67distribution of, 69-70 forward transsulfuration pathway, 16 - 175'-Deoxy-5'-[(2-aminooxyethyl)methylamino] adenosine (MAO-EA), AdoMetDC chemotherapeutic exploitation, 30-31 5'-Deoxy-5'-[(2-hydrazinoethyl)methylamino] adenosine (MHZEA), AdoMetDC chemotherapeutic exploitation, 30-31 Dependence, evidence for, Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, 258-268 antibiotic therapy, 263-265

direct evidence, 260-263

genomics, 266-267 indirect evidence, 258-260 Deropegus aspina, molecular systematics, 193-194 Developmental stage regulation of metabolic pathways, sulfurcontaining amino acids, 66-69 in Plasmodium and Cryptosporidium, 67 - 69reverse transsulfuration and de novo cysteine pathways, Trypanosoma cruzi. 66-67 DFMO (effornithine). AdoMetDC chemotherapeutic exploitation. 30 - 31Dicrostonyx spp., molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 178 Didvmozoidae ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, 207-208 molecular systematics, genera-family interrelationships, 185-187 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 112-113 Diethylcarbamazine (DEC), human filariasis, 265-266 DL-α-Difluoromethylornithine (DFMO), methionine adenosyltransferase in parasitic protozoa, 20-24 Difossate orders, cestode interrelationships, molecular systematics, 173-176 Digenea ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies. 207-208 molecular diagnostics, 205-209 molecular systematics, 180-194 animal flukes, 190–194 Fasciola and Paragonimus liver flukes. 189-190 genera-family interrelationships, 185 - 187inter- and intraspecific variations, 187-194 lineage interrelationships, 182–185 non-sequence-based works, 181-182

Schistosoma and related blood flukes, 187-189 taxonomic structure, 210-211 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 103-104, 111 - 132Apocreadiidae, 112 Bivesiculidae, 112 Cladorchiidae, 112 Didymozoidae, 112-113 Diplostomidae, 113-114 Echinostomatidae, 114-115 Fasciolidae, 115-116 Haematoloechidae, 116-117 Lepocreadiidae, 117 Leucochloridiiade, 117-118 Mesometridae, 118 Monorchiidae, 118-119 morphological taxonomy, 148-149 new species nomenclature, 149-152 Opecoelidae, 119-120 Paragonimidae, 120-125 Plagiorchiidae, 125 Sanguinicolidae, 125 Schistosomatidae, 125-130 sequencing implications, 146-152 species richness, 147-148 Strigeidae, 131–132 Telorchiidae, 132 Digramma spp., molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 179-180 Dihydrofolate reductase-thymidylate synthase (DHFR-TS), protozoan serine metabolic pathways, 59 Diplostomidae ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, 208 molecular systematics animal flukes, 192-194 phylogenetic analysis, 183-185 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 113-114 identical sequencing, species variation, 134-135 morphological taxonomy, 148-149 multiple species recognition, failure of. 139

Dirofilariasis. Wolhachia-mediated activation. 271–272 Dirofilariinae, Wolbachia taxonomic structure, 253-256 DNA hybridization, digenean analysis, 181 - 182DNA taxonomy genomics, nuclear genomes and transcriptomes, 214-215 molecular systematics, 168-169 Gyrodactylidae, 202–204 DNA vaccination, Eimeria species, 315-316 Dolichosaccus, molecular systematics, 191-194 Doxycycline, Wolbachia depletion, human filariasis, 263-266 Drug development, cysteine biosynthetic pathway in parasitic protozoa and, 43-44

Echinococcus spp., molecular systematics, Taeniidae inter- and intraspecific variations, 176–180 Echinostomatidae ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, 207-208 internal transcribed spacer rDNA, 114-115 ITS2 spacer, 110-111 molecular systematics animal flukes, 192-194 genera-family interrelationships, 186-186 phylogenetic analysis, 183-185 non-sequence analysis, 182 ribosomal DNA sequencing, multiple species recognition, failure of, 138-139 Echinostomes, molecular systematics, 191–194 Ecological diagnostics Cestoda, 206-207 Digenea, 207-208 Efficacy assessment, Eimeria vaccines, 303-307

Egg production, coccidia control and, 288-289 vaccine efficacy, 303-307 18S rRNA ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, Cestoda, 206-207 gene sequencing, 108-109 lophotrochozoan bilaterians, platyhelminthes as, 169-170 molecular systematics cestode interrelationships, 173-176 Digenea genera-family interrelationships, 185-187 inter- and intraspecific variation, 188-189 lineage variations, 182–185 inter- and intraspecific cestode variations, 177-180 monopisthocotyleapolyopisthocotylea interrelationships, 196-198 molecular targeting, 212 Eimeria, avian species biology of, evolution of vaccine, 286-287 coccidiosis control, 287-289 immunity to, 292-297 host-parasite relationship, 292-294 protective immune response, 294-297 life cycle studies, 289-292 novel vaccine development, 311-316 DNA vaccination, 315-316 genomic studies, 311-314 recombinant-expressed antigens, 314-315 vaccine strategies, 297-311 antigenic diversity, 307-310 live-attenuated vaccines, 299-303 live vaccines, 297 maternal immunisationtransmission blocking immunity, 310-311 use and efficacy assessment, 303-307 wild-type strains, 297-299

Entamoeba dispar, cysteine biosynthetic pathway in, 37-39 Entamoeba histolytica cysteine antioxidants in, 11-12 biosynthetic pathways and, 40-42 cysteine biosynthetic pathway in, 37-39. 39-44 antioxidative defense mechanisms and ISC biosynthesis, 40-42 drug development applications, 43-44 presence contradicted by requirements, 39-40 in Trypanosoma cruzi, 42-43 extracellular cysteine requirements, 11 MGL peculiarities and distribution in, 46-49 MGL-targeted drug development against, 50 reverse transsulfuration pathway, 34 serine metabolic pathway in, 60-64 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genome-wide survey, 19-20 Enzymes phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated serine metabolic pathways, 56-58 sulfur-containing amino acid degradation, table of, 22-23 Errors molecular systematics, 211–212 ribosomal DNA sequencing, intraspecific variation, 136-138 "real" variations, 143-144 Escherichia coli, sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genome-wide survey, 20 Eubothrium spp., molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 179 - 180Eukaryotes, serine metabolic pathways in, 51–55 human genetic disorders and, 55

mammalian serine-pyruvate conversion and gluconeogenesis, serine dehydratase for, 54 phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated mammalian pathways, 51 regulated phosphorylation, 51-54 serine-glycine conversion by serine hydroxymethyl transferase, 54-55 Euparagonimus spp. ITS sequence data, 121-125 molecular systematics, genera-family interrelationships, 186-187 Euzetrema spp., molecular systematics, 198-199 Expressed sequence tag (EST) Eimeria spp., protective immune response, 296-297 genomic analysis, 214-215 Extra genes, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 155-156

Fasciolidae molecular systematics, 189-190 non-sequence analysis, 181-182 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 115-116 geographical variation, 140-143 morphological taxonomy, 152 Fellodistomidae, molecular systematics animal flukes, 191-194 genera-family interrelationships, 186 - 187Filarial nematodes, Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts cellular environment, 246-249 growth and population dynamics, 248-249 habitat, 246-248 dependence, evidence for, 258-268 antibiotic therapy, 263-265 direct evidence, 260-263 genomics, 266-267 indirect evidence, 258-260 future research issues, 273-274 inflammation activation, 268–273 dirofilariasis, 271

lymphatic filariasis, 268-270 onchocerciasis, 270-271 serology, 272-273 taxonomy and diversity, 249-258 arthropods, 252 Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae distribution and phylogeny, 256 - 258Filarioidea. Wolbachia taxonomic structure, 253-256 5.8S rRNA Gyrodactylidae, 202-204 internal transcribed spacer rDNA, 109 Leucochloridiidae, 117-118 Forward transsulfuration pathway absence in parasitic protozoa, 36 methionine synthesis, 16-17 terminology and description, 31-32 Fungi cysteine biosynthetic pathways in, 42 - 44transsulfuration pathway in, 33 gDNA extraction, molecular systematics, Taeniidae inter- and intraspecific variations, 177-180 Gene sequence analysis Eimeria spp., novel vaccine development, 311-314 Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, 259 - 260Gene spacers, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 106-111 Genetic differences ribosomal DNA sequencing species recognition, 144-146 "yardstick" approach, 154 Wolbachia in filarial nematodes. taxonomic structure, 250-252 Genome-wide survey, sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, 19 - 20Genomics Eimeria spp.

novel vaccine development, 311-314 protective immune response, 296-297 platyhelminth molecular systematics and, 212-215 mitochondrial genomes, 212-213 nuclear genomes and transcriptomes, 213-215 Wolbachia symbiosis, 266-268 Geographical variation molecular systematics, Schistosomatidae species, 188 - 189ribosomal DNA sequencing, intraspecific variation, 140-143. 154-155 Giardia duodenalis cysteine antioxidants in, 11-12 de novo cysteine synthesis in, 38 extracellular cysteine requirements, 11 MTA cycle in, 27-29 reverse transsulfuration pathway, 34 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms cysteine synthesis in, 69 genome-wide survey, 19-20 Gluconeogenesis in mammals, serine dehydratase for, 54 Glutathione cysteine production in Trypanosoma and Leishmania. 12–13 cysteine residues, 6-7 Wolbachia symbiosis, 267-268 Glycerate dehydrogenase (GDH) non-phosphorylated serine metabolism, in Entamoeba histolytica, 62-63 serine metabolism cysteine regulation and, 65-66 in parasitic protozoa, 58 Glycine, serine hydroxymethyltransferase conversion of in mammals, 54-55 in protozoa, 58-59

GPI surface antigens, Eimeria species, vaccine development and. 312 - 314Growth and population dynamics, Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, filarial nematodes, 248-249 Gryphobilharzia, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variation, 189 Gyrocotylidae, molecular systematics, 198 Gyrodactylidae, molecular systematics, 194-195 diagnostics of, 201-203 Gyrodactylus salaris, molecular systematics, 203-204 Gyrodactylus thymalli, molecular systematics, 203-204 Habitat environment. Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, 246 - 248Haematoloechidae molecular systematics, 192-194 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 116-117 multiple species recognition, failure of. 139 Haemonchus contortus, antibiotic therapy, 266 Halipegus, non-sequence analysis, 182 Haplobothriidea, molecular systematics, cestode interrelationships, 173 Hemiuroidea, molecular systematics, genera-family interrelationships, 185-187 Heronimus, molecular systematics, 185-187 Heterophyidae, ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, 208 Homocysteine methionine production, 16-17 MGL function in protozoa, 49 transsulfuration pathways, in animals, 32-33

Homocysteine methyltransferase methionine production from homocysteine, 16-17 in parasitic protozoa, 26-27 Homologous proteins, sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genomewide survey, 20 Host-parasite interactions, to Eimeria spp. immunological relationship, 292 - 294Human filiariasis antibiotic therapy, 263-266 Wolbachia serology, 272-273 Human genetic disorders, serine metabolic pathway and, 55 Hydrogen sulfide cysteine biosynthetic pathway and resistance to, 43-44 MGL function in protozoa, 49 5'-Deoxy-5'-(hydroxyethyl)thioadenosine (HETA), MTA cycle in parasitic protozoa, 28-29 Hymenolepis nana, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 177-180 Ichthyocotylurus erraticus, molecular systematics, 191-194 Ichthyocotylurus pileatus, molecular systematics, 191-194 Identical ITS sequences, species variation, 133-135 Immunity, to *Eimeria* spp., 292–297 antigenic diversity and, 307-310 host-parasite relationship, 292-294 protective immune response, 294–297 Inflammation, Wolbachia-mediated activation, 268-273 dirofilariasis, 271-272 lymphatic filariasis, 268-269 onchocerciasis, 270-271 serology, 272-273

Interferon gamma, protective immune response, to *Eimeria* spp., 295–297

Internal transcribed spacer region of ribosomal DNA (ITS rDNA) parasite recognition, 102-103 Digenea species, 103-104, 111-132 Apocreadiidae, 112 Bivesiculidae, 112 Cladorchiidae, 112 Didymozoidae, 112–113 Diplostomidae, 113-114 Echinostomatidae, 114-115 Fasciolidae, 115-116 Haematoloechidae, 116-117 Lepocreadiidae, 117 Leucochloridiiade, 117-118 Mesometridae, 118 Monorchiidae, 118–119 morphological taxonomy, 148 - 149new species nomenclature, 149-152 Opecoelidae, 119-120 Paragonimidae, 120-125 Plagiorchiidae, 125 Sanguinicolidae, 125 Schistosomatidae, 125–130 sequencing implications, 146 - 152species richness, 147-148 Strigeidae, 131–132 Telorchiidae, 132 sequencing effectiveness, 153-154 Interspecific variation molecular systematics animal flukes, 190-194 cestodes, 176-180 digenean spp., 187-194 Fasciola and Paragonimus liver flukes, 189–190 Schistosoma and related blood flukes, 187-189 ribosomal DNA sequencing identical sequencing, 135-136 Paradonomidae, 122–125 Intraspecific variation molecular systematics animal flukes, 190-194 cestodes, 176-180

digenean spp., 187-194 Fasciola and Paragonimus liver flukes, 189-190 Schistosoma and related blood flukes, 187-189 ribosomal DNA sequencing, parasite recognition, 136-146 errors, 136-138 failure of multiple specie recognition, 138-140 geographical variation, 140-143 "real" variation, 143-144 species recognition. 144-146 Iron-sulfur clusters (ISCs), cysteine biosynthetic pathways and, 40-41 ITS1 spacer sequencing Diplostomidae, 113-114 identical sequencing, species variation, 134-135 Echinostomatidae, 115 effectiveness of. 153-154 Fasciolidae, 116 Leucochloridiidae, 117-118 Mesometridiae, 118 molecular systematics cestode interrelationships, 175-176 Gyrodactylidae, 202-204 inter- and intraspecific cestode variations, 177-180 molecular targeting, 212 Monorchiidae, 119 Opecoelidae, 120 Paragonimidae, 121-125 ribosomal DNA, 110 lack of variation, 154 species recognition, 145-146 Schistosomatidae, 126-130 Strigeidae, 131-132 Telorchiidae, 132 ITS2 spacer sequencing Bivesciulidae, 112 Cladorchiidae, 112 Didymozoidae, 112-113 Diplostomidae, 113-114 identical sequencing, species variation, 134–135

Echinostomatidae, 115 effectiveness of, 153-154 Fasciolidae, 115-116 Lepocreadiidae, 117 Mesometridiae, 118 molecular systematics Digenean genera-family interrelationships, 185-187 Gyrodactylidae, 202-204 inter- and intraspecific cestode variations, 177-180 molecular targeting, 212 Paragonimidae, 121-125 ribosomal RNA, 110-111 species recognition, 145-146 Schistosomatidae, 126-130 Strigeidae, 131–132 Telorchiidae, 132 Ivermectin, human filariasis, 265–266

 α-Keto acids, MGL function in anaerobic protozoa, 48–49
 α-Ketomethiobutyrate (KMTB), methionine salvaging, 18

Lamellodiscus, molecular systematics, 199 L-cystine, cysteine pathways in Entamoeba and Trypanosoma and, 39 - 40Lecithochirium genus, non-sequence analysis, 182 Leishmania donovani promastigotes, SAHH inhibitors, 25 Leishmania spp. cysteine physiology in, 12-13 reverse transsulfuration in, 38 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genome-wide survey, 19-20 Lepidapedon spp., molecular systematics, 192 - 194Lepocreadiidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 117 Leucochloridiidae molecular systematics, 193-194 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 117-118

Life cycle sequences Cestoda, 207-208 Digenea, 208-209 Eimeria species, 289-292 antigenic diversity and, 308-310 vaccine development and, 312-314 platyhelminthes, molecular diagnostics, 204-209 Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, habitat environment, 246-248 Liqula intestinalis, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 178-180 Lipopolysaccharides, Wolbachiamediated activation, inflammatory response, 268-273 Litomosoides sigmodontis, lymphatic filariasis, 269 Live-attenuated vaccines. Eimeria infection, 299-303 Live vaccine, Eimeria spp., 297 efficacy assessment, 303–307 Loa loa, human filariasis, antibiotic therapy, 265-266 Lophotrochozoan bilaterians, platyhelminthes as, 169-170 L-serine. See Serine acetyltransferase (SAT) Lymphatic filariasis. Wolbachiamediated activation, 268-269 Macroderoididae, molecular systematics, genera-family interrelationships, 187 Macvicaria spp., molecular systematics, 191-194 Mammals serine metabolic pathways in phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated pathways, 51 serine dehydratase for serinepyruvate conversion and gluconeogenesis, 54 sulfur-containing amino acid degradation in, 45-46

Mansonella ozzardi. Wolbachia in filarial nematodes, taxonomic structure, 251 - 252Maternal immunisation, Eimeria species, transmission-blocking immunity mechanisms, 310-311 Maximum likelihood estimation. molecular systematics, 211-212 Mesocestoides, molecular systematics, genetic variation in, 177-180 Meso-diaminopimelate, Wolbachia symbiosis, 267–268 Mesometridae molecular systematics, 186-187 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 118 Metabolic pathways, Wolbachia symbiosis, 266–268 Methionine AdoMet conversion into, 8-10 general functions, 6-8 metabolism of, 13-31 activation scheme, 14-15 recycling pathways, 15–18 in parasitic protozoa, 10-11 sulfur-containing amino acid degradation, 45-46 developmental stage regulation, 67-69 Methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT) activation mechanisms, 14-15 developmental stage regulation of,

in parasitic protozoa, 20–24
Methionine-γ-lyase (MGL)
in anaerobic parasites, 48–49
drug development using, 50
peculiarities and distribution in
parasitic protozoa, 46–48
serine metabolic pathways in *Entamoeba* and *Trichomonas* and, 60–64
Methylglyoxal-bis(guanylhydrazone)
(MGBG), AdoMetDC inhibition, 29–30

67 - 69

5'-Methyltetrahydropteroyltriglutamatehomocysteine S-methyltransferase, 17 Methylthioadenosine (MTA) methionine activation, 14-15 methionine salvaging, 17-18 in parasitic protozoa, 27-29 5'-Methylthioadenosine nucleosidase (MTAN) adenine hydrolysis, 18 MTA cycle in, 28-29 serine metabolic pathways in Entamoeba and Trichomonas and. 60-64 5'-Methylthioribose (MTR), MTA hydrolysis in prokaryotes, 18 Microaerophilic protozoa, extracellular cysteine requirements, 11 Micronemes, Eimeria species, vaccine development and, 312-314 Microsatellite markers, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 179-180 Mitochondrial genomes, genomic analysis, 212-214 Molecular clock estimation. Polystomatidae molecular systematics, 201 Molecular diagnostics, platyhelminthes, 204-209 clinical diagnostics, 208-209 Digenea, 207-208 ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, 206-208 Molecular systematics advantages and disadvantages, 105 - 106morphological taxonomy and biological data, 156 platyhelminthes abbreviations used, 171-172 analytical issues, 211-212 Cestoda spp., 172-180 inter- and intraspecific variations, 176-180 lineage interrelationships, 172 - 176Digenea spp., 180-194 animal flukes, 190-194

Fasciola and Paragonimus liver flukes, 189–190 genera-family interrelationships, 185-187 inter- and intraspecific variations, 187 - 194lineage interrelationships, 182-185 non-sequence-based works, 181 - 182Schistosoma and related blood flukes. 187-189 DNA taxonomy, 168-169 as lophotrochozoan bilaterians, 169 - 170molecular targeting, 212 Monogenea, 194–204 Dactylogyridae, 200 enigmatic taxa, 198-201 Gvrodactvlus systematics and diagnostics, 201-204 Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea interrelationships, 196–198 non-monophyly, 195-196 Polystomatidae, 200-201 Udonella, as monopisthocotylean monogenean, 199-200 Neodermata interrelationships and position, 170-171 research background, 166-168 taxonomic issues, 209-211 species richness, 147-148 Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, 273 - 274Molecular targeting, molecular systematics and, 212 Monocotylidae, molecular systematics, 199 Monogenea molecular systematics, 194-204 Dactylogyridae, 200 enigmatic taxa, 198-201 Gyrodactylus systematics and diagnostics, 201-204

Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea interrelationships, 196-198 non-monophyly, 195–196 Polystomatidae, 200-201 taxonomic structure, 211-211 Udonella, as Monopisthocotylean monogenean, 199-200 paraphyly of, 171 Monopisthocotylea, molecular systematics Neodermata interrelationships, 171 non-monophyly of, 195-196 polyopisthocotylea interrelationships, 196 - 198Udonella, 199-200 Monorchiidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 118-119 multiple species recognition, failure of, 139-140 Monorchis spp., molecular systematics, 191 - 194Monozoic orders, cestode interrelationships, molecular systematics, 173-176 Morphological taxonomy biological and molecular data and, 156 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 148-149 species richness, 147-146 MTA phosphorylase (MTAP) MTA cycle in parasitic protozoa, 28 MTA hydrolysis in mammals, 18 MTR kinase (MTRK), in prokarvotes, 18 MTR 1-phosphate, in prokaryotes, 18 Multiple species recognition, ribosomal DNA sequencing, intraspecific variation, failure of, 138-139 *nad1* gene sequencing, molecular systematics, digenean genera-family interrelationships, 186-187

Nanophyetus salmincola, molecular systematics, 193–194

Nasitrematidea, molecular systematics, genera-family interrelationships. 186 - 187ND1 mitochondrial genes, 123-125 Nematodes, Wolbachia in, 252-256 Neobenedenia, molecular systematics, 199 Neocalceostomatidae, molecular systematics, 198–199 Neodermata interrelationships and position, molecular systematics, 170-171 molecular systematics, taxonomic structure, 209-211 Neoplanocin A, inhibitory effects, 25 Nest loss, human filariasis, antibiotic therapy, 263-264 Neutrophil-mediated inflammation, onchocerciasis, 270-271 Nippotaeniidea, molecular systematics, cestode interrelationships, 173 Nitrogen fixation (NIF) system, cysteine biosynthetic pathways and, 42 Non-monophyly, of Monogenea, molecular systematics, 195-196 Non-phosphorylated pathways distribution of. 69-70 serine metabolism in Entamoeba histolytica, 62-63 in mammals, 51 Non-sequence-based analysis, Digenea molecular systematics, 181-182 Nuclear genomes, molecular systematics and, 213-215 Nucleotides, Wolbachia symbiosis, 267 - 268O-acetylserine (OAS) cysteine biosynthetic pathway, 36-39 in Trypanosoma cruzi, 43-43 MGL peculiarities and distribution in

parasitic protozoa, 46–48 serine metabolic pathways and, 64–66 Onchocerciasis, *Wolbachia*-mediated

Onchocerciasis, *Wolbachia*-mediate activation, 270–271

Onchocercinae human filariasis, antibiotic therapy, 264 - 266Wolbachia phylogeny and distribution, 256-258 Wolbachia taxonomic structure. 253-256 Opecoelidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 119-120 morphological taxonomy, 148-150 Opisthorchiids, non-sequence analysis, 181-182 Orientobilharzia, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variation, 188-189 Ornithine decarboxylase (ODC). See also Bifunctional AdoMetDC/ODC methionine adenosyltransferase in parasitic protozoa, 21-24

Pearsonellum corventum, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 125 Pairwise ITS2 sequences. Paradonomidae, 123-125 Paracardicoloides vamagutii, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 125 Paracox vaccine, precocious cell line development, 302-303 Paradiplozoon, molecular systematics, 199 Paragonimidae molecular systematics, 186-187 inter- and intraspecific variations, 189-190 non-sequence analysis, 181-182 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 120-125 geographical variation, 140-143 identical sequencing, species variation, 134-135 morphological taxonomy, 152 Paranoplocephala, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 178

Parasitic protozoa absence of forward transsulfuration pathway in, 36 cysteine biosynthetic pathway in, 37-39 drug development applications, 43 - 44drug targeting, Sadenosylhomocysteine hydrolase from. 24-25 methionine activation in, 19-26 ubiquity of, 20 methionine adenosyltransferase in, 20 - 24methionine recycling distribution in, 26 - 29serine metabolic pathways in, 56-59 phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated pathways, 56 - 58sulfur-containing amino acids in, 10-13 cysteine as antioxidant, 11-12 cysteine physiology in, 12-13 extracellular cysteine requirements, anaerobic and microaerophilic protozoa, 11 methionine functions, 10-11 transsulfuration pathways in, 34-36 Pearsonellum. coventum, ribosomal DNA sequencing, morphological taxonomy, 148-149, 151 Pearsonellum pygmaeus, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 125 morphological taxonomy, 148-149 D-Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PGDH), serine metabolism in mammals, 51-55 in parasitic protozoa, 58 phosphorylated pathway in Entamoeba histolytica, 61-64 3-Phosphoglycerate (PHP) in Entamoeba histolytica. 61–62 serine metabolism, 51-55 Phospho-L-serine aminotransferase (PSAT) in Entamoeba histolytica, 61-64 serine metabolism, 51-55

Phosphorylated pathways distribution of. 69-70 serine metabolism in Entamoeba histolytica, 61-62 in mammals, 51 regulation of, 51-54 O-Phospho-L-serine phosphatase (PSP), serine metabolism, 51-55 Phylogenetic structure molecular systematics analytical issues, 211-212 monopisthocotyleapolyopisthocotylea interrelationships, 196-198 platyhelminthes, 169-170 Wolbachia, in onchocercinae and dirofilariinae, 256-258 Plagioporus shawi, molecular systematics, 193-194 Plagiorchiidae molecular systematics animal flukes, 192-194 genera-family interrelationships, 187 phylogenetic analysis, 183-185 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 125 Plants, transsulfuration pathway in, 33 Plasmodium falciparum AdoMetDC/ODC in, 29-31 de novo cysteine synthesis in, 38 homocysteine methyltransferase in, 27 methionine in, 10-11 MTA cycle in, 27-29 reverse transsulfuration pathway, 34 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms developmental stage regulation of, 67-69 genome-wide survey, 19-20 Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM), onchocerciasis, 270-271 Platyhelminthes genomics, 212-215 mitochondrial genomes, 212-213 nuclear genomes and transcriptomes, 213-215

molecular diagnostics, 204-209 clinical diagnostics, 208-209 Digenea, 207-208 ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies. 206-208 molecular systematics abbreviations used, 171-172 analytical issues, 211-212 Cestoda spp., 172-180 inter- and intraspecific variations, 176-180 lineage interrelationships, 172 - 176Digenea spp., 180-194 animal flukes, 190-194 Fasciola and Paragonimus liver flukes, 189-190 genera-family interrelationships, 185-187 inter- and intraspecific variations, 187 - 194lineage interrelationships, 182-185 non-sequence-based works, 181-182 Schistosoma and related blood flukes, 187-189 DNA taxonomy, 168-169 as lophotrochozoan bilaterians, 169 - 170molecular targeting, 212 Monogenea, 194-204 Dactylogyridae, 200 enigmatic taxa, 198-201 Gyrodactylus systematics and diagnostics, 201–204 Monopisthocotylea and Polyopisthocotylea interrelationships, 196-198 non-monophyly, 195-196 Polystomatidae, 200-201 Udonella, as Monopisthocotylean monogenean, 199-200 Neodermata interrelationships and position, 170-171 research background, 166-168 taxonomic issues, 209-211

Plethorchis acanthus, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 125 Pleiomorphic bacterial cells, Wolbachia in filarial nematodes, growth and populations dynamics, 248-249 PLP enzymes MGL peculiarities and distribution in parasitic protozoa, 46-48 protozoan serine metabolic pathways, 59 transsulfuration pathway in bacteria, fungi and plants, 33 Polyamine metabolism AdoMet conversion, 8-10 methionine recycling, 18 trypanothione biosynthesis, 7-8 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) DNA sequencing and, 105 molecular systematics evolution of, 166-167 inter- and intraspecific variations, 179-180 Wolbachia in filarial nematodes antibiotics and, 262-263 in arthropods, 252 Polyopisthocotylea molecular systematics monopisthocotylea interrelationships, 196-198 Neodermata interrelationships, 171 non-monophyly of, 195-196 Polystomatidae molecular systematics, 200-201 Polystomatidae, molecular systematics, 200-201 Population dynamics, Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, filarial nematodes, 248-249 Poultry production, coccidia control and, 287-289 vaccine efficacy, 303-307 Precocious cells. Eimeria infection. liveattenuated vaccines, 299-303 Progamotaenia spp., molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 178 Prokaryotes, MTA hydrolysis in, 18

Protective immune response Eimeria species, life cycles and induction of, 289-292 to *Eimeria* spp., 294–297 Proteocephalidea, molecular systematics cestode interrelationships, 173 - 176inter- and intraspecific variations, 180 taxonomic structure, 209-211 Proteocephalus, molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variations, 179 - 180Pseudomonas spp. MGL peculiarities and distribution in, 46 - 48MGL-targeted drug development against, 50 Pseudophyllidea, molecular systematics cestode interrelationships, 173-176 inter- and intraspecific variations, 178 Pyruvate conversion in mammals, serine dehydratase for, 54 in parasitic protozoa, serine metabolic pathways, 56-59 RAPD techniques ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, Digenea, 207-208 platyhelminth sequencing, 182 rbcl gene, molecular targeting, 212 Recombinant-expressed antigens, Eimeria species, vaccine development and, 314-315 Recycling pathways AdoMetDC in protozoan parasites, 29 - 31homocysteine methyltransferase, 16 - 17methylthioadenosine cycle, 17-18 in parasitic protozoa, methionine activation in, 19-29 S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase, 15 - 16Redox balance, in parasitic protozoa, cysteine antioxidants and, 12

Renicolidae, molecular systematics, phylogenetic analysis, 183-185 Replicate sequences, ribosomal DNA sequencing, intraspecific variation, 137-138 Replication mechanisms, ribosomal DNA sequencing, study guidelines, 155-156 Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) Didymozoidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 113 Gyrodactylidae, 202-204 inter- and intraspecific variations, molecular systematics vs., 179-180 non-sequencing analysis, 182 Reverse transsulfuration developmental stage regulation of, 66-67 kinetoplastid specificity, 69 in parasitic protozoa, 34 S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase and, 15-18 Rhodanese sulfur-transferases, in mammals, 46 Rhoptry organelles, Eimeria species, vaccine development and, 312-314 Ribeiroia spp., molecular systematics, 193-194 Ribosomal DNA sequencing molecular systematics, research background, 167-168 parasite recognition, 102-103 advantages and disadvantages, 105-106 Digenea species, 103-104, 111-132 Apocreadiidae, 112 Bivesiculidae, 112 Cladorchiidae, 112 Didymozoidae, 112-113 Diplostomidae, 113-114 Echinostomatidae, 114–115 Fasciolidae, 115-116 Haematoloechidae, 116-117 Lepocreadiidae, 117 Leucochloridiidae, 117-118

Mesometridae, 118 Monorchiidae, 118–119 morphological taxonomy, 148-149 new species nomenclature, 149-152 Opecoelidae, 119-120 Paragonimidae, 120–125 Plagiorchiidae, 125 Sanguinicolidae, 125 Schistosomatidae, 125-130 sequencing implications, 146-152 species richness, 147-148 Strigeidae, 131–132 Telorchiidae, 132 effectiveness of. 153–154 genes and spacers, 106-111 identical sequences, different species, 133-135 internal transcribed spacer rDNA ITS1 sequence, 110 ITS2 sequence, 110-111 5.8S ITS1/ITS2 spacer, 109 interpretation protocols, 132-146 interspecific variation, 135-136 intraspecific variation, 136-146 errors, 136-138 failure of multiple specie recognition, 138-140 geographical variation, 140-143 "real" variation, 143-144 species recognition, 144-146 research problems, 154-155 species distinction, 104–106 taxonomic study characteristics, 155 - 156Rodentolepis genus, molecular systematics, genetic variation in, 177-180

Schistosoma mattheei, internal transcribed spacer rDNA, ITS1 spacer, 110 Saccharomyces cerevisiae cysteine biosynthetic pathways in, 42–44 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genome-wide survey, 20 S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase (SAHH) drug targeting in parasitic protozoa, 24 - 25methionine salvaging and reverse transsulfuration, 15-18 S-adenosyl-L-methionine. See AdoMet S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase. See AdoMetDC Sanguinicolidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 125 Schistorchis zancli, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 112 Schistosoma margrebowiei, internal transcribed spacer rDNA, ITS1 spacer, 110 Schistosomatidae ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, 207-208 genomic analysis, 214-215 molecular systematics, inter- and intraspecific variation, 187-189 non-sequence analysis, 181-182 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 125-130 geographical variation, 140–143 identical sequencing, species variation, 134-135 morphological taxonomy, 152 Secondary infection, Eimeria spp., protective immune response, 296-297 Sequencing errors, ribosomal DNA sequencing, intraspecific variation, 137 - 138Serine acetyltransferase (SAT) cysteine biosynthetic pathway, 36-39 antioxidant mechanisms, 41-42 drug development and, 44 in Entamoeba histolytica, 39-40 serine metabolic pathways and, 64-66 Serine dehydratase protozoan serine metabolic pathways in, 56–59 pyruvate conversion and gluconeogenesis in mammals and, 54 serine metabolic pathways and, 65-66

Serine metabolic pathways, 51-66 in Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis, 60–64 in eukaryotes, 51-55 human genetic disorders and, 55 mammalian serine-pyruvate conversion and gluconeogenesis, serine dehydratase for, 54 phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated mammalian pathways, 51 regulated phosphorylation, 51–54 serine-glycine conversion by serine hydroxymethyl transferase, 54 - 55in parasitic protozoa, 56-59 biological significance, 64-65 Serine pyruvate (alanine glyoxylate) aminotransferase (SPAT) non-phosphorylated serine metabolism, in Entamoeba histolytica, 62-63 serine metabolic pathways in Entamoeba and Trichomonas. 60 - 64Serological studies. Wolbachia-mediated activation, 272–273 6S rDNA sequencing, Wolbachia in filarial nematodes, taxonomic structure, 251-252 Spacer regions internal transcribed spacer rDNA ITS1 spacer, 110 ITS2 spacer, 110-111 5.8S rRNA ITS1/ITS2 spacer, 109 ribosomal DNA sequencing, 106-111 Spathebothriidea, molecular systematics, cestode interrelationships, 174-176 Species distinction identical ITS sequences, 133-135 traditional and modern approaches to. 104-106 Species nomenclature, ribosomal DNA sequencing and, 149, 152

Species recognition, ribosomal DNA sequencing, intraspecific variation. 144 - 146Species richness, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 147 Spermidine cysteine production in Trypanosoma and Leishmania, 12-13 MTA cycle and, 18 Spirurida, Wolbachia in, 252-256 Sporozoites. *Eimeria* life cycle and. 291 - 292vaccine efficacy, 306-307 Statistical methods, molecular systematics, 211-212 Strengophorus spp., molecular systematics, 192-194 Strigeidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 131-132 Subcellular fractionation. Eimeria species, vaccine development and, 312-314 Sulfur, structure and properties, 6 Sulfur-containing amino acids AdoMet functions, 8-10 degradative pathways, 45-50 anaerobic protozoan parasites, 48-49 drug development, MGL targeting, 50 in mammals, 45-46 MGL peculiarities and distribution in parasitic protozoa, 46-48 de novo cysteine biosynthetic pathway in Entamoeba and Trypanosoma, 39-44 antioxidative defense mechanisms and ISC biosynthesis, 40-42 drug development applications, 43-44 presence contradicted by requirements, 39-40 in Trypanosoma cruzi, 42-43 general scheme, 36-37 parasitic protozoa, limited range in, 37-39

developmental stage regulation of metabolic pathways, 66-69 in Plasmodium and Crvptosporidium, 67–69 reverse transsulfuration and de novo cysteine pathways, Trypanosoma cruzi, 66-67 future research issues, 69-70 metabolism AdoMetDC from, 29-31 methionine metabolism, 14-31 activation schematics, 14-15 recycling pathways, 15-18, 26-29 ubiquity and significance in parasitic protozoa, 19-26 overview, 13 in parasitic protozoa, 10-13 cysteine as antioxidant, 11-12 cysteine physiology in, 12-13 extracellular cysteine requirements, anaerobic and microaerophilic protozoa, 11 methionine functions, 10-11 research background, 5 serine metabolic pathways, 51 - 66in Entamoeba histolytica and Trichomonas vaginalis, 60-64 in eukaryotes, 51-55 in parasitic protozoa, 56-59 biological significance, 64-65 structure and function, 6-8 transsulfuration reactions, 31-36 animals, pathways in, 32–33 bacteria, fungi and plants, pathways in. 33 forward and reverse pathways, 31-32 parasitic protozoa, pathways in, 34-36 Sundanochidae, molecular systematics, 198-199 Surface antigens (SAGs), Eimeria species, vaccine development and, 312-314

Surface proteins, Wolbachia-mediated activation. 272-273 Suspect data, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 155-156 Symplesiomorphies, Neodermata interrelationships, 171 Synapomorphies, Neodermata interrelationships, 171 Taeniidae, molecular systematics, interand intraspecific variations. 176-180 Targeted gene disruption (TDG), protective immune response, to *Eimeria* spp., 295–297 Taurine, cysteine precursor, 8 Taxonomic structure molecular systematics, 168-169 digenean genera-family interrelationships, 185-187 future research issues. 209-211 ribosomal DNA sequencing morphological taxonomy implications, 148-149 study guidelines, 155-156 Wolbachia in filarial nematodes. 249-258 arthropods, 252 Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae distribution and phylogeny, 256-258 T cell receptors, protective immune response, to Eimeria spp., 295-297 Telorchiidae, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 132 multiple species recognition, failure of, 138 Tetraphyllidea, cestode interrelationships, molecular systematics, 173-176 Thin layer chromatography, digenean analysis, 181-182 Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4), lymphatic filariasis, 268-269 Toxic interactions, sulfur-containing amino acids and, 69-70

Transcriptomes, molecular systematics and. 213-215 Transmission blocking immunity, Eimeria spp., maternal immunisation, 310-311 Transsulfuration reactions in bacteria, fungi, and plants, 33 in parasitic protozoa, 34-36 sulfur-containing amino acids, 31-36 animals, pathways in, 32–33 bacteria, fungi and plants, pathways in. 33 forward and reverse pathways, 31 - 32parasitic protozoa, pathways in, 34-36 Transversotrematidae, molecular systematics, digenean lineages, 183-185 Trematodes, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 102-103 Trichobilharzia spp., ribosomal DNA sequencing, 128-130 Trichobilharzia szidati, internal transcribed spacer rDNA, ITS1 spacer, 110 Trichomonas vaginalis cysteine antioxidants in, 11-12 cysteine biosynthetic pathway in, 38 - 39homocysteine methyltransferase in, 26 MGL peculiarities and distribution in, 46-49 MGL-targeted drug development against, 50 reverse transsulfuration pathway, 34 serine metabolic pathway in, 60-64 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genome-wide survey, 19-20 "Trickle infections", Eimeria spp., vaccine efficacy, 307 Tripolyphosphate (PPPi), methionine metabolism, 14-15 Trypanorhyncha, molecular systematics, cestode interrelationships, 176

Trypanosoma brucei AdoMetDC chemotherapeutic exploitation, 31 methionine adenosyltransferase in, 20 - 24MTA cycle in, 27–29 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genome-wide survey, 19-20 Trvpanosoma cruzi AdoMetDC chemotherapeutic exploitation, 31 cysteine biosynthetic pathway in, 37-39, 42-43 developmental stage regulation of, 66-67 cysteine synthesis and CBS functions in. 34-35 sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genome-wide survey, 19-20 Trypanosoma spp. AdoMet transport in, 25-26 cysteine biosynthetic pathway in antioxidative defense mechanisms and ISC biosynthesis, 40-42 drug development applications, 43-44 presence contradicted by requirements, 39-40 in Trypanosoma cruzi, 42-43 cysteine physiology in, 12-13 Trypanosomatids, sulfur-containing amino acid metabolisms, genomewide survey, 19-20 Trypanosomiasis, AdoMetDC chemotherapeutic exploitation, 30-31 Trypanothione cysteine production in Trypanosoma and Leishmania. 12-13 glutathione conjugation of, 7-8 28S rDNA ecological diagnostics and life cycle studies, Cestoda, 206-207 Haematoloechidae, 116-117 molecular systematics

Capsalidae, 199 digenean genera-family interrelationships, 187 digenean inter- and intraspecific variation, 189 digenean lineages, 183–185 Gyrodactylidae, 202–204 Monopisthocotylea-Polyopisthocotylea interrelationships, 196–198 molecular targeting, 212 Two-host life cycle, molecular systematics, digenean lineages, 185

Udonella, molecular systematics, 199–200

Vaccine strategies Eimeria, avian species, 297-311 antigenic diversity, 307-310 live-attenuated vaccines, 299-303 live vaccines, 297 maternal immunisationtransmission blocking immunity, 310-311 use and efficacy assessment, 303-307 wild-type strains, 297–299 novel development techniques, 311-316 DNA vaccination, 315-316 genome sequencing, 311-314 recombinant-expressed antigens, 314-315 Vertebrate parasitism, molecular systematics, digenean lineages, 185 Vertical transmission, Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts, 258-260

Vitamin B_{12} , methionine synthesis, 16 - 18Voucher specimens, ribosomal DNA sequencing, 155-156 Wild-type *Eimeria* spp., vaccine development, 297-299 Wolbachia bacterial endosymbionts. filarial nematodes cellular environment, 246-249 growth and population dynamics, 248 - 249habitat, 246-248 dependence, evidence for, 258-268 antibiotic therapy, 263-265 direct evidence, 260-263 genomics, 266-267 indirect evidence, 258-260 future research issues, 273-274 inflammation activation, 268 - 273dirofilariasis, 271 lymphatic filariasis, 268-270 onchocerciasis, 270-271 serology, 272-273 taxonomy and diversity, 249 - 258arthropods, 252 Onchocercinae and Dirofilariinae

distribution and phylogeny,

256 - 258

Wolbachia, in Onchocercinae and

Wolbachia surface protein (WSP), gene

sequence analysis, 259-260

Xiphidiata, molecular systematics,

digenean lineages, 183-185

Dirofilariinae, 256–258

Contents of Volumes in This Series

Volume 41

Drug Resistance in Malaria Parasites of Animals and Man	1
W. Peters	
Molecular Pathobiology and Antigenic Variation of Pneumocystis	
carinii	63
Y. Nakamura and M. Wada	
Ascariasis in China	109
P. WEIDONO, Z. XIANMIN AND D.W.T. CROMPTON	
The Generation and Expression of Immunity to Trichinella spiralis in	
Laboratory Rodents	149
R.G. Bell	
Population Biology of Parasitic Nematodes: Application of	
Genetic Markers	219
T.J.C. Anderson, M.S. BLOUIN AND R.M. BRECH	
Schistosomiasis in Cattle	285
J. DE BONT AND J. VERCRUYSSE	

Volume 42

The Southern Cone Initiative Against Chagas Disease	1
C.J. Schofield and J.C.P. Dias	
Phytomonas and Other Trypanosomatid Parasites of Plants and Fruit	31
E.P. CAMARGO	
Paragonimiasis and the Genus Paragonimus	113
D. Blair, ZB. Xu and T. Agatsuma	
Immunology and Biochemistry of Hymenolepis diminuta	223
J. ANREASSEN, E.M. BENNET-JENKINS AND C. BRYANT	
Control Strategies for Human Intestinal Nematode Infections	277
M. Albonico, D.W.T. Crompton and L. Savioli	
DNA Vaccines: Technology and Applications as Anti-parasite and	
Anti-microbial Agents	343
J.B. Alarcon, G.W. Waine and D.P. McManus	

Volume 43

Genetic Exchange in the Trypanosomatidae	1
W. GIBSON AND J. STEVENS	
The Host–Parasite Relationship in Neosporosis	47
A. Hemphill	
Proteases of Protozoan Parasites	105
P.J. Rosenthal	
Proteinases and Associated Genes of Parasitic Helminths	161
J. TORT, P.J. BRINDLEY, D. KNOX, K.H. WOLFE AND J.P. DALTON	
Parasitic Fungi and their Interaction with the Insect Immune System	267
A. Vilcinskas and P. Götz	

Volume 44

Cell Biology of Leishmania	1
B. Handman	
Immunity and Vaccine Development in the Bovine Theilerioses	41
N. BOULTER AND R. HALL	
The Distribution of Schistosoma bovis Sonaino, 1876 in Relation to	
Intermediate Host Mollusc–Parasite Relationships	98
H. Moné, G. Mouahid and S. Morand	
The Larvae of Monogenea (Platyhelminthes)	138
I.D. WHITTINGTON, L.A. CHISHOLM AND K. ROHDE	
Sealice on Salmonids: Their Biology and Control	233
A.W. PIKE AND S.L. WADSWORTH	

Volume 45

The Biology of some Intraerythrocytic Parasites of Fishes, Amphibia	
and Reptiles	1
A.J. DAVIES AND M.R.L. JOHNSTON	
The Range and Biological Activity of FMRFamide-related Peptides and	
Classical Neurotransmitters in Nematodes	109
D. BROWNLEE, L. HOLDEN-DYE AND R. WALKER	
The Immunobiology of Gastrointestinal Nematode Infections	
in Ruminants	181
A. BALIC, V.M. BOWLES AND E.N.T. MEEUSEN	
Host-Parasite Interactions in Acanthocephala:	
---	-----
a Morphological Approach	1
H. Taraschewski	
Eicosanoids in Parasites and Parasitic Infections	181
A. DAUGSCHIES AND A. JOACHIM	

Remote Sensing and Geographic Information Systems in Epidemiology	
An Overview of Remote Sensing and Geodesy for Epidemiology and Public	
Health Application.	1
S.I. Hay	
Linking Remote Sensing, Land Cover and Disease	37
P.J. CURRAN, P.M. ATKINSON, G.M. FOODY AND E.J. MILTON	
Spatial Statistics and Geographic Information Systems in Epidemiology and	
Public Health	83
T.P. Robinson	
Satellites, Space, Time and the African Trypanosomiases	133
D.J. Rogers	
Earth Observation, Geographic Information Systems and Plasmodium	
falciparum Malaria in Sub-Saharan Africa	175
S.I. HAY, J. OMUMBO, M. CRAIG AND R.W. SNOW	
Ticks and Tick-borne Disease Systems in Space and from Space	219
S.E. Randolph	
The Potential of Geographical Information Systems (GIS) and	
Remote Sensing in the Epidemiology and Control of Human	
Helminth Infections	247
S. Brooker and E. Michael	
Advances in Satellite Remote Sensing of Environmental Variables for	
Epidemiological Applications	293
S.J. GOETZ, S.D. PRINCE AND J. SMALL	
Forecasting Diseases Risk for Increased Epidemic Preparedness in	
Public Health	313
M.F. Myers, D.J. Rogers, J. Cox, A. Flauhalt and S.I. Hay	
Education, Outreach and the Future of Remote Sensing in	
Human Health	335
B.L. Woods, L.R. Beck, B.M. Lobitz and M.R. Bobo	

The Molecular Evolution of Trypanosomatidae	1
J.R. Stevens, H.A. Noyes, C.J. Schofield and W. Gibson	
Transovarial Transmission in the Microsporidia	57
A.M. DUNN, R.S. TERRY AND J.E. SMITH	
Adhesive Secretions in the Platyhelminthes	101
I.D. WHITTINGTON AND B.W. CRIBB	
The Use of Ultrasound in Schistosomiasis	225
C.F.R. Hatz	
Ascaris and Ascariasis.	285
D.W.T. CROMPTON	

Volume 49

Antigenic Variation in Trypanosomes: Enhanced Phenotypic Variation in a	
Eukaryotic Parasite	1
H.D. BARRY AND R. MCCULLOCH	
The Epidemiology and Control of Human African Trypanosomiasis	71
J. Pépin and H.A. Méda	
Apoptosis and Parasitism: from the Parasite to the Host	
Immune Response	132
G.A. DosReis and M.A. Barcinski	
Biology of Echinostomes except <i>Echinostoma</i>	163
B. Fried	

The Malaria-Infected Red Blood Cell: Structural and	
Functional Changes	1
B.M. COOKE, N. MOHANDAS AND R.L. COPPEL	
Schistosomiasis in the Mekong Region: Epidemiology	
and Phytogeography	88
S.W. Attwood	
Molecular Aspects of Sexual Development and Reproduction in	
Nematodes and Schistosomes	153
P.R. BOAG, S.E. NEWTON AND R.B. GASSER	
Antiparasitic Properties of Medicinal Plants and Other Naturally	
Occurring Products	200
S. TAGBOTO AND S. TOWNSON	

Aspects of Human Parasites in which Surgical Intervention	
May Be Important	1
D.A. Meyer and B. Fried	
Electron-transfer Complexes in Ascaris Mitochondria	95
K. Kita and S. Takamiya	
Cestode Parasites: Application of In Vivo and In Vitro Models for Studies of	
the Host–Parasite Relationship	133
M. Siles-Lucas and A. Hemphill	

Volume 52

The Ecology of Fish Parasites with Particular Reference to Helminth Parasites and their Salmonid Fish Hosts in Welsh Rivers: A Review of Some of	
the Central Questions	1
J.D. Thomas	
Biology of the Schistosome Genus Trichobilharzia	155
P. Horák, L. Kolárová and C.M. Adema	
The Consequences of Reducing Transmission of <i>Plasmodium falciparum</i> in Africa	234
R.W. SNOW AND K. MARSH	
Cytokine-Mediated Host Responses during Schistosome Infections:	
Walking the Fine Line Between Immunological Control	
and Immunopathology	265
K.F. Hoffmann, T.A. Wynn and D.W. Dunne	

Interactions between Tsetse and Trypanosomes with Implications for the	
Control of Trypanosomiasis	1
S. Aksoy, W.C. Gibson and M.J. Lehane	
Enzymes Involved in the Biogenesis of the Nematode Cuticle	85
A.P. PAGE AND A.D. WINTER	
Diagnosis of Human Filariases (Except Onchocerciasis)	149
M. Walther and R. Muller	

The Evolution of Parasitism – a Phylogenetic Perspective	
Introduction - Phylogeneies, Phylogenetics, Parasites and the Evolution	
of Parasitism	1
D.T.J. LITTLEWOOD	
Cryptic Organelles in Parasitic Protists and Fungi	9
B.A.P. WILLIAMS AND P.J. KEELING	
Phylogenetic Insights into the Evolution of Parasitism in Hymenoptera	69
J.B. Whitfield	
Nematoda: Genes, Genomes and the Evolution of Parasitism	101
M.L. BLAXTER	
Life Cycle Evolution in the Digenea: a New Perspective from Phylogeny	197
T.H. CRIBB, R.A. BRAY, P.D. OLSON,	
D. T. J. Littlewood	
Progress in Malaria Research: the Case for Phylogenetics	255
S.M. RICH AND F.J. AYALA	
Phylogenies, the Comparative Method and Parasite Evolutionary Ecology	281
S. Morand and R. Poulin	
Recent Results in Cophylogeny Mapping	303
M.A. CHARLESTON	
Inference of Viral Evolutionary Rates from Molecular Sequences	331
A. DRUMMOND, O.G. PYBUS AND A. RAMBAUT	
Detecting Adaptive Molecular Evolution: Additional Tools for	
the Parasitologist	359
J.O. McInerney, D.T.J. Littlewood and C.J. Creevey	

Volume 55 (Cumulative Subject Index – Vols. 28–52)

Contents of Volumes 28–52.	1
Cumulative Subject Indexes for Volumes 28–52	15
Contributors to Volumes 28–52	213

Glycoinositolphospholipid from Trypanosoma cruzi: Structure,	
Biosynthesis and Immunobiology	1
J.O. Previato, R. Wait, C. Jones, G.A. DosReis,	
A.R. Todeschini, N. Heise and L.M. Previata	
Biodiversity and Evolution of the Myxozoa	43
E.U. CANNING AND B. OKAMURA	

The Mitochondrial Genomics of Parasitic Nematodes of Socio-Economic	
Importance: Recent Progress, and Implications for Population	
Genetics and Systematics	133
M. HU, N.B. CHILTON AND R.B. GASSER	
The Cytoskeleton and Motility in Apicomplexan Invasion	213
R.E. FOWLER, G. MARGOS AND G.H. MITCHELL	

Canine Leishmaniasis	1
J. Alvar, C. Cañavate, R. Molina, J. Moreno and	
J. Nieto	
Sexual Biology of Schistosomes	89
H. Moné and J. Boissier	
Review of the Trematode Genus Ribeiroia (Psilostomidae): Ecology,	
Life History, and Pathogenesis with Special Emphasis on the	
Amphibian Malformation Problem	191
P.T.J. Johnson, D.R. Sutherland, J.M. Kinsella and	
K.B. Lunde	
The Trichuris muris System: a Paradigm of Resistance and Susceptibility	
to Intestinal Nematode Infection	255
L.J. CLIFFE AND R.K. GRENCIS	
Scabies: New Future for a Neglected Disease	309
S.F. Walton, D.C. Holt, B.J. Currie and	
D.J. Kemp	

Leishmania spp.: on the Interactions They Establish with Antigen-Presenting	
Cells of their Mammalian Hosts	1
JC. Antoine, E. Prina, N. Courret and	
T. Lang	
Variation in <i>Giardia</i> : Implications for Taxonomy and Epidemiology	69
R.C.A. THOMPSON AND P.T. MONIS	
Recent Advances in the Biology of Echinostoma species in the	
"revolutum" Group	139
B. Fried and T.K. Graczyk	
Human Hookworm Infection in the 21st Century	197
S. BROOKER, J. BETHONY AND P.J. HOTEZ	
The Curious Life-Style of the Parasitic Stages of Gnathiid Isopods	289
N.J. Smit and A.J. Davies	

Genes and Susceptibility to Leishmaniasis	1
Emanuela Handman, Colleen Elso and Simon Foote	
Cryptosporidium and Cryptosporidiosis	77
R.C.A. THOMPSON, M.E. OLSON, G. ZHU, S. ENOMOTO,	
MITCHELL S.ABRAHAMSEN AND N.S. HIJJAWI	
Ichthyophthirius multifiliis Fouquet and Ichthyophthiriosis in Freshwater	
Teleosts	161
R.A. Matthews	
Biology of the Phylum Nematomorpha	245
B. HANELT, F. THOMAS AND A. SCHMIDT-RHAESA	